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Chairman’s Statement

ESRYH

Chairman

ZHANG Chun

EER

(3
Dear Shareholders, BHHEAIARER -
With the faster world economic growth and steady recovery, 20174 - AL EIB R S E IR - 18 &
2017 witnesses the best performances in recent years. The BE BEFRERESTN—F BHER
World Bank forecasts global economic growth to edge up to 3% SBITHRFIEN - 2017 F H RACE R R G =
in 2017, with 0.6 percent higher than 2016. There was a broad 3% * th2016F MNRO.6ME B 2 2 - B
based improvement for countries that achieve economic growth. EERABEKRER T @E RS UGE - — L&
Some of the larger emerging market economies are gradually BRAMFEMSEEE FEHELRRRE
coming out of the recession. With renewed interest in investment, ¥ MREBEEHNIFT  2017FEKRE
the growth rate of international trade in 2017 has markedly SILRAAZBEEF - FERIREEEDR -

rebounded, driving global manufacturing to turn around.
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In the past year, China’s economic growth was generally stable.
The economic structure was continuously optimized. The service
industry’s contribution to economic growth continued to increase.
Consumer demand was still the main driving force for economic
growth. New Kkinetic energy was an important driving force
for economic growth and the quality of economic growth was
constantly improved. In 2017, the growth rate of China’s gross
domestic product (GDP) was 6.9%, which is well above the world
average growth rate. As the world’s second largest economy,
China has made important contributions to the recovery of the
world economy.

The year 2017 is the last year for the Company’s five-year
development strategic planning. During this strategic period and
in the complex situation of the domestic and foreign markets
and increasingly fierce competition, the Company has been
persistent in introducing reforms and innovations, and a series
of major breakthroughs have been achieved in the management
system, business strategy, institutional adjustment, market layout,
etc; innovations have been made in the development model,
management methods, investment in science and technology,
and integration of resources, achieving a series of key advances.
The strength, vitality, and competitiveness of the company have
improved significantly.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company adheres to stable development and continues to
strengthen its efforts in coordinating with national strategies such
as “the Belt and Road Initiative” and “Going Global” to coordinate
overseas market deployments. Major projects have been
signed and executed particularly in Pakistan, Sri Lanka, Iraq,
Turkey, the Maldives, Argentina, Laos, Serbia, Angola and other
countries, maintaining a steady growth for the overall operations
with steadily increased profitability. In 2017, revenue was
RMB23,682.2 million with an increase of 12.7% on a year-on-year
basis; overall gross margin of 19.9% was better than last year’s
level; profit attributable to shareholders was RMB1,711.2 million
(the Board proposes to pay 2017 final dividend with RMB0.1659
per Share).
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Chairman’s Statement

ESRYH

As for the international engineering contracting business, its
revenue contribution accounts for approximately 57.2% of
the Company’s total revenue and remains the Company’s
core business. In the past year, the Company adhered to the
development of both traditional markets and new markets,
strengthened research on core market industrial policies and
market trends, paid close attention to “the Belt and Road”
initiative and the “Going Global” strategy related national
infrastructure and industrial planning, making accurate strength
and steadily progressed business development.

The Company entered into acquisition agreement with
SINOMACH on November 24, 2017 and if the acquisition of
CNEEC is completed, it would be another successful merger
and acquisition after the successful acquisition of CNCEC
in 2016. Through external mergers and acquisitions and
business integration, the Company continued to increase the
competitiveness of its core businesses with its assets and
business scale expanding rapidly, further consolidating its leading
position in international engineering contracting.

The Company’s engineering contracting projects cover about 50
countries and regions around the world, mainly in Asia, Africa,
Europe and South America. The implementation of the project in
hand was generally stable, and a new batch of projects received
high attention and made good progress. During “the Belt and
Road Forum for International Cooperation” President Xi Jinping
and Argentina’s President Macri jointly witnessed the signing
of a supplemental contract for the Argentina Railway project
with an amount of USD1.6 billion. In addition, in Mozambique,
a newly secured railway project of USD1.2 billion is another
breakthrough in the field of traffic construction after the Argentina
Railway project; in Pakistan, two Taer |l power plant projects
and the Company'’s first contract, Jhang Combined Cycle Power
Plant project, the H-class gas turbine power station totaled
approximately USD1 billion, were secured in a row in Cameroon,
the smooth signing of hydropower project with the amount of
USD398 million.

The Company followed the trend of structural changes in the
international power market, actively explored clean energy and
green energy projects, and successfully secured the Mongolian
Sainshand Wind Power Project and the Malaysian Negeri
Sembilan Photovoltaic Power Plant project. It increased the
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development of new markets in countries such as Guinea, with
substantial progress made. The Group carefully entered the high-
end markets such as the United Kingdom and Saudi Arabia.

In 2017, the Company implemented projects without major
safety incidents during the year. During the implementation of the
project, attention was paid to fulfilling social responsibilities, and
the brand reputation and popularity of the brand continued to
increase.

For completed projects, 10 projects including the Venezuelan
Central Power Plant, the Maldives Housing Il Project and the
Kazakkaraganda Thermal Power Unit received the completion
certificate; the Lao People’s Bangladesh Power Transmission
Project received the award from the owner; and the phase
| project of the Serbia power station which owns the first
desulphurization equipment in Southeast Europe was in good
operation; Gomel No. 1 thermal power station reconstruction
project in Belarus, the Company taking advantage of overseas
resources to complete had overcome various difficulties and
successfully transferred. In the implementation of the project, the
boiler steel structure of the Pakistani Taer Power Station project
phase | was successfully hoisted and the major nodes of the
project were completed; the Iraqgi Basra Power Station completed
the procurement of the host equipment; the two gas turbine grid
connection tests of the Suoyo Power Project in Angola were
successful with its installation and commissioning speed reaching
the world advanced level.

In the past year, the projects built by the Company have been
successively noted and received praise from leaders at home
and abroad. Zhang Dejiang, the then member of the Standing
Committee of the Political Bureau of the CPC Central Committee
and Chairman of the Standing Committee of the National People’s
Congress, visited the Serbia power station project. The President
of the Republic of Argentina Macri recognised the professionalism
and social responsibility of the Company in implementing the
Argentina Railway Project and indicated that cooperation with
the Company on infrastructure construction will continue in the
future. Mr. ZHANG Chun, the then President of the Company, was
awarded the Friendship medal and certificate by Prime Minister of
Laos for the outstanding contribution in countries relationship and
economic development made by the Company.
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Chairman’s Statement

ESRYH

There are signs of the effect of the transformation and upgrading
of the trading business. In 2017, the independent research and
development capabilities of the casting and forging business were
enhanced, achieving the transformation from Original Equipment
Manufacturer to Original Design Manufacturer. It became the
main supplier for many of the world’s top 500 companies with
its market orders increasing significantly. The cross-border
e-commerce business model promotes innovation. Through the
“overseas platform + overseas warehouse + exhibition display
+ logistics” model, the European platform has been shipped
overseas. At the same time, the Company actively explored new
market areas and business models, such as the multi-link supply
chain business of the agricultural market in Kazakhstan and the
localized machinery sales and after-sales service model of the
Saudi market, etc.

Overseas wise, the Company actively explores regional
operations. To build a regional center in Australia, we continue
to expand the Australian mining spare parts market; in the
Caribbean region, a subsidiary of Curagao is established to
explore the investment business of small and medium-sized
photovoltaic power plants; in Southeast Asia, we promote the
construction of a regional center in Thailand and radiate the
markets around Southeast Asia by relying on entrepot trade,
EPC, and industrial investment business. In China, the Company
continued to cooperate with local governments in depth and
collaborated with Yinchuan City in a multi-format Silk Road
International Cooperation Park. The first phase of the project
construction has been completed, and the bonded trade
business has been steadily progressing; at the same time, timely
conclusion of the projects the Company cooperated with Jiaozuo
and Zhumadian Municipal Government to explore the feasibility of
building a “centralized supply chain.”

The service business continued to grow rapidly. The tendering
agency business maintained the growth trend since 2016, and it
obtained a AAA-level corporate certificate issued by the bidding
and tendering association the operating income of design
consulting business is RMB620.6 million, with a growth rate of
34.5% on a year-on-year basis; the profit is RMB156.3 million
with a year-on-year growth rate of 16.2%.
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In the aspect of design consulting business, the development
momentum remains good. Through the special technology
incubators for key frontier technologies by the establishment of
technical committees, the Company has significantly improved
the technical innovation capabilities of China Machinery R&D and
Jikan Research Institute and formed a number of research and
development achievements with intellectual property rights. At
the same time the development progress of domestic and foreign
markets was made. In the domestic market, China Machinery
R&D successfully won the bid for the PPP project of the South
Inland River Comprehensive Treatment Project in Leping City,
Jiangxi Province. This is the first PPP project with investment
undertaken by China Machinery R&D; Jikan Research Institute
constantly improves the landscape of the domestic market by the
establishment of two new branches. In overseas markets, the size
of newly signed contracts for international engineering business
by China Machinery R&D and Jikan Research Institute increased
continuously. At the same time, the Company continued to
actively seek mergers and reorganizations of other superior
design companies in an effort to gain a competitive advantage in
creating an integrated industry chain.

The Company will continue to build on its national strategy, seize
the opportunity to benefit from reforms, optimize its business
configuration, enhance its operating efficiency, strive to solve the
development problems, continue to enhance its management
capabilities, enhance its market competitiveness, and remain
firmly determined to grow stronger, better and bigger. Adhering
to the international project contracting business as the core,
we shall promote the stable and healthy development of trade
services, design consulting, and accelerate the creation of new
business segments at the same time. In terms of international
engineering contracting business, the Group will spare no
efforts to sign new contracts and be highly efficient, and will
actively explore new markets and new areas, further promoting
regional and localization construction, and constantly improving
the industrial chain capabilities. In terms of trade and service
business, it is necessary to further solidify the transformation
results and actively innovate to ensure the sustained and stable
growth of scale benefits. The design consulting business will grow
steadily on the basis of the current profitability, actively promote
external restructuring, expand design capabilities to build new
growth points around technological innovation.
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Chairman’s Statement

ESRYH

OUTLOOK

In the new year, the global economy is expected to maintain the
good momentum of the previous year. The outlook is optimistic.
The recovery performance of developed economies led the
growth of emerging economies and developing economies in
a brighter direction. The Company has officially started the
formulation of a new round of strategic development plan (2018-
2020), leading the future development of the Company. At the
same time, we shall also further strengthen corporate governance
and continue to explore the system; we shall work on mechanism
reform and the release of market vitality; we shall accelerate the
integration of the international equipment manufacturing industry
chain and constantly deepen the strategic cooperation to build a
win-win cooperation in the industry ecosystem.

2018 is the 40th anniversary of the establishment of CMEC,
and is also an important moment for the 40th anniversary of
reform and opening up. The Company will continue to uphold
its fine traditions, strive to develop, make innovations, optimize
the structure, and improve the landscape. While ensuring the
stable development of the main business, we shall gradually
build the core competitiveness of the new business and form a
multi-market structure that takes into account both growth and
profitability. We shall intensify efforts in the development of the
domestic market and gradually form a pattern in which domestic
and foreign markets are both equal and organically integrated.
We shall continue to carry out mergers and acquisitions and
reorganization, integrate internal and external resources, realize
non-organic rapid growth, and strive to create a new situation in
the Company’s business development.

At last, on behalf of the board of directors, | would like to
take this opportunity to express my sincerest gratitude to the
shareholders who extend concern and support for CMEC over
the years, the dedicated senior management team and all the
staff members who have been working with relentless efforts.

Zhang Chun
Chairman

Beijing, China
March 26, 2018

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

FEIRMREIRROERAT

ARRE

HO—F EREERELBETEL—F
MRFPETHE  ARBNER - HELHER
MEHKRRTE  MELEERERPE
BERES ML - ARFD EXREH — &8
B BE 3 R AR 2(2018-2020) 80 il E TAE - 5l
BARRARKERE - AR K E—TR
EREDAE - HERREF - BHIE
BRMEEN  IERABRKERIEE
X CEEBAETEHERZRA  TTES
TERRIOTTRAERERE -

2018F RCMECHK MW+ AF & © b2 K
ERRETEAFTHEZRZ - AR H#
BREBRES  EHRG  HEAH
BILER TEHE EEREEEBE
EERAORAR  ZLITEREEOZOH
FhoEAREARERBFMENSZTH
BB MABAMSHRENE B
RERIITISETEERESNIRE - #
BREMHEBEE BEARINDER BR
FERRFER  BHRBIARKEEE
R BME °

R AARHKEERREFTTARY
DA SR B8 /0 A0 32 55 7P B A T A2 /9 B KR
R AMITENSREEERRTEBE D
MEBETHRURHENHE |

i
’t\ l/i' EER
]
L 2

201853 H26H



The Company was established in 1978 and was the first
state-owned industrial and trading enterprise in the PRC.
The Company is a subsidiary controlled by SINOMACH. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on December 21, 2012. As at December 31, 2017, the Company
had a total of 908,270,000 H Shares and 3,217,430,000
non-tradable Domestic Shares issued. The Company has a
primary focus on EPC projects and particular expertise in the
power sector, capable of providing one-stop customized and
integrated engineering contracting solutions and services. The
Company also conducts the Trading Business, Services Business
and the Investment and Financing Business.

Visions for Corporate Development: Becoming the world’s
leading international engineering contractor and service provider
and transforming itself into a first class conglomerate in the world
through cutting-edge innovation and value creation.

Competitive Strengths: Brand reputation, operational model,
business network, professional team, business operation, financial
planning.

International Engineering Contracting Business: With
over 30 years of experience in the International Engineering
Contracting Business, the Company is able to provide project
owners with one-stop customized and integrated turnkey
solutions and services to manage and implement engineering
contracting projects, especially in developing countries, and has
undertaken engineering contracting projects in more than 48
countries, primarily in Asia, Africa, Europe and South America.
Power, transportation and telecommunications sectors are the
Company’s Core Sectors. The Company is also engaged in the
Non-Core Sectors, such as water supply and treatment projects,
building and construction projects, manufacturing and processing
plant projects and mining and resources exploitation projects.

Trading Business: The Company conducts the Trading Business
through its sales and marketing network which covers over
150 countries and regions. The sales and marketing network is
established through years of international engineering contracting
and trading experiences and business transactions involving
export and import of products and services to and from these
countries and regions.

Services Business: The Company is engaged in a certain
extent on the Services Business, mainly including design
consulting services, logistics services, tendering agency services,
export-import agency services and other services.

Investment and Financing Business: The Company is engaged
in overseas and domestic concession investments in engineering
contracting projects and associated financing business. The
Company finances construction for engineering contracting
projects through investments in projects; merges and acquires
upstream and downstream enterprises through investments with
a controlling or minority stake, to optimize the industrial chain of
the engineering contracting sectors and improves our commercial
competitiveness and profitability through trade industrialization
investments.
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Corporate Structure: As at December 31, 2017, the Company’s
FRBOAT
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corporate structure was as follows:
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Key Operating and Financial Data

ERRERNBRE

Revenue Structure in 2017
2017F W AKE

Unit: RMB million

B ARBEEL

Revenue Revenue Breakdown

KA WAL
W IEC T2kt 13,655 57%
W -Power ENEER 8,603 36%
M -Transportation and 2,023 9%
Telecommunication
ZER KT TFEA
-Non-Core Sectors FE#Z /00T % 2,929 12%
Trading B 51k % 8,035 34%
I Services Business R75 %7 2,092 9%
Total 45t 23,682 100%
Gross Profit Structure in 2017
2017FERGEB
Unit: RMB million
B ARBEET
Gross Profit Gross Profit Breakdown
EF EFELE
W IEC T2kt 3,328 70%
W -Power ENEER 2,135 45%
[ -Transportation and 701 15%
Telecommunication
RBEHREFBA
-Non-Core Sectors FEIZ /0 T% 487 10%
Trading & SR 474 10%
M Services Business AR75#7% 918 20%
Total #2851 4,715 100%
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Revenue

O

Unit: RMB million
Eifir - ARBEHETT

23,682.2
21,017.2

2016 2017
20164 20174

Basic Earnings per Share
BREXEF

Unit: RMB

B AR

0.51
I |

2016 2017
20164 20174

Backlog for the International Engineering
Contracting Business
BMIBREBEBZATRERE

Unit: US$ million

B BEET

89154 9.019.3

As at December 31,2016 As at December 31, 2017
120165127310 R2017512A31 4
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Key Operating and Financial Data

EERERMBRE

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margins
ERRERR

Unit: RMB million

B ARMEET

B Gross profit
4,715.0 A

A Gross profit margin
EES

2016 2017
20164 20176

Net Asset Per Share

BERFEE
Unit: RMB
B AR
373 3.93
2016 2017
20164 201745

Newly Effective Contract Value for the
International Engineering Contracting
Business
BERIBREBEBNFTERECRSHE
Unit: US$ million
B BEETT

3,453.4

3,052.3

2016 2017
20164F 20175



Key Operating and Financial Data

ERRERMBRE

7. Signed Contracts Pending to be Effective for the International Engineering Contracting Business
BERIBREEBNEENFERSH
As at December 31, 2017
2017512 A31H
Unit: US$ million
B BEET

6,114.3

5,687.5
Il Power sector
BHRERITHE

B Transportation and
Telecommunication sector
TREHRBFEATE

Total #5t
17,206.7

Non-Core sectors

FRROITE

5,404.9

8. Gross Profit Margin for the International Engineering Contracting Business

B TRABEBHERNR

30 [
o 24.8%
o5 |— 24.0% 24.5%
24.0%
20 [~ 18.4% /./l 19.9%
15 [— 15.5% '
10 12.3%
5 —
0 1 1 )
2015 2016 2017
I Power Sector’s Gross Profit Margin [l International Engineering Il Company’s Overall Gross Profit Margin Non-Power Sector’s Gross
BHRERIRBAER Contracting Business’s Overall RAIMERE EFE Profit Margin

Gross Profit Margin EBHREHERF
BB TR B TG msr e EFE
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Financial Highlights

MBERE

Year ended December 31,

HZ12ANALEE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

20175 20165 20154 20145 20134

RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000

ARBFT AREFr AREFT AREFT AREFT

Revenue ON 23,682,177 21,017,236 24,056,269 23,746,597 21,426,272

Gross profit EX | 4714995 3544191 3726821 38142098 3,742,458
Other revenue and other income/ HAREMBA /

(expenses), net (F%) 348 384,910 14,892 (6,264) (77,395) 365,826
Operating expenses RERY (2,252,014)  (1,991,968)  (1,934,119)  (1,641,864)  (1,780,132)
Profit from operations LR 2,847,801  1567,115 1,786,438  2,0950389 2,328,152
Profit before taxation KRR 2,252,891 2,783,930 2,996,868 2,764,856 2,664,105
Income tax s (538,396)  (674,140)  (787,908)  (645,105)  (703,864)
Profit for the year FREH 1,714,495 2,109,790 2,208,960 2,119,751 1,960,241
Other comprehensive income for the year FAE MR iz (64,753) 74,536 (11,906) (18,890) 14,745
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 &A zB5E 1,649,742 2,184,326 2,197,054 2,100,861 1,974,986
Profit attribute to: BAEER -

— Owners of the parent VNS 2PN 1,711,208 2,106,521 2,204,777  2,119470 1,959,257

- Non-controlling interests - RS 3,292 3,269 4,183 281 984
Total comprehensive income FRUHEERERN

attributable to:

- Owners of the parent - BRAEEA 1,646,525 2,180,909 2,192,817 2,099,652 1,974,823

- Non-controlling interests — RS 3,217 3,417 4,237 1,209 163
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREAREERT

(expressed in RMB per share) (AERARBTHE) 0.41 0.51 0.53 0.51 0.47
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 8,551,231 8,103,361 6,854,702 5,868,844 6,049,264
Total current assets THEELT 38,988,130 39,348,918 37,097,851 32,221,008 25,903,900
Total assets BEOH 47,539,361 47,452,279 43952553 38,089,847 31,953,164
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEES 1,033,827 956,450 882,288 729,052 407,162
Total current liabilities nEEREES 30,300,066 31,120,276 28,523,824 24,198,264 19,789,941
Total liabilities BEeE 31,333,803 32,076,726 29,406,112 24,927,316 20,197,103
Total equity attributable to BARREARGERER

owners of the parent 16,132,572 15,328,515 14,500,886 13,136,369 11,739,625
Non-controlling interests FiEhkER 72,896 47,038 45,555 26,162 16,436
Total equity BRaE 16,205,468 15,375,553 14,546,441 13,162,531 11,756,061
Total equity and liabilities EakBRES 47,539,361 47,452,279 43952553 38,089,847 31,953,164

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2017, the domestic and international economic
environment is still intricate, while the world economy is still
facing the risk of a downward trend. From the international
perspective, the world economy picked up slightly as major
economies achieved synchronous growth for the first time
after the global financial crisis and international trades and
investments are gradually recovering. It is hopeful that the
world economy will enter a new growth cycle. However,
deep-seated problems in the world economy have yet to be
fixed. Multiple risks and considerable uncertainties come in
the form of high debts, asset bubbles, protectionism and
escalation of international and regional hotspots. In China
domestically, the economy kept growing amid stability last
year, and GDP rose by 6.9%. Imports and exports turned
around after a decline for two consecutive years; fiscal
revenue, residents’ income and corporate profits registered
noticeable improvements; the bond market, stock market
and real estate market remained stable, foreign exchange
reserve increased continuously and enterprises’ leverage
ratio decreased amid stability. On the whole, China’s
economy has entered a new era of development transitioning
from rapid growth to high-quality growth.

A. International Engineering Contracting Business

In 2017, China’s foreign engineering contracting projects
achieved a turnover of approximately RMB1,138.29
billion, with a year-on-year growth of 7.5% (equivalent
to approximately US$168.59 billion, with a year-on-year
growth of 5.8%), and the new contract value amounted
to approximately RMB1,791.12 billion, with a year-
on-year growth of 10.7% (equivalent to approximately
US$265.28 billion, with a year-on-year growth of 8.7%).

BEEERWED T

ITEBE

20174 - BIRAME B RIRIK AR
ERE - EREEDREER TR -
WERE  EAKEAMOE T8
REBEERSREBBELEURER
EHRRSEE  BREZNIREZRH
EHES  HREEE ZE AR
REH - BR HRAKHEFENRE
RFEBNABR  EEGEESEE
EAR  REXE  BERMMBEAE
METREZERR  FEERANHT
BEM - RBRE - 5 BREEH
RETRPAENERRES  BRE
EEEERT6O% #ELARET
BEMFETROBE  BBEA - E
RWAMPERRARTE  E
B EHPRET  IMNERBRE
B EREEXZHRAR - BrR
Fo PERECKEATHRSRIER
RERENEEEEREEOFEA -

A BEIBRIBERGER

20174 - HEIHINAB TR
R E XN ARK11,382.9
B Bt KE7.5% (3T &
#1,68598 X T R g K
58%) MEARBHARE
17,911.2187C * R IB&KR10.7%
(Fr& 492,652,883 T © AL 1%
£8.7%) o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED T

New contracts for foreign engineering contracting
projects signed in 61 countries along “the Belt and
Road” region aggregated to approximately US$144.32
billion, accounting for 54.4% of the total in the same
period, with a year-on-year growth of 14.5%; the
amount of turnover reached approximately US$85.53
billion, accounting for 50.7% of the total in the same
period, with a year-on-year growth of 12.6%.

Although foreign engineering contracting business
has kept expanding in the recent years as “the Belt
and Road” Initiative continues to pay dividends, in
the context of such general trend of “conterminous
rise” higher standards are required for industrial
development, and enterprises must face up to harsher
internal and external competitions and speed up
improving their own capability to pursue more advanced
development. On balance, at present, the international
engineering contracting industry is still confronted with
both opportunities and challenges.

1. Steadily expanding business scale. Last year,
the amount and the turnover of newly signed
contracts for foreign engineering projects both
increased on a year-on-year basis. In particular,
the business turnover in countries along “the Belt
and Road” almost accounted for half of the total
contract value, with the growth significantly higher
above industry average, and the trend of sizeable
projects became more remarkable. In 2017, 782
new foreign engineering contracting projects had a
contract value of more than US$50 million, totalling
approximately US$197.74 billion and accounting
for 74.5% of the total amount of newly signed
contracts. Besides, there were more than 300
projects with a contract value reaching US$100
million and nearly 30 projects with a contract value
exceeding US$1 billion.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Changing market landscape amid stability.
In 2017, the focus of the foreign engineering
contracting business was in Asia and Africa. In
particular, Asian market came out on top with
the value of newly signed contracts surpassing
US$100 billion, accounting for more than half of
the total value of newly signed contracts. Given
sluggish international crude oil price as well as
financial retrenchment of African countries, the
amount and the turnover of newly signed contracts
for business in Africa both retreated. Remarkable
achievements were made in developing business
in Latin American and European markets, as
evidenced by the value of newly signed contracts
exceeding US$10 billion.

Increasingly significant industrial spillover
effects. In 2017, foreign engineering contracting
business played an ever-greater role in driving
the whole industry chain to “go out”, and
corresponding cargo exports reached
approximately US$15.39 billion, with a year-on-
year growth of 15.7%, higher than the growth
of cargo trade exports in the same period.
Specifically, overseas projects including Addis
Ababa-Djibouti Railway and Mombasa-Nairobi
Standard Gauge Railway not only used advanced
PRC-made equipment but also were built following
China’s standards during the whole process, which
embodied the increasingly greater role of leading
PRC engineering contracting enterprises in driving
the expansion of relevant industries. Regarding
capacity cooperation, domestic economic and
trade cooperative zones represented by China-
Belarus Industrial Park facilitated effective
connection between China’s production capacity
and local demand.

BEEERWED T

TETEERBPER-
20174 - {INKB TIRET
MFE EEFRETMNFIEMNT
o B BIMTISENE
58 - HE A [FEE 22 51,000
BEL  HHBEEREN—
FUE ZEBRBERE
BARAIETT LA R IEM = Bl B
BREHBHOTE  FIEMN
EBHNFESRBEMTRE
EEHYETBEBE  NEM
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E HEESRBEHERBRI00
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20174 - HAHNEKB TR
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L BHERI5T% R
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

More investments and concerns to
transportation, power and environmental
protection fields. At present, interconnection
is still the core of infrastructure construction of
various countries, generating huge demand for
building roads, railways, shipping lines, ports
and airports. Power is a development priority of
various countries. In particular, power network and
clean energy become major investment directions.
In addition, the urbanization of some countries
and regions provides a longer-term development
opportunity for people’s livelihood projects
including properties and municipal engineering.
Green, energy-saving and environmentally-friendly
infrastructure construction projects are the major
direction of development in the near term.

“Integration of construction and operation”
and enterprise collaboration become the “New
Normal” of industrial development. At present,
factors including rational planning of regional
development, assisting with finance and project
operational management, promoting employment
and industrial upgrading of the host countries have
become important when project owners select
their partners, imposing higher requirements on the
multinational operation and resource integration
planning capabilities of engineering contracting
enterprises. Enterprises in the industry actively
explore new business models such as PPP,
extend industrial chain, promote development
of “integration of construction and operation”,
and enhance inter-enterprise cooperation on
a complementary basis. “Going out” through
cooperation became an important trend of
industrial development.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

6. Difficulties and challenges facing business
development became more complicated. At
present, international environment is undergoing
profound changes and the recovery of world
economy remains fragile. Some African and Latin
American countries lack funds for construction
under increasing financial pressure; besides, a
variety of risks including political risks, safety risks
and economic risks remain serious. Enterprises
face more uncertainties when expanding business
and making investment. Meanwhile, enterprises
of various countries seek larger development
space by structural adjustment, technological
innovation and multinational operation. Chinese
enterprises all come under growing external
competition in the international market. In addition,
as the businesses of the industry players mainly
focus on medium- and low-end fields traditional
competitive advantages fade, and enterprises’
management ability remains to be further improved,
which become the bottlenecks restricting the
development of the industry players.

Trading Business

In 2017, China’s foreign trade continued to stabilize
and trend upwards, with remarkable achievements
in development. China’s import and export amount
totalled approximately RMB27.79 trillion, up by 14.2%
year on year; in particular, the export amount reached
approximately RMB15.383 trillion, up by 10.8% year
on year; the import amount reached approximately
RMB12.46 trillion, up by 18.7% year on year, indicating
a favourable balance of approximately RMB2.87 trillion,
down by 14.2%, with the following highlights:

1. Better-than-expected growth, with growth
rate scaling a 6-year new high. In 2017, China’s
import and export growth rates were 21.2% and
15.1% higher than those of 2015 and 2016,
respectively, putting an end to the negative growth
of two consecutive years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

Growth rate higher than that of major
economies in the world. The latest data of World
Trade Organization (“WTO”) showed that China’s
export growth rate from January to October (in unit
of US$) was 1.3% and 0.5% higher than that of
the U.S. and Germany, respectively. Import growth
rate is 10.4%, 8.1%, 7.6% and 6.5% higher than
that of the U.S., Germany, Japan and the world,
respectively, playing an important role in promoting
economic and trade growth of the world.

Constantly improving trade structure.
International market was more diversified. While
consolidating presence in traditional markets
including the U.S., EU and Japan, we achieved
rapid growth in exports to “BRIC countries”
and countries along “the Belt and Road” region
including Brazil, India, Russia, South Africa and
Malaysia, with the growth rate of 35.2%, 19.8%,
17.7%, 18.5% and 13.6%, respectively. The
commodity structure was further upgraded. Export
of mechanical and electrical products of high
technological content and added value increased
by 12.1%. Various business entities developed
together. Export of private enterprises increased
by 12.3%, continuing to be the dominant group in
exports. Patterns of trade were further optimized,
with general trade export increased by 11.7%.

Accelerated conversion between old and new
drivers in innovative development of foreign
trade. Rapid increase in new industries such as
cross-border e-commerce and market purchase
trade has become a new highlight in foreign
trade increase and has an evident effect on the
cultivation of new impetus. Import and export
in comprehensive experimental area of cross-
border e-commerce have more than doubled and
export of market purchase trade has increased
more than 30%. A large number of foreign trade
enterprises kept making innovation and focused on
the supply side for transformation and upgrading
so as to constantly improve their international
competitiveness.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Increased contribution to the national
economic and social development. In 2017,
the tax on imports in China increased nearly
30%, leading to an increase in fiscal revenue.
Rapid increase in imports and exports also
helped improve international balance of payment,
increase foreign exchange reserves and keep RMB
exchange rate stable. This year, the number of
ten types of bulk commodities including imported
crude oil, iron ore and natural gas in China
increased 0.6% to 26.9%, which satisfied domestic
market demand and alleviated the constraints
caused by the resource bottleneck of the national
economic development.

Playing an important role in global economy
and trade recovery. Since 2017, China’s
economic advancement amid stability has
propelled continuous and rapid growth of imports
and provided a wider market and more valuable
cooperation opportunities for various countries in
the world. According to WTQ's statistics, in the first
three quarters of 2017, China’s import contributed
17% of the global import increase and accounted
for 10.2% of the global import shares.
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EEENWED

Services Business

In 2017, the added value of the tertiary industry
reached RMB42,703.2 billion, with a growth of 8.0% on
a year over year basis. Design consultation accounted
for 51.6% of the added value of the tertiary industry,
with a number of high-grade, precision and advanced
construction projects started construction and were
put into use in the previous year, which drew worldwide
attention. These projects included Five-hundred-meter
aperture spherical radio telescope (known as the world’s
“skyeye”), Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (the world’s
longest cross-sea bridge), China Zun (a super highrise
building) and other world-class construction projects,
which manifested China’s superb technology and
innovative development strength in survey and design
and project construction. It also demonstrates that
the engineering survey and design industry has moved
toward modernization, gradually formed a development
trend driven by multiple innovations including system
innovation, management innovation, technological
innovation and operation mode innovation, and the
modernization level and comprehensive benefits of
engineering survey and design have been substantially
improved. China’s survey and design industry has
ushered in a favorable policy environment and more
market opportunities. Highlights include:

1. To make contributions to a “well-off” society and
the great cause of building a strong socialist
modernized country, developing an important
historical stage for survey and design industry.

2. A new round of scientific revolution and industrial
transformation in the world featuring digital
information technology and intelligence injected
a strong impetus into the digital, networked and
intelligent development of the survey and design
industry.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

3. Constant introduction of a series of new policies
on reform in urban and rural construction
pointed out a clear market orientation for
innovative development of the survey and design
industry. “The Belt and Road”, engineering
project contracting (EPC), whole-process
project consulting, intensive application of the
Building Information Modeling technology, etc.
have provided new opportunities for industry
development.

4. Further development of systematic, integrated
and synergistic reform created a good social
environment for reform and innovation of China’s
survey and design industry and brought China’s
construction industry and survey, design and
consulting industry into a new stage of format
remodelling and comprehensive improvement of
industry modernization.

II. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

A.

International Engineering Contracting Business

We are a leading international engineering contractor
and service provider in China, focusing on the EPC
projects, particularly in the power industry. Our
international engineering contracting business is one of
the Company’s traditional core businesses, accounting
for about 57.2% of the Company’s total revenue in
2017.

In 2017, the International Engineering Contracting
Business kept advancing amid stability. The Company
paid special attention to market development and
project implementation, kept intensifying efforts to
support national strategies such as “the Belt and Road”
initiative and “Going Out”, continuously enhanced the
overall planning and forging of the international market,
endeavoured to foster the Company’s unique ability,
strengthened our comparative advantages, and actively
built an EPC open platform and industry ecosystem.
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The following table sets forth the details of the T X & % 2 £2017F12A31H
International Engineering Contracting Business for the IFEBRBRITRABERFE
year ended December 31, 2017 and the comparative LA K& 220165128318 I+ F
figures for the year ended December 31, 2016: EHLLRE T -

Unit: RMB million
By AR EHET

Year-on-year

% of Growth
2017 Total 2016 /(Decline)
BEER
20175  HAEHN% 2016  /(AD)
Revenue Power
'ON BEER 8,603.1 63.5% 7,290.2 18.0%
Transportation and Telecommunications
REiER NEFEM 2,022.9 14.9% 1,267.0 59.7%
Non-Core Sectors
FROITE 2,928.7 21.6% 3,827.9 -23.5%
Total
st 13,554.7 100.0% 12,385.1 9.4%
Gross profit Power
EF BHRER 2,134.8 64.2% 1,781.1 19.9%
Transportation and Telecommunications
RBEHREFEM 701.4 21.1% 272.1 157.8%
Non-Core Sectors
FERRITE 487.4 14.7% 758.2 -35.7%
Total
et 3,323.6 100.0% 2,811.4 18.2%
24 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Enhancing efforts for development in core markets

The Company strengthened study on industry
policies and trend of core markets and further
specified the development directions of various
core markets. The Company paid close attention
to national infrastructure and industrial planning
relating to “the Belt and Road” initiative and “Going
Out” strategy, to make corresponding efforts to
achieve intensive and progressive development. At
present, the Company shows a good momentum
in the development of core markets and continued
to maintain its leadership.

In 2017, the Company successively signed several
international engineering contracting projects.
During the meeting of “the Belt and Road Forum
for International Cooperation”, in the presence
of President Xi Jinping and Argentina’s President
Mauricio Macri, the Company signed the Phase |
supplemental contract on Belgrano railway project
in Argentina (the “Argentina Railway Project”),
with a project value of approximately US$1.6
billion. Moreover, in Mozambique, the Company
signed a project concerning construction of
Moatize-Macuze railway and port with a project
value of approximately US$1.2 billion, which was
another breakthrough in transportation construction
after the Argentina Railway Project. In Pakistan, the
Company successively signed the ThalNova mine
mouth lignite fired power project at Thar Block-Il,
Sindh, Pakistan and 1,263MW Punjab power plant,
Jhang EPC agreement (the Company’s first H class
gas turbine power plant), involving a total amount
of approximately US$1 billion. In Cameroon, the
Cameroon Ngolia hydropower plant project with a
project value of approximately US$398 million was
signed successfully.
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North
America

-~

Tnmdad and Tobago

Note: The map is provided only for illustrative purposes
and not drawn to scale. It is not intended
to accurately show the exact location of our
engineering contracting projects.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the
revenue from the Group’s International Engineering
Contracting Business by geographic locations for
the year ended December 31, 2017:

AsiaZzi|

it b EEHEI A RE - WIFRL
Plimie - tEle B eI FEERERR
R TI2ABIE B MRS TR
=

TR Y EH E2017F12A31H
IR IRAE S D AN E E
BUBR TREABI ¥R A RRAE -

2017 % of
20174 Total
RMB million BEN %

AREHET
Asia M 7,398.3 54.6%
South America EEM 1,985.3 14.7%
North America dE=M 27.0 0.2%
Africa FEM 3,515.8 25.9%
Europe B 628.3 4.6%
Total F 13,554.7 100.0%

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sparing no effort to promote development of
new markets and new fields

While ensuring sound development of traditional
power projects, the Company took the initiative to
develop clean energy and green energy projects in
line with the trend of changes in the international
power market structure. The Company entered
into a contract in respect of the Sainshand wind
farm project in Mongolia and a supply contract for
Sembilan 50MW solar farm project in Malaysia,
which came into effect. The Company’s contract
for the Kipeto 102MW wind farm project in Kenya
is also expected to come into effect in the near
future. In addition, the Company also stepped up
its efforts in exploring new markets and has made
substantial progress in countries such as Guinea.
Attempt was also made to enter high-end markets
such as the United Kingdom and Saudi Arabia and
the Company obtained the right to develop Victoria
Falls City in Zimbabwe, in a bid to develop first-
class parks by controlling scarce resources.

Realizing overall good project implementation

In 2017, the Company had 59 projects under
construction. The overall performance of project
implementation was stable without any material
safety accident, quality problem or delay.
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Ten projects of the Company have obtained a
completion certificate, including No. 6 600MW
steam turbine generator block project of the
central power plant in Venezuela, housing project
of developing 1,500 housing units in Maldives
Phase Il and No.3 power plant expansion project
in Karaganda, Kazakhstan and so on. M.Phin-
Saravan transmission and transformation project in
Laos was rewarded by project owners. The phase
| of Kostolac-B power plant project in Serbia has
been in good operation, and the desulfurization
equipment of the project is the first set in South-
eastern Europe. The Company’s reconstruction
project by the World Bank Loan — Gomel No. 1
thermal power station reconstruction project in
Belarus has overcome various difficulties and
successfully transferred.

In respect of project implementation, the 2x330MW
coal fired power project at Pakistan Thar Block I
completed boiler steel structure hoisting, which
was an important node for implementation of the
project; host machine and other equipment have
been purchased for the shatt al-Basra combined
cycle power plant conversion 650MW power plant
project; grid connection tests have been completed
for the two gas turbines of the construction and
installation of the combined cycle power plant
Soyo I, with a tested speed reaching world level.

Moreover, a batch of projects under construction
of the Company received keen interest and was
acclaimed by leaders at home and abroad. Zhang
Dejiang, the then chairman of the NPC Standing
Committee, and his party inspected the phase | of
Kostolac-B package project in Serbia. During his
participation in “the Belt and Road Summit Forum”,
President of Argentina Macri fully affirmed the
professionalism and sense of social responsibility
demonstrated by the Company in implementing
the Argentina Railway Project and expressed
that Argentina would continue to work with the
Company in infrastructure construction in the
future.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Striving to foster the Company’s unique capabilities

Keeping up with the trend of technological
development in the industry, the Company
promoted business development based on
scientific research, pushed forward the integration
of innovative technologies with traditional
manufacturing, and increased the Company’s EPC
technology content. The Company initiated factory-
like and integrated projects of overseas power
plant construction and conducted integration and
modularization research with various professional
units in the entire chain of the EPC power industry,
aiming at creating a “power station construction
and service upgrading and optimization system”
with distinctive characteristics. The Company has
made substantial progress in equity participation
in Jiangsu Pangwo Power Engineering Co., Ltd.,
laying a foundation for the longitudinal extension
of the EPC business chain and building of a new
business model. The Company also started the
construction of remote integrated management
and control system for overseas projects to use
Internet technology to realize monitoring, locating
breakdowns and diagnosing unit operation status,
all in a remote mode.
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Strengthening the overall layout and
construction of international markets

The Company actively responded to “the Belt
and Road” initiative, “Going out” and other
national strategies, carried out monographic
studies for overall layout of overseas markets and
achieved good results in guiding and supporting
business development. Firstly, the Company
conducted due diligence investigation on eight
hot countries, including India, Malaysia, Thailand,
Philippines, Vietnam, Laos, Myanmar, Cambodia,
at the corporate level in aspects of legal issues,
finance and taxation, investment and financing,
etc. Secondly, the Company completed market
segmentation in Association of Southeast Asian
Nations (ASEAN) and South Asia. Thirdly, the
Company updated the core market management
system and core market segmentation list and
revised the core market efficiency budget table.
Fourthly, the Company deepened its regionalized
and localized operation. Regional companies
in Dubai and Singapore have been in formal
operation and exploration of megaregion business
development and operation mode is underway. The
level of localization has further been improved. The
Company has preliminarily formed localized teams
responsible for project development, design and
execution in Angola and Belarus. The Company
has established a good cooperative relationship
with local purchasers and construction contractors
and actively participated in project bidding.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Creating an EPC open type platform and
industry ecosphere

The Company continued to integrate into the
international industrial chain and value chain,
signed strategic cooperation agreements with
world leading enterprises such as ABB Ltd,
engaged in deep cooperation with companies like
Black & Veatch in the United Kingdom, Malaysia
and other countries, deepened cooperation with
strategic partners such as General Electric and
Siemens; and formed an industrial alliance with
China XD Group Corporation, Dongfang Electric
Corporation and other well-known Chinese
enterprises.

The following table sets forth the operational
details of the International Engineering Contracting
Business for the year ended December 31, 2017
and the comparative figures for the year ended
December 31, 2016:

ITHEEPCRME L AMITE
FREE

TR ABIREZENEE
#  BABB LtdZH 4B %
TERETEEASER®
EiBlack & VeatchH A RJE
EE - SRADEEERK
EAE: B@BAER - @AM
FEHEEBREBEHEOEETEHR
A EBARAESEAR
FRERTEREBBRAF
ERAMA D EREEE

B o
m

& #H Y E =2017F 128
S1IAHLEFEBREBIREAR
EBRHELEHE  UREBZE
2016F12A31B L FE M
LB T

Unit: USD million
By - FEZFET

Year-on-year

% of Growth/

2017 Total 2016 (Decline)

RERR/

20175 AEM%  2016%F (D)

Amount HEX Power ENER 1,603.2  525% 23500 -31.8%
of newly AREE Transportation and TREH R
effective Telecommunications &85

contracts 254.5 8.4% 233.1 9.2%

Non-Core Sectors FRUITE 1,946  89.1% 870.3 37.3%

Total @t 3,052.3  100.0% 3,453.4 -11.6%
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Unit: USD million
By - FHET

As at As at

December 31, December 31, Increase/

2017 % of Total 2016 (Decrease)

Ro017% #0164 BK/

12431A BEN% 12A318 (B)

Backlog RTH Power VIS 5,492.4 60.9% 6,095.4 -0.9%
AEE  Transportation and RBEBHR

Telecommunications® & 733.3 8.1% 774.1 -5.3%

Non-Core Sectors FLTE 2,793.6 31.0% 2,045.9 36.5%

Total st 9,019.3 100.0% 8,915.4 1.2%

Signed CENE  Power EHER 6,114.3 35.5% 6,980.2 -12.4%
contracts 4%&R Transportation and REEHR
pending to Telecommunications ETiEH

be effective 5,404.9 31.4% 2,611.0 107.0%

Non-Core Sectors FROTE 5,687.5 33.1% 5,605.6 1.5%

Total @t 17,206.7 100.0% 15,196.8 13.2%

* The amount of the contracts, for which income was * LUFBERRRANER S

recognised by net amount, was deducted from the BEAARTHKERZEFN

backlog. B o
B. Trading Business B. ES%¥K

In 2017, transformation and upgrading of the Trading 2017F - B EBEBENF

Business went on. Constantly enhancing innovation & TERFAIFE S REE

capability and increasing the quality of development, REE - & NIMFEKER - 1%

the Company attached importance to key tasks such HIEIRT - HEAEAE BLEES

as business transformation, mechanism innovation, EETIE - WEUSERARK °

structural adjustment and optimization management,
and achieved good results.
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The following table sets forth the details of the Trading T & & 7 # £2017F12831H
Business for the year ended December 31, 2017 and tFEESXGFRERBE
the comparative figures for the year ended December 2016F12A31H IEFE M L&
31, 2016: ¥

Unit: RMB million
By - AR EET

Year-on-year

% of Growth/
2017 Total 2016 (Decline)
BEEER )/
20175  HAEN% 20164 (Rl 2)
Revenue KA International trade RE 6,485.6 80.7% 4,878.3 32.9%
Domestic trade NE 5 1,549.1 19.3% 2,430.5 -36.3%
Total @t 8,034.7 100.0% 7,308.8 9.9%
Gross International trade B & 416.1 87.9% 290.4 43.3%
profit EF Domestic trade NE5 57.5 12.1% 62.7 -8.3%
Total |t 473.6 100.0% 353.1 34.1%
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Making progress in business innovation

The Company strengthened product innovation
and upgrading, introduced technology and
management backbone for castings and
forgings business, increased product research
and development capabilities, and achieved
transformation from Original Equipment
Manufacturer (OEM) to Original Design
Manufacturer (ODM). The Company has become a
main supplier of multiple global top 500 companies,
with its market orders increasing significantly.
Promoting innovation and transformation of
business model, the Company has directly sold
commodities to local suppliers and customers
through an “overseas platform + overseas
warehouse + exhibition + logistics model”.
Currently the Company has started shipping
goods overseas through its European platform.
The Company actively explored new markets and
business models, such as the agricultural market
supply chain multi-link business in Kazakhstan,
localized mechanical sales and after-sales service
model in the Saudi Arabia market.

Continuing to explore overseas regional
operation

The Company continued to expand the mining
components market in Australia, striving to build a
regional center in Australia. Based on the small and
medium-sized solar EPC projects, the Company
actively explored the Caribbean market and set up
a subsidiary in Curacao to engage in investment
in small and medium sized photovoltaic power
stations. Relying on entrepot trade, EPC and
industrialized investment business, the Company
promoted the construction of Thailand-Southeast
Asia Regional Trade Center, radiating to the
peripheral markets in Southeast Asia.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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3. Continuously deepening cooperation with
local government

Firstly, Phase | of the Silk Road International
Cooperation Park project, which integrated various
industries and was developed in partnership with
Yinchuan City, had been completed and bonded
trading business developed steadily. Secondly, the
Company reviewed in time the project experience
it developed in cooperation with municipal
governments of Jiaozuo and Zhumadian.

In addition, the Company also capitalized on
relevant policies in its application for becoming an
“enterprise with proprietary brand and proprietary
intellectual property rights” in Beijing and actively
promoted certification of relevant subsidiaries as
“enterprise with proprietary brand and proprietary
intellectual property rights”.

C. Services Business

In 2017, the Company’s tendering agency business
under our Services Business maintained a growing
tendency since 2016, and obtained AAA Grade
Enterprise Certificate from China Tendering & Bidding
Association.

In respect of design consulting business, it maintained
a good momentum of development with its scale and
efficiency growing steadily. Meanwhile, adhering to
development based on scientific and technological
innovation, the Company continued to build technology
innovation platforms, stepped up innovating business
models and continuously promoted business
transformation and upgrading.

enterprise with proprietary brand and proprietary intellectual property
rights refer to those that own registered trademarks and patents
(including inventive patent, utility model and design patents, etc.)
in domestic and export markets (including Hong Kong, Macao and
Taiwan).
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Keeping strengthening scientific and
technological innovation capacity

The establishment of a Technical Committee and
incubation special to key frontier technologies
had greatly improved the technological innovation
capacity of China Machinery R&D and JiKan
Research Institute, thereby bringing about a series
of research and development achievements with
intellectual property rights. Upon approval to
establish the government technology platform
of Changsha “Enterprise Technology Center”,
China Machinery R&D established two enterprise
technology innovation platforms and put the
Engineering Technology Research Center into use.
With six newly obtained patent authorizations and
18 software copyrights, China Machinery R&D
was also elected as the 2017ENR/Construction
Times “Top 60 Chinese Engineering Design Firms”.
JiKan Research Institute newly increased two
provincial scientific research platforms including
“Sangin Scholar” Innovation Team, completed
two major scientific and technological projects at
the provincial level, newly obtained eight patent
authorizations, won 16 awards above provincial
and ministerial levels and was rated as a provincial
survey and design master.

Developing domestic and overseas markets
with great efforts

In the domestic market, China Machinery R&D
successfully won the bid for the design of PPP
Project under the project of comprehensive
management of south inland rivers in Leping City,
Jiangxi Province. JiKan Research Institute also
constantly improved its layout in the domestic
market and newly set up two branches. In the
overseas market, the amount of contracts newly
concluded by China Machinery R&D and JiKan
Research Institute for international construction
business also made breakthroughs.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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3. Promoting external reorganization aimed at
enhancing competitiveness of core business

The Company propelled mergers and
reorganizations with dominant design enterprises,
to build up the competitive advantages of the
whole industrial chain.

The following table sets forth the details of the Services
Business for the year ended December 31, 2017 and
the comparative figures for the year ended December
31, 2016:
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Unit: RMB million

By : AR HZT

Year-on-year

% of Growth/

2017 Total 2016 (Decline)

BRERER

20176 AEN% 20164 (R

Revenue WA Design consulting services  :X&T A ARTE 620.6 29.7% 461.4 34.5%

Logistics services R R 332.7 15.9% 213.7 55.7%
Export-import agency B ORIZ RS

services 26.0 1.2% 32.4 -19.8%

Tendering agency services — BIERIR R 20.6 1.0% 33.2 -38.0%

Others Hit 1,092.9 52.2% 582.6 87.6%

Total st 2,092.8 100.0% 1,323.3 58.2%

Gross ER Design consulting services R &1 8@ RS 156.3 17.0% 134.5 16.2%

profit Logistics services W RS 202.0 22.0% 126.0 60.3%
Export-import agency #HORIE RS

services 38.1 4.2% 30.7 24.1%

Tendering agency services — FRIZRIZRK 11.8 1.3% 10.1 16.8%

Others Efh 509.6 55.5% 78.4 550.0%

Total Met 917.8 100% 379.7 141.7%
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EEENWED
D. Important Events

1.

Acquisition of 100% equity interest in CNEEC

On November 24, 2017, the Company and
SINOMACH entered into an acquisition agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
acquire, and SINOMACH has agreed to dispose of,
the entire equity interest in CNEEC for an aggregate
consideration of RMB1,980,031,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,349,766,807), subject to the
terms and conditions of the acquisition agreement
(the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition is a key and
timely step for SINOMACH Group to honor its non-
competition undertakings, which would enable
the Company to better utilize such business
integration to strengthen the competitiveness of
its core business. The Acquisition enabled the
Company to rapidly expand its assets and scale of
business by external merger and acquisition, and
to further enhance the Company’s capabilities in
design, supervision, operation and maintenance
of engineering projects, and further improve the
Company’s service capabilities in a complete
project cycle. The Acquisition also reinforced the
market position of the Company’s engineering
contracting business in traditional areas by
consolidating relationships with partners, and
developed business in a larger scale and with
stepped up efforts to enter new markets and areas.
It also helped to expand the Company’s talent
pool for the International Engineering Contracting
Business, and improve its talent team structure.
On January 12, 2018, the first extraordinary
general meeting of the Company has approved
the Acquisition. As at the date of this report, the
Acquisition was on track to completion. Details
for the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated November 24, 2017 and
January 12, 2018, respectively, on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

lll. FINANCIAL POSITION AND OPERATING
RESULTS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with
the financial statements of the Group together with the
accompanying notes included in this annual report and other
sections therein.

1.

Overview

The Group’s profitability dropped in 2017. Profit before
taxation decreased by 19.1% to RMB2,252.9 million in
2017 as compared to RMB2,783.9 million in 2016.

Revenue

The Group generated its revenue from the International
Engineering Contracting Business, Trading Business
and Services Business. The Group’s revenue increased
by 12.7% to RMB23,682.2 million in 2017 as compared
to RMB21,017.2 million in 2016.

The following table sets out, for the periods indicated,
the amount and percentage of our total revenue by

BEEERWED T

. IR R REEE

AEHE NI WE B H2HEs
FEAN 5 3 [ H A 35 80 op K 52 (B ) B 7
HR R

BmE

AEBHBFNR2017TEFTAT
% - 2017 FE BB ADE I A AR
2,252.98 BT ' B2016F /M A
R#2,783.9B 8 TR A19.1% °

A

REEMUWARE BETREA
X% BHEBLREGES -
20174 - ZK%_@E’MU\Z%AE%

23,682.2H & L B2016F M A
RE21,017 288 LIER12.7% °

TERIRA AR =EEHD
BEENSENEERANES

each of our three business segments:

LE -

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEEE

2017 2016
20174 20164
(RMB (RMB
million) (%) million) (%)
(AR# (AR
B&ET) (%) B&ET) (%)
International B TRABEK
Engineering
Contracting Business
Power BRER 8,603.1 36.3% 7,290.2 34.7%
Transportation and
Telecommunications RBER KB FEA 2,022.9 8.5% 1,267.0 6.0%
Non-Core Sectors FZOITE 2,928.7 12.4% 3,827.9 18.2%
Trading Business EEESS
International trade RE 5 6,485.6 27.4% 4,878.3 23.2%
Domestic trade BANE S 1,549.1 6.6% 2,430.5 11.6%
Services Business i RS 2,092.8 8.8% 1,323.3 6.3%
Total et 23,682.2 100.0% 21,017.2 100.0%
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EEEmE

1)

vl

International Engineering Contracting
Business

The Group’s revenue generated from the
International Engineering Contracting Business
increased by 9.4% to RMB13,554.7 million in
2017 as compared to RMB12,385.1 million in
2016, primarily due to the increase in the revenue
generated from the power and transportation and
telecommunications sectors.

The revenue generated from the power sector
increased by 18.0% to RMB8,603.1 million in
2017 as compared to RMB7,290.2 million in 2016,
primarily due to the significant progress in the
power station projects in Asia as compared to the
previous year.

The revenue generated from the transportation and
telecommunications sector increased by 59.7%
to RMB2,022.9 million in 2017 as compared to
RMB1,267.0 million in 2016, primarily due to the
significant progress in the railway rehabilitation
project in South America and the communications
project in Africa.

The revenue generated from the Non-Core Sectors
decreased by 23.5% to RMB2,928.7 million in
2017 as compared to RMB3,827.9 million in 2016,
primarily due to the significant progress of the
house construction and water plant projects in
Africa and Asia in 2016, recording higher revenue
as compared to 2017.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Trading Business

The Group’s revenue generated from the Trading
Business increased by 9.9% to RMB8,034.7 million
in 2017 as compared to RMB7,308.8 million in
2016, primarily due to the increase in the revenue
from international trade.

The revenue generated from the international trade
increased by 32.9% to RMB6,485.6 million in
2017 as compared to RMB4,878.3 million in 2016,
primarily due to the increase in materials supply
projects in Africa and grain re-export business in
Europe.

The revenue generated from the domestic trade
decreased by 36.3% to RMB1,549.1 million in
2017 as compared to RMB2,430.5 million in 2016,
primarily due to the decrease in the business
volume of the industrial aluminum and solar energy
components as compared to the previous year.

Services Business

The Group’s revenue generated from the Services
Business increased by 58.2% to RMB2,092.8
million in 2017 as compared to RMB1,323.3 million
in 2016, primarily due to the increase in revenue
generated from technology service, design,
logistics and property leasing as compared to the
previous year.

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by 8.6% to

RMB18,967.2 million in 2017 as compared to
RMB17,473.0 million in 2016, primarily due to the
increase in costs as a result of the increase in revenues

from the relevant sectors.

2)

3)

BA X%

2017 - AEBWE 5%
BN/ ARKES 034780
BT m2oieE Al A AR
#7,308.8B B L iR A
9.9% * TEHREIRE S
ABFTga -

2017 - BB S AR
A R #6,485.68 & It ' I
2016F AR %4,878.3E &
JLIEIN82.9% © E B AN IE
MV &8 B A MBUN B
RE OB ARBFTILM o

2017 - BN B HIA B
ARB15401BE T
20164F A R #2,430.5B &
T A36.3%  TEHNL
FEIREIM RA GRS
BEFREBABHMTIE -

R 3% =%

20174 - AEE MR %
BWA B ARKE2092.88
BT M2016F 8l A AR
#1,323.3B B iR A
58.2% * £ ZHNEIM R
WA~ BETIA - i K
¥HERAREFRBHEFAH
KR

SHERAE

20175  AEEMBEEXNRAEA
R ¥18,967.28 87T * M2016%F
Al AANR¥E17,473.08 8T 1
18 58.6% + TE AN SMIEA
YIS 038 B A A AN A FE S A
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BEERWED T

4. Gross profit and gross profit margin

()  Gross profit of the Group in 2017 consists of the

followings:

4. EFRERF=R

(i) 2017FAREBEEFHEBREBER

LUl

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILLEE

2017 2016
20174 2016%F
(RMB (RMB
million) (%) million) (%)
(AR (AR
BE&T) (%) H&Z7T) (%)
International B ITRAEER
Engineering
Contracting
Business
Power BHER 2,134.8 45.3% 1,781.1 50.2%
Transportation and
Telecommunications 22 i@:E# & FFi@ 701.4 14.9% 2721 7.7%
Non-Core Sectors IERZOITEE 487.4 10.3% 758.2 21.4%
Trading Business BESEL
International trade BE S 416.1 8.8% 290.4 8.2%
Domestic trade NE 5 57.5 1.2% 62.7 1.8%
Services Business e eSS 917.8 19.5% 379.7 10.7%
Total @et 4,715.0 100.0% 3,544.2 100.0%
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(i) Gross profit margins of the Group in 2017 are set
out below:

(i

017TFEAREEENMEHR T
x=

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31HLEE

2017 2016
20175 20164
(%) (%)
International Engineering B ITRRAE

Contracting Business E 24.5% 22.7%
Power B EEIR 24.8% 24.4%
Transportation and RimiEd &

Telecommunications Bl 34.7% 21.5%
Non-Core Sectors IERRONTEE 16.6% 19.8%
Trading Business BESEK 5.9% 4.8%
International trade RE 5 6.4% 6.0%
Domestic trade NE 5 3.7% 2.6%
Services Business RAE £ 43.9% 28.7%
Total et 19.9% 16.9%

The Group’s gross profit increased by 33.0%
to RMB4,715.0 million in 2017 as compared to
RMB3,544.2 million in 2016. This increase is
mainly attributable to the increase in the gross
profit of International Engineering Contracting
Business, Trading Business and Services Business
as compared to the previous year.

20175 - AEEWEN A
ARB471508 &0 M
20164 Al & A R #3,544.2
BET - EIEA33.0% - It
EIEEZARARBIBRIREAR
X% BHE% RBEB
M E B £ F RS B FTig
e
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= =424 Ebg A\
B ETmED
1) International Engineering Contracting Business

(@)

Gross Profit

The gross profit generated from the
International Engineering Contracting
Business increased by 18.2% to RMB3,323.6
million in 2017 as compared to RMB2,811.4
million in 2016, primarily due to the
increase in gross profit from the power and
transportation and telecommunications
sectors.

The gross profit generated from the power
sector increased by 19.9% to RMB2,134.8
million in 2017 as compared to RMB1,781.1
million in 2016, primarily due to the significant
progress in the power station projects in Asia
as compared to the previous year.

The gross profit generated from the
transportation and telecommunications sector
increased by 157.8% to RMB701.4 million in
2017 as compared to RMB272.1 million in
2016, primarily due to the significant progress
in the railway rehabilitation project in South
America this year.

The gross profit generated from the Non-Core
Sectors decreased by 35.7% to RMB487.4
million in 2017 as compared to RMB758.2
million in 2016, primarily due to the significant
progress of the water plant and house
construction projects in Africa and Asia
in 2016, recording higher gross profit as
compared to 2017.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit margin generated from
the International Engineering Contracting
Business slightly increased to 24.5% in 2017
as compared to 22.7% in 2016, primarily
due to the increase in the gross profit margin
from the power and transportation and
telecommunications sectors as compared to
the previous year.

The gross profit margin generated from
the power sector was 24.8% in 2017 as
compared to 24.4% in 2016, which remained
relatively stable.

The gross profit margin generated from
the transportation and telecommunications
sector increased to 34.7% in 2017 as
compared to 21.5% in 2016, primarily
due to the lower transportation costs of
the railway rehabilitation project in South
America and higher gross profit margin of the
communications project in Africa.

The gross profit margin generated from the
Non-Core Sectors was 16.6% in 2017 as
compared to 19.8% in 2016, primarily due to
the higher gross profit margin from the house
construction projects in Africa which was
completed in 2016.

Ik

20174 - EBR T 12 &
BEBERE/NE EFH
£24.5% -+ 20164 8l
B22.7%  FTEMARE
NEER - BEBRE
FBAMRRENERR L
FRBHB LR -

20174 - & L IRTT
¥ EF X B24.8% -
2016F B B24.4% + #
FEHETE -

20174 » A RE 8 &
BFRAITEER R
£34.7% © 20164 8
B21.5%  TEHNE
ENEEBETEE Bl
B 7 B B AR LA K2 3R M 38
IR EFEXRS -

20174 - FERZ AT
T M & B16.6% 1M
20165 HI719.8% * £
B R R2016F T L H
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EEEWED N
2) Trading Business

(a)

Gross Profit

The gross profit generated from the Trading
Business increased by 34.1% to RMB473.6
million in 2017 as compared to RMB353.1
million in 2016, primarily due to the increase
in gross profit from international trade.

The gross profit generated from international
trade increased by 43.3% to RMB416.1
million in 2017 as compared to RMB290.4
million in 2016, primarily due to the increase
in the revenue from international trade.

The gross profit generated from the domestic
trading business decreased by 8.3% to
RMB57.5 million in 2017 as compared to
RMB62.7 million in 2016, primarily due to
the decrease in the revenue from domestic
trading business.

Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit margin generated from
the Trading Business was 5.9% in 2017 as
compared to 4.8% in 2016, primarily due to
the increase in gross profit margin from both
international and domestic trade.

The gross profit margin generated from the
international trading business was 6.4%
in 2017 as compared to 6.0% in 2016,
increased slightly as compared to the
previous year.

The gross profit margin generated from the
domestic trading business was 3.7% in 2017
as compared to 2.6% in 2016, primarily due
to the decrease in the business volume of
aluminum with lower gross profit margin as
compared to the previous year.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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3) Services Business

(a) Gross Profit

The gross profit generated from the Services
Business increased by 141.7% to RMB917.8
million in 2017 as compared to RMB379.7
million in 2016, primarily due to the increase
in gross profit as a result of the increase
in the revenue generated from technology
service, design, logistics and property.

(b)  Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit margin generated from the
Services Business was 43.9% in 2017 as
compared to 28.7% in 2016, primarily due to
the higher gross profit margin of technology
service and property leasing business this
year.

Other revenue

The Group’s other revenue amounted to RMB201.1
million in 2017 as compared to RMB29.1 million in
2016, mainly attributable to the returns on wealth
management products in the current period calculated
as available-for-sale financial assets of RMB173.0
million.

Other income and expenses, net

The Group’s other income and expenses, net amounted
to RMB183.9 million in 2017 as compared to income
of RMB(14.2) million in 2016, mainly attributable to the
increase in income from fair value changes of foreign
currency forward exchange contracts and the increase
in returns on equity on disposal of a subsidiary.

BEEERWED T

3) REEH
(a) EF

20175 - RRIBEBE
FEAREKINTEES
JL 0 2016 M AR
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(b) FEF=E
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2L 2A
EEEN WD
7. Selling and marketing expenses

10.

11.

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses decreased
by 7.0% to RMB1,026.3 million in 2017 as compared to
RMB1,103.9 million in 2016, mainly attributable to the
decrease in labor costs.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by
14.6% to RMB831.0 million in 2017 as compared to
RMB725.4 million in 2016, mainly attributable to the
increase in research and development cost, consulting
fees and depreciation cost.

Other operating expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses increased by
142.7% to RMB394.8 million in 2017 as compared
to RMB162.7 million in 2016. This increase is mainly
attributable to the increase in provision for impairment
on receivables as compared to that in 2016.

Profit from operations

The Group’s profit from operations increased by
81.7% to RMB2,847.9 million in 2017 as compared
to RMB1,567.1 million in 2016, primarily due to the
increase in gross profit.

Finance income/finance expenses

The Group’s finance income decreased by 74.3% to
RMB321.5 million in 2017 as compared to RMB1,248.7
million in 2016, primarily due to greater exchange loss
this year.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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13.
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15.
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In 2017, the Group’s finance expenses amounted to
RMB977.1 million as compared to RMB46.9 million
in 2016, representing an increase of 1,983.4% as
compared to the previous year, primarily due to greater
exchange loss this year.

Thus, in 2017, net finance income of the Group
amounted to RMB(655.6) million as compared to
RMB1,201.8 million in 2016.

Income tax

The Group’s income tax decreased by 20.1% to
RMB538.4 million in 2017 as compared to RMB674.1
million in 2016. This decrease was mainly due to the
effect attributable to the decrease in the profit before
tax.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s net profit for
the year decreased by 18.7% to RMB1,714.5 million in
2017 as compared to RMB2,109.8 million in 2016 and
its net profit margin was 7.2% in 2017 as compared to
10.0% in 2016.

Profit attributable to the shareholders

The profit attributable to the shareholders decreased by
18.8% to RMB1,711.2 million in 2017 as compared to
RMB2,106.5 million in 2016.

Profit attributable to the holders of
non-controlling interests

The profit attributable to the holders of non-controlling
interests of the Group amounted to RMB3.3 million in
2017 as compared to profit of RMB3.3 million in 2016,
which remained the same with the previous year.

12.

13.

14.

15.
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16. Liquidity and capital resources

17.

18.

As at December 31, 2017, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB18,466.3 million,
compared to RMB19,541.9 million as at December 31,
2016, representing a decrease of 5.5%, primarily due to
the decrease in net cash flow from operating activities
and the decrease in cash and cash equivalents due to
the change of exchange rate.

As at December 31, 2017, the Group’s borrowings
amounted to RMB916.4 million, compared to
RMB1,046.4 million as at December 31, 2016,
representing a decrease of 12.4%. RMB754.8 million
(including RMB54.3 million of long-term borrowings
due within one year) was short-term borrowings and
RMB161.6 million was long-term borrowings.

The borrowings were denominated in either RMB, US
dollars or Japanese Yen and were subject to interest
rates ranging from 1.25% to 5.70% per annum.

Capital expenditures

The Group’s capital expenditures consisted primarily
of the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and land lease prepayments. In 2017,
the Group’s capital expenditure was RMB734.1 million,
representing an increase of 17.3% as compared to
RMB626.0 million in 2016, mainly due to satisfactory
progress made in the construction of infrastructure
projects of fixed assets.

Gearing ratio

In 2017, the Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings
divided by total assets) was 1.9%, representing a
decrease of 0.3% as compared to 2.2% in 2016, mainly
due to the decrease in long-term borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

19. Major acquisition and disposals and significant
investments

Please see the paragraphs headed “Il. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW - D. Important Events” on page 38 of this
annual report.

20. Contingent liabilities

We were involved in a number of legal proceedings
and claims against either our Company or subsidiaries
of our Company in the ordinary course of business.
While the outcomes of such contingencies, lawsuits or
other proceedings cannot be determined at present,
the Directors believe that any resulting liabilities will not
have a material adverse impact on the financial position,
liquidity or operating results of the Group.

21. Event after reporting period

On March 26, 2018, the Board resolved that a final
dividend of RMBO0.1659 per share is to be distributed
to the Shareholders, subject to approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Such final dividends proposed after the end
of the reporting period have not been recognised as
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period.

IV. LIQUIDITY

Our principal sources of funds have been cash generated
from operations, various short-term and long-term
bank borrowings and lines of credit, as well as capital
contributions from Shareholders. Our liquidity requirements
derive primarily from our working capital needs, purchases of
fixed assets and the servicing of our indebtedness.

We have historically met our working capital and other
liquidity requirements principally with cash generated from
operating activities, and financed the remainder primarily
through bank borrowings and proceeds from the Listing.
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1. Cash Flows 1. BERE
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash T X & % # £2017F12A31H
flows for the year ended December 31, 2017, together EFEZRMOBEREEN - N
with the comparing figures for the year ended December 5 # £2016F12A318 It F F
31, 2016: ML BT -

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE
2017 2016
20174 20164

RMB million RMB million
AR¥EET AREBET

Net cash generated from

operating activities K EEEENE S FE 694.3 2,176.8
Net cash used in investing activities R &;EE AT HHIR &R 58 (328.4) (3,354.2)
Net cash used in financing activities Bt&E ST AR S F 58 (930.7) (750.8)

Net increase/decrease in cash and IRE&RIRESEZWLN

cash equivalents A FER (564.8) (1,928.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of year FONRET LIRTEFEY 19,541.9 21,032.9
Effect of foreign exchange rate

changes, net fERFEH)FHE (510.8) 437.2

Cash and cash equivalents at

end of year FRORE LIRS EFEY 18,466.3 19,541.9
As at December 31, 2017, the Group’s cash and R2017F12A318 » A& H #F
cash equivalents amounted to RMB18,466.3 million, EHesBEeEBYWAARKE
compared to RMB19,541.9 million as at December 18,466.38 &L * MMK2016%F12
31, 2016, representing a decrease of 5.5%. The main A31RAI R ARM19,541.988
source of the Group’s operating capital is the receipts T PRIRA5.5% o NEBMER
from engineering projects. EeRREZHITRER KR -
52 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cash Flows from Operating activities

For the year ended December 31, 2017, we had
net cash flow generated from operating activities of
RMB694.3 million. Net cash inflow generated from
operating activities was mainly attributable to the effect
of changes in working capital, which resulted in a cash
outflow of RMB1,631.2 million in 2017. The changes
in working capital mainly included (i) an increase in
receipts in advance of RMB406.9 million, (ii) a decrease
in trade and other payables of RMB589.0 million, (iii) an
increase in trade and other receivables of RMB2,837.9
million, and (iv) a decrease in receivables for
construction contracts of RMB1,545.2 million. In 2017,
cash generated from profit from operations amounted
to RMB3,178.7 million, cash outflow from changes in
working capital was RMB1,631.2 million and income tax
paid was RMB853.2 million, which resulted in net cash
inflow generated from operating activities of RMB694.3
million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2017, our net cash
used in investing activities was RMB(328.4) million.
Our net cash outflow from investing activities mainly
consisted of (i) cash inflow from time deposits with
maturity of three months or longer of RMB909.5
million, (ii) cash outflow of RMB795.9 million as a result
of the increase in restricted deposits, (iii) payments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment of
RMB679.1 million, (iv) payments for investment in
associates and joint ventures of RMB163.6 million, and
(v) cash inflow of RMB403.1 million from interest or
dividend received.
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BB TR EOERETIENA
R#40698 8T (B HRE
fhFE SR IER 2 A R #589.08
Bor (8 5 & H I RIE
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BEERWED T

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2017, our net cash
used in financing activities was RMB(930.7) million. Our
cash inflow from financing activities primarily consisted
of proceeds from bank borrowings of RMB888.5 million.
Such amount was partially offset by (i) repayment of
bank borrowings of RMB928.6 million and (ii) dividends
paid to Shareholders of RMB842.5 million.

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

Our capital expenditures consisted primarily of the
purchase of buildings, certain equipments, lease
prepayments and intangible assets. In 2017, the
Group’s capital expenditure was RMB734.1 million,
representing an increase of 17.3% as compared to
RMB626.0 million in 2016, mainly due to satisfactory
progress made in the construction of infrastructure projects
of fixed assets.

Our capital commitments mainly include the value of
contracts signed but not yet completed and the value of
contracts not yet signed but the budget of which have
been authorized. In 2017, the capital commitments of the
Group were RMB1,390.9 million, representing an increase
of 40.8% as compared to RMB987.9 million in 2016. It
was mainly attributed to a greater investment made by the
Company in investment projects and in the construction of
infrastructure projects of fixed assets in this year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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6. Working Capital 6. EEES
(a) Trade and other receivables (a) EZREMEWRIE
Our trade and other receivables primarily consist of BPMNE 5 K& E b FEUGRIR
trade and bill receivables, advances to suppliers, TERRBREHERFIE R E
other receivables related to agency services W - e TR K
and amount due from or advances to fellow T8~ (IR AR 755 A8 B 1 HAth f&
subsidiaries. W SRIE K W sk #2145 [R) K B

BRAFNE -

The following table sets forth the turnover days TEHIRNE E2017FE &
of the average trade receivables and the average 2016412318 |F £ E K
trade payables of the Company for the years ended NAIEHE 5 EW A N FE
December 31, 2017 and 2016. BB SEMATIBENEEX
2o
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE
2017 2016
20175 20164
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR# (AR#E
BE) B&oT)
The turnover days of
the average trade FHE FEWGIER
receivables (Note 1) AR E (H5E1) 84 78
The turnover days of
the average trade FHE ZENRIER
payables (Note 2) BERE (Kit2) 244 268
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== |§.‘ 'E—J- A EB A\ *ﬁ.
B i ] = rY a2t /]
Note 1: The average trade receivables are the sum of

Note 2:

The fol

opening balance and the closing balance of
trade receivables and bills receivables (net of
allowance of doubtful debts) divided by two. The
turnover days of the average trade receivables
are the average trade receivables divided by total
revenue and multiplied by 360.

The average trade payables are the sum of
opening balance and the closing balance of trade
and bills payables divided by two. The turnover
days of the average trade payables are the
average trade payables divided by cost of sales
and multiplied by 360.

lowing table sets forth the aging analysis

of trade and bills receivables (net of allowance of

doubtful debts) based on the invoice date as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016.

et FIOEBREREFIRETE

BHRYRIE R B R
B (IR RERE) F
VISR R ARV
MER—BL - FHE
2 RN IA R B8R
Ty F B 5 EIGRIA
B LA 48 I\ 75 R AB60

=1
=4 e

Hiatz : FI9E BN FIRTIE

B S EMNRIBRENE
BEVEHREAFRES
WAAMBER—BE - F
HB 5 EMNRIBR S
KETIIEFHE P ER
RIBBRLASHE PN AN TR
LA3BO{SH °

T 5 # 5] 7220174 2016
F12H31H B 5 E W KA
REWER (MR RRE#)
RERFEHBOERRST

as at December 31

M12A31H
2017 2016
20174 20164
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR# (AR
BET) B&#Er)
Within 3 months 3E A AR 3,578.7 2,819.9
3 months to 6 months 3EAE6EA 160.9 199.3
6 months to 1 year S EESNES 1,360.8 610.3
Over 1 year 1F A 1,127.8 1,217.6
6,288.2 4,847 .1
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s credit policies with its customers for
the year ended December 31, 2017 remained
consistent as that for the year ended December 31,
2016. We continually enhanced our management
of trade and bills receivables to reduce the
exposure to doubtful debts. In addition, we made
allowance for doubtful debts after fully considering
the nature of trade and bills receivables and its
recoverable amount. As at December 31, 2017,
allowance provided for doubtful debts for our trade
and bills receivables amounted to RMB1,228.8
million, accounting for 16.5% of our trade and
bills receivables, as compared to RMB840.2
million as at December 31, 2016, accounting
for 14.8% of our trade and bills receivables. The
increase in allowance for doubtful debt in 2017
as compared to that in 2016 was primarily due to
the provision we made in connection with certain
trade receivables from our International Engineering
Contracting Business and Trading Business as a
result of evidences of significant financial difficulties
of debtors that came into our attention.

BEEERWED T

#H Z=2017412A318 1t F
ErAEEEARFPHEE
B % H #H =2016F12 A31
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REERR - N TDEE
B S EBGRIEREWEER
MERAENKESEE - &
ISt REREHR B - R2017
F12A318 ML E 5
JE M R IE K E W R AR TR Y
RREE R AK®E1,228.8
BETERME S EWRK
TH R EKREERN16.5% M
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(b) Trade and other payables

Our trade and other payables primarily consist of
trade and bills payables, other payables related
to agency services, accrued salaries, wages and
benefits and amounts due to fellow subsidiaries.

The following table sets forth the aging analysis of
our trade and bills payables based on the invoice
date as at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

(b) EZRHEMENKIER

BB 5 N H A & 5RIA
TEBRREZRNFIANE
NRE - RIBRGHEBENE
MR EitFE - T
ORI YNEESI NG

TKIE ©

T & & 5 720174 &2016
F12A31BHME HREMNRK
BERENERREZHEHD
AR AT

As at December 31

M12A31H
2017 2016
20174 20164
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AE# (ARH
BET) &)
Within 3 months 3ME A AR 3,384.2 4,789.9
3 months to 6 months 3EAE6EA 647.0 517.1
6 months to 1 year 6EAZ=1F 2,190.4 921.8
Over 1 year 1F LA E 6,352.3 6,899.5
12,573.9 13,128.3

The Group’s credit policies with its suppliers for
the year ended December 31, 2017 remained the
same as that for the year ended December 31,
2016.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

#H F£2017F12A318 1k F
B AEEEEHERNE
B K B #H £20165F12 A
31AIEFEMRRA -



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

V. INDEBTEDNESS V. B
1. Borrowings 1. BE
Our consolidated borrowings as at December 31, 20179 M2016F12A31H »
2017 and 2016 for the purpose of calculating the MAUNFTEREBEEHNE HE
indebtedness of our Group were as follows: BT

As at December 31

M12A31H
2017 2016
20175 20164

(RMB million) (RMB million)
ARMEBET AEEKEZET

Current: E -

Short-term borrowings EEEE

Bank loans RITER
unsecured IR 505.3 281.7
secured BIER 195.2 193.2
Subtotal NEF 700.5 474.9

Add: current portion of

long-term borrowings m: REEEREE D 54.3 101.8
Subtotal /Nt 754.8 576.7
Non-current: IEMED
Long-term borrowings REEE
Bank loans RITER
unsecured HEIR 173.0 279.3
secured BER 42.9 292.2
Subtotal NEF 215.9 571.5

Less: current portion of

long-term borrowings B REEEMREEH D 54.3 101.8

Subtotal INE 161.6 469.7

Total Bs 916.4 1,046.4
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Our short-term borrowings primarily include credit
borrowings, mortgage borrowings and guarantee
borrowings from commercial banks and other financial
institutions. As at December 31, 2017, our short-term
borrowings (including the current portion of long-term
borrowings) amounted to RMB754.8 million, accounting
for 82.4% of our total borrowings.

Our long-term borrowings primarily included
credit and mortgage borrowings from commercial
banks. These included bank borrowings related to
engineering projects, with the total balance of such
borrowings (including the current portion) amounting
to approximately RMB215.9 million as at December
31, 2017. As at December 31, 2017, our long-term
borrowings (excluding the current portion) amounted
to RMB161.6 million, accounting for 17.6% of our
total borrowings. The decrease in our interest-bearing
borrowings to RMB916.4 million as at December 31,
2017 was primarily due to the repayment of bank
borrowings as a result of undertaking the engineering
projects and infrastructure projects.

All borrowings were denominated in either RMB, USD or
Japanese Yen and were subject to interest rates ranging
from 1.25% to 5.70% per annum.

There had been no material defaults in repayment of
our bank borrowings and no material breaches of the
finance covenants during the year ended December 31,
2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The maturity profile of our interest-bearing borrowings
as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

BEEERWED T

R20179F K&2016%F12A31H » &
Mt SEEREBEMT ¢

As at December 31

M2A31H
2017 2016
2017 20165
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR# (AE#H
&) A&r)
Within 1 year or on demand 1FUARERER 754.8 576.7
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FR2F 31.0 208.8
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FELSF 122.0 154.9
After 5 years 5% F 8.6 106.0
Total et 916.4 1,046.4

Gearing Ratio

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. Gearing ratio is derived by dividing total
borrowings by total assets multiplied by 100%. In 2017,
the Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings divided by
total assets) was 1.9%, maintained stable as compared
to 2.2% as recorded in 2016.

Contingent liabilities

We were involved in a number of legal proceedings
and claims against either our Company or subsidiaries
of our Company in the ordinary course of business.
While the outcomes of such contingencies, lawsuits or
other proceedings cannot be determined at present,
the Directors believe that any resulting liabilities will not
have a material adverse impact on the financial position,
liquidity, or operating results of the Group.

L s
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LAE AR EIRA100%15 H »
20174 - AR EMERLE (&
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ZEEE
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VI. RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

We are exposed to various types of risks, including currency
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, competition
risk and investment risk, etc., in the normal course of our
business. Our management continuously monitors our
exposure to these risks to ensure appropriate measures
are in place and are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.

Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases and our International Engineering
Contracting Business overseas and overseas financing
which give rise to receivables, payables and cash
balances that are denominated in foreign currencies
other than the functional currency of our operations,
RMB, to which these transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollars and
Euros. The Group entered into foreign currency forward
contracts to lock in the value in RMB for some of our
future cash receipts, primarily in respect of the proceeds
of our international engineering contracting projects
to reduce our currency risk and to obtain certainty
of forecasted income generated from the deferred
payments to be received from the project owners under
such projects. As a matter of policy and in compliance
with the PRC laws and regulations, we are not allowed
to widely engage in hedging activities. Hence, our
foreign currency hedging activities were limited to these
foreign currency forward contracts. Our foreign currency
forward contracts corresponded to our business
volume, i.e. the amounts and terms of such contracts
corresponded to the amounts of the foreign currency
expected to be received from our business. We do not
enter into hedging instruments for speculation. The
Group maintains and follows the internal policies and
controls for managing our Group’s use of derivative
financial instruments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings and
bank deposits. Borrowings bearing interests at variable
rates and at fixed rates expose us to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively.
The Company regularly reviews and monitors the mix
of our fixed and variable rate borrowings, only either
through managing the contractual terms of interest-
bearing financial assets and liabilities or through the use
of interest rate swaps in order to manage our interest
rate risks. Like our currency risk hedging activities, our
use of interest rate swaps is also subject to our internal
control policy of derivative financial instruments.

Credit Risk

Our credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Company has a credit policy in place
and our exposure to these credit risks is monitored
on an ongoing basis. Credit terms extended to our
customers are determined on a case-by-case basis,
depending on credit assessment carried out by our
management. The credit terms granted to customers
of our Trading Business are normally about three to
six months. With respect to the Group’s International
Engineering Contracting Business, credit terms granted
are determined by negotiating individually on a case-by-
case basis and are set forth in the relevant engineering
contracting contracts. The Company conducts monthly
reviews of credit risks and end-of-credit-term period
reviews as an internal control measure to determine
if the Group needs to make any necessary provisions
for credits that we have extended to customers. As
to credit risk for trade and other receivables, we first
evaluate our customer’s credit status and its ability
to guarantee the payment through establishing an
appropriate business evaluation system. Meanwhile,
as part of our risk control mechanism on trade and
other receivables, we implemented the policy to buy
export credit insurance. For the Trading Business, the
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Company and the trading subsidiaries are required to
buy unified export credit insurance from Sinosure; for
the International Engineering Contracting Business
financed by export seller’s credit, the Group typically
buys export credit insurance from Sinosure for its
projects to meet its financing needs as well as to control
credit risk for trade and other receivables. Our credit
risk arising from trade and other receivables relates to
a number of independent customers. As at December
31, 2017, 5.2% of the total trade and other receivables
was due from our largest customers (2016: 9.4%), and
19.4% of the total trade and other receivables was due
from the five largest customers (2016: 21.5%).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group has net current
liabilities at the balance sheet date. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk if it is unable to raise sufficient
funds to meet its financial obligations when they fall
due. To manage liquidity risk, the Company prepares
both annual and quarterly financial budgets which
include budgeting for capital and utilization of credit
facilities to plan and consolidate various financial
resources to meet the needs of its business, operations
and development. Furthermore, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
the management considered adequate to finance its
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flow. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, our net
current assets amounted to RMB8,688.1 million and
RMB8,228.6 million, respectively.

Competition Risk

The Group competes with both domestic and foreign
contractors in its International Engineering Contracting
Business. Competition generally stems from price,
design, variety of the services provided, service quality,
financial solutions, business models and environmental
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standards. Similar to other Chinese contractors in the
industry, the Group faces competition from engineering
contractors with advanced technology from the
developed countries such as the U.S., Japan and
various European countries as the latter have relatively
large competitive advantages in global branch networks,
information collection, management and construction
capabilities, adaptability and brand recognition, among
other areas. The Company will continue to leverage our
competitive advantage in pricing, especially for projects
in the developing countries, benefiting from competitive
labor cost and equipment price. The Company will
also continue to leverage the cooperation between the
PRC government and foreign governments (especially
those of the developing countries) to compete with both
domestic and foreign contractors.

The Group competes with both Chinese and foreign
companies in our international trading business.
Competition with Chinese companies engaged in the
international trading business focuses on price, range
of products, and range of suppliers and customers,
whereas competition with foreign companies focuses
on the price and quality of products manufactured by
Chinese and foreign suppliers. While competition in
the international trading market is intense, given this
market is considerably vast, the Company will continue
to compete with the Chinese and foreign companies
by capitalizing on its financing capabilities and value-
adding services. With more than 30 years of operating
history in the international trading business, the
Directors believe the Group has an edge over the PRC
competitors within the industry in terms of our extensive
sales and marketing networks, long-established
experiences in the international trading market, well-
trained business talents, strong capabilities in providing
financing solutions and good reputation.
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Investment Risk

Investment risk mainly represents any discrepancy
between actual return and anticipated return from
investment caused by factors which are out of the
Company’s control or contingent factors which cannot
be ascertained when making an investment decision.
In addition, it is also associated with relevant advance
payments for certain projects, decrease of investment
in infrastructure by non-governmental investment
institutions resulting from changes in policies, and
significant outlay of working capital over extended
period of time. Governmental approvals from and
regulatory compliance with various governmental
departments may also increase uncertainties when
implementing the investment projects. The Company
has set up an investment review committee and
engaged independent third parties such as financial
advisors, taxation advisors and legal counsels during
the investment process to carry out comprehensive
due diligence, analysis and deliberation with a view to
improving the level of decision-making in investment
and managing investment risks.

Overseas Management Risk

Currently, most of the projects of the International
Engineering Contracting Business are conducted
overseas, especially in developing countries or less-
developed regions (including some countries and
regions in constant social or political turbulence).
The International Engineering Contracting Business is
therefore subject to constantly changing economic,
regulatory, social and political conditions in the overseas
jurisdictions in which we conduct business or operate
our projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

To the extent that the Group’s overseas business or
operation is affected by unexpected and adverse foreign
economic, regulatory, social and political conditions,
the Group may experience project disruptions, losses of
assets and personnel, as well as other indirect losses.
In some of the high-risk locations where the Group has
employees, business or operations, the Group may
incur additional costs in safeguarding our personnel
and assets. The Company typically seeks to manage
potential losses through contractual arrangement which
protects us against liabilities due to force majeure
and provides for indemnities from project owners,
subcontractors and suppliers, as well as purchase
of construction, installation and engineering all-risks
insurance and third-party liability insurance.

Project Risk

Project risk relates to risk associated with the projects
for our International Engineering Contracting Business.
While the Directors consider power, transportation and
telecommunications sectors to be our Core Sectors,
demand for the International Engineering Contracting
Business which is principally international in nature
depends on the general level of activity and growth in
the industries in which the Group operates and serves.
The actual portfolio of the engineering contracting
projects differs year from year due to many factors
not within our control, including but not limited to,
general economic conditions, government investment
plans, demographic trends, political stability, consumer
confidence and requirements for industries or markets
access. Any fluctuations in these macroscopic factors
will have an impact on the demand for the International
Engineering Contracting Business. They may lead to
an increase or a decrease of investment in and number
of new projects available to the Group, the type of
projects that the Group can undertake and delays in
or cancellations of the ongoing projects. While we take
into consideration projected costs and target profit
margin during the pricing process of our engineering
contracting projects, profitability of the International
Engineering Contracting Business may still be affected
and our revenue may experience fluctuations.
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In addition, project owners and other contractual
counterparties of our International Engineering
Contracting Business may not be able to fulfil their
contractual obligations owed to the Group or the
conditions precedent to the contracts for the projects,
which could negatively impact the Group’s revenue,
working capital, cash flows and results of operations.

Safety and Quality Risk

Due to the nature of construction work involved in
our International Engineering Contracting Business,
the Group’s projects may involve certain inherently
dangerous activities, including operations on aerial
platform, underground construction, use of heavy
machinery and working with flammable and explosive
materials. Despite the fact that the Company ensures
compliance with the requisite safety requirements and
standards, it is subject to inherent risks of geological
catastrophes, fire, toxic gas, equipment failure and
explosion and so on. Besides, the employees are
subject to personal risks caused by the environment
with unstable security. Any personal injury or loss of life
the employees may suffer, damage to or destruction
of properties and equipments and other losses caused
by force majeure in the situations mentioned above
would result in the delay in the engineering contracting
projects, extended construction time and efforts of our
management, suspension of our operations or even
imposition of legal liabilities. The Company endeavors
to lower its exposure to the abovementioned potential
risks associated with our International Engineering
Contracting Business by taking measures including
making contractual arrangements with the project
owners in the event of disruption to the projects due
to force majeure, seeking indemnities from the project
owners, subcontractors and suppliers, purchasing
construction, installation and engineering all-risks
insurance, third-party liability insurance and personal
accident insurance, strengthening our internal control
system to ensure a safe and high quality working
environment for our projects, as well as maintaining
close communications with the project owners and local
governmental authorities.
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10. Post-project Transfer Risk 10. IRBXEZRMK

Our international engineering contracting projects
are contractually completed after the warranty period
expires and the project owner issues a final acceptance
certificate. During the course of use and operation by
the project owner, operational or quality issues may
arise due to natural factors such as hurricanes and
tsunamis or improper operation or maintenance by
the project owner’s operational staff. According to the
contracts, the Group is then no longer liable for any
warranty obligations or other liabilities. However, since
some projects are associated with national interests and
people’s livelihood or bear significant influences in the
local areas, any flaws or defects in quality that occur
after project completion may adversely compromise
our reputation, as well as negatively impact customers’
overall evaluation on us. Some of the project
owners may require us to bear costs for continuous
maintenance or replacement of relevant components,
causing us losses not foreseeable under the contracts.
Since corporate reputation is the cornerstone for
our expansion of markets, the Company will keep
on stepping up the training for the project owner’s
operational staffs and endeavor to enter into operationa
maintenance support contracts with the project owners,
so as to enhance the operational and maintenance
capabilities of the project owners’ operational staffs
and avoid or reduce quality issues caused by improper
human errors as much as possible. At the same
time, the Company emphasizes on the cultivation of
core markets and the sustainable development of
the business while attaching importance to collecting
opinions and comments from the customers, actively
communicating with clients, as well as being committed
to maintaining good social benefits and corporate
interests.
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11. Corruption Risk

12,

Currently, the PRC government has been strengthening
its anti-corruption efforts and governments of various
countries for which we have undertaken works are also
enhancing their regulatory efforts in anti-commercial
bribery. Personal non-compliance or corruption of
any employee will bring material adverse impact to
the reputation of our Company. Being an international
engineering contractor and service provider, the
Group cannot avoid carrying out necessary ordinary
and work-related communications with the PRC
government, governments of countries where our
works are conducted, Chinese financial institutions
and project owners. During this process, we may
be exposed to risks associated with personal non-
compliance of employees or even corruption risks.
The Company will continuously strengthen its internal
control and further improve its anti-corruption regime
as well as strengthening accountabilities. The Company
has already, at the same time, embarked on staff’s
compliance trainings, so as to enhance the compliance
awareness of the staffs and increase their compliance
consciousness.

Sanctions Risk

We are a company incorporated in the PRC and we
comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations.
However, as a result of our international activities,
we are also subject to the laws and regulations of
the various countries and regions in which we do
business. In order to prevent and control the risk of
sanctions, we established an export control internal
compliance program (ICP) within the Company. The
Company’s ICP adopts the principle of comprehensive
control (CATCH-ALL), and the scope and content of
the ICP control will be adjusted in time in accordance
with the changes in the international export control
situation and the possible impact on the business of
the Company. In 2017, due to the drastic changes in
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the sanctions policy of the U.S. government against
Russia, we correspondingly strengthened export control
over our operations in Russia. In particular, if any of
our transactions is conducted in or through the United
States, or otherwise involves US persons, US dollar
clearing in the United States or US-origin goods, US
sanctions regulations may be applicable to some or all
of such transactions. In recent years the U.S. sanctions
landscape has evolved substantially, especially
those targeted at Iran. January 16, 2016 marked the
“Implementation Day”, which marked the full execution
of sanctions relief promised to Iran as part of the Joint
Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) as negotiated
by Iran, the P5+1 (United States, Russia, China, France,
United Kingdom, Germany) and the EU and endorsed
by the UN. In exchange for curtailing certain nuclear-
related activities, Iran was granted relief from certain
sanctions from U.S., EU and UN. As to Cuba, following
a resumption of formal diplomatic ties between the
two countries and the removal of Cuba from the U.S.
government’s State Sponsors of Terrorism list, a series
of amendments to OFAC’s Cuban Assets Control
Regulations and Section 746.4 of Export Administration
Regulations administered by the U.S. Department of
Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security have
substantially expanded the range of transactions in
which U.S. persons are allowed to engage in Cuba.
Hence the Sanctions Undertakings no longer cover Iran
and Cuba.

Following the regulatory changes in the United States,
the Company decided to cautiously approach the
Iranian and Cuba markets. The Company’s potential
activities carried out in Iran are limited to civilian
infrastructure projects. The Company plans to
undertake construction projects and carry out trading
and service businesses in Cuba through a subsidiary to
be established or any other entity institutions in Cuba.
Further, every potential project carried out in Iran and
Cuba must be (i) reviewed by the Company’s internal
export control office, (ii) reviewed by outside legal
counsel, and (iii) approved by the general manager of
the Company.
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On February 2017, the U.S. Department of the
Treasury imposed sanctions on 13 individuals and a
dozen companies in relation to Iran’s recent ballistic
missile test. The Trump Administration was careful in
pointing out that these new sanctions measures were
undertaken pursuant to the existing statutory authorities
that target Iran’s weapons of mass destruction (WMD)
and ballistic missile activities, but that did not affect the
implementation of the JCPOA.

Although there is some uncertainty with regard to the
Trump Administration’s policy vis-a-vis various U.S.
sanctions regimes, we have been in compliance with the
undertakings made at the time of the Listing as regards
economic sanctions. We also believe that our internal
control policies targeted at sanctions compliance,
and in particular our internal compliance program
on export control, are sound and sufficient to assist
us in navigating the evolving international sanctions
landscape. Despite the far-reaching and complex nature
of U.S. sanctions programs, our limited activities in
the United States and rigorous internal control policies
will minimize our exposure and liability to any potential
sanctions violations. Of course, it is not possible to
foresee which countries or organizations the U.S.
government may place under sanctions in the future.
However, previous U.S. administrations have provided
either a “wind-down” period, or issued a general or
specific license, in order to allow affected firms to
terminate operations or withdraw from countries newly
placed under sanctions. Though the termination of any
business operations in relation to any newly sanctioned
counterparties, industries, projects or countries or the
forfeiture of relevant revenue may cause an adverse
impact on our operations, financial condition or ability
to carry on business in the jurisdictions concerned, we
strive to reduce such hazards through proactive political
and economic risk assessment, along with timely legal
advice from experienced external council. Furthermore,
as a result of the foregoing, CMEC’s exposure in Iran
and Cuba is so limited, any adverse impact from
changes to Iran and Cuba sanctions by the United
States will be minimal.
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13. Integration Risk 13. B EK

As noted under the section “D. Important Events” MEX[D. EZEFH] —&F
above, the Company expects that the acquisition of i NATETEE B H &R AR
CNEEC from our parent SINOMACH will strengthen WEPEL—FKNEARAH
the Company’s core business operations and bolster BOEBKE  WHEBHEIBFE
the existing portfolio of its assets to compete in an ERENERREHETRS - [
even larger scale. At the same time, the Company B ARBIREE - FAHERE
is conscious of potential risks of integration that are PSR FEEE R
inherent with any significant merger or acquisition. The B o BRAAGEE BRI
Company believes that such risks will be insignificant eIt EREMeE AR L E
as it already had a high degree of familiarity and good BTHEINEEREBER
working knowledge with the assets and business of Bt ARBRE  ZERRGI
CNECC through a prior entrustment arrangement with TEKXK - BEWL - ARB)DE
SINOMACH. Nonetheless the Company has taken ANENIEEE W T A%
steps to extend its internal control and other corporate EaRERN - AEIEEPET
governance safeguards to address any integration risks Wi BB AN EAREERERE

with the CNEEC acquisition.

VII. OUTLOOK VIL IS RE
The Company’s guiding principle for its business operation 2018%F - RAEEE TIEMIIEE R
for 2018 is to strongly adhere to strategic leadership, 2 BEEMESIE - BEORE - HE
diligently develop markets, persistently make innovation, Bl - BILEERE  TEMBE - BHHE
optimize the structure, improve overall layout and strive to BIARICEEEFBE -

create a new prospect for the Company’s operation and
development.

() Business Development Strategy (—)EBRBEHK
1. International Engineering Contracting 1. BEBRIBRGEX
Business
Regarding the International Engineering Contracting BUBR T2 B B E N 2S5
Business, the Company will strive to tamp the BERE  BENAE BHER
foundation, develop markets diligently and make o RBRRABIE IR o

continuous innovations to ensure its steady
development.

The Company will spare no effort to sign i AFEEIMEL
new contracts, strive to implement its BHRED - HEiRH
projects and actively explore new markets W mg - A
and areas. The Company will keep the sound ZREFPAEAMFERFE
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momentum on its newly signed contracts in
recent two years and continue to improve
the contract quality. The Company will also
attach great importance to promoting the
implementation of projects already signed,
and solve every difficult issue with all its
strength. Moreover, the Company will actively
seize the opportunities brought by holding
the new session of the Forum on China-
Africa Cooperation in China, further promote
the projects of countries related to “the
Belt and Road”, and leverage policy and
financing advantages brought by bilateral
and multilateral cooperative mechanisms.
Besides, the Company will spare no effort
to put the results of high-level visits into
practice, continue to cooperate with third
parties to jointly explore the market, carry out
focused market survey on the trend of energy
transformation and focus on the opportunities
brought by industrialization in the China-
Pakistan Economic Corridor and other areas
with proper conditions.

The Company will strictly control risks,
continue to improve contract performance
quality, strengthen the regulatory efforts in
projects under construction and promote the
lean management for projects.

The Company will further deepen
regionalized and localized construction.

The Company will continuously improve
the capacities of its industrial chain and
set up after-sales service management
agencies to strengthen back-end service
and management for industrial chain
and constantly enhance the Company’s
subsequent operation support and ability to
integrate construction and operation.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Trading Business

Regarding the Trading Business, the Company
will further consolidate the achievements of
transformation and make positive innovations to
ensure the sustained and steady growth of scale
merit.

The Company will make continuous
transformation and upgrading to further improve
its profitability. Based on a clear understanding
of the development direction and characteristics
of its sub-sectors and subsidiaries, the
Company will continue to transform its
Trading Business from general low-value-
added import & export trade to technology-
based trade. The Company will consolidate
the transformation achievements of its Trading
Business in industrial investment, cross-
border E-commerce, overseas regionalization
construction and cooperation with the local
government.

ii. The Company will actively develop
innovative business, improve innovation
mechanism and center around the main
businesses, with emphasis on technology
content.

i. The Company will step up its efforts in
promoting its trading sub-brands.

iv. . The Company will strengthen risk control
and prevention.
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3. Services Business

The design consulting business of Services
Business will grow steadily on the basis of existing
profitability and create new growth drivers through
scientific and technological innovation.

The Company will expand markets via
innovation to improve its core competitiveness.
In scientific and technological innovation, the
Company will make efforts to try to promote
market development through innovative
projects; actively promote science and
technology incubation; unyieldingly work hard
to promote the “export” of technology services;
and gradually build up the international
consulting force through benchmarking with
leading enterprises in the field of design
consulting.

i. The Company will actively promote external
reorganization and expand design capability.

i. The Company will also create new business
models, promote domestic business and
endeavour to get the basic qualifications
required for business development from
the domestic government through mergers,
transfers and other means.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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(Il) Management Strategy of the Company

Continuing to Improve the Key Management
System

Striving to promote the professional management
of the International Engineering Contracting
Business. The Company will build the management
platform for the International Engineering Contracting
Business; continue to improve the lifecycle
management system of EPC projects; strengthen
and create new regulatory means and models;
and promote the localized and professionalized
management process of engineering contracting
business.

Increasing professional support for investment
and financing. The Company will make greater
efforts in the research on capital market and
develop equity financing channels; continue
internal and external mergers and acquisitions and
reorganization; further promote the investment-
led business strategy; continue to play the role of
financing in EPC and achieve diversified financing
models.

Continuing to improve the financial management
system. The Company will deepen the overall
budget execution and implement benchmarking
management and cost management; further promote
financial functions; focus on preventing and controlling
the financial management risks of branches at home
and abroad; improve financial forecast and financial
analysis and promote the construction of financial
information system.

Building an international system of law, risk
prevention and control. The Company will
continue to advance legal functions; build a risk
management system adapted to the needs of
business development; and actively conduct
external audit on export control following the
principle of all-round export control.
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Strengthening corporate culture as well
as social responsibility management, and
enhancing brand value. On the occasion
of the 40th anniversary, the Company will
comprehensively summarize its corporate culture;
actively publicize its corporate culture to promote
cultural parallelism; and continue to optimize the
social responsibility management system.

Consolidating the Management Foundation

The Company will continue to strengthen its
strategic control and research; improve salary
management and build a scientific performance
appraisal system; keep improving comprehensive
management service level and strengthen the
informatization construction; step up asset-
management efforts; constantly improve audit
effectiveness; and continuously strengthen the
management of safety production to ensure the
sustained and stable production of the Company.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

January — B

1.1 CMEC received six awards from SINOMACH
On January 14, CMEC won six awards at the SINOMACH
2017 work conference.

1.1 HPREEESEEEREAE
1A148 - TEBEB0I7ETIES - PREFESNEX
ﬁo

1.2 The then President Zhang Chun met with Joy Global
delegation led by Global Supply Chain Strategic Purchase
Director
On January 20, the then President Zhang Chun and Sun Miao,
the secretary of the board of directors of SINOMACH met
with Joy Global delegation led by Brenda L Hanamann, Global
Supply Chain Strategic Purchase Director.

1.2 BEEEREZERJoy Global2 IR FEM S IR E —1T
1A208  BERHRZNERERETSMERLZZ R TJoy
GlobalZ B FE 52 %5 BE #R B8 48 25 Brenda L Hanamann—7%7 ©
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The first two meter-gauge locomotives of the Argentina
Belgrano Cargo Railway Rehabilitation Project (“the
Argentina Railway Projects”) successfully arrived in
Buenos Aires and delivery ceremony was held.

On February 8, the first two meter-gauge locomotives of the
Argentina Railway Project successfully arrived in Buenos
Aires, and Minister of the Ministry of Transport of Argentina,
the deputy secretary of the Belgrano planning department,
the chairman of the Belgrano freight logistics company, and
representatives of CMEC and the locomotive plant attended
the delivery ceremony.

MARZEEWENEEESRIEER ((MEEE ) EmMaXE
HEIEREERHERTREER

2A8H - PUEIAR M & KW EIEFNEEMRERHAED - 0
REERE - BRBN A EMaEy  BRRumEEYR
RAEER  CMECMBEMNAR AR MREREN -

February — H
2.1
2.1
March = A
3.1
3.1

The then President Zhang Chun attended the CMEC-
Siemens Energy Management Division high-level
communication meeting

On March 17, the then President Zhang Chun and Mr.
Mildner Markus and his delegation, CEO of Siemens Energy
Management Division (China), chaired the CMEC-Siemens
Energy Management Division high-level communication
meeting.

BEEYREHECMEC - B FEREEEESERRSY
3A17TH  BARHKRZEAPIFEREREREE (R E) CEO
Mildner Markus/c4—77AH 7TCMEC — A FeE R E IR EE S

R x5 2
=R
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3.2 Vice President Tong Zigang attended Caterpillar high-
level communication meeting
On March 20, Vice President Tong Zigang attended the high-
level forum on cross-border cooperation jointly organized by
China International Contractors Association and Caterpillar.

32 EHAMUARNEFHRDATIBRLIAE
3A208 - EERBERLETRENN TRARHERRHE
HAABABPOERA FHEREE -

April [ A

P 4.1 The then Chairman Sun Bai attended the signing

_SERASESSESNNEN ThaHoveaNmE ceremony of the ThalNova mine mouth lignite fired power
project at Thar Block-Il, Sindh, Pakistan

On April 10, witnessed by the then Chairman Sun Bai, Mr.

Zafaruddin Mahmoud, envoy of China-Pakistan Economic

Corridor, Vice President Fang Yanshui and Mr. Khalid Siraj
Subhani, CEO of Pakistan ThalNova Power Thar (Private)
Limited entered into an EPC contract in Beijing for the
ThalNova mine mouth lignite fired power project at Thar Block-
II, Sindh, Pakistan.

41 BIEERENEFECEBCELAEHEEBIERThalNovaE
WEEHENER
4108 ERAESEREN  PELBEEBEFELEET -8
BREAERET  FEKEIREHEDEBThalNova® 1A &
BENTERAE HRERLEEAEIRER  FLREETE
HHTAZ = A EBE MR % ThalNovaE 3B B EPCA R °
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4.2

4.2

The then-President Zhang Chun and his delegation
visited the Black & Veatch headquarters in the United
States

On April 10, the then President Zhang Chun led a delegation
to visit the Black & Veatch headquarters in Kansas City, the
United States and signed a memorandum of understanding for
global strategic cooperation with Steve Edwards, the Chairman
and CEO of Black & Veatch.

BEARRE—THhMERTR T (Black & Veatch) X E 2 6
4A108 - BEBHKZEEE T 1558 & (Black & Veatch)
NREEEENNABTEBERE T ARNEERREERITE
PRABEELEE T 2REBAERRBE R

4.3

4.3

The then-President Zhang Chun and his delegation
visited the GE Healthcare R&D Center in the United
States

On April 13, the then President Zhang Chun led a delegation to
visit the GE Healthcare R&D Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin,
the United States.

RERRRZ-THRXEERERBERTEFL
47138 @ BEAHREERE BN EERNTREMNBRAE
MHERERERERMEHDO -

4.4

4.4

Sun Pak Chairman visits Ukrainian Prime Minister
Vladimir Grooisman

On April 26, the then Chairman Sun Bai visited Ukrainian State
Cabinet Prime Minister Vladimir Groesman in Ukraine.

REEEREANESSRNAERNERE KEFRKE
4A26H  REEERANESRHASSRHERXAMAES
WEOKE - REFHS KL -
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51 The then Chairman Sun Bai made an official visit to
Argentina’s President Macri
On May 2, the then Chairman Sun Bai made an official visit to
Argentina’s President Mauricio Macri in Argentina.

51 KEESREMBSMREAKSZRE
5A2R HEEFERAMEMNREFS TREAREEAR -
Hri e

5.2  The then President Zhang Chun met with the Minister of
Justice of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and his
delegation
On May 183, the then President Zhang Chun met with Mr.
Stuart Richard Young, Director of Premier's Office and the
Minister of Justice of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and
his delegation.

52 REARRIERBIYBENZEIHNBEREBR—T
5130  REARFEZER THIUBEMS B HME @2 i
NRETEFRAEMARMEBE - BERE - HEE—TT-
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5.3

5.3

Chinese President Xi Jinping witnessed the signing of
the supplementary agreement on the Phase | of Belgrano
Cargo Railway Rehabilitation Project in Argentina

On May 17, witnessed by Chinese President Xi Jinping and
Argentina’s President Macri, the then Chairman Sun Bai and
Minister of Ministry of Transportation of the Argentina Republic
signed the supplementary agreement on the Phase | of
Belgrano Cargo Railway Rehabilitation Project in the Great Hall
of the People.

TEREREFFELVREREMNRE MR AEEHERIER

B — R

5H17E EHREBEREFBEBOFMAREAXFTENRE
Hﬂ%%%%%ﬁﬁﬁiﬂ*ﬁk” ARHMEEARKEEARAZE

TE\EETR?E BERUCETE R — TR W B o

5.4

5.4

The then President Zhang Chun led a delegation to visit
the Wyre Gas Turbine Project in the United Kingdom
From May 17 to 20, the then President Zhang Chun headed
the team to visit the Wyre gas turbine project in the United
Kingdom.

BEARREREEZERER WyreRIKIE B
5H17HZE208 @ FHERAERZ R EBEZERWyrei#IE R -
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5.5 Vice President Fang Yanshui and GE signed a
memorandum of understanding for joint development
On May 22, Vice President Fang Yanshui met with the GE
Power delegation headed by Mr. Steve Bolze, President of
GE Global Power in Abidjan, the capital of Céte d’lvoire, and
the two sides signed a memorandum of understanding for

joint development of coal fired power plant project in the sub-
Sahara Africa.

55 FEKERBREBAERZZFARRAERERATE
5A228 » HEKEIBERAERM S ARLEHMLLESR TIVERAE
REIRELIREESteve Bolzet EREHBEAERERKKE
BHREBT AR A PN KRR EILIAR WRERES

5.6 The then Chairman Sun Bai visited Ministry of Energy
and Deputy Prime Minister of Belarus
On May 24, the then Chairman Sun Bai and his delegation
visited the Deputy Prime Minister of Energy of the Republic
of Belarus Mikhadziuk, who granted Mr. Sun Bai the “Minister
Award” and “Medal for 85th Anniversary of Belarussian

Energy System” on behalf of the Ministry of Energy of Belarus.
In the afternoon of the same day, the then Chairman Sun
Bai and his delegation visited the Deputy Prime Minister of
Belarus Semashko, accompanied by Deputy Prime Minister
Mikhadziuk.

56 KREEEREMIGOGENERSLFFORAILE
5248  REESERAN 1T B B AN E LR AR E 78
RABER  AREREBEARARBEFERTAFIESR
FRET [BEZE] R ITBRENEREGNISSBFEHE]
ERATF  REEERAR -TEARERBIBENERTHH
TAMERBREHBAR
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5.7

5.7

CMEC offered disaster relief supplies to flood-stricken
areas in Sri Lanka

On May 30, Yang Wei, the site manager of the project
department of Attanagalla water plant, Sri Lanka, led the
project team members to donate emergency household
supplies, various types of food, emergency medicine and
baby hygiene products to 78 households in Yabaraluwa
Malwana village in Gampaha district, Sri Lanka to help villagers
overcome flood disasters.

CMECHITEMFAE K BRI AEWE

5A30H - HAIAT B/ RWB4IKERIE B BB G EBISETEERE
B 485K B [ 3T 2 R Gampahal[& Yabaraluwa Malwanaff787=
ERBETES2EEAM  SHRm  RESEN BREHER
m o LENRIE R -

June XA

BaSqubtiutnaoawca (= nmunn
| T TR

g Jidu T

6.1

6.1

The then President Zhang Chun was honoured with
Medal of Friendship by the Lao government

On June 14, the Lao government held a grand medal-
conferring ceremony in Vientiane, the capital of Laos where
the Laotian Prime Minister authorized the government
representative to award our then President Zhang Chun the
medal of Friendship and a certificate.

ZBHARTRERBBRILEHNE
6A148  ZRBNEBHERBT TEENEEERN - 2188
BREEBFRER  BRTRELERZFRENEMES
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6.2 CMEC and XD Group signed an industrial alliance
agreement
On June 27, witnessed by the then President Zhang Chun and
the general manager of XD Group Zhang Yalin, the director
of the Industry Alliance Committee and Vice President Fang

Yanshui jointly signed an industrial alliance agreement with Pei
Zhenjiang, general manager of XD Electric Co., Ltd..

6.2 CMECHAESEBREBEXRKBHS
6A27H - ERFFARRENAESERLERBEARNIET -
EXMBEZEEIMT  HEKABHEATERBRNHARAFL
REERRTHARRE T EXB B

6.3 CMEC was awarded the “2017 Strong Brand in Innovation
and Development” of Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Influential

Brands
In the poll of “2017 Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Influential Brands”
organized by the People’s Daily and People.com and other

organizations, CMEC won the “2017 Strong Brand in
Innovation and Development” award for its innovative practices
in progressing the Pakistan Thar coal-electric integration
project.

6.3 CMECREREEXEIMMZ2017RIFEREL MM ]
MARBHMHEARBSEMEMN [2017FHTE I mig] 5T
BIEE) CMECREEENMEE MM E —2(LIEE HHERIEH
BT EE - A 20178 BEE I KREREEZE Hm
f& o
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7.1

7.1

CMEC was rated as an AAA-level enterprise by China
Tendering and Bidding Association

As assessed by the China Bidding and Evaluation Industry
Credit Rating Committee, CMEC was rated as an AAA-level
enterprise in this credit evaluation.

CMECH T EBEREHETRAAARIDE
ROBEBERBITEERFNEIIEZE S E - CMECEIRE
FRHE PR RAAAR B -

7.2

7.2

Mr. Zhang Dejiang, Member of the Standing Committee
of the Political Bureau of the CPC Central Committee
and Chairman of the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress visited the CMEC Kostolac-B power
station project in Serbia

On July 17, accompanied by Ms. Gojkovi¢, the Speaker of
the Serbian Parliament, Ms. Brnabic, the Prime Minister of
Serbia, Mr. Anti¢, the Minister of Energy of Serbia, the Chinese
Ambassador to Serbia and relevant personnel, and the then
President Zhang Chun, Mr. Zhang Dejiang, Member of the
Standing Committee of the Political Bureau of the CPC Central
Committee and Chairman of the Standing Committee of the
National People’s Congress and his delegation visited the
CMEC Kostolac-B power station project in Serbia.

PHARBARBEZ 2EAAEZRZERRBI-—THRE
CMECEM# FKostolac-BE i 1HH

7THR17TH  EERATEERXRTFRES LT  ERETLENR
M T L ERPBRLTFT AL PREEBME R AE LA
BMABMEBRET  FHARBARBEZEZ 2HAKREEZEZER
RET — 1T RR A FIZEB M D Kostolac-BEIIAR + F{IEE
RZEZERZE -
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7.3  Shanghai CMEC Plaza and “CMEC Science Park” were
unveiled grandly
On July 24, Shanghai CMEC Plaza and “CMEC Science Park”
were unveiled grandly.

e

73 LEERTRESANPRUKE|EEEE
7TH248 - EBRRESN [HRMNE] BERE -

soyo G e
L 8.1 The launch and ribbon-cutting ceremony, the foundation-

nmsustﬁﬂ
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laying ceremony of the “September 17 School” and the
donation ceremony for 1,000 household water purifiers
were held at the SOYO | combined cyclic power plant in
Angola

On August 17, about 200 distinguished guests, including Vice
President of Angola Vincent, Chinese Ambassador to Angola
Cui Aimin, Governor and Deputy Governor of Zaire Province,
Ministers of Angola’s major ministries, State Secretary attended
the launch and ribbon-cutting ceremony of the SOYO | United
Cyclic Power Station.

On August 18, the foundation-laying ceremony of the
“September 17 School” and the donation ceremony for 1,000
household water purifiers were held at the SOYO | combined
cyclic power plant in Angola.

8.1 REHNSOYO IHERBEEBHBITHEIREXNNIOAI7TER
RIEELUK1,000EFkEBREER
8A17H  RFNEBHENHRE  PREEBLXINAFEER - &
FREFRER B8R TARNSAIENIR  BBERES
BEEFH200 A HFESOYO 1B A BIRBIL BRI &RER -

8A18H » ZEHHSOYO IHABEREMIER HMRT[9A17THE
B BEELAKR1,000E FKE Eﬁa,ﬁa{aﬁ
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September 11 B

9.1

9.1

The commencement ceremony of the SINOMACH and
CMEC Western R&D Center was held

On September 28, the commencement ceremony of the
SINOMACH and CMEC Western R&D Center was held.

B EEBECMECA MM E R L EENITENBELET
9A28H & FKEBBCMECTH I MEFOIBEB I EABELSE
17 °

9.2

9.2

CMEC was rated as an Grade-AAA Firm by China
Chamber of Commerce for Import and Export of
Machinery and Electronic Products (CCCME)

On September 29, CCCME held the “Credit Integrates the
world — Forum on Chinese Machinery and Electronic Business
Cooperation”. CMEC was rated as “Grade-AAA Machinery &
Electronic Firm for 2017 (Complete Engineering)”.

CMECHPFEHEHREERELNIETE (KEHE) THAAREA
%

9A29F - EMERMT [RERE/BHR —PEKEREA
BEwmIB] CMECERF [2017F B ETEEAFEKRELR
EEAAARERRE] -

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE



Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

October T+ A

10.1

10.1

The commencement ceremony of the Lusaka Specialized
Hospital of Zambia was officially held

On October 17, the commencement ceremony of the Lusaka
Specialized Hospital contracted to be built by China was
officially held in Lusaka, the capital of Zambia. The President of
Zambia Edgar Lungu attended the ceremony. President Lengu
and guests of the event cut the ribbon for the commencement
ceremony of the hospital and laid bricks for the project
according to the tradition of Zambia.

BhTEEFENERMATHREEXET

10A17E > AP BEIREARZNERE RENERF THREEEL
TEHMEERTENST BUHTRGREN  fhbHFEER
EEREEYRERBRAOMIEXNK  UREHERFZ
HEWRE  EITEE -

10.2

10.2

Vice President Tong Zigang met with Mozambican
Minister of Mineral Resources and Energy

On October 22, Vice President Tong Zigang met with the
delegation headed by Leticia Klements, Minister of Mineral
Resources and Energy of Mozambique in Beijing.

ERRRARERERKTRERRITR
10A220 - ZEEMRAABHELRE R TER L RBERLIRIH
RE4RTE T - w A PIHT(Leticia Klements)—1T °
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10.3

10.3

The then Chairman Sun Bai met with Kubiv, the First Vice
Prime Minister and Minister of Economic Development of
Ukraine and Prime Minister Groesmann.

On October 25, the then Chairman Sun Bai met with Mr.
Kubiv, the First Vice Prime Minister and Minister of Economic
Development of Ukraine in Ukraine.

On October 27, the then Chairman Sun Bai met with Mr.
Groesmann, Prime Minister of Ukraine in Kiev, Ukraine.

REESRENBEESTNAEE IR EREEZRBBRE
bk BEESERENFSERIRAEREFTS

10A25H  BHEEERANESRHFESRHERAEE —
Bl R BB R REL RTE -

10A27H  BHEESERANESRHENEHFESRBEAR
NS RMEIEREFSNES
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Major Corporate Events for the Year
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November +—H

11.1 The then President Zhang Chun met with Mr. Joe
Mastrangelo, Vice President of GE and renewed the
memorandum of understanding in the African region
On November 1, the then President Zhang Chun and Vice
President Fang Yanshui met with Mr. Joe Mastrangelo, Vice
President of GE and President of Gas Power Generation
Business.

111 BEEARR ISR ERAEREIARBEL ALY ESRIFMNEEN
RRE S
11A1  BEBHFKZ  FEKIBHESR THRAERAAE
BT R B E TS B R4 (Mr. Joe Mastrangelo)—1T ©

11.2 The then President Zhang Chun and Vice President Fang
Yanshui attended the Belt and Road Forum
On November 2, China for the World “the Belt and Road”
Forum was held at the Beijing National Convention Center.
SINOMACH Chairman Ren Hongbin, Vice President Xie Biao,
the then President Zhang Chun, Vice President Fang Yanshui,

and Assistant to the President Li Baolin attended the forum.

1.2 BEARKRE  FEKERRSN—F—HBEmRE
11A28 - BHE - BE2R[—&% K EHmEEltnBRE
EPORT  EREEMIRESR - SaEE  BEEEER
Z - BIRRTTEK  BEBEFEMERAGHET HIE
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REELEKRER

11.3

CMEC and Dongfang Electric signed an industrial
alliance agreement

On November 8, CMEC signed an industrial alliance agreement
with Dongfang Boiler, Dongfang Turbine and Dongfang Electric
Machinery in Deyang, Sichuan.

11.3 CMECERSERZZBEXMBNZ
11A8H » CMECER 7§ 1E - 77T E - M7 EHRAMIIE
(PR BEXM B -

11.4 Vice President Tong Zigang attended the commencement

ceremony of the second phase of the KOSTOLAC-B
Power Station Project in Serbia

On November 20, Ms. Brnabic, the Prime Minister of Serbia,
Mr. Anti¢, the Minister of Energy of Serbia, Mr Li Manchang,
the Chinese Ambassador to Serbia, Gr¢i¢, General Manager of
Elektroprivreda Srbije and Vice Minister of CMEC Tong Zigang
attended the commencement ceremony of the second phase
of the KOSTOLAC-B Power Station Project in Serbia.
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

11.5 Vice President Wang Tianyi met with the delegation

of the Ministry of Electricity of Irag and Kar Power
Company
On November 22, Vice President Wang Tianyi met with Mr.
Mahmood Khalaf Abdullah, Manager of Investment Department
of the Ministry of Electricity of Iraq and Karl Power and its
delegation.
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China Machinery R&D ranked among 2017 ENR/
Construction Times “Top 60 Chinese Engineering Design
Companies”

On November 30, in the 2017 ENR/Construction Times
2017 “China Top 80 Contractors and Top 60 Engineering
Design Companies” award ceremony jointly organized by two
authoritative media “Engineering News Record” (ENR) and
China “Construction Times”, China Machinery R&D ranked
56th in Chinese engineering design companies.
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Major Corporate Events for the Year
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CMEC won Golden Bee 2017 Outstanding Corporate
Social Responsibility Report Evergreen Award

On December 1, the 10th International Conference on Chinese
Corporate Social Responsibility Report was held in Beijing.
“2016 Social Responsibility Report of China Machinery
Engineering Corporation” won the “Evergreen Award of Golden
Bee Excellent Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2017”.
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12.2

12.2

CMEC won the 2017 China Overseas Sustainable
Infrastructure Construction Project Award

On December 1, at the third plenary session of the China
International Contractors Association, our Berezov project
in Belarus won the 2017 China Overseas Sustainable
Infrastructure Construction Project Award.
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

12.3 Vice President Tong Zigang signed the general
agreement on Gacko Power Station Project in Bosnia
and Herzegovina
On December 12, witnessed by Milorad Dodik, President
of Republika Srpska, and Prime Minister Zeljka Cvijanovig,
Vice President Tong Zigang and Mu Yushi, General Manager

of Investment Department of China-Africa Investment, the
Minister of Industry, Energy and Mines of Republika Srpska and
Zeliko Kovacevic, the Deputy General Manager of Republika
Srpska Power Company signed the General Agreement on the
Construction of the Gacko Power Station Project.
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12.4 The completion ceremony of the first phase of Silk Road
International Cooperation Park was successfully held
On December 13, the completion ceremony of the first phase
of the CMEC Silk Road International Cooperation Park was
successfully held.
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

e o
WIS EE S G

12.5

12.5

CMEC was awarded “2017 China’s Most Influential Green
Business Brand”

On December 15, the 4th China Green Development and
Ecological Construction Summit and the “China Green
Development Model Cases Collection (2017) Release
Ceremony” were grandly held in Beijing. CMEC was awarded
“2017 China’s Most Influential Green Business Brand”, and the
CMEC case was also selected in “China Green Development
Model Cases Collection (2017)”.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared
in accordance with IFRS for the year ended December 31, 2017.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated as a part of the reorganization
undergone by the Group in preparation for the Listing by
converting its predecessor into a joint stock company with
limited liability under the Companies Law in the PRC on January
18, 2011. The Company’s H Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange on the Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a leading international engineering contracting
and services provider with a primary focus on EPC projects and
particular expertise in the power sector, capable of providing
one-stop customized and integrated engineering contracting
solutions and services. The Company also conducts the Trading
Business and Services Business.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements of the Company in this annual
report.

RESULTS

The audited results of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2017 are set out in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
this annual report. The financial position of the Group and the
Company as at December 31, 2017 is set out in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the statement of financial
position in this annual report, respectively. The cash flows of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2017 are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows in this annual report.

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the
year and the key factors affecting its results and financial position
are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.
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FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board recommended the distribution of a final dividend of
RMBO0.1659 per Share (pre-tax) for 4,125,700,000 Shares for the
year ended December 31, 2017, representing a total amount of
RMB684,453,630 (pre-tax).

According to the Articles of Association, dividends will be
denominated and declared in Renminbi. Dividends on Domestic
Shares will be paid in Renminbi and dividends on H Shares will
be paid in Hong Kong dollars.

The proposed final dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval
at the upcoming AGM. Subject to approval, the final dividend is
expected to be distributed on or before October 31, 2018 to the
holders of Domestic Shares and H Shares whose names appear
in the register of members of the Company on the record date
for dividend distribution. The Company will issue a separate
announcement regarding the date of the upcoming AGM, the
record date for the payment of H Share dividends and the dates
of closure of register of members of the Company.

In accordance with tax law and relevant requirements under
taxation regulatory institutions of the PRC, the Company
is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it
distributes the final dividend for the year ended December 31,
2017 to all non-resident enterprise shareholders (including
HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, trustees or other
entities and organizations, who will be deemed as non-resident
enterprise shareholders) whose names appear on the H share
register of members of the Company on the dividend record
date™.

The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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Pursuant to the PRC Individual Income Tax Law ({(FZE AR
HAE @ AFFBEE)), the Implementation Regulations of the
Individual Income Tax Law ((FFZE ARLMBEI@EAFTEHEE
WeA&51)), the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Administration of Tax Collection ({FPZE A B FNER & Uk i & 38
7£)) and other relevant laws and regulations and based on the
Company’s consultation with the relevant PRC tax authorities, the
Company is required to withhold and pay 20% individual income
tax for the Company’s individual H shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of H shares of the Company
(the “Individual H Shareholders”). Pursuant to the Notice on
Matters concerning the Levy and Administration of Individual
Income Tax after the Repeal of Guo Shui Fa 1993 No.045 (&
B 75 3% [1993]0455% 3 14 RE 1- 12 B RAE A PRIS TR EUE B RE D)
issued by the State Administration of Tax of the PRC and the
letter titled “Tax arrangements on dividends paid to Hong Kong
residents by Mainland companies” issued by the Stock Exchange,
the overseas resident individual shareholders of the shares issued
by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in Hong Kong are
entitled to the relevant preferential tax treatment pursuant to the
provisions in the tax arrangements between the countries where
they reside and China and the tax arrangements between China
mainland and Hong Kong (Macau). The Company will identify the
country of domicile of the Individual H Shareholders according
to their registered address on the H share register of members
of the Company on the dividend record date* (the “Registered
Address”). The Company assumes no responsibility and
disclaims all liabilities whatsoever in relation to the tax status or
tax treatment of the Individual H Shareholders and for any claims
arising from or in connection with any delay in or inaccurate
determination of the tax status or tax treatment of the Individual
H Shareholders or any disputes over the withholding mechanism
or arrangements. Details of arrangements are as follows:

The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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For Individual H Shareholders who are Hong Kong or Macau
residents or those whose country of domicile is a country
which has entered into a tax treaty with the PRC stipulating
a dividend tax rate of 10%, the Company will withhold and
pay individual income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the
Individual H Shareholders.

For Individual H Shareholders whose country of domicile
is a country which has entered into a tax treaty with the
PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of less than 10%, the
Company will withhold and pay individual income tax at the
rate of 10% on behalf of the Individual H Shareholders. If
relevant Individual H Shareholders would like to apply for a
refund of the additional amount of tax withheld and paid,
the Company can assist the relevant shareholder to handle
the application for the underlying preferential tax benefits
pursuant to the tax treaties, provided that the relevant
shareholder shall submit to the Company the information
required under the “Notice of the State Administration
of Taxation on issuing the Administrative Measures on
Preferential Treatment Entitled by Non-residents under Tax
Treaties” (Notice of the State Administration of Taxation,
2015 No.60) (BRI BKERBENBEMIEEEMRAZE
BB EFBEER IO RAE)ERUBLRERSE
2015 % 6055%)) (the “Tax Treaties Notice”) on or before
the commencement date of the closure of register of
members.* Upon examination and approval by competent
tax authorities, the Company will assist in refunding the
additional amount of tax withheld and paid.

For Individual H Shareholders whose country of domicile
is a country which has entered into a tax treaty with the
PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of more than 10% but
less than 20%, the Company will finally withhold and pay
individual income tax at the actual tax rate stipulated in the
relevant tax treaty.

The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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For Individual H Shareholders whose country of domicile is
a country which has entered into a tax treaty with the PRC
stipulating a dividend tax rate of 20%, or a country which
has not entered into any tax treaties with the PRC, or under
any other circumstances, the Company will finally withhold
and pay individual income tax at the rate of 20% on behalf
of the Individual H Shareholders.

According to the relevant requirements under the Notice
on the Tax Policies Related to the Pilot Program of the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect (Finance Tax [2016]
No. 127), jointly published by the Ministry of Finance,
State Administration of Taxation and China Securities
Regulatory Commission, the Company shall withhold an
individual income tax at the rate of 20% on dividend derived
from the H Shares of the Company acquired through the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect by mainland individual
investors. For dividend received by domestic securities
investment funds from investing in the H Shares of the
Company through the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect,
the tax payable shall be the same as that for individual
investors. The Company will not withhold the income tax
on dividend derived from the H Shares of the Company
acquired through the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect
for domestic enterprise investors, and those domestic
enterprise investors shall report and pay the relevant tax
themselves.
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If the domicile of an Individual H Shareholder is not the same
as the Registered Address or if the Individual H Shareholder
would like to apply for a refund of the additional amount of tax
finally withheld and paid, the Individual H Shareholder shall notify
and provide relevant supporting documents to the Company
on or before the commencement date of the closure of register
of members.” Upon examination of the supporting documents
by the relevant tax authorities, the Company will follow the
guidance given by the tax authorities to implement relevant tax
withholding and payment provisions and arrangements. Individual
H Shareholders may either personally or appoint a representative
to attend to the procedures in accordance with the requirements
under the Tax Treaties Notices if they do not provide the relevant
supporting documents to the Company within the time period
stated above.

Shareholders are recommended to consult their tax advisers
regarding the PRC, Hong Kong and other tax implications arising
from or in connection with their holding and disposal of the H
Shares.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER

The circular and the notice of the forthcoming AGM will be
published and dispatched to the Shareholders in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association. The Company will make an announcement on the
period of closure of register of members of H Shares in the
circular and the notice of the AGM in due course.

* The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and the
financial and operational key performance indicators employed by
the Directors in measuring the performance of our business are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages
2 to 8 of this annual report, “Key Operating and Financial Data”
on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report, “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Il. Business Overview” on pages 23 to 38 of this
annual report and “Management Discussion and Analysis — VII.
Outlook” on pages 73 to 78 of this annual report. The financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set
out in note 39 to the financial statements in this annual report.
Significant events that have an effect on the Group subsequent to
the financial year ended December 31, 2017 are set out in note
40 to the financial statements in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business
operations of the Group, some of which are inherent to the
industries the Group operates in and some are from external
sources. As regards the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — VI. Risk Factors and Risk Management”
on pages 62 to 73 of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

(i) Employees

We are in strict compliance with the Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the laws and
regulations of labor and employment in overseas areas
of operation, respect human rights, implement equal and
non-discriminatory labor and employment policies, and
equally treat staffs of different races, nationalities, ethnic
groups, genders, ages and religions, and firmly prohibit
the employment of child laborers, oppose all forms of
employment discrimination and forced labor, and establish
equal labor relations that meet the prescribed requirements
with employees.
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(i)

We focus on identifying the value of employees, constantly
strengthening the development and training of talents,
broadening the career development channels of staffs,
optimizing the training system, enriching the ways of
incentives for talents, and try our best to activate the
enthusiasm and creativity of staffs.

We build a good career development environment for our
staffs, improve our talent reserve mechanism, optimize
reasonable talent structure, form a team of key talents,
establish a talent flow mechanism, improve our talent training
system so as to mainly solve the problem of shortage
and default of key talents, which lays a foundation for the
Company to cultivate innovative international talents.

We made efforts to form core competitive advantages of
elites and leading talents in the industry as well as build a
transparent and open development environment. We develop
a career development channel system of “smooth vertical
development and horizontal cross-sector development”
for our staffs and help our staffs build a reasonable career
development plan, which form a broad career development
platform for our staffs and promote their sustainable
development.

We respect the opinions of our staffs, carry out democratic
management, and constantly promote and improve the
democratic management system for the enterprise which
mainly includes the trade union system and the congress
of staffs system, and further open up the channels of
democratic participation, democratic management and
democratic supervision for staffs.

Customers

Our major customers are primarily project owners of our
engineering contracting projects for our International
Engineering Contracting Business, and many of them are
governments, governmental agencies or state-owned entities
of overseas countries.
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To ensure delivery of quality services to our customers, we adopt
strict internal control and risk management systems throughout
the entire process of a project.

We have developed long-standing relationships with a number of
our customers.

There are no unified standard credit terms granted to customers
of the construction business and trading business. The credit
terms granted to customers of the construction business are
negotiated individually on a case-by-case basis and set forth in
the relevant contracts. The credit terms granted to customers of
the trading business are normally about three to six months. The
bills receivables are generally due within 180 days from the date
of issuance. The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 39(a) to
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
in this annual report. An ageing analysis of our trade receivable
is set out in note 22(a) to the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company in this annual report.

(iii) Suppliers and Subcontractors

In almost all of our engineering contracting projects, we
act as the main contractor managing and overseeing the
entire project while we procure equipment and machinery
for the construction of our projects from various suppliers
and subcontract works to subcontractors in areas including
design, exploration, logistics, installation, construction and
supervision.

We carefully select our suppliers and subcontractors,
primarily based on their qualifications, track record, financial
strength and proposed fees and we maintain an updated
list of qualified and reliable suppliers and subcontractors
with a proven track record and long-term relationship
with us. We entered into agreements with our suppliers
and subcontractors in relation to each project and we
require our suppliers and subcontractor to comply with
service standards. We have a number of measures to
manage and monitor the performance of our suppliers and
subcontractors in terms of both quality and delivery time and
to ensure compliance with the applicable safety and other
requirements.
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The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are usually
paid within the agreed period, usually due within 180 days.
The bills payable are generally due within 180 days from the
date of issuance. An ageing analysis of our trade payables
is set out in note 24 to the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

We are subject to different levels of local environmental laws and
regulations governing air pollution, noise emissions, hazardous
substances, water and waste discharge and treatment and
other environmental matters depending on the relevant local
jurisdiction in which we operate. Through our quality, safety and
environmental protection control management system, we ensure
compliance with safety and environmental requirements through
various stages: (1) at the design stage, we ensure that our design
is compliant with applicable safety and environmental laws,
regulations and mandatory standards and enhance environmental
awareness and professional ethics of the designers through
education and trainings; (2) at the procurement stage, we check
and control the equipment and materials used by ourselves and
our subcontractors and ensure that the procurement meets safety
and environmental requirements; and (3) at the construction
stage, we seek to manage factors that may affect safety and
environmental protection during the construction process through
establishing safety and environmental management objectives,
identifying hazardous substances, and abiding by preventive
measures and trainings.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best knowledge of our Directors, in 2017, we were in
compliance with all relevant PRC laws and regulations in all
material respects and have obtained all necessary licenses,
approvals and permits from relevant and appropriate regulatory
authorities for our business operations in the PRC; the operations
of our overseas subsidiaries were not in breach of any applicable
laws and regulations of the relevant jurisdictions and our overseas
subsidiaries’ business operations were in compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in all material
respects where the overseas subsidiaries were incorporated.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Company is entitled to
establish a necessary system of insurance for the liabilities of its
Directors, Supervisors and senior management for the purpose of
lowering the risk that may be incurred from regular performance
of duties by such parties. The Company has arranged for
appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’, Supervisors’ and
senior management’s liabilities in respect of legal actions against
its Directors, Supervisors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2017 or subsisted at the end of the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the
last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Financial
Highlights” of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 11.02% (2016: 8.64%) of the Group’s
total purchases. The Group’s largest supplier accounted for
3.42% (2016: 2.58%) of the Group’s total purchases.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Group’s sales to its
five largest customers accounted for 24.31% (2016: 21.99%) of
the Group’s total sales. The Group’s sales to its largest customer
accounted for 7.33% (2016: 6.89%) of the Group’s total sales.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group'’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2017 are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements in this annual report.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Details of movements in the issued capital of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2017 are set out in note 29 to the
financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended December 31, 2017 are set out in note 30 to the financial
statements in this annual report, and details of movements in the
reserves of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity in
this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2017, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions
of Companies Law, amounted to approximately RMB6,260.10
million (as at December 31, 2016: RMB6,037.35 million).

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at December 31, 2017 are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements of the Group in this annual report.
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BOARD

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2017 and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. SUN Bai (appointment as a Director and the Chairman ceased
effective on January 12, 2018)

Mr. ZHANG Chun (appointed as the Chairman and ceased as
president on January 12, 2018)

Mr. HAN Xiaojun (appointed on March 5, 2018 as the
vice Chairman)

Mr. ZHOU Yamin (appointed on January 12, 2018 as the
President)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Zhian (appointment as a Director ceased effective
on March 5, 2018)

Mr. YU Benli

Mr. ZHANG Fusheng

INEDs:

Mr. LIU Li

Ms. LIU Hongyu

Mr. FANG Yongzhong
Mr. WU Tak Lung

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the current Directors, Supervisors and
senior management of the Group are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and
Employees” of this annual report.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from
each of the INEDs and the Company considers such Directors to
be independent for the year ended December 31, 2017.

SERVICE CONTRACT AND LETTER OF
APPOINTMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

As approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
on March 5, 2018, () Mr. ZHANG Chun has been re-appointed
and Mr. HAN Xiaojun and Mr. ZHOU Yamin have been appointed
as executive Directors of the third session of the Board, (ii) Mr.
YU Benli and Mr. ZHANG Fusheng have been re-appointed as
non-executive Directors of the third session of the Board, (iii) Mr.
LIU Li, Ms. LIU Hongyu, Mr. FANG Yongzhong and Mr. WU Tak
Lung have been re-appointed as INEDs of the third session of
the Board, whose term of service commenced on March 5, 2018
until the expiration of the term of the third session of the Board,
and (iv) Mr. QUAN Huagiang and Mr. QIAN Xiangdong have been
re-appointed as shareholder representative Supervisors for the
third session of the Supervisory Board. Ms. LIU Ting has been
appointed as the staff representative Supervisor for the third
session of the Supervisory Board on January 12, 2018 and she
together with Mr. QUAN Huagiang and Mr. QIAN Xiangdong
formed the third session of the Supervisory Board. Their term of
service commenced on March 5, 2018 until the expiration of the
term of the third session of the Supervisory Board.

After their appointment, all members of the third session of the
Board have entered into service contracts and/or appointment
letters with the Company for a term of three years, commencing
from March 5, 2018 and ending on March 4, 2021 or on the
date when the fourth session of the Board is elected by the
Shareholders. The Company shall have power to enter into
service contracts and/or appointment letters with the members of
the third session of the Supervisory Board.
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, none of the Directors
or Supervisors had entered or proposed to enter into a service
contract and/or appointment letter with any member of the Group
which will not expire or is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or Supervisor had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year
ended December 31, 2017.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”, there
has been no contract of significance between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and controlling shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the year ended December 31, 2017.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the executive Directors’ service
contracts) concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended December 31,
2017.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration
of the directors and senior management of the Group, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
of the Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

The Company does not adopt any pre- or post-IPO share
award scheme and share option scheme as incentive to eligible
employees.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the directors, supervisors and
five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements in this annual report.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS DURING THE YEAR

Pursuant to Rules 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, the change
to Director’s, Supervisor’s or senior management’s information
subsequent to the date of the 2017 interim report of the
Company is set out below:

In September 2017, Mr. WU Tak Lung, an INED, has been
appointed as independent non-executive director, the chairman
of audit committee and member of remuneration committee of
Henan Jinma Energy Company Limited (7% 588 RA (D AR A
7)), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6885). On March 5, 2018, Mr. WU has been
appointed as a member of the Operation and Risk Management
Committee.

On January 12, 2018, Mr. ZHANG Chun, an executive Director,
has been appointed as the chairman of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy and Development Committee. On
March 5, 2018, Mr. ZHANG has been ceased as the President
and the chairman of the Operation and Risk Management
Committee and has been appointed as the Chairman.

On March 5, 2018, Mr. HAN Xiaojun, an executive Director, has
been appointed as the Vice Chairman and a member of the
Strategy and Development Committee.

On March 5, 2018, Mr. ZHOU Yamin, an executive Director, has
been appointed as the President and a member of Operation and
Risk Management Committee.

On March 5, 2018, Mr. ZHANG Fusheng, a non-executive
Director, has been appointed as a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and has been
ceased as a member of the Operation and Risk Management
Committee.

On March 5, 2018, Mr. YU Benli, a non-executive Director, has
been appointed as a member and the chairman of the Operation
and Risk Management Committee.
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INTERESTS, SHORT POSITIONS AND SHARE
OPTION SCHEME OF THE DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2017, none of the Directors, Supervisors or
members of the senior management of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

No time during the year ended December 31, 2017 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director, Supervisor
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company and any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors,
the Supervisors, or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2017, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company,
the particulars of the corporations or persons (other than a
Director, Supervisor or chief executive of the Company) which
had 5% or more interests and short positions in the Shares and
the underlying Shares as recorded in the register kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Long positions and Short positions in the Shares

Number of Issued

BROHFRRKXR

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding

in the Relevant
Class of Shares

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in
the Total Shares

Class of Capacity/ Shares/Underlying (Note 1) (Note 1)
Name of Shareholders Shares Nature of Interest  Shares Held (Shares) (%) (%)
EEBERAGER ERG R
FEERTRE,/ RESMEIE RESLEIL
RRER R 43 35 517 ERME HERAHEA (Hi#t1) (Hrzt1)
(R) (%) (%)
SINOMACH Domestic Interests of beneficial 3,217,430,000 100% 77.99%
Shares owner and controlled (Note 2)
corporation (Long position)
5 WERK ERBEBAERR (Hzt2)
XEEEER (&)
SSF H Shares Interests of beneficial 81,352,000 8.96% 1.97%
owner (Long position)
HRESESES H% BB AR (&)
Value Partners Group Limited H Shares Interests of controlled 47,199,000 5.19% 1.14%
corporation (Note 3)
(Long position)
HIEEE AR AR Hi% REEEER (Hzt3)
(&)
GIC Private Limited H Shares Investment manager 45,454,000 5.00% 1.10%
(Long position)
GBS A= WNC] Hix REKE (&)
Grantham, Mayo, Van Otterloo & H Shares Investment manager 54,367,300 5.98% 1.32%
Co. LLC (Long position)
HE% REKE (&)

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE



Notes:

M

This percentage is calculated on the basis of the number of
underlying Shares/total Shares that had been issued by the
Company as of December 31, 2017.

SINOMACH was beneficially interested in 3,185,260,000 Domestic
Shares, representing approximately 77.21% of our total share
capital. China United was beneficially interested in 32,170,000
Domestic Shares, representing approximately 0.78% of our total
share capital. Since China United is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
SINOMACH, SINOMACH is, therefore, deemed to be interested in
the Domestic Shares held by China United.

The following shares which are referred to in the notes above
represent the same block of shares in which all the relevant parties
are deemed under the SFO to be interested.

The 47,199,000 Shares as referred to in note 3 above.
Value Partners Group Limited has 100% interest over Value Partners

Hong Kong Limited. Value Partners Hong Kong Limited has 100%
interest over Value Partners Limited.

Save as disclosed above, and as at December 31, 2017, the

Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors,

Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company) who had an

interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which

would fall to be disclosed under divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to section 336 of

the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company did not
redeem any of its H Shares listed on the Stock Exchange nor did
the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of
such shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the Companies Law, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

SINOMACH entered into a non-competition agreement dated
July 12, 2011 as supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated December 10, 2012 (together as “Non-competition
Agreement”) with the Company. Pursuant to the agreement,
SINOMACH provided certain non-competition undertakings to
the Company and granted the option to acquire certain retained
business which overlaps with the Company’s International
Engineering Contracting Business in the Core Sectors (the
“Relevant Sectors”) and right of first refusal for any new
business opportunities in relation to the Relevant Sectors.
Pursuant to the Non-competition Agreement, the INEDs are
responsible for reviewing the implementation of the undertakings
under the agreement on an annual basis. During the year, the
INEDs have reviewed the implementation of the Non-competition
Agreement and confirmed that SINOMACH has been in full
compliance with the agreement and there was no breach by
SINOMACH.
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SINOMACH has confirmed in writing to the Company of its
compliance with the Non-competition Agreement for disclosure
in this annual report during the year ended December 31, 2017.
Furthermore, as contemplated in the Non-competition Agreement,
SINOMACH shall transfer all its equity interest in CNCEC, CNEEC
and China National Automation Control System Corporation
(“CACS”) to the Company within three years after the Listing.
The acquisition of the entire equity interests of CNCEC by the
Company was completed on May 23, 2016. The Company and
SINOMACH entered into an agreement on November 24, 2017
to acquire the entire equity interests of CNEEC by the Company.
On January 12, 2018, the first extraordinary general meeting of
the company has approved the acquisition. As at the date of this
report, the acquisition was on track to completion. The acquisition
of the equity interest in CACS by the Company is currently
expected to be delayed. Please refer to the announcement and
circular both published on February 5, 2016 and November
24, 2017 and the announcements published on May 23, 2016
and January 12, 2018 on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company for further details.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTEREST IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

As at December 31, 2017, none of the Directors, the Supervisors
or their respective close associates had engaged in or had any
interest in any business which competes or may compete with
the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Connected Transactions

Capital increase in SINOMACH Finance Co., Ltd.*
(B # Bt AR EE LD A) (the “Finance Company”),

The Company was notified on May 25, 2017 that
the amended and restated articles of association
of the Finance Company, which was resolved to be
amended by its shareholders (including the Company
and SINOMACH) on February 23, 2017, has become
effective. Pursuant to the amended and restated articles
of association, the registered capital of the Finance
Company shall increase from RMB1.1 billion to RMB1.5
billion, by converting each shareholder’s retained
earnings in the Finance Company in an aggregate
amount of RMB400 million. The amount of contribution
to the registered capital of the Finance Company made
by the Company shall increase from approximately
RMB172 million to approximately RMB234 million. The
proportion of shareholding held by each shareholder
of the Finance Company will remain the same. The
Company will continue to hold approximately 15.63% of
the enlarged registered capital of the Finance Company
after such capital increase. The proceeds of the capital
contribution to the Finance Company under the capital
increase will be used as working capital of the Finance
Company. The Company considers that capital increase
will have an anti-dilution effect and will also increase the
capital adequacy ratio of the Finance Company, thereby
strengthening the capital base of the Finance Company
to further develop its financing business. Details for the
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement
made on May 25, 2017 on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Acquisition of 100% equity interest in CNEEC

On November 24, 2017, the Company and SINOMACH
entered into an acquisition agreement, pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to acquire, and
SINOMACH has agreed to dispose of, the entire equity
interest in CNEEC for an aggregate consideration
of RMB1,980,031,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,349,766,807), subject to the terms and conditions
of the acquisition agreement (the “Acquisition”). The
Acquisition is a key and timely step for SINOMACH
Group to honor its non-competition undertakings,
which would enable the Company to better utilize such
business integration to strengthen the competitiveness
of its core business. The Acquisition enable the
Company to rapidly expand its assets and scale of
business by external merger and acquisition, and to
further enhance the Company’s capabilities in design,
supervision, operation and maintenance of engineering
projects, and further improve the Company’s service
capabilities in a complete project cycle. The Acquisition
also reinforced market position of the Company’s
engineering contracting business in traditional areas by
consolidating concerted efforts, and developed business
in a larger scale and with stepped up efforts to enter
new markets and areas. It also helped to expand the
Company’s talent pool for the International Engineering
Contracting Business, and improve its talent team
structure. As at the date of this report, the Acquisition
was on track to completion. Details for the transaction
are set out on the Company’s announcements made on
November 29, 2017 and January 12, 2018, respectively,
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

Report of Directors

EEEWRE

WP ET100% MR

R2017%F11824H ° & 2 7]
BT MBS BEZ
R EEGRRREGORR
T ARRAERENRNARE
1,980,031,0007T & 48 % & (48
BN 492,349,766,80778 T) WHE
REINEIHRE  ME®ITE
AELE ([WEEE]) - ZUE
SHESH#ERIRTHEBERE
HEAEN-EHEZARKHE
B BeEARRETHFAA
BEBZEAURAEZLERN
BRI o ZWEEIES AFIMB
N EB G B 18 T TR BRI A AR R B /Y
BEREBRE E—FPRAR
RIENRA - BB BEREE
TiRIBEFEMEEST  EmREA
NN EI AR EE B BB 8RB
BB ZWEEETBREERS
EEHBEZE AR AEFHED
TRABEBRPHMSINA - B
B AR T IS A LA AT KR
BEEBINFRNERER - &
NEMRBARAGNEE TR
AEEBATE - WHEATK
R - RAREBHE - 2R
FEAETHK - RIFBHRR
N5 RITE B A2 BT At Je AR A )
49 3k 1) 2 192017F11 298 &
201841 A12HMAE -

Annual Report 2017
2017 FF 3]

121




122

Report of Directors

EEEWRE

Il. Continuing Connected Transactions l.
The connected transactions of the Company are also NG
related party transactions, which are disclosed in note 37
to the financial statements in accordance with International
Accounting Standard 24 “Related Party Disclosure”.

The table below set out the annual caps and the actual

RZMNARBRERSE
R B R & 52 B 52457 [BAHE T
BB | MBS SRR A M RE ST I FE

TERHINZSHER HN2017FHF

transaction amount of such connected transactions for ELEREERLZZE5E
2017:
Actual
Annual cap Transaction
for 2017 Amount for
Connected Transactions Connected Person (Note (i) 2017
20175
FELR 201751
BERS BEAL (Wit BRXZEH
1 Provision of engineering services ~ China National Machinery Industry Corporation RMB3,000.0  RMB857.6
and products by our Group to B T £ B BR AT million million
SINOMACH Group AR¥3,0000 ARKS857.6
AEEMBEEEERETRRE China National Heavy Machinery Research Institute BHETL BET
REm Co., Ltd
FE B EMARRRHERAR
2 Receipt of engineering services and China Machinery Industry Construction Group INC. RMBS3,100.0 RMB248.2
products from SINOMACH Group FE#iR T E£ZREEFRE AR million million
by our Group AR¥3,100.0 ARK248.2
FRERZEREENTIRRY Changzhou Jiangnan Environmental Engineering Co., BETT HETL

REM Ltd.
BN IEREIRERAA

Harbin Power System Engineering and Research
Institute Co., Ltd.
REEEUREKERIAABRAF

Shanghai Sino-Perfect Co., Ltd.
HEREHRERRAR

China IPPR International Engineering Co., Ltd.
FEHTEEIRERAF

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Actual
Annual cap Transaction
for 2017 Amount for

Connected Transactions Connected Person (Note (i) 2017
20175 H#
EELR 20174
BERS BMEAL (Hiit) BRXZEH

China Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.
PITREHNEBRAR

China National General Machinery Engineering
Corporation
TEEARMIEERAR

China SINOMACH Heavy Industry Corporation
HEEKETEEAR DA

China United Northwest Institute for Engineering
Design & Research Co., Ltd
RETEIL TRRAHRAREARAR

Beijing Scientech International Project Management
Co., Ltd.
FTREEERTRERARAT

China Electric Design & Research Institute Co., Ltd.
PR BRI

China Auto CAIEC LTD.
HERETEELOBRAA

China Machinery Kangyuan Cereals and Oils
Equipment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
PRETEARE (IR) BRARF

China National Electric Engineering Co., Ltd.
HEENIRERAA

China Erzhong Group (Chengdu) Engineering
Technology Co. Ltd.
—E5E () IRRMEREEAA
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Actual
Annual cap Transaction
for 2017 Amount for

Connected Transactions Connected Person (Note (i) 2017
20175
FELR 20174
BERS BMEAL (Wit BRXZEH

Hefei General Special Material Equipment Co., Ltd.
BIEBREEMEREERAF

Chongaing Materials Research Institute Co., Ltd.
BEEMHAERARAR

China Machine-Building International Corporation

PR IMEER MR FARAR]

China Ocean Engineering Construction General
Bureau
hEIRERER

CMEC International Exhibition Co., Ltd.
AEREREEERETAR

China Sea International Travel Service Co., Ltd.

RERERIKITHEBRAA

Changchun Research Institute for Mechanical
Science Co., Ltd.
RERMBZMER AR DT

Shenyang Academy of Instrumentation Science Co.,
Ltd.
BEHERNEMERAR LT

Guangzhou Kinte Industrial Co., Ltd.
BMEXREXERAA

Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd.
BB ERETEAR

3 Trading procurement by our GroupN/A RMB360.0 RMB NIL

from SINOMACH Group TEA milion ~ ARBZERT
AEEMBHERETE HRE AE#360.0
BETL

1 24 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
TERMRBIERDERAE
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Actual
Annual cap Transaction
for 2017 Amount for

Connected Transactions Connected Person (Note (i) 2017
20175 H
FELR 2017
BERS BEAL (i) BHEXZEHE
Sales of trading products by our N/A RMB50.0 million RMB NIL
Group to SINOMACH Group NEA AR#500 AR®ZRL
AEERE#EEHEEESEMD BET
Provision of integrated services by  China SINOMACH Heavy Industry Corporation RMB120.0 RMB112.6
our Group to SINOMACH Group HEHBE#E TEEER A A million million
A& B B R B R AR S RIS AR#1200 AR¥%1126
China National Electric Engineering Co., Ltd. BET BET
FEENIRERAA

China Machine-Building International Corporation

PEEHEIMEER MR EAR AR

COAG Beijing International Trade Co., Ltd.
REMEELREREERRAA

Lanpec Technologies Limited

HRENOLRHERERNERAR

China United Engineering Corporation
FEES TRERAA

SCIVIC Engineering Corporation
B IEENRAAREERAR

SIPPR Engineering Group Co., Ltd.
B IEE R RARREERAA

China Sinogy Electric Engineering Co., Ltd.
FHEIREE N TIRAR AR

China United Northwest Institute for Engineering
Design & Research Co., Ltd
HE TR TR REAMEGERAR
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Actual
Annual cap Transaction
for 2017 Amount for

Connected Transactions Connected Person (Note (i) 2017
20175
FELR 20174
BERS BMEAL (Wit BRXZEH

China Erzhong Group (Deyang) Heavy Industries
Co., Ltd.
—EEE (25 ERNEEROHARRA

China Sanan Construction Group Co., Ltd.
FE=ZRREEFRAA

Automotive Engineering Corporation
REABETETRERADA

6 Financing services to our Group Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd.
from SINOMACH Group B#IHEBREELA
EREBERAEERESRRY

(1) deposit services RMB3,300.0 RMB3,286.4
(1) TS million million

(Note (ii)) (Note (i)
AR #3,300.0 AR3,286.4

BET BETL
(Bri) (Bete))

(2) entrusted deposit services RMB700.0 RMB Nil
(2) ZFEFHRS milion ~ ARBEIL
AR®700.0
BET

Notes: Hiat -

()  The annual cap is disclosed in the announcement and circular () FELRERAREBEHSRIA2014
of the Company dated November 14, 2014 and November 17, F11A148 R2014F 11 A17H RS
2014, respectively and such new annual cap was approved by N ARER - 2 FE TREER
Shareholders at the 2014 third extraordinary general meeting of RN2014F12A31 A AR A ERITH
the Company on December 31, 2014 (the “2014 Third EGM”) 2014F E=-[EERFR R AT (12014

FE-ZRERFRRAEG ) #E -

(i)  The actual transaction amount represents the highest daily (i) EBERERZIEERKRTEZSFREH
deposit balance plus accrued interest. HEFF S ZF -

1 26 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
TERMRBIERDERAE



Provision of engineering services and products by
our Group to SINOMACH Group

A renewed provision of engineering services and
products agreement (the “Renewed Provision of
Engineering Services and Products Agreement”)
was entered into on November 14, 2014 by and
between the Company and SINOMACH to provide
engineering services and products, including but not
limited to, undertaking turnkey project and provision of
general contracting services in the power sector and
procurement services and products to SINOMACH
Group for the engineering contracting projects
undertaken by SINOMACH Group, in particular those
engineering contracting projects subcontracted to our
Group by SINOMACH Group, details of which were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement and circular
published on November 14 and 17, 2014, respectively.
The Renewed Provision of Engineering Services and
Products Agreement and the proposed annual caps for
the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017
for the continuing connected transactions contemplated
thereunder have been approved by the 2014 Third
EGM.

The Renewed Provision of Engineering Services and
Products Agreement is able to increase the revenue
and profits of the International Engineering Contracting
Business and to expand the Group’s market share in
the international engineering contracting market. In
particular, it is able to allow us to participate in certain
large-scale engineering contracting projects undertaken
by SINOMACH Group in situations where the relevant
engineering contracting projects have been undertaken
by SINOMACH Group and it has been impracticable to
transfer such engineering contracting projects to the
Group.
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Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the Renewed Provision of
Engineering Services and Products Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2017 was
RMB3,000.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB857.6 million.

Receipt of engineering services and products from
SINOMACH Group by our Group

A renewed receipt of engineering services and products
agreement (the “Renewed Receipt of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement”) was entered into
on November 14, 2014 by and between the Company
and SINOMACH to receive engineering services and
products from SINOMACH Group, including but not
limited to, design, installation, construction, building,
subcontracting and procurement services and products
relating to its engineering contracting projects, details of
which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
and circular published on November 14 and 17, 2014,
respectively. The Renewed Receipt of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement and the proposed
annual caps for the years ending December 31,
2015, 2016 and 2017 for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated thereunder have been
approved by the 2014 Third EGM.
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The Renewed Receipt of Engineering Services and
Products Agreement is able to allow the Group to
subcontract part of our construction works in line with
the common practice of participants in the international
engineering contracting market. In view of the fact that
SINOMACH Group is a well-established participant with
good reputation within the international engineering
contracting market which possesses strong capacity
and experience in the manufacturing, design, research
and development of various engineering products, the
Group has preference in sourcing relevant engineering
services and products from SINOMACH Group to gain
benefits from such technical strengths of them.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the Renewed Receipt of
Engineering Services and Products Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2017 was
RMB3,100.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB248.2 million.
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Trading procurement by our Group from
SINOMACH Group

A renewed trading procurement agreement (the
“Renewed Trading Procurement Agreement”) was
entered into on November 14, 2014 by and between
the Company and SINOMACH to source various
trading products from SINOMACH Group to support
our Trading Business, which consist of, but not limited
to, agriculture machinery and equipment, agriculture
transportation vehicles, logging equipment and mining
equipment, details of which were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement and circular published
on November 14 and 17, 2014, respectively. The
Renewed Trading Procurement Agreement and the
proposed annual caps for the years ended December
31, 2015, 2016 and 2017 for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated thereunder have been
approved by the 2014 Third EGM.

In the view of the strong manufacturing capacity of
SINOMACH Group, the Trading Procurement Agreement
is able to facilitate the Trading Business.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the Renewed Trading
Procurement Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2017 was
RMB360.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB nil.
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Sales of trading products by our Group to
SINOMACH Group

A renewed trading sales agreement (the “Renewed
Trading Sales Agreement”) was entered into on
November 14, 2014 by and between the Company
and SINOMACH to sell various trading products
to SINOMACH Group under the Trading Business,
details of which were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement and circular published on November
14 and 17, 2014, respectively. The Renewed Trading
Sales Agreement and the proposed annual caps for the
years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017 for
the continuing connected transactions contemplated
thereunder have been approved by the 2014 Third
EGM.

The Renewed Trading Sales Agreement is able to
increase the revenue and profits of the Trading Business
and to expand the market share in the international
trading market.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the Renewed Trading Sales
Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2017 was
RMB50.0 million and the actual transaction amount was
RMBO.0.
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Provision of integrated services by our Group to
SINOMACH Group

A renewed integrated services agreement (the
“Renewed Integrated Services Agreement”)
was entered into on November 14, 2014 by and
between the Company and SINOMACH to provide
integrated services such as legal services, exhibition
and conference services, storage and transportation
services, tendering services, agency services,
property management services and design services
to SINOMACH Group in respect of the business
undertaken by SINOMACH Group, details of which were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement and circular
published on November 14 and 17, 2014, respectively.
The Renewed Integrated Services Agreement and the
proposed annual caps for the years ended December
31, 2015, 2016 and 2017 for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated hereunder have been
approved by the 2014 Third EGM.

SINOMACH Group has engaged the Group to provide
them with certain integrated services which the Group is
qualified in providing. The Renewed Integrated Services
Agreement is able to increase the revenue and profits of
the Group.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the Renewed Integrated
Services Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2017 was
RMB120.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB112.6 million.
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Principal terms of the agreements

Each of the Provision of Engineering Services and
Products Agreement, Receipt of Engineering Services
and Products Agreement, Trading Procurement
Agreement, Trading Sales Agreement and Integrated
Services Agreement (collectively “Original
Agreements”’) is a framework agreement that
comprises the general terms and conditions upon which
the Group and SINOMACH Group shall carry out the
particular type of transactions contemplated thereunder.
Members of SINOMACH Group and members of
the Group may from time to time enter into detailed
agreements in respect of the specific services and/
or products to be provided or received by the Group,
provided that the terms of such detailed agreements
shall not be inconsistent with the terms of the respective
framework agreement. The actual services and/or
products to be provided or received by our Group shall
be subject to such detailed agreements entered into
between the relevant member of SINOMACH Group and
the relevant member of the Group from time to time.

Each of the Renewed Provision of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement, Renewed Receipt
of Engineering Services and Products Agreement,
Renewed Trading Procurement Agreement, Renewed
Trading Sales Agreement and Renewal Integrated
Services Agreement (collectively “Renewed
Agreements”) is to extend the terms to another 3
years commencing from January 1, 2015 and ending on
December 31, 2017 and may be renewed on terms to
be agreed upon by SINOMACH and the Company. Each
of such framework agreements (i) may be terminated by
a non-defaulting party by serving a written default notice
to the defaulting party stipulating the relevant breach
and the defaulting party having failed to remedy such
breach within a reasonable period after its receipt of the
default notice; and (ii) shall be terminated automatically
if the performance of the transactions contemplated
thereunder will be in breach of the requirements under
the Listing Rules or the necessary approvals required
under the Listing Rules or relevant waivers from the
Stock Exchange cannot be obtained.
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All other material terms and conditions of the Original
Agreements remained unchanged except for the
new pricing policy and new payment terms. Each of
the Reviewed Provision of Engineering Services and
Products Agreement, Reviewed Receipt of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement, Reviewed Trading
Procurement Agreement and Reviewed Integrated
Services Agreement adopts new pricing policies,
pursuant to which the price payable for the subject
services and/or products thereunder shall be
determined in accordance with, among others, price
prescribed by the PRC government, price range guided
by the PRC government, price guided by an industry
association, price negotiated between the parties and
market price. Pursuant to the new payment terms, the
installment of payment for each stage of the transaction
shall be determined after negotiation between the
parties, based on the situation of the implementation
progress of the relevant project/transaction under
each contract. Details for the terms and conditions of
the Original Agreements and new pricing policy and
new payment terms for the Renewed Agreements
were disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company’s
announcement and circular published on November 14
and 17, 2014, respectively.
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Financing services to our Group from SINOMACH
Group

A new financial service agreement dated November
14, 2014 (the “New Financial Services Agreement”)
entered into by and between the Company and
Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd. (the “Finance Company”),
a subsidiary of SINOMACH Group, on June 20,
2013 (the “Financial Services Agreement”) to
replace the Financial Services Agreement which will
be automatically terminated once the New Financial
Services Agreement becomes effective. The New
Financial Services Agreement has become effective
upon approved by the 2014 Third EGM for a revised
term for 3 years from January 1, 2015 to December 31,
2017, thus the Financial Services Agreement has been
automatically terminated. The proposed annual caps for
the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017
for the continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the New Financial Services Agreement have been
approved by the 2014 Third EGM.

Financial services and major terms

The major terms of the Financial Services Agreement
remain unchanged. Pursuant to the New Financial
Services Agreement, the Finance Company agrees to
provide to the Group the following financial services:

Type 1 — Deposit Services

The Finance Company will provide deposit taking
services for current deposits, call deposits, 7-day
deposits and time deposits (3-month, 6-month and
1-year). The Finance Company offers interest rates
for the Group’s deposits according to the rates to be
published by People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”) and
no lower than those offered by commercial banks in the
PRC for provision of similar services to the Group.
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Type 2 — General Loan Services

The Finance Company will provide various types of
loans to the Group (including working capital loans,
fixed assets loans, finance leases and purchaser’s credit
business). The Finance Company may also provide
integrated credit facilities to the Group according to the
needs of the Group, which include letters of guarantee,
letters of credit, bill acceptance and discounting.
In connection with the provision of the general loan
services, the Finance Company will charge interests
according to the rates published by the PBOC and
shall not charge interest rates higher than those set
by commercial banks in the PRC for similar loans or
credit facilities, and that no security over assets will be
required from the Group.

Type 3 — Entrusted Loan Services

It is a standalone transaction not relating to any
other types of services under the Financial Services
Agreement. Under this type of service, the Group will
provide entrusted deposits (the “Entrusted Deposits”)
to the Finance Company, and the Finance Company
will then lend the full amount of the Entrusted Deposits
to the relevant members of the Group designated by
the Group on the same day (the “Entrusted Loan
Services”). The Finance Company commits that no
security over assets will be required from the Group. In
relation to the provision of Entrusted Loan Services to
the Group, the Finance Company shall not charge fees
which are higher than those set by commercial banks in
the PRC for similar services.
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Type 4 — General Financial Services

The general financial services to be provided by the
Finance Company to the Group include collection,
payment and settlement services, handling issuance
of letters of guarantee and letters of credit, handling of
bill acceptance and discounting, financial and financing
consultation, arrangement of credit certification and
related consultation and agency services, underwriting
of corporate bonds and Services Business which the
Finance Company are approved by China Banking
Regulatory Commission to carry out. The Finance
Company will charge service fees for the provision of
the aforesaid services. Such service fees shall not be
higher than those charged by commercial banks in the
PRC for similar services.

The pricing policy of the Finance Company is subject
to the guidelines set by the governmental authorities.
Therefore, the fees charged by the Finance Company
for its services to be provided to the Company
are comparable to those charged by the financial
institutions in the PRC for similar services. Furthermore,
the Finance Company is subject to various rules and
regulations issued by the governmental authorities in
relation to its provision of deposit services, including
the mandatory requirements on its asset-liability ratios,
and has established comprehensive internal control and
risk management systems, and implemented corporate
governance guidelines in accordance with the relevant
regulatory requirements.

For details for the New Financial Services Agreement,
please refer to the Company’s announcement and
circular published on November 14 and 17, 2014,
respectively, on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The Finance Company is a subsidiary of SINOMACH
which is the controlling shareholder of the Company
and is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

During the reporting period, the cap for the maximum
daily deposit balance (including any interest accrued
thereon) with the Finance Company was RMB3,300.0
million and the actual amount was RMB3,286.4 million.
The annual cap for the Entrusted Deposits with the
Finance Company was RMB700.0 million (including
any interest accrued thereon) and no actual transaction
occurred for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The “receipt of integrated services from fellow subsidiaries”
as set out in note 37 to the financial statements in this
annual report occured after the Company’s disposal of
CMEC Expo in December 2016 whereby CMEC Expo
provided some exhibition services to the Group. Such
transactions constituted de minimis continuing connected
transactions which is fully exempt from the relevant reporting,
announcement and Shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules and hence
was not included in the continuing connected transactions
set out below.

The INEDs have reviewed each of the above mentioned
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been conducted:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(2) on normal commercial terms or, if there are no sufficient
comparable transactions to determine whether they are
on normal commercial terms, from the perspective of
the Company, on terms no less favorable than the terms
available to or from independent third parties; and
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3)

in accordance with relevant agreements governing
the relevant transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to conduct a
limited assurance engagement on the above continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditors’ Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has reported their conclusion to the Board
stating that:

a. nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board;

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to
the auditors’ attention that causes the auditor
to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Company;

c. nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions
set out above, nothing has come to the auditors’
attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the maximum aggregate annual
value disclosed above.
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The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the abovementioned
transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. The Company has provided a copy of the said letter
to the Stock Exchange.

In respect of the above-mentioned non-exempt connected
transactions, the Directors also confirmed that the Company
was in compliance with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The material post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 40
to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the
management and external auditor of the Company the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Group and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2017.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance
by its relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive or inside information of the Company
in respect of their dealings in the Company’s securities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of
corporate governance. The Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended December 31, 2017 and up to the date of this report.
The Company will continue to review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange granted to the Company a waiver (the
“Public Float Waiver”) from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1)
of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Public Float Waiver, the
Company’s prescribed minimum percentage of Shares which
must be in public hands must not be less than 22.01% of the
total issued share capital of the Company. Based on information
publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 22.01% of the Company’s total issued share
capital, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the waiver and permitted under the Listing Rules,
are held by the public at all times as of the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

At the 2014 second extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on October 20, 2014, Ernst & Young (&K & &tEl
E#F7) was appointed as the Company’s external international
auditor in place of KPMG (5 H A1 E#4F1) and Ernst &
Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General Partnership) (Z27KZER5
S EEFT(EFR L RA ) was appointed as the Company’s
domestic auditor. The 2017 consolidated financial statements
of the Company prepared in accordance with IFRS have been
audited by Ernst & Young.

Save as disclosed above, there were no changes of independent
auditors in the past 3 years.
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A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as the
independent auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

COMPLIANCE WITH SANCTIONS
UNDERTAKINGS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company and the Directors
have covenanted to the Stock Exchange that they will not, directly
or indirectly, (1) use any of the proceeds from the Global Offering,
or make such proceeds available to any individual or entity, to
fund any activities in or business of or with (i) any individual or
entity or (i) in any country or territory, that at the time of such
funding, is the target of any sanctions administered by OFAC, or
(2) engage in any activity that is sanctionable under the ISA (as
amended by the Comprehensive Iran Sanctions, Accountability,
and Divestment Act of 2010) or the Executive Order 13590 (the
“Executive Order”) for so long as the ISA and Executive Order
remain in effect (the “Sanctions Undertakings”). The Directors
confirmed that both the Company and the Directors were in
compliance with the Sanctions Undertakings as at the date of
this report. In particular, the Company has taken the following
measures to ensure compliance with the Sanctions Undertakings:

1. Proceeds Account — The Company has opened and
maintained separate designated bank accounts for the
proceeds from the Listing in Hong Kong as at the date
of this report (the “Proceeds Accounts”). The Proceeds
Accounts are segregated from other normal bank accounts
of our Company and designated for the sole use of deposit
and deployment of the proceeds from Listing. With such
segregation and designation, the Proceeds Accounts record
all transactions and activities within these bank accounts and
trace the flow of funds in and out of the Proceeds Accounts.

2. Accounting measures — The Company has ensured that
separate books and records are in place to monitor the
activities, including deposits and disbursements, of the
Proceeds Accounts.
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3. Internal control policies — We have formulated a dedicated
set of internal control policies particularly in respect of the
Proceeds Accounts to regulate various aspects of operating
the Proceeds Accounts, such as the designated use, record
keeping (e.g. the underlying documents for projects or
transactions towards which the proceeds will be applied),
regular review, responsible personnel to be appointed,
accountability and reporting line and other necessary
operational procedures.

4. Internal compliance program on export control (the “ICP”)
— With the Company’s existing ICP platform, the export
control office has continued to be responsible for project
screening, evaluation and approval from an export control
perspective to ensure the nature and location of the activities
or business, as well as the identity of the counterparties
and products involved, etc., would not violate the Sanctions
Undertakings.

In recent years the US sanctions landscape has evolved
substantially, especially those targeted at Iran. January 16,
2016 marked the “Implementation Day”, which marked the full
execution of sanctions relief promised to Iran as part of the Joint
Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) as negotiated by Iran,
the P5+1 (United States, Russia, China, France, United Kingdom,
Germany) and the EU and endorsed by the UN. In exchange for
curtailing certain nuclear-related activities, Iran was granted relief
from certain U.S., EU, and UN sanctions.

Considering the recent development in the sanctions landscape
on Iran, Holland & Knight LLP, the Company’s special counsel on
sanctions, has advised that: (i) the Company, being a non-U.S.
company, is now able to conduct business in Iran. The remaining
sanctions and restrictions with regard to Iran will not substantially
affect potential business activities of the Company in Iran; (ii)
the Company would be able to fully engage potential business
opportunities in a number of Iranian industrial sectors; and (iii)
the Company would be able to engage in the full spectrum
of activities in these areas, from engineering, procurement,
and management to the supply of components, services, and
technology. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement published on the website of the Stock Exchange
and the website of the Company on March 23, 2016.
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In addition, given the new development in the the sanctions
landscape on Cuba, Holland & Knight LLP has advised the
Company that, despite the remaining U.S. embargo on Cuba, the
Company (and its shareholders and investors) would face very
limited risks in engaging in Cuba activities if done from outside of
U.S., and similarly limited risks if done under U.S. authorization
from or through a U.S. subsidiary of the Company. With Cuba
having been removed from the U.S. Department of State’s
State Sponsors of Terrorism (“SST”) list, the reputational risks
and heightened due diligence (especially for non-U.S. financial
institutions) associated with transactions involving countries
placed on SST list has been reduced significantly, even though
the U.S. embargo remains in place. For further details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement published on the website
of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company on
December 19, 2016.

By Order of the Board
ZHANG Chun

Chairman

Beijing, PRC, March 26, 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
in the annual report of the Company for year ended December
31, 2017 (the “Year”). In addition, certain information regarding
the Directors and the Board committees has been updated as at
the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The CG Code
has been adopted as the Company’s own code of corporate
governance. Except for the code provision A.4.2 and F.1.2 of
the CG Code in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Company
complied with the provisions required in the CG Code during the
Year.

Pursuant to the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code that every
director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years, the second session of the Board which was
elected on February 20, 2014 shall retire the office by rotation
on February 20, 2017. As of matters to the whole Board, various
factors shall be considered to ensure the senior management
of the Company well continues, therefore the second session of
the Board continued to perform their duty until the election of
the third session of the Board which were elected at the 2018
second extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
March 5, 2018 (the “Second EGM”).

Since then, the Company has complied with code provision A.4.2
of the CG Code.
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Pursuant to the code provision F.1.2 of the CG Code that the
appointment of the company secretary should be dealt with
by the physical board meeting rather than a written resolution.
The appointment of the current joint company secretaries of the
Company (the “Joint Company Secretaries”) was dealt with
by a written resolution in February 2018. The Board considers
that, prior to the execution of the written resolution to appoint the
current Joint Company Secretaries, all Directors were individually
consulted on the matter without any dissenting opinion and there
was no need to approve the matter by a physical board meeting
instead of a written resolution.

Chairman and President

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the current organization
structure of the Company, Mr. ZHANG Chun is the Chairman of
the Board and Mr. ZHOU Yamin is the President. The balance
of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the senior
management and the Board, which comprise experienced and
high caliber individuals. Pursuant to the Articles of Association,
the primary duties and responsibilities of the Chairman of the
Board include:

a) presiding over the shareholders’ general meetings and
convening and presiding over meetings of the Board,
examining the implementation of the resolutions of the
Board;

b) organizing the formulation of regulations on the operation of
the Board, and coordinating the operation of the Board;

c) receiving regular or non-regular performance reports on the
Company’s senior management; and

d) giving opinions guiding the execution of board resolutions
and signing the Company’s share certificates, debentures
and other important documents.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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The major responsibilities of the president of the Company

include:

a)

leading the production, operation and management of the
Company, and reporting his works to the Board;

organizing the implementation of the resolutions of the
Board, the Company’s annual business plans and investment
plans;

preparing the Company’s annual budgets and final accounts,
and providing recommendations to the Board;

formulating the plans for merger, division or reorganization of
the wholly-owned subsidiaries and controlled subsidiaries of
the Company;

preparing plans for the establishment of the Company’s
basic management system and the internal management
structure, preparing plans for the establishment of domestic
and overseas branches of the Company, formulating specific
rules and regulations of the Company;

appointing or removing the management personnel, except
for those that shall be appointed or removed by the Board;

formulating the remunerations, benefits and incentive
programs, as well as the appointment and removal of the
Company’s employees;

proposing to convene an extraordinary board meeting when
emergency arises; and
determining on investment, financing, contracts and
transactions of the Company within the scope of
authorization of the Board.

The chairman of the Company held a meeting with the

non-executive Directors (including the INEDs) without the

presence of the executive Directors during the Year.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

The Company adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Upon
specific enquiry of all the Directors and Supervisors, all the
Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they had complied with
the Model Code during the Year.

The Company also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance
by its relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information or inside information
of the Company in respect of their dealings in the Company’s
securities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising
the management of the business affairs and the overall
performance of the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values
and standards and ensures that the requisite financial and human
resources support are in place for the Group to achieve its
objectives. The functions performed by the Board include but not
limited to formulating the Group’s business plans and strategies,
reviewing the Company’s financial results and performance and
approving its interim and annual results; approving appointment,
removal or re-appointment of the Board members upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee; approving the
remuneration package of directors and senior management of
the Company upon the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, formulating,
monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance,
and all other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles
of Association. The Board may from time to time delegate
certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The senior management is mainly
responsible for the execution of the business plans, strategies
and policies adopted by the Board and assigned to it from time
to time.
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All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good
faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Currently, the Board comprises the following nine Directors:

Executive Directors
ZHANG Chun (Chairman)
HAN Xiaojun (Vice Chairman)
ZHOU Yamin (President)

Non-Executive Directors
YU Benli
ZHANG Fusheng

INEDs

LIU Li

LIU Hongyu
FANG Yongzhong
WU Tak Lung

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and
Employees” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no financial,
business, family or other material relationship among the
Directors.

The three Executive Directors are responsible for the leadership
and control of the Company and overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performances and are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The four INEDs are responsible for ensuring a high standard of
financial and other mandatory reporting of the Board as well as
providing a balance in the Board in order to effectively exercise
independent judgment on the corporate actions of the Company
so as to protect Shareholders’ interest and overall interest of the
Group.

"#ﬁvﬁiﬁth

EREFARRNSAZAEARL ETER
ERNOER - A RMEM R QAR
HBR 2 Mt BITHE

EEHATANATNARESAK

BITES

RF (BEFR)
BEE (FIEFR)
R (#2)

FHUITES
RAGE
SRAELE

BYFHTES
27

24T =F

F oK AR

RiEgE

BEENEABEHEANAFRIES &
RREBRAERER] 8-

BRRAFERBEEEIN  EFZHEBELM
B7% - X155 BESEMEERER -

ZERTEFARREREFAR
EARENER  REOREK &%ﬁ’ﬂm
BRAEEEEREEARAZEHES
HANER -

MEBUHBTEFARRRESSHFL
SARFHM G REMEERS  LFEE
22 URARAMARITEERITEE
SEHE - e R EBCR N g R AR B e E

Bl -

Annual Report 2017
2017 FF 3] 149



150

Corporate Governance Report
=== ﬁﬁhb‘iﬁﬂ:

Throughout the Year, the Company had at all times met the
requirement of the Listing Rules that the number of INEDs must
represent at least one-third of the Board members and at least
one of the INEDs shall have appropriate professional qualifications
of accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has four INEDs currently representing four-ninths of the
Board and therefore the Company has complied with the Listing
Rules.

All Directors, including the INEDs, have brought a wide spectrum
of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
INEDs were invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Strategy and Development Committee and the Operation and
Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments as well as
their identity and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors
agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely
manner.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
the liabilities of the Directors and senior management in respect
of any legal actions taken against them arising out of performing
their duties. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of
independence by reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Board is satisfied that all INEDs were independent and met
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, up to the date of this annual report.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Each newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

The Company has from time to time provided briefings to all
Directors to develop and refresh the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development
for Directors will be arranged whenever necessary. The
Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge his or her duties. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses
at the Company’s expense. They have been required to provide
the Company with their training records.

During the Year, all Directors had participated in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills by reading materials and/or attending
briefings by legal counsels or seminars organised by professional
bodies on corporate governance or updates on laws, rules and
regulations relating to the roles, functions and duties of a director.
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Individual record of each Director who received training for the

Year is summarised as follows:

m -

AEEEZIFINEEFNEA MR

Directors Types of CPD
=23 HESXRRNESR
(Notes)
(HteE)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. SUN Bai (resigned on January 12, 2018) Hias 4 (201851 A12B BHT) Aand B
AKB
Mr. ZHANG Chun FOFHE A and B
AKB
Mr. HAN Xiaojun (appointed on March 5, 2018) T %4 (2018E3A5HEZE(F) A
A
Mr. ZHOU Yamin (appointed on March 5, 2018) FEZR %4 (20184350 EE(T) A
A
Non-executive Directors 3F$ﬂ’_§$
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) ARG (2018F3A5HIERM) Aand B
AKB
Mr. YU Benli RAE L E Aand B
ANB
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng REAE ST A Aand B
ANB
INEDs BYFHTES
Mr. LIU Li BNk E A and B
AKB
Ms. LIU Hongyu BT FLi+ A and B
AKB
Mr. FANG Yongzhong T oKk B A Aand B
ANB
Mr. WU Tak Lung RiEgREE Aand B
ANB
Notes: Bt -
A: attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the A: ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi%%%ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ@
business or directors’ duties B IS8
B:  studying regulatory updates on laws, rules and regulations relating B Z2XRFHEZTACKEBEMNEE  HAK

to directors’ roles and functions
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All Directors had provided the Company with their training records
for the Year.

Meetings of Board and Board Committees and Directors’
Attendance Records

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
committee members at least fourteen days before the regular
meetings and at least five days before the extraordinary meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and
be adequately prepared for the meetings. When the Directors or
committee members are unable to attend a meeting, he or she
may appoint in writing another Director to attend the meeting on
his or her behalf. The power of attorney shall specify the scope of
authorization. The proxy shall exercise the rights of the Director
within the scope of the authorization. A Director failing to attend
the board meeting in person or by proxy shall be deemed as
having waived his or her voting rights at such meeting.

The company secretary or his delegate is responsible for keeping
all minutes of the Board meetings and the Board committees.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version
is open for Directors’ inspection. According to the Listing Rules,
any directors and their close associates with a material interest
in the transactions to be discussed at the Board meetings will
abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and will not be counted in the quorum at meetings.

Any Director wishing to do so in the furtherance of his or
her duties may take independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense. Directors get familiar with the Group’s
principal activities through initial induction, ongoing participation
at the Board and committee meetings, and meeting with key
members of management. The Directors are encouraged to
update their skills and knowledge.
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In 2017 and as of March 26, 2018, the Company held 18 Board
meetings (including written resolutions),
general meetings, one annual general meeting and two class

three extraordinary

R20174 R & 2201843 A26H © A
BT N\RESSgEZ (BEEEAE) -
ZRBRERERE -

NAE

—RIEERBFRE R

meeting (collectively, the “Shareholders’ Meetings”). Details of MRERRFEAE (A IBRRAE]) - £
EFREFHBHINAT -

attendance of the Directors are as follows:

Board Shareholders’

Directors meetings Meetings

BE EEEeER BRAE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. SUN Bai b7 3isbtes 13/13 4/5
(resigned on January 12, 2018) (20181 A12H & L)

Mr. ZHANG Chun RIZEAE 18/18 6/6

Mr. HAN Xiaojun EEEE LA 3/3 0
(appointed on March 5, 2018) (201843 ASHEZRT)

Mr. ZHOU Yamin AEREA 3/3 0
(appointed on March 5, 2018) (20183 ASAEZRT)

Non-Executive Directors FHITES

Mr. WANG Zhian FaREAE 15/15 5/6
(retired on March 5, 2018) (2018F3 A5HIRM)

Mr. YU Benli FAIE S 18/18 5/6

Mr. ZHANG Fusheng SRABESL A 18/18 6/6

INEDs BUFHTES

Mr. LIU Li £l 18/18 6/6

Ms. LIU Hongyu BT F+ 18/18 4/6

Mr. FANG Yongzhong FoK B A 18/18 6/6

Mr. WU Tak Lung RERELAE 18/18 5/6
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all
measurable objectives set for implementing the policy.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All
the appointments of the Board members will continue to be made
on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of
the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established, with written terms of reference,
five Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Strategy and Development Committee and the Operation
and Risk Management Committee (together, the “Board
Committees”), to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties.

The written terms of reference for each Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are in line
with the Listing Rules and they are posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Audit Committee

The Board established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises two INEDs and one non-executive Director, namely Mr.
LIU Li, Ms. LIU Hongyu and Mr. ZHANG Fusheng, the majority
of them are INEDs. Mr. LIU Li is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
others:

a) To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the internal audit
division or external auditor before submission to the Board;

b) To review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditor; and

c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and
internal audit system and associated procedures, including
the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

In 2017 and as of March 26, 2018, the Audit Committee held 8
meetings to review and supervise the financial reporting process
and internal control review. It had in conjunction with Ernst &
Young, the existing external auditor of the Company, reviewed
the Group’s the unaudited interim results for 2017 and audited
results for the year ended December 31, 2017 and recommended
the same to the Board for their consideration and approval. The
Audit Committee was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made.
The Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other
duties as set out in the CG Code.
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Details of attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are as

e M\Aiﬁﬂ:

ERBRERNLEFBLT

follows:

Directors Attendance
S HERE
Mr. LIU Li (Chairman) Bl () 8/8
Ms. LIU Hongyu I F L+ 8/8
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) Fraz st (20183 A5HIRE) 8/8
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng (appointed on March 5, 2018) R4 %4 (201853 A5 HEZE(F) 2/2

Remuneration Committee

The Board established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs and one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. FANG Yongzhong, Mr.
ZHANG Fusheng and Mr. LIU Li, the majority of them are INEDs.
Mr. FANG Yongzhong is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others:

a) To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing the remuneration
policy;

b) To review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and

c) To determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, or to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management.
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In 2017 and as of March 26, 2018, the Remuneration Committee
held 6 meetings to review the remuneration packages of the
senior management and relevant remuneration, performance
systems of the Company.

Details of attendance of the Remuneration Committee meetings
are as follows:

73@017¢&éﬁ§2018¢3ﬁ265 L ES
2 UEHSMERAR
EBRREHIE -

SRITNRE
El’] I B LA R A R EFEN -

FHEZBRESRNLEFBLT

Directors Attendance
5= HERE
Mr. FANG Yongzhong (Chairman) F KESEE (F/E) 6/6
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) Bt (201853 A5 HRE) 4/4
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng (appointed on March 5, 2018) @Eﬁa S (2018F3A5HE L) 2/2
Mr. LIU Li 2 hxE 6/6

Remuneration Policy of Directors

Each Director has entered into service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company. Each executive Director is
entitled to an annual fixed fee (tax included) pursuant to the
service contract entered into with the Company. The fee includes,
among others, salaries, benefits, duty subsidies and pension
contribution as determined in accordance with the laws and
regulations of the PRC and the policy guidance issued by the
senior regulatory authorities as well as the duties, performance
and working experience of the executive Director. Meanwhile,
the executive Director is also entitled to management bonus as
determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee with
reference to the overall operating results and performance of
the Company. The decision to grant such management bonus
was made by the general meeting or the Board under the
authorization of the general meeting. Each non-executive Director
and each INED is entitled to fixed subsidy, which is determined
with reference to the prevailing market price, pursuant to the
service contract or letter of appointment entered into with the
Company. Reasonable fees incurred by the Directors during their
services in the Company shall be borne by the Company.
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Nomination Committee

The Board established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises two INEDs and one Executive
Director, namely Ms. LIU Hongyu, Mr. FANG Yongzhong and Mr.
ZHANG Chun, the majority of them are INEDs. Mr. ZHANG Chun
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, among
others:

a) To review the structure, size and composition of the Board
on a regular basis according to the operating activities,
asset size and equity structure of the Company and make
recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

b) To make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
re-appointment of and succession planning for Directors;

c) To identify candidates who are qualified/suitable to join the
Board and to select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of candidates nominated for directorships;

d) To assess the candidates for the senior management of the
Company and its wholly-owned and controlled subsidiaries,
and provide appraisal opinions to the Board; and

e) To assess the independence of the INEDs.

In 2017 and as of March 26, 2018,
Committee meeting held 3 meetings to review the structure,

the Nomination

size and composition of the Board, to discuss and assess
the independence of the INEDs and review and make
recommendation on the appointment and re-election of the third
session of the Board members.

While the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by
participating in the Board meetings, among others, to discuss
and assess the independence of the INEDs.
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Details of attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings are

REZBEERNLFEFBLT -

as follows:

Directors Attendance

= HERE

Mr. SUN Bai (Chairman) BRELE (BEFR) N/A
(resigned on January 12, 2018) (2018F1 A12H &) i A

Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) RERE (EFR) 3/3
(appointed on January 12, 2018) (2018F1A12BEEZT)

Mr. LIU Hongyu T F Lt 3/3

Mr. FANG Yongzhong FokB A E 3/3

Strategy and Development Committee BHRERREEES

The

Strategy and Development Committee comprises two

Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and one INED,
namely Mr. ZHANG Chun, Mr. HAN Xiaojun, Mr. YU Benli and

Mr. LIU LI

Mr. ZHANG Chun is the chairman of Strategy and

Development Committee.

The

primary duties of the Strategy and Development Committee

include, among others:

a)

To conduct research in respect of, and formulating the
strategy and business development of our Company,
including the medium to long term plans, and supervising
the implementation of our Company’s strategic planning;

To present assessment reports on the implementation of our
Company’s strategic planning, management and business
development; and

To research and analyze major issues encountered by our
Company in the course of its development.

In 2017 and as of March 26, 2018, the Strategy and Development
Committee held 2 meetings to study the business segments and
future work plan of the Company.
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BRREFRZEGERNVHFFBOT -

Details of attendance of the Strategy and Development
Committee meetings are as follows:

Directors Attendance

Bx HERE

Mr. SUN Bai (Chairman) BRHEEE (BEFR) 1/1
(resigned on January 12, 2018) (20181 A128 &HT)

Ms. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) KA (BEFEL) 1/1
(appointed on January 12, 2018) (2018F1A12BEEZ )

Mr. HAN Xiaojun (appointed on March 5, 2018) BIES LA (2018F3ASBERT) 11

Mr. YU Benli R A 2/2

Mr. LIU LI B HhkaE 2/2

Operation and Risk Management Committee RenHpBEEZEES

The Operation and Risk Management Committee comprises one KEHEEREEZESH —BWTES
Executive Director, one Non-Executive Directors and two INEDs, —HIIFHRTEERMEBEIIFNTESAE
namely Mr. YU Benli, Mr. ZHOU Yamin, Mr. FANG Yongzhong and }ﬂZ CDRARABELE  AEREE A
Mr. WU Tak Lung. Mr. YU Benli is the chairman of Operation and BEERRERELEE - REBEERK
Risk Management Committee. LEE?‘J—L MEEZESEF °

The primary duties of the Operation and Risk Management FEHRBREEZES VI ERERE (H

Committee include, among others: FERE)

a) To review and evaluate the progress of significant a) EHAFAGERKRE  ZBEETHAE
investments, operating activities, and significant business TEKIBIE
operation;

b) To review and evaluate the decision making standards and b) BAEIEEHEREERK X2
mechanisms as regards significant operating decisions, [2 B iﬁ%lﬁﬁ\ig%%ﬁ?ZR
significant risks, significant events, and significant business RAERI TRt 5
procedures; and

c) To establish sound and comprehensive risk management, c) MEAREERANINEIZERFET AN

strategies and solutions in respect of the risk management
and internal control system with a view to ensuring the
effective and efficient operation of such system.

In 2017 and as of March 26, 2018, the Operation and Risk
Management Committee held 3 meetings to discuss and consider
the “Overall Risk Management Report for 2017 and 2018 (20174

N2018F 2= EE K

BE IR E)" of the Company.

MEmEREE - B NMERTT R
IAFER R IF LA B RUEE -

R2017F R 20183 A26H » K& M
BEREELZESRITZNEE  Uilwmk
EHANBI2017F K2018F 2 M [E [ &1

wE e

Annual Report 2017
2017 FF 5

161



162

Corporate Governance Report
=== ﬁﬁhb‘iﬁﬂ:

Details of attendance of the Operation and Risk Management
Committee meetings are as follows:

KenERERREeRRNHERBN

Directors Attendance

== R

Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) RESE (F7) 1/1
(ceased on March 5, 2018) (2018F3 A5 A= L)

Mr. YU Benli (Chairman) RABIE (£5) 2/2
(appointed on March 5, 2018) (2018¢SH5E§E§E)

Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) AT A (20183 A5HEME) 1/1

Mr. FANG Yongzhong Fﬂ</m5‘6$ 3/3

Mr. WU Tak Lung (appointed on March 5, 2018) REFELELE (2018F3ASHEZT) 2/2

Delegation by the Board ExEeRE

The Board reserves its decision-making right over all major
matters of the Company, including approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
system, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse
to seek independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to significant
transactions entered into by the management as defined under
the relevant Working Rules for the General Manager (#8432 T
TERAID).

Corporate Governance Functions of the Board

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors which include:

a. To develop, review and implement the Company’s policy and
practices on corporate governance;
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b. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development to the Directors and senior
management;

c. To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

e. To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

f.  To develop, review and monitor the implementation of
the Shareholders’ communication policy to ensure its
effectiveness, and make recommendation to the Board
where appropriate to enhance Shareholders’ relationship
with the Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors
has entered into a service contract with the Company on March
5, 2018 for a term commencing from the date of the general
meeting at which the respective executive Directors or non-
executive Directors were appointed, until the end of the term
of the third session of the Board and may be terminated in
accordance with the respective terms of the service agreements.

Each of the INEDs has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company on March 5, 2018 for a term commencing from the
date of the general meeting at which the respective INEDs were
appointed until the end of the term of the third session of the
Board.

None of the Directors has a service agreement which is not
terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors shall
be elected or replaced at the Shareholders’ general meetings
with a term of office of three years. Upon expiry of the term of
office, a director shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election
and re-appointment. Any person appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
until the Company’s next AGM and that person shall then be
eligible for re-election and reappointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition, monitoring the appointment, re-election and
succession planning of Directors.

Remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management

Particulars of the Directors’ and Supervisors’ remuneration
for the Year are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

There were eleven employees being classified as senior
management during the Year. Pursuant to code provision of B.1.5
of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members of the
senior management (other than the Directors and Supervisors) for
the Year by band is set out below:

REZER 2RESFANBRRAS LER
gEHR FHMA=F -NEHERR &

ERERBEEIREHNZE -HEFE
RENBEHEFEERIERTEESTH
EHAL EEHEEARB NERRE
FREA/IL MZBALTHREERER
BIEMENRET -

RIE EERBREFNREFRBEIRN
ER-REAZESAAFNESFSMAK
ERBENRME  BELEEE -

EE EEREREEASHNHMH

AEENESRESHMEBIHNGHHM
R AP S ©

RAFE  HE+ - REERRERER
EEAR - REBEELEEIATRIEBALET
AEX - SREBAR (BERESRIN)
MEREFTMERITINT -

Number of
Remuneration bands (RMB) individuals
FMER (AR%R) A B
0 to 1,000,000 (Note 1) 0%1,000,000 (#ti£1) 1
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 (Note 2) 1,000,001% 1,500,000 (#7:t2) 1
1,500,001 to 2,000,000 (Note 3) 1,500,001 %2,000,000 (#1:#3) 7
2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001%2,500,000 2
Note 1: One of the Senior Management retired in March, and his/her W1 BB aBE3ARIK  FHIMEKRES
remuneration was paid up to March. A e
Note 2: One of the Senior Management retired in August, and his/her W BB —uaBE8ARIK  FHMEKES
remuneration was paid up to August. A e
Note 3: Two of Senior Management were appointed in January, and their B3 'ECW@EW‘I%%J AER - 2 A E#%
remuneration has been paid by CMEC from February. WA T2 e 3T
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During the years ended December 31, 2017, no Directors,
Supervisors or chief executives waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments, and no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors, Supervisors, chief executives or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or

as compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for the Year, which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and are
properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with
the applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the
management provides such explanation and information to
the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before the Board for approval.
The Company also provides the members of the Board with
monthly updates on the Company’s performance, financial
positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which
may affect the Company’s business or cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Ernst & Young has also stated its reporting responsibility in
the independent auditor’s report of the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall and ongoing responsibility to maintain
sound and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Company in order to manage rather than eliminate risk of
failure to achieve business objective, and to provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

e M\Aiﬁﬂ:
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The Board executes the decision-making right over operation. It
endeavors to establish and improve the internal control policies
and plans and supervise the implementation of the internal
control system to safeguard shareholder investments and
Company assets, thus being responsible for the establishment
and supervision of the internal control system of the Company. It
is the responsibility of the Board to establish, improve, review and
effectively implement the internal control system.

In terms of management structure, the Company has optimized
the organizational structure and implemented a flat management.
The relevant functional departments are sufficiently staffed, taking
charge of financial operations and monitoring, risk management,
internal audit and anti-corruption. In addition, the Company
arranges reasonable budgets to provide regular trainings for the
staff of the Company and its subsidiaries performing functions
such as finance, risk management and internal audit so as to
ensure that they are fully qualified and experienced.

All departments are under direct leadership of the President of
the Company, who is thereby enable to report instantly to the
Board on the operations of each department and problems
received. Accordingly, any significant matter (if subject to
disclosure to the market) identified by the staff could be reported
to the management in a timely, accurate and effective manner.
The management of the Company assessed such significant
matter in accordance with internal management requirements
and procedures in a timely manner and made corresponding
decisions. The decisions of the management of the Company
could be implemented accurately and timely under supervision.

In respect of the system, the Company further deepened the
system construction in 2017. The Company formulated and
revised more than 40 rules and regulations on the basis of
“Rules and Regulations Compilation (2014) (8 = #l & X {4 &
#m(2014))" released in 2014, which continuously improved the
scientific nature, pertinence and effectiveness of the system
and laid down a solid foundation for the creation of a systems
and procedures mechanism featured by close interconnection,
high functionality and clear monitoring and control interface. The
Company launched a total of 11 new policies in respect of the
complete engineering sector, with a focus on the administration
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of the preliminary phase and the implementation process of
our projects, including “Implementing Rules on Key Progress
Node Assessment Management in EPC Projects (EPC # & /I8
BRAGERSHEZEREIREHRAMA”, “Regulations on Design of
EPC Projects (EPC ##®IEERFEEMRE)" and so on. The
launching of these systems effectively refined the Company’s
experience accumulated over the years and strongly strengthened
standardization throughout project implementation.

In 2017, the Company focused on refined project management
and speeded up the building of professional competence. The
Company continued to expand the coverage of centralized
procurement by enhancing the dynamic management of qualified
suppliers, standardization of the procurement process for our
projects and controlling the risks arising from procurement so
as to achieve the principle of “sunshine procurement”. The
Company steadily stepped up post project evaluation efforts by
continual revisions from our project experience. Together with the
compliance management systems the Company has developed,
including the “Measures on Accountability for Violation and Fraud
of CMEC’s Employees (CMEC 8 T3&RHMJEM T T B R PE)
and “Measures for Commission of CMEC (CMEC {f4& & 12
7%)”, the above measures laid the foundation for prevention and
punishment of violation and fraud, as well as establishment and
safeguarding the lawful and compliant operation.

In 2017,
financial fundamental work, and has improved the systems

the Company has continued to strengthen

implementation, material financial issues reporting and accounting
settlement regulating. The Company has launched its financial
information system upgrading and promoted deep integration
of information technology and financial management. Through
system modification and the improvement of the review and
assessment mechanism, the Company put forward “one-stop
management model” to build up a post evaluation mechanism
for the Trading Business, so as to form a management chain
f “pre-trade review and assessment, in-progress tracking and
post-trade conclusion and evaluation” over the entire process,
providing favorable guarantee for risk control, operation model
transformation and a sustainable development with quality.
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In financial risk prevention and supporting system, the Company
has continued to hold the reporting procedures for material
financial issues, implemented further systemization in the
supervision and administration of the two tiered corporate
and business departments; and has improved the system
throughout the entire life-cycle of EPC projects. The Company
has implemented close-ended administration of review and
assessment results; has improved the commission management
and project evaluation system; and has built up a comprehensive
project supervision and inspection system. The Company has
continued to prepare reporting procedures of material financial
issues for supervision and inspection of critical and Chinese
financing projects, and worked out financial management systems
of overseas branches.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)
and the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced immediately when it is the
subject of a decision. The procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong in
June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs,
so that only the Executive Directors, the joint company
secretaries and investor relations officers are authorized to
communicate with parties outside the Group.
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During the Year, the Board assessed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries such
as financial control, operation control, compliance control and
risk management systems and was not aware of any material
problems or any material mistakes. The Board believes that
the current monitoring system of the Company is effective and
that the qualifications and experience of the staff performing
accounting and financial reporting functions and the training
programs of the Company as well as the experiences and
resources for setting the budget of the Company are adequate.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems will
be reviewed and assessed on an on-going basis by the Audit
Committee and Operation and Risk Management Committee,
respectively, which will report the same to the Board, and will be
further reviewed and assessed at least once each year by the
Board.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The audit department of the Company will conduct independent
review and assessment on the appropriateness, rationality and
effectiveness of the governance, risk management and internal
control system. The audit department is under the supervision
and guidance of the Audit Committee, and will provide analysis
and recommendation for the Board and the senior management.
It is responsible for all material control, including financial,
operational, compliance and risk management. In 2017, the audit
department did not discover any circumstances involving fraud,
non-compliance or violation against laws, regulations and rules or
severe insufficient control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the remunerations
(pre-tax) paid or payable to the external auditors in respect of
audit services and review service amounted to RMB6.68 million
and RMB2.30 million, respectively. The amount for 2017 review
service comprised the service fee on review of interim financial
statements. The Audit Committee was satisfied that the review
service in 2017 did not affect the independence of the auditor.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. ZHOU Yamin (“Mr. Zhou”) acts as the secretary to the
Board (“Board Secretary”), formerly one of the Joint Company
Secretaries and an authorised representative of the Company (the
“Authorised Representative”). He is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that
the Board policies and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed.

In order to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and
applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also engaged Ms.
TSANG Fung Chu (“Ms. Tsang”), as its then Joint Company
Secretary to assist Mr. Zhou to discharge his duties as company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). For the
purpose of code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, Ms. Tsang
keeps close contact with Mr. Zhou, being the person with
sufficient seniority at the Company.

During the three-year period, Mr. Zhou has acquired the relevant
experiences to act as the Company Secretary as required
under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has
also confirmed that Mr. Zhou was qualified to act as the sole
Company Secretary under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Save as
the above, Ms. Tsang ceased to be a Joint Company Secretary
with effect from July 1, 2017. Following that, Mr. Zhou officially
serves as the sole Company Secretary.

For the Year under review, Mr. Zhou has undertaken 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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On February 12, 2018, Ms. WANG Weiling (“Ms. WANG”) was
appointed by the Board to succeed Mr. ZHOU act as one of
the Joint Company Secretaries, the Board Secretary and the
Authorised Representative. In order to uphold good corporate
governance and ensure compliance with the Listing Rules
and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company has appointed
Mr. KWOK Siu Man, as its Joint Company Secretary to assist
Ms. WANG to discharge her duties as company secretary of
the Company. Details for the above change are set out in the
Company’s announcement published on February 12, 2018.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, when the
Company convenes an AGM, Shareholders holding 3% or more
of the total voting shares of the Company shall be entitled to
propose new resolutions to the Company in writing which should
be submitted to the convener 10 days prior to the convening
of the general meeting. The convener of the general meeting
shall issue a supplemental notice of general meeting to other
Shareholders within 2 days of the receipt of such proposal and
incorporate such newly proposed matters falling within the scope
of duties of the general meeting into the agenda of such meeting.
The new agenda shall be tabled to the general meeting for
consideration.

Shareholders can submit their written recommendations through
the following facsimile, e-mail or postal address:

Facsimile: 86 10 6332 1086

E-mail: ir@mail.cmec.com

Postal address: No. 178 Guang’anmenwai Street, Beijing, the PRC
(Postal Code: 100055)

Pursuant to article 57 of the Articles of Association, general
meetings shall be convened where Shareholders who individually
or jointly hold 10% or more of the Shares make a request to
convene an extraordinary general meeting in writing. The matter
for consideration proposed by the party requesting the holding of
the extraordinary general meeting shall be included in the agenda
of such meeting.
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As for proposing a person for election as a director, the
procedures are set out in the Articles of Association which is
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted
on by poll based on shareholding pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to Room 804,
8/F, Tower 1, South Sea Centre, 75 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui
East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and provide sufficient contact
information for the timely and proper handling and record keeping
of the relevant enquiries.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

In 2012, the Company successfully completed its Listing in
Hong Kong. Through roadshow presentations around the globe,
its investor relations website, investor enquiry hotline, investor
mailbox and other communication channels, the Company
maintains close liaisons with investors worldwide in a timely
and efficient manner. Moreover, through investment forums,
corporate visits, teleconferences and various other channels, the
Company maintains proactive and frank exchanges with investors
and analysts. The Company has attached great importance to
listening to Shareholders and investors and accepting reasonable
suggestions and opinions from them. It strives to continuously
enhance its operating results, present a true picture of the
Company’s financial and operational status to Shareholders and
investors, actively facilitate the internal communications in respect
of the feedback from the capital market, and continuously perfect
and enrich the system aiming to canvass information in relation
to investor relations. The management over investor relations
involves an all-faceted interactive communication process.
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The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions. In 2018, the Company will gradually develop a
systematic structure of investor relations featured by its own
characteristics. The Company aims at actively participating in all
kinds of summits in capital market and strengthen communication
with investors, as well as strive to achieve timely and transparent
information disclosures.

The AGM provides opportunity for shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board, the
president of the Company, the chairman of each of the Board
Committees and the external auditor of the Company, Ernst &
Young, will attend the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and its Shareholders and maintains a website at www.cmec.
com, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for
public access. The Company also maintained frequent contacts
with Shareholders and investors through various channels such
as meetings, telephone and emails. For example, we will convene
telephone meetings to answer enquiries from Shareholders and
investors, as well as arrange one-on-one conversation with
investors. In addition, we arranged on-site visits to the Group’s
projects and non-deal roadshows for investors and research
analysts.
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The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication
policy with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders,
both individual and institutional shareholders (collectively, the
“Shareholder(s)”) and, in appropriate circumstances, the
investment community at large, are provided with ready, equal,
balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans,
material developments and governance) in a timely manner, for
the purpose of enabling the Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner, and allowing them and the investment
community to engage actively with the Company.

Information about the Company will be communicated to the
Shareholders and the investment community mainly through
the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports),
annual general meetings and other general meetings that
may be convened, as well as by making available all the
disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and its corporate
communications on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing
Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the
public in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
primary focus of the Company is to ensure information disclosure
is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and
informed decisions regarding the Company.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the AGM held on June 26, 2017 and the Second EGM, the
amendments to the Articles of Association were approved by the
Shareholders. There is no material change in the amendments to
the Articles of Association. An updated version of the Articles and
Association is available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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2017 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the forthcoming AGM
and exercise their right to vote. Further details of business to be
conducted at the general meeting will be set out in the circular
and notice to the Shareholders to be sent and posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in
due course.
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Report of the Supervisory Board
EEERE

The Supervisory Board is pleased to present this report of the
Supervisory Board in the annual report of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2017.

In 2017, all members of the Supervisory Board have earnestly
performed their supervisory functions to safeguard the rights and
interests of the Group and the Shareholders in accordance with
the Companies Law, the Articles of Associations, the Rules of
Procedures of the Supervisory Board and the relevant provisions
in the Listing Rules. Members of the Supervisory Board carried
out examination of the Company’s financial accounts and
supervision of the Directors, the president and other senior
management for their compliance with the laws, administrative
regulations and the Articles of Association in executing their
respective duties.

I. MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

According to the Articles of Association, the term of office
for the second session of the Supervisory Board has expired
on February 19, 2017. Pursuant to the relevant provisions
of the Company Law and the Articles of Association, all
Supervisors for the second session of the Supervisory
Board continued to perform their duties as Supervisors in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations until the
re-election or appointment of the Supervisors for the third
session of the Supervisory Board becoming effective.

In accordance with the relevant requirements of the Articles
of Association and the Company Law, the third session of
the Supervisory Board shall consist of three Supervisors,
including two shareholder representative Supervisors
and one staff representative Supervisor. According to the
Articles of Association, the election of the two shareholder
representative Supervisors is subject to the approval
by the Shareholders at a general meeting, and the staff
representative Supervisors shall be elected by the employees
of the Company in the employees’ general meetings. The
term of office of Supervisors shall be three years.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

As announced by the Company on January 12, 2018,
Ms. LIU Ting has been elected as the staff representative
Supervisor for the third session of the Supervisory Board at
the employees’ general meeting. And at the extraordinary
general meeting held on March 5, 2018, Mr. QUAN Huagiang
and Mr. QIAN Xiangdong have been re-elected as the
Shareholder representative Supervisors for the third session
of the Supervisory Board. Mr. QUAN Huagiang, Mr. QIAN
Xiangdong and Ms. LIU Ting have formed the third session
of the Supervisory Board. Their term of service commenced
on March 5, 2018 until the expiration of the term of third
session of the Supervisory Board.

MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

During the year of 2017 and up to the date of this annual
report (being March 26), five meetings of the Supervisory
Board were held.

On March 28, 2017, the Company held the eighth meeting
of the second session of the Supervisory Board to consider
the 2016 audited financial report and the 2016 results
announcement of the Company and the 2016 report of the
Supervisory Board of the Company.

On August 28, 2017, the Company held the ninth meeting of
the second session of the Supervisory Board to consider the
2017 unaudited interim financial report and the 2017 interim
results announcement of the Company.

On January 12, 2018, the Company held the tenth meeting
of the second session of the Supervisory Board to consider
and recommend the candidates for the third session of the
Supervisory Board of the Company.

On March 5, 2018, the Company held the first meeting of the
third session of the Supervisory Board to elect chairman for
the third session of the Supervisory Board of the Company.

On March 26, 2018, the Company held the second meeting
of the third session of the Supervisory Board to consider
the 2017 audited financial report and the 2017 results
announcement of the Company and the 2017 report of the
Supervisory Board of the Company.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

EEg®RE

I1l. INDEPENDENT OPINION ISSUED BY THE

SUPERVISORY BOARD ON RELEVANT
MATTERS

Management of the Company

The management of the Company faithfully fulfilled
their duties and responsibilities as stipulated in the
laws, regulations and the Articles of Association, and
earnestly implemented the resolutions approved by
the Board. Till now, the Supervisory Board did not
discover that the Board and senior management had
abused their rights and functions or any of their actions
that were prejudicial to the interests of the Company,
Shareholders and staff of the Company, or in any
way violated the laws, regulations and the Articles of
Association.

Operation of the Company

In 2017, the Company strictly complied with the laws
and regulations, operated in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The Company managed to achieve satisfying
results in areas of operation, cost control, project
origination, implementation and management, internal
management, work safety and market expansion,
resulting in a strong and excellent company which laid a
solid foundation for the smooth and faster development.
The Company further improved the systems of internal
controls, and enhanced, in particular, the system of
business processes and responsibility assignment of all
functional departments of the Company, making further
progress in corporate governance.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Implementation of the resolutions of General
Meetings

In 2017 and up to the date of this annual report, the
member of the Supervisory Board attended six general
meetings and sit in on eighteen meetings of the Board,
exercising supervision in respect of the lawfulness and
compliance of the procedures of the matters considered
by the Board meetings.

The Supervisory Board made no objection to the
reports and motions tabled at the general meetings and
considered that the Board earnestly implemented the
resolutions approved by the general meetings.

Financial matters of the Company

Members of the Supervisory Board monitored and
examined the financial management system and the
financial condition and reviewed relevant financial
information of the Company. Upon examination, the
Supervisory Board concluded that the Company
had strictly complied with the relevant financial laws,
regulations and financial policies, and that the financial
system has an integrated structure; the financial
management system was sound and implemented
effectively; the accounting treatment was in line with
the consistency principles; and the Company’s financial
reports gave an objective and fair view of the financial
position and operating results of the Company.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the unqualified audit
opinions issued by Ernst & Young (& 7k & &t fifl & %5
FT) and Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General
Partnership) (ZKEREFTAISEHE (FHREBER) in
respect of the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017
prepared in accordance with IFRS and Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC
respectively, and raised no objection to such reports.
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Report of the Supervisory Board
EEERE

Connected Transactions

The Supervisory Board reviewed the connected
transactions between the Group and SINOMACH and its
subsidiaries (including Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd.) and
its respective connected persons during the reporting
period, and was of the opinion that all the connected
transactions complied with the relevant requirements
of the Stock Exchange, and that the pricing and terms
of the connected transactions was reasonable, open
and fair and there was not any matter prejudicial to the
interests of the Company or Shareholders.

In 2018, the Supervisory Board will continue to
carry out its fiduciary duties to implement effective
supervision on the Company, its Directors and senior
management in accordance with the relevant provisions
of the Companies Law, the Articles of Association, the
Rules of Procedures of the Supervisory Board and the
Listing Rules and pay close attention to the operation
and management status of the Company as well as
any significant development of the Company, so as
to facilitate the profit growth of the Company and to
dutifully protect the interests of all Shareholders and the
Company. In addition, the Supervisory Board will further
consolidate resources for supervision so as to enhance
our management, helping and ensuring the realization of
the Company’s targets for all works in 2018.

By Order of the Supervisory Board

HEXS

EEgYREHNRANAEE R E
BEEKBAR (BREE#TE
BEREERR) BEZEBEAL
ETHNHERZETTEE R
REREER ZFHT AT
BRRE  BEXZHNEBMIE
RMBEE  RRAKRQA - WE
BREMBEFEARARHBRN &
HEIH o

2018%F » =@ BKIEAADE
ER -EEgRFHRAUARLETR
BN BRRTE  BEZEHER
A - §ARA - HEFRSRE
BAEBERAREE  BRYE
FEARARARMEERERER - W
BERNRMEMERER  #
NREARRMAEFER LA
EREZERRERARAMNF
fo BN BEEEHE—FEE
EEER  RETEREM BN
MIREARNT2018FE LB IE
B ZERIEFIEIR -

\mm

Bk

QUAN Huagiang

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Beijing, the PRC, March 26, 2018
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. ZHANG Chun (&)%)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 49, is currently the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director of the Company. Mr. ZHANG was
appointed as executive Director and the president of the
Company on March 16, 2012. Following his appointment
as the chairman of the Board on January 12, 2018, he has
ceased to serve as the president of the Company same date.
He has more than 20 years of management experience.
In July 1991, he joined China National Electric Equipment
Corporation (4 Bl & T % {5 # 2 7)), the predecessor of
CNEEC, as a sales representative and worked in that
company until August 1993. Mr. ZHANG then joined our
Company, and held various positions from August 1993 to
May 2002, including sales representative, project manager,
representative and chief representative of the Representative
Office of our Company in Bangladesh. After returning to
China, Mr. ZHANG joined China National Machinery &
Equipment Corporation Group (1 B #% 5% #5( & )2 &), the
predecessor of SINOMACH, in May 2002 as the director of
the department of operational management. Mr. ZHANG later
became the director of the department of engineering and
served at that position until August 2011. Mr. ZHANG was
the vice president of our Company from August 2011 until
March 2012. From March 2014 to the present, Mr. ZHANG
has been acting as chairman of CNEEC. From October 2014
to March 2017, Mr. ZHANG was a director of China National
Guo Lian Development New Energy (Wuxi) Co., Ltd.(F &=
EEBIERERARAA).

In 1991, Mr. ZHANG graduated from Tsinghua University (/&
# K 2) with a bachelor’s degree in thermal engineering. Mr.
ZHANG is a professorate senior engineer.
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Mr. HAN Xiaojun (R2E:5)

Mr. HAN, aged 49, was appointed as an executive Director
and vice chairman of the Company on March 5, 2018. He
is currently the secretary of the Party Committee of the
Company. He has more than 20 years of management
experience. From July 1990 to June 1995, he served as an
officer at Beijing Silk Plant (3t 44 #A42/8). From June 1995
to July 2002, he worked at Chinese Academy of Agricultural
Mechanization Sciences as an engineer. Mr. HAN joined
China National Machinery and Equipment (Group) Company
(Fh B (2B VA A, the predecessor of SINOMACH,
in July 2002 and successively held the positions of an
officer at the business coordination office of the operational
management department, an officer (director-level) at the
general management office of the general management
department, chief of the cadres management office of
the human resources department (cadres division of the
Party Committee), deputy director of the human resources
department (cadres division of the Party Committee), the
director of the human resources department (organization
division of the Party Committee), the director of the work
department of the Party Committee, and from October 2008
to September 2011, he also concurrently served as the
secretary of General Party Branch of the headquarters of
SINOMACH. In April 2015, Mr. HAN was transferred to China
National Automotive Industry International Cooperation,
which was subsequently renamed as China National
Machinery Industry International Co., Ltd., to serve as the
secretary of the Party Committee, a director and general
manager until January 2018. Since December 2017, he
has served as the secretary of the Party Committee of the
Company. Since February 2010, Mr. HAN has also served as
a member of the Party Committee of SINOMACH.

From January 2009 to January 2011, Mr. HAN had served as
a director of China National Machinery & Equipment Import
& Export Corporation, the predecessor of the Company.
From September 2010 to July 2013, he had served as the
chairman of the supervisory board of China Foma (Group)
Co., Ltd (P EIR B M EREFR R F]).

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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In 1990, Mr. HAN graduated from Tianjin Polytechnic
University with a bachelor’s degree in textile machinery of the
department of mechanical engineering. He is a professorate
senior engineer.

Mr. ZHOU Yamin (B ER)

Mr. ZHOU, aged 54, was appointed as an executive Director
on March 5, 2018. He is currently the president of the
Company. He has more than 30 years of management
experience. Mr. ZHOU served in various positions in China
Machinery Industry Installation Company (' B # ## T %
ZH BN 7)) from October 1983 to June 2001, including
bookkeeper of the finance department, accountant, vice
departmental director of the finance department and
manager of the finance department. From June 2001 to
February 2002, Mr. ZHOU served as deputy chief accountant
and manager of the department of financial assets for
China CMIIC Engineering & Construction Corporation. From
February 2002 to December 2004, Mr. ZHOU was appointed
as the chief accountant of China CMIIC Engineering &
Construction Corporation and from December 2004 to July
2011, he served as the deputy general manager and chief
financial officer for China CMIIC Engineering & Construction
Corporation. In July 2011, Mr. ZHOU joined our Company
and was appointed as the chief financial officer of the
Company until February 12, 2018. He was serving as the
secretary to the Board and joint company secretary of our
Company since June 26, 2014 and officially serves as the
sole company secretary of our Company from July 1, 2017
to February 12, 2018. Mr. ZHOU was appointed as the
president of our Company on January 12, 2018 and ceased
as the secretary to the Board on February 12, 2018.

Mr. ZHOU graduated from Beijing Technology and Business
University and the Open University of China (1t TR AZ2H0
PR EEERAE) with a bachelor's degree in management
in July 2004, majoring in accounting.

Mr. ZHOU is a senior accountant, a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (non-practising),
an international certified practicing accountant and a senior
international finance manager.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. YU Benli (R74#)

Mr. YU, aged 65, is currently a non-executive Director of the
Company, and was appointed on February 20, 2014. He
has more than 30 years of experience in machinery industry.
From June 1977 to December 1979, Mr. YU served at The
People’s Bank of China, Nanjing Branch. From December
1979 to October 1983, he served at Jiangsu Machinery
Equipment Import & Export Corporation (T %k ## 3&% 5 it
&+ O A 7)), a subsidiary of the Company. From October
1983 to January 1988, Mr. YU served at Sino American
Machinery Corporation (FEBIZEZEM B R A F]), a subsidiary
of the Company and was stationed in the United States.
From January 1988 to April 2013, he served at SUMEC
Group Corporation (TEi&REZLE A F]), a subsidiary of
SINOMACH and the predecessors of which are Jiangsu
Machinery Equipment Import & Export Corporation (7T #rif
W fE# 02 7)) and China Jiangsu Machinery Equipment
Import & Export Corporation (FF %I #rk M 8 s O &
E /2 7]). He held a number of positions including assistant
general manager, deputy general manager, general manager
and chairman. Currently, Mr. YU is also the chairman of
China Perfect Machinery Industry Corp., Ltd. ( [ & 2%
e T2 B R A 7A), a subsidiary of SINOMACH and
director of China National Machinery Industry International
Co., Ltd. (FEIEMEIREERKDBRAF]), a subsidiary of
SINOMACH. Mr. YU has resigned as the chairman of China
Machine Tool Sales and Technology Services Co., Ltd. (F
HeIRIHE BT AR BB R A 7)), a subsidiary of SINOMACH,
in February 2014.

Mr. YU graduated from Nanjing Jinling Vocational University
(AR EPEREE AE) with a degree in business operation.
He is a senior international business specialist.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Mr. ZHANG Fusheng (3R{&4)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 66, is currently a non-executive Director
of the Company, and was appointed on February 20, 2014.
He has more than 30 years of experience in equipment
manufacturing industry. He began his career with Zhejiang
Automotive Industrial Corporation (47L& /38 I % A 7))
in July 1980 and was promoted to assistant manager in
August 1986. In April 1988, Mr. ZHANG was appointed
as deputy county magistrate of Zhejiang Province Yongjia
County People’s Government (/T %& 7k 32 % A REUF). From
May 1990 to August 1998, he held the positions of deputy
general manager and general manager of China Automotive
Industrial Import & Export Zhejiang Branch (A& T2
# M OWTTAR]), a subsidiary of SINOMACH. From August
1998 to February 2012, he was the general manager of
China Automotive Import & Export Corporation (/B i
O 422 7)), a subsidiary of SINOMACH.

Since February 2012, Mr. ZHANG has been the chairman of
China National Machinery Industry International Co., Ltd. (-
Bl B & 1ERR D BBR A A]), a subsidiary of SINOMACH.
Mr. ZHANG has been a director of CNEEC, a subsidiary
of SINOMACH from November 2, 2011 to January 2016,
and a director of CNCEC since December 29, 2011. Since
February 2015, Mr. ZHANG has been a director of Beijing
Xianglong Assets Management Co., Ltd (1t REEBE B E &K
EHMEMAR). Since June 2016, Mr. ZHANG has been
a director of China CAMC Engineering Co., Ltd. (f TEE
TREMHAERAT]), a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002051).

In 2000, Mr. ZHANG graduated from Wuhan University
of Technology (& T K £) with a master’s degree in
business administration. Mr. ZHANG is a professional senior
engineer.
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l1l. INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Li (21 4)

Mr. LIU, aged 62, is currently an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, and was appointed on January
13, 2011. He was a teacher at the department of physics,
the Beijing Institute of Iron and Steel (1t RIM#EEPT) from
September 1984 to January 1986. From January 1986 to
date, Mr. LIU has been holding various teaching positions
at the Guanghua School of Management (3t# &R Z67),
and its predecessor, the department of economics of the
school of economics and management (4% )75 B2 4875 & 12
%), Peking University, including lecturer, associate professor,
professor, supervisor for doctoral students, the director of
the finance department and a director of the MBA program
at the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University.
Mr. LIU is also a deputy director of the Research Center of
Finance & Securities at Peking University.

Currently, Mr. LIU is also an independent non-executive
director of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (3XBIRTTHK
AR AF), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3328) and an independent
non-executive director of China International Capital
Corporation Limited (F B Bl [ & B x5 B R 2 7)) (stock
code:3908). Besides, he is nominated as the chairman of
Corporate Governance Committee and the members of both
Audit Committee and Risk Control Committee. He is also
an independent director of Success Electronics Ltd (FIE
BB AR AT (stock code: 002289) and Cnpc Capital
Company Limited (FEABEEERKRD AR AA) (stock
code: 000617), both of which were listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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In addition, Mr. LIU had been an independent non-executive
director of Metallurgical Corporation of China Ltd. (FE&A®
B IR AR AT, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1618) and the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 601618), and an independent
director of Langfang Development Co., Ltd. (B3R 7

[RA7A]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600149), and Beijing Oil HBP Group (¥ H21#
LRI R A A, a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002554) during the past three years.

In 1982 and 1984, Mr. LIU graduated from Peking University
with a bachelor’'s degree and a master’s degree in physics,
respectively. Mr. LIU is also a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (non-practicing).

Ms. LIU Hongyu (BI4L =)

Ms. LIU, aged 54, is currently an independent non-executive
Director of the Company and was appointed on January
13, 2011. From July 1985 to May 1988, she served as an
officer at the financial management office of the People’s
Bank of China Sichuan branch (9)I|4 AR $E1T). From May
1988 to April 1993, Ms. LIU served as a legal counsel for
the Agricultural Bank of China (Beijing Branch) and from
April 1993 to April 2004, she was the managing partner at
Beijing Tongda Law Firm ({t =W REZEEEIEHAN. In 2004,
Beijing Tongda Law Firm and Jincheng Law Firm (£ #7213
% F) merged and the merged firm was renamed as Beijing
Jincheng & Tongda Law Firm (it 52 4 3 [A) &2 122 AiF =5 75 A)
where Ms. LIU became one of its founding partners. From
April 2005 to June 2011, Ms. LIU served as an independent
director of Founder Technology Group Corporation (5 1E
B EERHAERAR]), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600601). From June 2006
to June 2012, Ms. LIU served as an independent director
of Chongging Three Gorges Water Conservancy and
Electric Power Co.,Ltd (EE =K FE H(EE)R KD BR
7x7]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600116). From June 2009 to September
10, 2015, Ms. LIU served as an independent director of
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CCCG Real Estate Corporation Limited (FF 2 it & A% 17
R2d]) (previously named as CRED-Chongshi Real Estate
Corporation Limited (FEHERMD AR A R]), a company
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000736).
From August 2010 to August 2016, Ms. LIU served as an
external supervisor of the Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. (bt 5 %8
TR AR AR, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601169). Currently, Ms. LIU is an
independent director of Lanpec Technologies Limited (H
BERNAESHEFERMDARAQG), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601798), and
the Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. t REETRMHBR AR, a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 601169), and an independent non-executive director
of Gome Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (235 8542 %
BRRAR]), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 00493).

In 1985, Ms. LIU graduated from Southwest University of
Political Science and Law (FERBUEAZ) with a bachelor’s
degree in law. She graduated from the Graduate School of
the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (F Bt & &l £ i
FLAERT) in economic law in 1998. Ms. LIU also obtained an
EMBA degree from the Guanghua School of Management,
Peking University in 2003.

Mr. FANG Yongzhong (77 &)

Mr. FANG, aged 66, is currently an independent
non-executive Director of the Company, and was appointed
on July 29, 2011. In September 1971, he joined the
construction machinery factory of the Shenyang Railway
Bureau (H[5E 0 B TH#MIR). Mr. FANG then joined the
engineering department of the Shenyang Railway Bureau (%
[5#15 5%F5 TH2EE) and held a number of positions within
the bureau including technician, assistant engineer, engineer,
vice section chief, section chief, vice departmental director
and departmental director between February 1977 and
August 1994,
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Mr. FANG was appointed as a vice director of the Shenyang
sub-bureau of the Shenyang Railway Bureau in August 1994
and between August 1994 and December 1999, he was
also general manager of Shenyang Engineering Corporation
of the Shenyang Railway Bureau. From December 1999 to
December 2003, Mr. FANG served at Shenyang Railway
Engineering Construction Group Co., Ltd. (%F5 &K% T2
R EEPRAF) as the chairman of the board and general
manager. From December 2003 to March 2008, Mr. FANG
held various positions at China Railway No.9 Group Co., Ltd.
(PN BEBEAR QR including director, deputy general
manager and vice chairman of the board of directors.
From March 2008 to December 2012, Mr. FANG was also
an external director of China Railway Science & Industry
Group (FEIRITS&E AR AR (“CRSIG”), China Railway
No. 5 Engineering Group Co., Ltd. (P#E A R(EE)AR
7~ 7l) (“China Railway No.5 Bureau”), China Overseas
Engineering Group Co., Ltd. (FEEINTRAEREE A A)
(“COVEC”") and China Railway & Airport Construction Group
Corporation (FEF#Ez=EEREEERAF) (“CACCC”)
and is a supervisor and the chairman of the supervisory
board of China Railway Construction and Engineering Group
(FPEETIEBAER2R) (“CRCEG”). These five companies
are subsidiaries of China Railway Group Limited (FF B
&1 BBR A 7]), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 00390) and the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 601390).

As an external director, Mr. FANG participates in board
meetings of CRSIG, China Railway No.5 Bureau, COVEC
and CACCC, representing the interests of the respective
shareholder, China Railway Group Limited. However, Mr.
FANG is not involved in the day to day management of
CRSIG, China Railway No.5 Bureau, COVEC and CACCC.
As a supervisor and the chairman of the supervisory board of
CRCEG, Mr. Fang participates in meetings of the supervisory
board and the board of directors of CRCEG, representing
the interests of the shareholder, China Railway Group
Limited. However, Mr. FANG is not involved in the day to day
management of CRCEG.
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Mr. FANG completed his studies in railway engineering (T2
ZAEBETEHEE) and graduated from the Shanghai Railway
Institute (£ /& # & £ B7) in 1977, and also obtained an
EMBA in decision-making management from International
East-West University (3 BEAAABRREES
in December 1995. Mr FANG is a senior engineer and a
registered national first class architect.

Mr. WU Tak Lung (R &)

Mr. WU, aged 52, is currently an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, and was appointed on February
20, 2014. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute, the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Mr. WU was awarded the bachelor’s degree of
Accounting by the Hong Kong Baptist University and the
master’s degree of business administration (MBA) jointly by
the University of Manchester and the University of Wales.

Mr. WU had worked in an international accounting firm,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, for five years, and was then
employed by several listed and private companies in Hong
Kong as head of corporate finance and executive director.
Mr. WU currently served as an independent non-executive
director of Kam Hing International Holdings Limited (&%
BRI B R A R]), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2307), Beijing Media
Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1000), First Tractor
Company Limited, a company listed on both the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00038), and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601038), Sinomax
Group Limited (7S£ E B R A F]), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1418),
Olympic Circuit Technology Co., Ltd (BRtEEBERHAER
‘AA]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 603920), Sinotrans Shipping Limited (FF¥MNE
MEABR AR, a company listed on the Main Board of the
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V.

Stock Exchange (stock code: 368) and Henan Jinma Energy
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6885). Moreover, he
was an independent non-executive director of Aupu Group
Holding Company, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0477), which was delisted
on September 30, 2016 and Huarong Investment Stock
Corporation Limited (ZERLIZE R D AR A F]), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2277) in the last three years.

Mr. WU is currently a member of Jiangsu People’s Political
Consultative Committee, member of the Council and the
Court of Hong Kong Baptist University, an adjunct professor
of the School of Business of Hong Kong Baptist University,
the honorary chairman of the North Kwai Chung Scout and
the executive vice president of Hongkong-Guangdong Youth
Exchange Promotion Association.

SUPERVISORS
Mr. QUAN Huagqgiang (& #34)

Mr. QUAN, aged 47, is currently a Supervisor, and was
appointed on January 13, 2011. He worked in the finance
department of Beijing Yanshan Petrochemical Corporation
At R F WL ASH{E T AR from August 1991 to July 1994.
From July 1994 to October 1997, Mr. QUAN was initially
employed as an accountant and then in May 1995, he
became manager of the finance department of Universal
Import and Export Company (#1438 F # 1 O 2 7] 81 7% 26)
until October 1997. Mr. QUAN was appointed by China
National Machinery Import & Export Corporation (“CMC”) (F
B A 8 O % @) as finance manager for the CMC Ukraine
Office in October 1997 and worked there until January
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1999, and then was appointed as manager of the finance
department of CMC General Electrical Parts Import and
Export Company (F##% E &2 (3 H O AF)) by CMC until
May 2001. In May 2001, Mr. QUAN was appointed by China
General Technology Group (FEBAFMTEE) as general
manager of the finance department of China International
Advertising Corporation ( B E & A R B % EB) and
subsequently was appointed as manager of the funds
management department of the general finance department
of China General Technology Group in May 2004. From
March 2005 to December 2006, Mr. QUAN served at
Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd. (R#F & ERET A7) as a
deputy general manager. From September 2010 to August
2011, Mr. QUAN was the chairman of the Supervisory
Board of China Automobile Trading Co., Ltd. (FEI# A%
BESAERAR). Mr. QUAN had worked as the head of
the internal audit inspection department of SINOMACH
from December 2006 to May 2015. From May 2015 to
the present, Mr. QUAN has been working as the head of
Property and Finance Department of SINOMACH. From
April 2016 to the present, Mr. QUAN has been working as
a member of the Standing Committee of the CPC of China
National Erzhong Group Co. (FBI5 — =& i & E A 7))
and the chief accountant of China Erzhong Group (Deyang)
Heavy Industries Co., Ltd. (ZEEE(ER BREFERNE
R A R]). Mr. QUAN has also been serving as the chairman
of the Supervisory Board of the Company since November
2008. Since August 2011, Mr. QUAN is a chairman of the
Supervisory Committee of Sinomach Automobile Co., Ltd.
(R 5B AR A A]), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600335).

In 1991, Mr. QUAN graduated from the Jiangxi Institute of
Finance and Economics (I FAE/#&&2t) with a bachelor’s
degree in accounting. Mr. QUAN is a senior accountant.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Employees

EE -ES sAEEAEREER

1A - WHREEER BRSO EE
ZRE|I P B L O A RIEE
B 15 30 48 32 B 2200145 8 » 20014F
5 24 EFrEBRARNERE
IREE R BB R ES AR 2K
B HENR2004F5 A EZE AP H
BARNEENBEHE S BTEHL
o #£200543 A £2006512A f
EHATERTEERETARES
Bl 48 42 38 - 20109F9H =20114F8 A
M 2fEteaETEEDREZLZSER
NEERESEEEF - 1£2006512H
E2015F5 A H - R ETEREIEME
NEPEETFEE P K - B2015F5A8
55 REAETEKEENEIPE
Ko B2016F48 245 2hEAEMT
FRE_SHEREEAREZRE
MZE5H (B EREGBRNAE
fRAFEEETRD o 25 £ {20084 11
AURETARRIEESERE - 2%
EA0MF8AESERELEES
R ETMBERIERMDBRAA
(BZERE : 600335) MEEEEEfFE °

EPREEINFERINIAM LS
i WHRISEEETEM - 284
REREGEED o



ES

Mr. QIAN Xiangdong (#[6 X)

Mr. QIAN, aged 49, a senior accountant, is a Supervisor,
and was appointed on January 13, 2011. He joined the
Education Department of the Ministry of Machinery Industry
in June 1997. From September 1998 to August 2006, Mr.
QIAN held various positions, including the Financial and
Audit Department officer, vice manager, vice chief accountant
and deputy general manager at China National Harvester
Machinery Corporation (1 Bl # % 482 7]), a subsidiary of
SINOMACH. From September 2006 to September 2008, Mr.
QIAN served as a financial controller of the Tianjin Design
& Research Institute of Electric Drive (K;2E REEN R
ZTFT), a subsidiary of SINOMACH. From 2008 to October
2016, Mr. QIAN served as a deputy general manager
and chief financial officer of China United Engineering
Corporation and since October 2016, Mr. QIAN has been
serving as a director, vice chairman and chief financial officer
of this company.

Ms. LIU Ting (2/1%)

Ms. LIU, aged 36, was appointed as a Supervisor on January
12, 2018. She is the deputy general manager of the audit
department of the Company. She served as a staff member
of the project auditing division of the Company from August
2006 to September 2009. In September 2009, she started
as a staff member of the audit department of the Company,
and was subsequently promoted to deputy general manager
of the audit department. Ms. LIU has over 10 years of
experience in accounting and auditing. Ms. LIU graduated
from School of Business, Renmin University of China (1 Bl
ARAZERER) with a bachelor’s degree in management
in 2004, majoring in accounting, and obtained a master’s
degree in management from Renmin University of China
(FEIARKE) in 2006. Ms. LIU is a senior accountant, a
Chinese certified public accountant, a Certified Practising
Accountant (Australia) and an international certified internal
auditor.

Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Employees

Ex . SAEEAEREE

BRRLE

B E - FA05% 0 mAREETE B
BEE - R2011F1A1SHEEZF - #
19976 A MMAMM TEEHHE A -
1998497 E=2006F8 A f + £ 5t &£
TR B AR R (B
MEAR) MBEFTHNBHI - BIL
I BRerTMmEafEEBERKE
Z BB AL - 82006598 £20084F9
AHEIM - BEEREEREERSHR
TR (R B AR e
Bt o H2008%F £2016F10A B @ #
EESETHEBE TRARRIRAK
BHRUFRE - WHKR2016F10HES
—HEAZRARES  FESREH

gExt

2z + - 3B F365% 0 M20185F1 712
HEZARES - ®AKRRQAEE
J,ﬁ@ 4538 o 41 FA20064E8 A =20094F
CEAEARAFIIBEE B HEE
jtﬁwoogigﬂ BAER R R EET & B
B HEBAAEHEIBKRE 2
ZITHEBBIOFEET REFETLER -
B2 L2004 F EERNFBRIARKE
H2k HEEGHE NEEREE
T2 - WHR2006FRFREIARKE
BEEREETEMN - BlxTtAaR
GEHAD - PRI M E R - RN
TR0 I BB s i A D2 AR o

Annual Report 2017
2017 FF 3]

193




194

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. ZHANG Jianguo (3R E)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 57, is a vice president of our Company
and is in charge of our Company’s trade and other business.
Prior to joining our Company, Mr. ZHANG was a lecturer at
Peking University (AtF A& from July 1987 to May 1991,
In May 1991, Mr. ZHANG joined our Company and he was
appointed as a deputy general manager of the department
of human resources and education of our Company in June
1993. Mr. ZHANG was subsequently promoted as a vice
director of the general office of our Company and held that
position from December 1993 to January 1998. In 1998,
Mr. ZHANG was appointed as a deputy general manager of
CMEC Tendering, and was promoted to the general manager
thereof in July 2001 and held that position until June 2007.
In March 2005, Mr. ZHANG was also appointed as an
assistant general manager of our Company. Mr. ZHANG has
been a vice president of our Company since May 2006. Mr.
ZHANG is a senior economist and graduated from Peking
University with a master’s degree in history in 1987.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Employees

EE -ES sAEEAEREER

BREEAE
RERSTE

R AE - MFSTH BAEARAE
BE - ETEARBBHREMER -
EMARRDT ZA - FE1987TFT7TAE
199165 A - cREEGEIERKE
EAED RAERITFSA MALRR
A WH1993F6 A B & T A AR F
A EBBMBAEIR - HIZR A ER1993
F128 =1998F 1 A M EE AR R
WA EEIEE o SREAEN1998F 1 F
AP RBEREAKLIE  R20014F
TRAEHAZARIMBIEIE  WET
iE — B % & E2007F6 A ° 200543
A REETTWAEDARRRBIERE
BN o SR 4L 4 B200645 A # H I K
NEBEIEE - RELE B RER -
SRAEAEMI98TFRENIERAKE - B
BIFE S BRE LB -



ES

Mr. WANG Tianyi (£ X E)

Mr. WANG, aged 57, is currently vice president of our
Company (appointed in January 2014) and secretary of the
discipline inspection committee (appointed in December
2013). He is responsible for the general management of
the Company. Mr. WANG has over 30 years of experience
in corporate and financial management. Mr. WANG joined
our Company in January 2014. Before joining our Company,
during the period from October 1980 to August 1988,
Mr. WANG served at the business division of the finance
department under the Ministry of First Machinery Industry
and the auditing division directly under the auditing bureau
of the National Machinery Industry Committee. From August
1988 to April 1993, Mr. WANG served as the deputy director
of the office of the auditing bureau of National Audit Office
in the Ministry of Mechanical and Electronic Industry and the
chief of the general division of such auditing bureau. From
April 1993 to May 1998, Mr. WANG served as the chief of
the auditing division directly under the auditing bureau of
National Audit Office in MMI. Thereafter, Mr. WANG served
as the deputy general manager of the auditing department,
the deputy general manager of the financial department and
the chief of the first financial division, the general manager
of the financial department and the director of asset financial
department in China National Machinery and Equipment
(Group) Company (H Bl # 4k % (& E) 2 7)) during the
period from May 1998 to October 2003. During the period
from October 2003 to December 2010, Mr. WANG served as
deputy general manager, financial controller and secretary of
the discipline inspection committee of China National Electric
Equipment Corporation. During the period from December
2010 to January 2014, Mr. WANG served as deputy general
manager, financial controller and secretary of the discipline
inspection committee of China National Electric Engineering
Co., Ltd.. Mr. WANG graduated from the Correspondence
Teaching College of Renmin University of China (fBIARX

B 2Pr) majoring in industrial accounting in 1987. Mr.
WANG is a senior accountant.
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Ms. Al Wei (X &)

Ms. Al, aged 48, is currently a vice president of our
Company (appointed in November 2014) and is in charge of
the import and export trading businesses of our Company.
Ms. Al has over 20 years of experience in the management
of trading businesses. Ms. Al joined our Company in July
1991. During the period from January 1992 to January
1998, Ms. Al served at CMEC Machine Tool Co., Ltd. (&
R T ABGREML2AA]). From January 1998 to August 2005,
Ms. Al served as manager of the third division of CMEC
International Trading Co., Ltd., and she was promoted and
worked as deputy general manager from September 2005
to May 2007. Thereafter, Ms. Al was appointed as general
manager of CMEC General Machinery Import & Export Co.,
Ltd. in May 2007 and served at that position until October
2013. Ms. Al was promoted and worked as an assistant
general manager of our Company in May 2010 and was
appointed as deputy general manager of China Perfect
Machinery Industry Corp., Ltd. (BB T ER D AR A
7)) from October 2013 to November 2014. Ms. Al served as
the director of China National Guo Lian Development New
Energy (Wuxi) Co., Ltd. (R BEIEEBFeLRERBRAA)
from October 2014 to March 2017. Ms. Al graduated from
Peking University majoring in economics and management in
1991. Ms. Al is a senior international business specialist.
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Mr. ZHANG Wei (3R/&)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 54, is currently a vice president of
our Company (appointed in September 2015). He is
responsible for our Company’s design and consultancy
services. Mr. ZHANG has over 30 years of experience in
engineering survey, design, technology and administrative
management. From July 1983 to January 1989, he taught
at Hefei University of Technology (& JE L% KX E2). Prior to his
joining our Company, he held a number of positions within
laboratory of investigation & research institute of Ministry of
Machinery including director and chief engineer, vice section
chief of Geotechnical Engineering Section and president
assistant from January 1989 to March 1996. From April 1996
to December 2014, he successively held the posts of chief
engineer, vice president, president and CPC Committee of
China Jikan Research Institute of Engineering Investigations
and Design, Co., Ltd., and has been a chairman since
December 2014. Mr. ZHANG obtained a master’s degree
from Hefei University of Technology (& B T K&) in 1988,
majoring in hydrogeology and engineering geology, and
obtained a master’s degree in business administration (MBA)
from Xi’an Jiaotong University (78 & X i@ K £) in 2004.
Currently, Mr. ZHANG is professor of engineering. He was
awarded the title of National Engineering Survey and Design
Master in 2006.
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Mr. FANG Yanshui (5 Z7Kk)

Mr. FANG, aged 47, is currently the vice president of our
Company (appointed in February 2017), and is in charge
of our Company’s international engineering contracting
business. He has over 20 years of experience in engineering
contracting. Mr. FANG joined our Company in August 1993.
Mr. FANG successively served as a sales representative,
the deputy general manager of the Third International
Engineering Department under No.4 Complete Engineering
Department, the deputy general manager of No.4
Department and the general manager and the Secretary of
General Party Branch of the Third International Engineering
Department and the general manager of No.4 Complete
Engineering Department. Mr. FANG was promoted to the
assistant to the general manager of our Company and the
general manager of No.4 Department in September 2015.
Mr. FANG graduated from Hunan University in 1993, majoring
in industrial foreign trade. Mr. FANG is a senior engineer.
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Mr. TONG Zigang (Z EHl)

Mr. TONG, aged 47, is currently the vice president of our
Company (appointed in February 2017) and is in charge
of our Company’s International Engineering Contracting
Business. He has over 20 years of experience in engineering
contracting business. Mr. TONG joined our Company in
June 2006. Prior to his joining our Company, Mr. TONG
successively served as a sales representative of the
Second Engineering Department and the deputy general
manager of the Fourth Engineering Department of China
Machinery-building International Corporation (47 B0 # # %t
IMETER T A B4R A F)) from August 1994 to June 20086.
During the period from June 2006 to September 2015,
Mr. TONG successively served as the general manager
of the Second International Engineering Department and
the Sixth International Engineering Department under
No.3 Complete Engineering Department of the Company,
the deputy general manager and the general manager of
No.3 Complete Engineering Department. Mr. TONG was
promoted to the assistant to the general manager of our
Company and the general manager of the Third Department
in September 2015. Mr. TONG graduated from Beijing
University of Technology in 1994, majoring in mechanical
engineering and manufacturing, and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in engineering, Mr. TONG graduated from the School
of Economics at Renmin University of China (FFEIARK
E) majoring in global economy as an incumbency graduate
student, and obtained a master’s degree in economics
in 2000. Mr. TONG is a senior engineer. Mr. TONG also
obtained the International Premium Project Manager (IPMP
Class A, BIB %478 B £ 38) which was awarded by the
International Project Management Association (IPMA, BRI

BERpS).
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Ms. WANG Weiling (EE,)

Ms. WANG, aged 52, is currently the chief financial officer,
Board Secretary, a Joint Company Secretary and the
general manager of the general department of finance of
the Company. She joined the Company in July 1988 and
successively held various positions including accountant of
the storage and transportation department and accountant
of the finance department. From April 1998 to July 2005,
Ms. WANG served as the deputy general manager and
the general manager of the finance department at CMEC
International Engineering Co., Ltd. (F&BIR TR2ERET
‘A7), a subsidiary of the Company, and the chief of the
finance department of the Company’s 1st complete plants
division. Ms. WANG served as the deputy general manager
of the general department of finance of the Company from
July 2005 to September 2006. From September 2006 to
June 2007, she served as the chief accountant of China
Machinery-building International Corporation (FP Bl # 4 %f 5
KB AT & 1E42 A F)). From June 2007 to February 2018,
she has been serving as the general manager of the general
department of finance of the Company. From January 2016
to March 2018, she has been concurrently serving as the
chief financial officer of CNEEC. From August 2016 to
February 2018, she has been serving as an assistant to the
general manager of the Company. On February 12, 2018,
Ms. WANG was appointed as the chief financial officer,
Board Secretary and a Joint Company Secretary. She has
about 30 years of experience in finance.

Ms. WANG graduated with a bachelor’s degree in economics
from Beijing Institute of Business (it R & £ Fx) in July
1988 where she majored in finance and accounting in the
accounting department. She obtained a master’s degree in
economics from Renmin University of China (B A R KE2)
in July 1999 where she majored in business economics in
the trade department. Ms. WANG is a senior accountant in
the PRC.
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VI. EMPLOYEES VI. E&
As at December 31, 2017, the Group had 3,787 employees M2017%12A831H KA &£ @ # &
in total. The following table sets forth the number of 3,787T%1EE ° Ti’%ﬁﬁ\JﬁzTHH&ﬁ £l
employees according to different job functions: SHEEHE -
Number of
employees
EE®A
Business Staff EBAE 3,428
International Engineering Contracting Business B TR B ER 2,809
Trading Business RS 489
Services Business PR 7% %75 130
Management, finance and administration BB - BT 325
Others Hth 34
Total &% 3,787
The following tables set forth the Group’s staff structure by TEORHKIIZHIBAE - BF - B
geographical location, academic qualification, designation A FRE SN ANERE T ¢
and age, respectively:
Analysis of the Group’s staff by geographical location IR B E 5 N EEE T 59T
Number of
No. Geographical location staff Percentage
wyE HENE BI¥H Aok
1 China R 3,437 90.8%
2 Asia (excluding China and Turkey) DM ChreEEPRELEEH) 153 4.0%
3 Africa FEM 103 2.7%
4 Europe (including Turkey) BOM (BIELEHE) 44 1.2%
5 North America JEM 1 0.0%
6 South America =M 49 1.3%
Total &5 3,787 100%
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Analysis of the Group’s staff by academic qualification

KEFE D) A% BB T W

Number of
No. Academic qualification staff Percentage
wme 2R BI¥H Aot
1 Postgraduate or above T AES A 1,109 29.3%
2 Undergraduate B4 8y 2,133 57.3%
3 College diploma or below ERISUSSUAT 545 14.4%
Total a5 3,787 100%
Analysis of the Group’s staff by designation LT E S AN EE S T 57
Number of
No. Designation staff Percentage
wmer R BIgH Aok
1 Senior Grade IS 809 21.4%
2 Intermediate Grade A 4 1,115 29.4%
3 Junior Grade and below R AT 1,863 49.2%
Total = 3,787 100%
Analysis of the Group’s staff by age BERE DT EES T T
Number of
No. Age staff Percentage
mEE FlR BI¥H Aot
1 56 years old and above 565 M A 240 6.3%
2 46-55 years old 46E555% 563 14.9%
3 36-45 years old 36E45%5% 801 21.2%
4 35 years old and below 35 L AT 2,183 57.6%
Total &5t 3,787 100%
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EE -EE S EEAEBREER

Staff Incentives

In 2017, the Company improved performance
management system and formulated overall reform plan
for optimization of business department’s positions,
performance and salary. The Company will further
perfect the above plan upon the determination. The
Company also (a) improved three-level training system
of the Company; (b) completed the standardization of
the overseas on-site practice of university students; and
(c) further standardized revenue management of each
business division.

In terms of staff cultivating, the Company formulates
the construction plans for talent teams and strives
to create the Company’s six talent teams, including
“senior management personnel, project management
personnel, engineering and technical personnel,
professional management personnel, marketing
personnel, investment and capital operation personnel”,
which reinforces the base of key talent reserve.

The Company will establish diversified career
development channels in the future, especially continue
to focus on building development channels for core
business staff, further improve the retirement schemes,
and therefore ensure both the development channels
and retirement schemes are in place, in order for
employees to share development opportunities and
reform results. The Company will further establish and
perfect a more rational, open and scientific employment
system by constantly consolidating the fruits of talents
introduction and enhancing the exchanges between the
cadre and the talents.
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Staff Remuneration

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Group
incurred staff costs of approximately RMB1,460.0
million. Staff’s remuneration comprises basic salary
and performance salary. The performance salary
is determined according to the assessment of
performance of the whole staff. In 2017, remuneration
policy committee, remuneration supervision committee
and remuneration performance appraisal committee
of the Company focus on promoting the reform of
remuneration system and re-establishing the structure
of remuneration system.

Staff Training

In respect of staff training, in 2017, the Company built
a two level training system with the headquarters,
each department office and subsidiary as main body,
innovated in training methods and devoted greater
efforts to training in-service cadres at all levels and new
recruits.

We provide systematic and effective training for our
employees. We provide sustainable and specific
education training for our senior management, middle
management as well as technical and operational staff
with a view to improving the quality and ability of our
staff at different levels.

To regulate the management of staff training, the
Company has formulated comprehensive measures for
administering employees’ education and training, which
effectively promote the establishment of the Company’s
education training system. The Company focuses
on the training needs of the senior management,
middle management, technical and operational staff
as well as the development needs of the Company
when formulating and implementing education training
programmes. The Company aims to implement
a diversified training system for the staff so as to
encourage the staff to participate in training.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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EE B sARAEEAERESR

The Company will further strengthen to train young
cadre in the future and establish different levels of
cadre, which lays the foundation for the sustainable
development of the Company.

4. Guarantee of Staff Rights

The Group strictly complies with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations and makes contributions to various
pension contribution plans, medical insurance plans,
unemployment insurance plans, maternity insurance
plans and personal injury insurance plans.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYZBARE

Ernst & Young ke EIE T Tel E5%: +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower = rhIs Fax {SE: +852 2868 4432
ﬁ i 1 Tim Mei Avenue P ESERE ey.com
7 Central, Hong Kong hi= kK E224&

To the shareholders of China Machinery Engineering Corporation
(Established in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Machinery
Engineering Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 214 to 369, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PEIEHMRE T RRBERA

BHE#REAIRROAERATARRK
(KRB ZEA BAFIE MK AR IR F])

=R

AIZERD (AT [P EEZE214
BZE %3698 FTE R BB TR MDA
RAR ([EAA)) REWBAR ([E£
E ) WEefuBmE - BER2017F124
SIEMEHIBRAE BEZBILEFE
MEMBRk A EeRER - 50
mEHRMEHRERER  UREHH
BHREMTE  BEXESHBRHE -

BMRA  ZSEHVBERRDBERR
gLl ZEg ((BReTEAZEER])
AR B BIPR B 7 v a5 22 BN (BB B F5 35
0] BEEM AT R E % ER2017
FI2HAIBNEHUBIRAUNRBEEEE
ZELFENEGHUBEEREGHBESR
E YERBEBRNKEININEERTE
RRE -

RRER

BACREEZEGMAE ([FA G
RE ) BN EBREER ([FEREE
A1) ETEZ - RPARBEZFEREALE
MR EEARRET [ZBE BRI
WMRARENEE] P~ - RIBER
AR AGZERG B FER TR
(BT BABIREEE X2
ERTARBTEMBXBEREME - HAAE
& BAMESHNEZREETEIEE
AR MNE RIRHEER -



Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BYZBARE

Key audit matter

AREZER

Revenue recognition for construction contracts

EE FIRATER

The Company derives a significant portion of its
revenues from construction-type contracts that
are accounted for by applying the percentage-of-
completion (POC) method.
SERFAIBMATEZEREREERER  ZEAAKETIAS
FEVENER ©

The POC method involves the use of significant
management judgement and estimates including
estimates of the progress towards completion,
the scope of deliveries and services required, total
contract costs, remaining costs to completion, total
contract revenues and contract risks. In addition,
revenue, cost and gross profit realised on such
contracts can vary (sometimes significantly) from the
Company’s original estimates because of changes in
conditions.
EATIAD AL REXNEREHE MG - 2FH
BT HEENMGE  INBEEAERYE - &RKALE
B RIHFEENKER SRBAERERERRERE -
BEAN - BEARBRBEARNRA - KARENEREHS
S MiRR (BREERE) SRR -

The disclosures about construction contracts are
included in note 2.4, note 5 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FRREa RNBREHNE OISR MT2.4 - MizEs
K BftEE2 o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RRBELEREFRTNERDE

We tested the internal controls of the Company over
its processes to record contract costs and contract
revenues under the percentage-of-completion (POC)
method.
BMEERRRTIAS ERES RKARERBA
HIRIEETT T AR -

We evaluated the judgements and estimates of
management in determining the estimated total
contract costs through the review of contract cost
budget and other relevant project documentation,
and the discussion of the status of projects under
construction with management, finance and technical
staff of the Company.
HPEBREARKATEE MEEER X REERT]
EIRRE - B LEME TammERME B 6kEE - AT E
BB 5 & RN B R AT VEHI B R A& 5T -

We performed tests of details, including the vouching
to invoices or other source documents, for the costs
incurred, and to assess the status of the projects
under sample basis.

ERNHERER - RIETARAIG - BEREEEED
PR 2 RS CH M R XA - RATHIA B AR o

We retested the calculation of the percentage-of-
completion for certain key projects.

BPgETEREEENIATTIAD LS -



Key audit matter

HREZER

Allowances for impairment of trade receivables

B SN E R ER

The Group has significant trade receivables from
customers. Allowances for the impairment of these
balances are estimated by management through
the application of significant judgement and use of
subjective assumptions. Evidence of impairment may
include indicators that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

EEEERERFPHASESRIFIA - ZERTEAR
EREHHEREEERERAE R FBBRFZETHEE o B
ERBEARERE —REBRAX—EEBARTTRELE
MENE BANERNER AT REFAIBLEATK
ERHMMBER BRI BRHBBERAGLARKE S
MERARRL  MEENEBNEBERABELEZES -

The disclosures about allowances for impairment of
trade receivables are included in note 2.4 and note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.

B 5 RKFIERERENREERNE OB ®K MM
2.4 Kk MfF22 -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RRBELSEREFLTNERLE

We evaluated the judgements and estimates of
management in determining impairment allowance
and tested key internal controls over the Group’s
impairment procedures. We obtained direct external
confirmations for trade receivable balances on a
sample basis.

TS TR B A R (B B s R O HI M S (AT AT
it - WHEEERERFHOBREATIEFETAR - K
PIERNMEERE BRERFE 5 RUKFIRRTR N B K
alf e

For significant trade receivables individually assessed
to be impaired, we assessed the adequacy of
impairment provision as determined by management.
HNE BB N ERBENENE ZRKFE - HFIFFH
EREMETRERBHITRML

For trade receivables assessed to be impaired
by reference to the credit risk characteristics, we
tested the accuracy of the ageing of trade receivable
balances on a sample basis; evaluated cash collection
performance against historical trends.
HREREARREBRTERRENE S EKRFR -
BAIENWMERERE B 5 RUTIR AR Ric £ 1T E
AR ¢ EESRTE B AE RIR S W BRI -

We tested the cash collections subsequent to the end
of the reporting period on a sample basis.

BMENMERESRRERRNBE S EETRIH -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstaternent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYZBARE

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yim Chi Hung Henry.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 26, 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BOHREER

Year ended December 31, 2017 ¢ & ZE2017F12 831 B ILFE

2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Wit AREFT ARETF T
REVENUE WA 5 23,682,177 21,017,236
Cost of sales SHE AR 6 (18,967,182) (17,473,045)
Gross profit EH 4,714,995 3,544,191
Other revenue Habdg A - 5 201,051 29,062
Other expenses/(income), net Hpx (R A) F58 5 183,859 (14,170)
Selling and distribution expenses SHE S &axcl7ib3 (1,026,251) (1,103,944)
Administrative expenses 1THRFE (831,013) (725,366)
Other operating expenses Higams (394,750) (162,658)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS KRR 2,847,891 1,567,115
Finance income IR N 6 321,521 1,048,682
Finance expenses B 6 (977,121) (46,905)
Net finance (expenses)/income B (FAx)/ WA F8E 6 (655,600) 1,201,777
Share of profits and losses of: FEAE A T a1 R B 1R
Joint ventures ER=WNC] 23,507 13,401
Associates kLN 37,093 1,637
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FRBE AR 6 2,252,891 2,783,930
Income tax PS8t 10 (538,396) (674,140)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 1,714,495 2,109,790
Attributable to: HER N
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZEPN 1,711,203 2,106,521
Non-controlling interests FEPERR MRS 3,292 3,269
1,714,495 2,109,790
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BATEEEREEA
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT EEERER
Basic and diluted (RMB) EAREBE (ARE) 13 41 cents (%) 51 cents (%)

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PEIEHMRE T RRBERA




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHEERER

Year ended December 31, 2017 o EZE2017F12 A31 B ILEE

2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

it AREFTT ARET T

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERER 1,714,495 2,109,790

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  HftiZR4& Wz
Other comprehensive income not to be KRB EHARKEFH HIE

reclassified to profit or loss in EHEEN
subsequent periods: Eirs s
Remeasurement of defined benefit EHFTERTE
obligations %t 3% 1% 27 (60) 9,990
Other comprehensive income to be NEBRRENHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in B EMERE W ¢
subsequent periods:
Changes in fair value of AEEERE
available-for-sale investments NREEZE) (436) 563
Exchange differences on translation of &8N B A &) HY
financial statements of BE TS SRR EE AR OB 5
overseas subsidiaries =58 (64,257) 63,983
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FRGENEAE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1,649,742 2,184,326
Attributable to: HER
Owners of the parent B AREA A 1,646,525 2,180,909
Non-controlling interests JEVE R RE 2 3,217 3,417

1,649,742 2,184,326
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B O B E55iR R 3R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

December 31,

December 31,

2017 2016
20174 20164
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE ARE T ARMF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 14 1,617,352 1,605,717
Investment properties BB 15 582,274 20,988
Prepaid land lease payments Taf LB E IR 16 1,793,684 1,797,297
Intangible assets BREE 17 17,511 9,587
Investments in joint ventures HELRNTKRE 18 346,423 297,916
Investments in associates HEE NN E 19 505,416 265,836
Trade and other receivables Z 5 R E A RIS 22 847,058 553,937
Amounts due from contract customers JEW A& R= P k08 21 1,923,798 2,547,471
Deferred tax assets REFIBEE 26 320,357 411,536
Other non-current assets HtIEneEE 28 597,358 593,076
Total non-current assets FREEEHLTE 8,551,231 8,103,361
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 20 652,791 495,736
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HE M EUGRIE 22 10,093,718 8,121,101
Amounts due from contract customers EW A R = F 08 21 3,563,860 4,693,622
Restricted deposits SR Hll 77 3K 23 1,178,951 554,588
Time deposits with original maturity over — RIAZIHE BB =K
three months TEHFR 23 5,032,483 5,942,003
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 23 18,466,327 19,541,868
Total current assets REEEHLEE 38,988,130 39,348,918
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Borrowings f&E 25 754,847 576,695
Receipts in advance TEU A 12,880,602 12,473,750
Trade and other payables B 5 K E e RIE 24 16,541,389 17,541,253
Defined benefit obligations RE X = 15 27 25,585 26,850
Tax payable FESFRIA 97,643 501,728
Total current liabilities FREEEHEE 30,300,066 31,120,276
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 8,688,064 8,228,642
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEABRABEE
LIABILITIES 17,239,295 16,332,003
Continued/...
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B Ot IR R 3R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

December 31 December 31,

2017, 2016
201745 20164
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HaE AREFT ARMF T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABRRBEE
LIABILITIES 17,239,295 16,332,003
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Borrowings fBE 25 161,522 469,728
Trade and other payables B 5 & E AR FIE 24 466,709 81,206
Defined benefit obligations BEX B 27 361,421 359,323
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE 26 44,175 46,193
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEEE 1,033,827 956,450
Net assets FEE 16,205,468 15,375,553
EQUITY &z
Issued capital BEITIRA 29 4,125,700 4,125,700
Reserves i 30 12,006,872 11,202,815
Total equity attributable to BARHEE AL
owners of the parent ERAE 16,132,572 15,328,515
Non-controlling interests ey 72,896 47,038
Total equity B 16,205,468 15,375,553
Director Zhang Chun Director Zhou Yamin
EE RE 2 AIR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B REE R

Year ended December 31, 2017 o EZE2017FE12 A31 B ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent Non- Total
BAREBARL controlling equity
Available- interests
for-sale FERER  EREE
investment ~ Statutory  Exchange
Issued  Capital revaluation surplus  fluctuation  Retained
capital  reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total
e
REEf iR EX
BRAORK  E4RE A MEE RBEE  REEN it
RMB'000  AMB'000  AMB'000  AMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
NEETr AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETr AREFr ARETr AREfr AREFx
(note 29)  (note 30)
(Wiz29) (W)
At January 1, 2017 R201751A1A 4,125,700 2,838,229 2,705 1,070,754 81,265 7,209,862 15,328,515 47,038 15,375,553
Prolfit for the year ERgH] - - - - - 1,711,203 1,711,203 3202 1,714,495
Other comprehensive income  ERE AN
for the year
Exchange differences on IERENEEE
franslation of foreign
operations - - - - (64,182) - (64,182) (75) (64,257)
Re-measurement losseson ~ RERATEEH
defined benefit plans, TEEE MRk
net of tax - - - - - (60) (60) - (60)
Changes in fair value of ARHEREAR
avallable-for-sale EEZE Mk
investments, net of tax - - (436) - - - (436) - (436)
Total comprehensive income for EREA N EE
the year - - (436) - (64,182) 1,711,143 1,646,525 3217 1,649,742
Capital contrioution froma~~ SEERBERNEREA
non-controlling shareholder - - - - - - - 24,500 24,500
Dividends declared to FFAAARRMRE
shareholders of the Company - - - - - (842,468  (842,468) - (842,468)
Profit appropriation to reserves AT A - - - 121,93 - (127,9%9) - - -
Dividends declared to A TFHBAREER
non-controling shareholders ~ BREAIRE
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (1,859) (1,859)
At December 31, 2017 R2017512A31H 4,125,700 2,838,229* 2,269 1,198,687 17,083  7,950,604* 16,132,572 72,896 16,205,468
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PEIEHMRE T RRBERA

Continued/...

&/



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EOtREEE X

Year ended December 31, 2017 o EZE2017F12 A31 B ILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent Non- Total
BAREEAEE controlling equity
Availzble- bizis
for-sale FEREE  REEE
investment Statutory ~ Exchange
Issued Capital  revaluation surplus  fluctuation Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total
e EERL EX
BRORE  EARG REEGRE MEE  RBRE &R gt
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFT AREFT  ARETr  AREFr  ARETr  ARETr  ARETr  ARETr  ARETr
(note 29)  (note 30)
(Hiitzg)  (Wits0)
At January 1, 2016 (Restated) R2016E1818 (Eik) 4125700 8,370,907 2,142 892,246 17,430 6,092,461 14,500,886 45555 14,546,441
Proft for the year EREH s - - - - o065 2106521 3060 2100790
Other comprehensive income EREtRANR
for the year
Exchange differences on translation  JME#RITEZE
of foreign operations - - - - 63,835 - 63,835 148 63,983
Re-measurement losses on defined  RE ST EIE T
benefit plans, net of tax BA - 0tk - - - - - 9,990 9,990 - 9,990
Changes in falr value of ARHERELAEE
avallable-for-sale investments, 28 Mk
net of tax - - 563 - - - 563 = 563
Total comprehensive income EMFRNREE
for the year - - 563 - 63,835 2,116,511 2,180,909 3417 2,184,326
Business combination under B—ZHTHEBAMN
common control (ote 31) (Hit31) - (63678 - - - - (32679 - (632678
Dividends declared to shareholders AR ARREIHE
of the Company - - - - - (820,602) (820,602) - (820,602)
Profit appropriation to reserves ~ EREGERET = - - 178,508 - (178,508) - - -
Dividends declared to non-controling i F B A FJ3E AR
shareholders of subsidiaries RRMRE = - - - - - - (1,934) (1934)
At December 31, 2016 R2016512A31H 4,125,700  2,838,229° 2,706*  1,070,754* 81,265*  7,209,862* 15,328,615 47,038 15,375,663

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

RMB12,006,872,000 (December 31, 2016: RMB11,202,815,000) in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,

2017.

* ZERBEHEREYA2017F12A31H
MEHNTBERIRPHNEHFEEARE
12,006,872,0007t (20165F12H31H : A
R#11,202,815,0007C) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHBETRER

Year ended December 31, 2017 o EZE2017FE12 A31 B ILFE

2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR#FT AR For
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING XRHEKZYIHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: MREL A& A - 2,252,891 2,783,930
Adjustments for: FEIER
Finance costs BA TS AR R 6(a), 7 63,611 24,257
Foreign exchange differences, net W ZERRFE 903,728 (774,680)
Share of profits and losses of associates JE{LHE 4 A 7 A & 518 (37,093) (1,637)
Share of profits and losses of JEfhE &R a)mF &kEE
joint ventures (23,507) (13,401)
Interest income MEMA 6(a) (216,816) (385,346)
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of items FEEEWE « BE REEIEE
of property, plant and equipment BR (Uzs), 1Bk 5 (1,086) 3,803
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEHTE ARk 5 (58,861) -
Dividend income from unquoted JE E TR ARE AR B ULA
equity securities 3 (186,321) (10,969)
Net (gains)/losses on foreign currency = HISNE & 49 % F1| 2 4 £
forward exchange contracts and CEINE L=
interest rate swaps 9 (57,424) 69,943
Depreciation e 6(c) 76,798 79,320
Amortisation 5 6(c) 68,777 59,807
Impairment and foreseeable contract  SE/{EFNA] B =+4& R EE
losses 6(c) 394,040 162,058
3,178,737 1,997,085
(Increase) in inventories ZE (3&m) (157,055) (47,232)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due WA REFRKIE (3m),”
from contract customers VTR 1,545,155 (1,373,998)
(Increase) in trade and other receivables & 5 & E th fE k18 (320) (2,837,925) (217,157)
Increase in receipts in advance TE UK IR I 0 406,852 2,284,420
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 K& H fh T sRIBIE N
other payables O A) (589,044) 328,052
Increase/(decrease) in defined BEZmEBFEM,CRD)
benefit obligations 773 (28,023)
Cash generated from operations ETEBNIR SR A 1,547,493 2,948,147
Income tax paid BATATER (853,168) (771,372)
Net cash flows from operating activities K& EBEAMIR SRS
HEE 694,325 2,176,775
Continued/...
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BEHRETRER

Year ended December 31, 2017 o EZE2017F12 A31 B ILEE

2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR¥FT AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REAREEBHN
ACTIVITIES HERE
Interest received EF B 6(a) 216,816 385,346
Dividends received B E 5 186,321 10,969
Purchases of items of property, BEME  BER
plant and equipment HEEE 14 (679,135) (668,756)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments & & A] ff H &£ 15 & (4,970) (37,276)
Proceeds from disposal of items of BREYWE  BEX
property, plant and equipment REBIEB BT FRIA 29,548 770
Disposal of a subsidiary BE—RMEBAFR 32 (73,316) -
Disposal of an associate BE—REE R A - 25,500
Proceeds from settlement of HEERIINES O R
forward exchange contracts and F 3= B FT 15 50E
interest rate swaps (51,301) (30,130)
Proceeds from disposal of BEEAHHERERN
available-for-sale investments FrS#R 100 758
Additions of prepaid land lease payments  YREAN T FA ERIE 16 (42,258) (51,463)
Additions of other intangible assets AEHMEREE 17 (12,714) (5,756)
Additions of other long-term assets AEHMRHAEE (19,040) (53,495)
Purchases of financial instruments BE DB A M EWRIER
classified as other receivables SRMTHE - (10,000)
Acquisition of a subsidiary under Wi =2 A — 12l &Y
common control oy =MNE 31 = (632,678)
Investments in associates 2 N EME (138,646) (542,754)
Investments in joint ventures HELANTIRIKE (25,000) (100,000)
Placing of restricted deposits TR HITF R (795,853) (12,162)
Proceeds from redemption of & 0] 32 PR Il 7 30
restricted deposits P15 5118 171,490 73,840
Placing of non-pledged time deposits 7 MUEER RS fR 45 I AR B
with original maturity of over three months #2838 =& B &Y £ # 1
when acquired TEBFER (28,964,047) (31,925,131)
Proceeds from redemption of non-pledged & [E1 /& ER i R 14 51 B H
time deposits with original maturity of BB =& A /K
over three months when acquired T BRTF SRFT 15 IR 29,873,567 30,018,219
Net cash flows used in investing activites & EEBFFAMNIR &2 %58 (328,438)  (3,354,199)
Continued/...
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHBETRER

Year ended December 31, 2017 o EZE2017FE12 A31 B ILFE

2017 2016
20175 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AEB¥ T AR For
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETHNERSRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings BEEFSRIE 888,515 855,693
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (928,569) (749,503)
Capital contribution from a
non-controlling shareholder —BIFERIRR A ERZA 24,500 -
Dividends paid ERRE (842,468) (820,602)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders BT IEZE R IR R B AR B (4,428) (8,296)
Interest paid BERFE (68,231) (28,125)
Net cash flows used in financing MEETHTAMNIES
activities e (930,681) (750,833)
NET DECREASE ReRRELZEEY
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS WA EEE (564,794) (1,928,257)
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year FUNRERREEEY 23 19,541,868 21,032,899
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net PE RSB R 2R (510,747) 437,226
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRANRERREEEY
AT END OF YEAR 23 18,466,327 19,541,868
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEBEYREIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances L RIRTTAR 23 24,677,761 26,038,459
Restricted deposits balances IR S 17 S a4 23 (1,178,951) (554,588)
Time deposits with original maturity RIGEIEA B BB =8 A 5
of over three months TEBTE R 23 (5,032,483)  (5,942,003)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated BenskAiEE X
in the statement of cash flows HEHEY 23 18,466,327 19,541,868
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Machinery Engineering Corporation (the “Company”) is
a joint stock company with limited liability established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The registered office
of the Company is located at No. 178 Guang’anmenwai Street,
Beijing, PRC.

The Company was established on January 18, 2011 as part
of the reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) of China National
Machinery & Equipment Import & Export Corporation (the
“Predecessor”), a state-owned enterprise. The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are mainly engaged in
the international construction business and trading business.

Prior to the Reorganisation and establishment of the Company,
the core business of the Group was controlled and operated by
the Predecessor. The Predecessor was wholly owned by China
National Machinery Industry Corporation (“SINOMACH?”, H
i T2 EE AR AF). Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the
Predecessor transferred its core business together with related
assets and liabilities to the Company. Upon establishment, the
Company had a total of 3,300 million issued ordinary shares,
with a par value of RMB1.00 each. The Company issued to
SINOMACH 3,267 million shares, or 99% of the total issued
shares, in exchange for the above transfer of business and
assets and liabilities from the Predecessor. The Company also
issued 33 million shares, or 1% of the total issued shares, to
China United Engineering Corporation (“China United”, = Bl
& T #%), a wholly-owned subsidiary of SINOMACH for a cash
consolidation of RMB46,930,900.

On December 21, 2012, the Company became listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“HKSE”). The Company issued 718,000,000 H shares at
HK$5.40 per share by initial public offering (“IPO”) to investors
in Hong Kong and overseas. Pursuant to the IPO, a total of
71,800,000 domestic state-owned shares of RMB1.00 each
owned by SINOMACH and China United in aggregate were
converted into H shares on a one-for-one basis and transferred
to the National Council for Social Security Fund of the PRC
(“SSF”).

1.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

RFAREEER

hEEREEIRRROERAR ([F
RNAE) RTEFREARZEFE ([HE])
M HRDBR AR o ARAEH
PR AL A B R EZPISN
AH1785F o

ERBIA b5 Bl R H D 48
~R) ([aT&])) E48 ([EA]D /—
50 AR A R2011F1 B18H K 3L °
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) TERERBIREENESE
ﬁt%o

FEERRKIADRAR - AEEK
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAIREBER (&)
(CONTINUED)
On January 2, 2013, the over-allotment option granted by the M2013F1 A28 « A AR LM B
Company was fully exercised, and the Company issued and iR E B AR EATE - At - ARF]
allotted an aggregate of 107,700,000 H shares at HK$5.40 BIR TR D5.40/8 LT RELE A
per share. Accordingly, a total of 10,770,000 domestic state- 107,700,000 HA% © F 1t - B # &
owned shares of RMB1.00 each owned by SINOMACH and H B Bk & ¥ B #910,770,0000% & Ik
China United were converted into H shares on a one-for-one BARK1.00THEBERNERE R —
basis and transferred to the SSF. As at December 31, 2017, a BT ERESHR - WEETHRE
total of 908,270,000 H shares were listed on the HKSE. SEEE - B2017F12A318 + &3
908,270,000 X HAR FE & B B A P 717 o
In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), BREARFRESE ([EF]) WER
the holding company and the ultimate holding company of (R EARLMBEIKIL) BAA A
the Company was SINOMACH, which was established in the HIFEAR 2 ) R S AR A F] o
People’s Republic of China.
Information about subsidiaries Bt 8 1 B & K
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: RARMBARMFGFHER DT ¢
Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC

of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company

ARAL/ BRTEAR/ RAFEL
8 SR A H EREAEE BREADL TEER HERRRIARNE

Direct Indirect
EE  BE
1 OMEC International Engineering ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000  100% - Construction contracting  Limited liability company
Co., Ltd. September 9, 1997 and trading
hRERIREREELA i AR#50,000,00070 BIARRES LGN

199759 A9H

2 China Everbest Development Hong Kong SAR HKD22,136,400  100% - Trading and security =
International Limited August 12, 1988 investment
EREERARAA BABRITHE 22,136,4007 EIREFRE
19888 4128

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREBEHR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEAER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
AREL/ ERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%RAS EREAEE BEADM IERK PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
ER 3
3 China Machinery & Equipment ~ Hong Kong SAR HKD25,115,970  100% - Trading =
(HK) Company Limited September 20, 1983
PERRREREARAT BERAITHE 25,115, 970% T g%
1983F9R208
4 CMEC Engingering Machinery ~ The PRC RMB20,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Import & Export Co., Ltd. January 9, 1995
RRIEBEHELDERETAR HE A& 20,000,000 g% BREFAT
19955 1A9H
5  CMEC Comtrans International ~ The PRC RMB20,000,000  100% - Transportation agency Limited liability company
Co., Ltd. March 5, 1997
hRERERERRE Gilet AR 20,000,000 L BREAAT
EREEAT 19974 3A5A
6 Ausino Pty. Ltd. Australia AUD3,974,486 100% - Trading =
September 13, 1984
RAMERERHARAT BANE 3,974,486 7T g5
198497 13H
7 Shanghai International The PRC RMB10,820,000  100% - Transportation agency Limited liability company
Transportation Co., Ltd. January 30, 1996
hREE DEERRREE G AR%10,820,0007 EafE ARELLA
ARAE 19965 1A30A

Annual Report 2017
20175 F 3

225




226
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEEHR (#F)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%R A EREAEE READL IERK PEEREIATNE
Direct Indirect
E# 3
8  Shenzhen CMEC Industry The PRC RMB9,200,000  100% - Storage and property Limited liability company
Corporation Limited March 18, 1992 service
TP REXARAA ke AR H9,200,0007C BERMERS AREEAR
199234 18H
9  CMEC International Trading Co., ~ The PRC RMB8,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Ltd. January 16, 1995
hRERESAREAAT el AK#8,000,0007 g% FREERA
1995€1R16H
10 CMEC Machinery & Electric The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export January 16, 1995
Co., Ltd.
hREEELARAR HEl AR 20,000,007 g% BREFAF
1995€1R16H
11 CMEC Beiling Property The PRC RMB5,000,000 100% - Property management and  Limited liability company
Development Co., Ltd. January 15, 1985 rental
TEERREELOLRYXER TH AR 5,000,000 WEERLEE AREERA
EREEAT 1985414158
12 GMEC General Machinery Import ~ The PRC RMB6,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
& Export Co., Ltd. January 9, 1995
PRERMMELDARELAR +E AR%6,000,0007C 8% ARERAR

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEAER (&)

Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/  Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
AREL/ BERTEER/ KT
£ EMLER A ERBEAEE BEADL IERH PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
EE  BE
13 China Machinery and Equipment  The PRC RMB5,000,000  100% - Tendering for construction  Limited liability company
International Tendering Co., ~ April 29, 1996 contracts
Ltd.
RERARERREAT el AR 5,000,000 BEARRR AREERA
199654 A298
14 China Machinery Industrial The PRC RMB75,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Products Co., Ltd. February 6, 2002
REEXRBHEAREALT  hE AR%75,000,0007 g5 ARAERH
2002268
15 CMEC Petrochemical-General  The PRC RMB5,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Machinery Co., Ltd. January 16, 1995
hRACERARAR HEl AR H5,000,0007C g5 BREERE
199541168
16 China Machinery International The PRC RMB300,000,000  100% - Engineering design, Limited liability company
Engineering Design & Research  October 5, 1993 contracting and
Institute Co., Ltd. supervision
hER IR AR il AR 300,000,000 TR ABRER  AREEAF
BRELRR 1993510A5H
17 China-East Resources Import &~ The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% - Trading and construction  Limited liability company
Export Co., Ltd. July 22, 1993 contracting
TERRELIARELRR P AR %20,000,0007 BHRIEIAR AREERA
19937 R228
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RRIREEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ KRR
£R AMb%R A EREAEE READL IERK PEEREIATNE
Direct Indirect
E# 3
18  China National Machinery & The PRC RMB19,662,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export February 20, 1987
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
hR (M) BHREIE ket AR¥19,562,0007C g5 BRREAT
ERAA 198742A208
19 Shanghai Zhong Jing Import & ~ The PRC RMB4,580,000 100% - Trading Limited liability company
Export Corporation December 21, 1995
LRREELOAREEAT ke ARE4,580,0007C g5 ARRALH
1995%12A21H
20 China Machinery Engineering The PRC RMB38,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Wuxi Co., Ltd. April 9, 1987
MREGRAREIEARAR A AR 38,000,007 g% BREFAR
198744A9R
21 Sino American Machinery United States of USD1,918,476  100% - Trading =
Corporation America (‘USA”)
August 22, 1983
XEEXRRERAT FHZARE ((XE])  1918476%T g5
19838 R 228

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREBEHR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEAER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
AREL/ ERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%RAS EREAEE BEADM IERK PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
& 3
22 Euro M.E.C. Import & Export Germany DEM100,000  100% - Trading =
GmbH March 9, 1990
BERELAARAA 28l 100,000 855 g%
1990%3A9H
23 CMEC Japan Co., Ltd. CMEC ~ Japan JPY50,000,000 80% - Trading =
April 2, 1986
CMECR A &it A% 50,000,008 g5
198654 A2H
24 China Machinery Engineering The PRC RMB4,180,000 67% - Trading Limited liability company
Henan Co., Ltd. April 17, 1997
hERHREIE (78) Gl AR%4,180,0007C g5 BREAAT
ERAA 1997448178
25 CMIC Enmei Co., Ltd. Japan JPY26,000,000  76.92% - Trading -
May 13, 1994
CMICH#ts\ &1t A% 26,000,008 g5
199457138
26  CMEC (Beijing) International The PRC RMB500,000  100% - Legal consultancy Limited liability company
Economic & Legal Advisors Inc.  September 24, 1993
REER (b)) BREEZERE & AR 500,000 R ARELLA

ERREAT

199369 A24H

Annual Report 2017
20175 F 3

229




230
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 2017412

H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEEHR (#F)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%R A EREAEE READL IERK PEEREIATNE
Direct Indirect
E# 3
27 China National Machinery & The PRC RMB5,460,000 55% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export February 21, 2001
(Fujian) Co., Ltd.
BRTREHRBELIARAT HE AR 5,460,000 g5 BRRAAT
2001524218
28 China National Machinery & The PRC RMB5,000,000 51% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export November 30, 2007
(Hubei) Co., Ltd.
i (i) BHRETR G AR 5,000,000 g% AREERA
N 2007%11A308
29 CMEC Senegal S.A. Senegal XOF10,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
April 20, 2009
HEERREEL N AR ERNA 10,000,000& 88 HLEE
EAMBRNERAR 200944208
30 CMEC Engineering, C.A. Venezuela VEF200,000 99.90%  0.10%  Construction contracting -
March 11, 2011
EERZRRLTIRAR 3}t 200,000% 2K HELE AR
2011%E3A11A
31 CMEC Nigeria Development Nigeria NGN20,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Limited March 25, 2011
CMECERMZEEARAR  ERME 20,000,005 4 BI&E
2011%3A25R

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREBEER (&)

(CONTINUED)
MWEARESR (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
AREL/ ERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%RAS EREAEE BEADM IERK PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
& 3
32 China Machinery Engineering Argentina ARS429,000 90% 10%  Construction contracting -
Argentina S.A. July 30, 2012
TERRREIRMRERD  WRE 429,000 & AN
ARAH 201257 A30H
33 China Power Construction The PRC RMBS5,000,000 50% - Engineering design Limited liability company
Engineering Consulting Central  January 11,1993
Southern Corporation
TEENERIEEATE e AK%5,000,0007C TRkt ARERAR
ARAR 1993514118
34 China Machinery Engineering Namibia NAD20,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Corporation Namibia June 11, 2013
(Proprietary) Limited
TEERREIRRNERLE  AKRLE 20,0000 7T BI%E
WAL EEREELE 2013568118
35  China Machinery Engineering Papua New Guinea USD50,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Corporation (PNG) Limited January 22, 2014
hERRELR (B5) B2 i 50,000%7T BI%R
ARAH 201441 /228
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEEHR (#F)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%R A EREAEE READL IEER PEEREIATNE
Direct Indirect
Ei 3
36 Sinland Development PTE, Ltd.  Singapore USD1,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
July 22, 2014
EHERARAA #IR 1,000,000 BI%E
201457422
37 China JiKan Research Institute of  The PRC RMB105,000,000 100% - Construction research and  Limited liability company
Engineering Investigations and  February 23, 1989 design
Design, Co.,Ltd.
BRIZBRRHRRERLT HE AR E105,000,0007T AR e ARERAR
198942 A23H
38 CMEC Lanka (Private) Limited ~ Sri Lanka USD1,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
February 12, 2015
hREFARALAA HERRS 1,000,000%7 BI%R
201552A12A
39 CMEC Middle East FZE United Arab Emirates USD1,370,000  100% - Construction service -
January 20, 2015
CMECHERE AR WA RN A RRE 1,370,000%7 IR
2015514208
40 China National Complete The PRC RMB100,348,774  100% - Construction contracting  Limited liability company
Engineering Corporation September 5, 1985
HERETRERAR i AR%100,348,7747C HIAR BREFAR

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREBER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEATER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
AREL/ ERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%RAS EREAEE BEADM PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
ER 3
41 CMEC Mexico Engineering, S.DE  Mexico USD100,000 99% 1%  Construction contracting -
R.LDEC.V. August 3, 2015
RERBRIIRAREAAA ERF 100,000
201548A3A
42 CMEC Zambia Development Zambia USD10,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Limited September 14, 2015
EERERTERRABRAR BUE 10,000%7
2015597 14R
43 CMEC Africa Development Kenya KES20,480,000 100% - Construction contracting -
Limited December 16, 2015
hRIEMERERAA ERE 20,480,000%%
2015F 124168
44 China Machinery Engineering The PRC RMB24,000,000 100% - Trading business Limited liability company
Yinchuan Free Trade Zone Co., June 23, 2016
Ltd.
hERHRELR t AR24,000,0007 BRRAAT
(BN aRH) ERAT 2016464238
45 Maldives Renewable Energy Hong Kong SAR USD1 100% - Construction contracting -
Company Limited February 4, 2016
SRRAHERERAR BERATHE %7
201652A4A
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEEHR (#F)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ KRR
£ AMb%R A EREAEE READL IERK PEEREIATNE
Direct Indirect
E# 3
46 CMEC Engineering XXK Mongolia USD100,000  100% - Construction contracting -
November 30, 2016
hRELIREREELA bS] 100,000%7 AN
2016%11A308
47 CMEC Guinea Equatorial, S.L. ~ Guinea Equatorial XOF20,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
June 1, 2017
TRABENTARALAT  FEEAD 20,000,000 iARL)
2017%6A1H i 27524
48 CMEC Saudi for Construction ~ Saudi Arabia USD270,000  100% - Construction contracting -
LLC July 20, 2017
hRYREREREELT Vs D= 270,000% T AN
201757 R208
49 CMEC Dutch Caribbean B.V. Netherlands USD200,000  100% - Trading business =
November 14, 2017
CMECHEMBLERRARA #H 200,000% 7 85%%
2017511 R14H

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise all standards and interpretations approved
by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for derivative financial instruments and
available-for-sale investments which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended December 31,
2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 21 RAEEE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued) mERE (#)

236

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations under common control

As set out in note 31, on May 31, 2016, the Group acquired the
100% equity interest in China National Complete Engineering
Corporation. The Company and China National Complete
Engineering Corporation were under the common control
of SINOMACH both before and after the acquisition and
such control was not transitory. Thus, the acquisition was
considered to be business combinations under common
control. Accordingly, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income include the results of each of the combining entities or
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date
when the combining entities or businesses first came under
common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of
the date of the common control combination. The net assets
of the combining entities or businesses are combined using the
existing book values from the controlling parties’ perspective.
No amount is recognised in consideration for goodwill or
excess of the acquirers’ interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of the common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration
fees, costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs
or losses incurred in combining operations of the previously
separate businesses etc., incurred in relation to the common
control combination that is to be accounted for by using
merger accounting are recognised as expenses in the period
in which they are incurred.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B HERBERIKE

DISCLOSURES

AEBNAFE NI BERERAE R
AT DIEIERTBIBR B 5 3R 5 22 R

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

C RS RZité

E’\H? HE
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Bl ERE 105 HABAEBRTEL
Unrealised Losses CHE HWEEE

Amendments to IFRS 12 Included Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:
Clarification of the Scope of IFRS 12

BRMBRE LR RERAMEREZEZ
MEBETA (A VeVt e
HBHSEA0MEE  ERIE 12T RE
N16FFHFRNE)  REEE

in Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle
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None of the above amendments to IFRSs has had a significant
financial effect on these financial statements. Disclosure has
been made in note 33 to the financial statements upon the
adoption of amendments to IAS 7, which require an entity to
provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash
changes.

The nature and the impact of the amendments are described
below:

(@) Amendments to IAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows
and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities is provided in
note 33 to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 12 clarify that an entity, when
assessing whether taxable profits will be available against
which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference,
needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources
of taxable profits against which it may make deductions
on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how
an entity should determine future taxable profits and
explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may
include the recovery of some assets for more than their
carrying amount. The amendments have had no impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group as
the Group has no deductible temporary differences or
assets that are in the scope of the amendments.

Amendments to IFRS 12 clarify that the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 12, other than those disclosure
requirements in paragraphs B10 to B16 of IFRS 12, apply
to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or
an associate, or a portion of its interest in a joint venture
or an associate that is classified as held for sale or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale.
The amendments have had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements as there is no subsidiary of the Group
which is classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
December 31, 2017 and so no additional information is
required to be disclosed.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 C A 18 18 Rk & 4BV Bl BR B 7%
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING R 5 ZE 8
STANDARDS

AEBW AR ZE M B HREAER A
T ERME R ARERF R REERT
B R E &R -

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement B Bt T R 5 2 ROGHALGH
of Share-based Payment FORMBEIA AR E
Transactions’
Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial BERBRSENEATE AARTBHEES
Instruments with IFRS 4 RS ZaERBAN T
Insurance Contracts’ BB B
ER|EI LR T A
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments’ BARYBREERNES: 2HLA
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with B B T s 5 22 REBHEZ I
Negative Compensation? FIORIBETA B
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BRMBEREENEI0R KEFEREEL T
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its REE e ERE8Y.  AEAACHNEE
Associate Or Joint Venture® MBI HEZRN
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BRBEREERESR  FLAMAT
Customers’
Amendments to IFRS 15  Clarifications to IFRS 15 BRMEREERNE 1R EFAETBEREER
Revenue from Contracts with igfe P 155 EFAAMN
Customers’
IFRS 16 Leases? ERBBEREENE 6% HE
Amendments to IAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates BN et RRIZ8RE  KEELAREERA
and Joint Ventures? EHE R
Amendments to IAS 40  Transfers of Investment Property’ BRei el F40%E  REYEEE
{BEIA
IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions BRmBRERERES JERSRENHE
and Advance Consideration’ - B0k
IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax BRMBRERERES FRAEEZTETH
Treatments? S PRy
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1 and 2014FZ2016F 85  BRGHREER
2014-2016 Cycle IAS 28! FE# F1RREEEE
R8BI A
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 3, 2015822017885 BRUBREER
2015-2017 Cycle IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 232 FEN#E 3% BRHHas

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for

adoption
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 in June 2016 that
address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction; the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligations
associated with the share-based payment; and the accounting
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment transaction changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that
the approach used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies
to cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments
introduce an exception so that a share-based payment
transaction with net share settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction when certain conditions are met.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms and
conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction
are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is
accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of
the modification. On adoption, entities are required to apply the
amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective
application is permitted if they elect to adopt for all three
amendments and other criteria are met. The Group will adopt
the amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group will adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will
not restate comparative information and will recognise any
transition adjustments against the opening balance of equity
at 1 January 2018. During 2017, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of
IFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification
and measurement and the impairment requirements are
summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at
fair value. Equity investments currently held as available
for sale will be measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the investments are intended to
be held for the foreseeable future and the Group expects
to apply the option to present fair value changes in other
comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in
other comprehensive income for the equity investments
cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the investments
are derecognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are
not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under
IFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected credit loss
model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis.
The Group will apply the simplified approach and record
lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on the
present values of all cash shortfalls over the remaining
life of all of its trade and other receivables. Furthermore,
the Group will apply the general approach and record
twelve-month expected credit losses that are estimated
based on the possible default events on its trade and
other receivables within the next twelve months. The
Group does not expect that the initial adoption of IFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency

between the requirements in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of

AR 5285 (BT A) 512 Bl R B 7%
WMEERIZE105% R EBR R %RI528
o HABRERBEEBERRNE
ERRZEMNEELE R AMER

EWT—H 2Rk - ZEEFTHRE ' &
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that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting HOE E B IE AR — TR
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or ALY BERRENEE ERHI &
T%}ﬂi—lﬁﬁﬂwﬁ—ir C AR HEEHI

R EERZREENBEARER
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date HIREEUTHBIREERZH & A
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the A EENAINER AR - ZEET
IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date HﬁEAikPKHHF'ﬁJEﬁH I % B 7 e s 2
will be determined after the completion of a broader review Bl 251055 82 B B & 51 2% A ZE 2858 (&
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assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets

loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be

an a"'.

of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation
of total revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates. The
standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under IFRSs. Either a full retrospective application
or a modified retrospective adoption is required on the initial
application of the standard. In April 2016, the IASB issued
amendments to IFRS 15 to address the implementation issues
on identifying performance obligations, application guidance
on principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property,
and transition. The amendments are also intended to help
ensure a more consistent application when entities adopt
IFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the
standard. The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions
in IFRS 15 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the
new requirements only to contracts that are not completed
before 1 January 2018.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

2.3 BB 1 R A& R BB B

HERA (&)

B B B 75 3k 25 245 B 551558 PA20144F
SAMEM B —EHFNALSER -
HEAREREFEHNEENKE - 1B
BB B S mEERIZE 1558 - iR
BERMEREEARNEFEZREYSR
BMBRARESEER - BRTE
HMEERE15EMRA BT E K AER
WaiR Mt E B AR T E o ZERIIR
SIABZHEUEREEHEERTE 2
ROl aEE  BRBEHNESE - T
AEHFEcAENEERABERE &8
MEFHAREBHE REHER -
ZAEA R BEERMERELERET
FrE R RS R AR E - RO
Az FE2EBHEALL
BB PR - R2016F48 - BIE
ST EREESRMERTEREE
BIE155RAEE] - LARRIRTESS R 40
B FEABREBEARMBEEST
AABEAERES - L RBE S
EMEE o 2B NRHHERE
BE PB4 B0 R B 75 R 5 ZE RI S5 1558 I
BESE N —BuUth fE A MR EE R A B
BB AR R AE 5 1 o ANER B 5T &I A
(B B B 75 R 5 2 R 551 558 A 1B E M i
FoBRVNBEANREEEEHAER
201841 A1 B MR B & I B 9) 82 &8 PR
TER AR o 1o - REBFEIEHE
2018%F1 A1 HATAR TR A LB
Zk o

Annual Report 2017
201 7TFF 3,

245




Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

2.3 BB 1 R A& Y BB B

HEA (&)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

246

The Group’s principal activities consist of the international

engineering contracting business, trading business and
services business. The expected impact arising from the
adoption of IFRS 15 on the Group are summarised as follows:

(a)

(b)

International engineering contracting business

The Group is an international engineering contractor
and service provider, focusing on the EPC projects,
particularly in the power and energy industry. The
international engineering contracting business is one of
the Group’s traditional core businesses. Revenues from
construction-type contracts that are accounted for by
applying the percentage-of-completion (POC) method.
The Group has determined that there is no material
impact on the Group’s financial statements when IFRS
15 is adopted in accounting for the Group’s revenue from
the international engineering contracts not yet completed
as at December 31, 2017. This is because the current
accounting treatments of such contracts are largely
consistent with the requirements of IFRS 15.

Trading business

The Group engages in the business of importing and/or
exporting various machinery, electrical and instrumental
products for domestic and overseas customers. The
Group has determined that there is no material impact on
the Group’s financial statements when IFRS 15 is adopted
in accounting for the Group’s revenue from the trading
contracts not yet completed as at December 31, 2017.
This is because the current accounting treatments of such
contracts are largely consistent with the requirements of
IFRS 15.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Services business

The Group also engages in providing export-import
agency services, exhibition services, design consulting
services, tendering agency services and logistics services.
The Group has determined that there is no material
impact on the Group’s financial statements when IFRS
15 is adopted in accounting for the Group’s revenue from
the services contracts not yet completed as at December
31, 2017. This is because the current accounting
treatments of such contracts are largely consistent with
the requirements of IFRS 15.

Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in IFRS 15
are more detailed than those under the current IAS 18.
The presentation requirements represent a significant
change from current practice and will significantly
increase the volume of disclosures required in the Group’s
financial statements. Many of the disclosure requirements
in IFRS 15 are new and the Group has assessed that the
impact of some of these disclosure requirements will be
significant. In particular, the Group expects that the notes
to the financial statements will be expanded because
of the disclosure of significant judgements made on
determining the transaction prices of those contracts that
include variable consideration, how the transaction prices
have been allocated to the performance obligations,
and the assumptions made to estimate the stand-alone
selling price of each performance obligation. In addition,
as required by IFRS 15, the Group will disaggregate
revenue recognised from contracts with customers into
categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by
economic factors. It will also disclose information about
the relationship between the disclosure of disaggregated
revenue and revenue information disclosed for each
reportable segment.
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STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, replaces IAS 17 Leases,
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses
unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease
liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the
lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense on
the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-
of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16 requires lessees
and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under
IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The
Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon
adoption and is considering whether it will choose to take
advantage of the practical expedients available and which
transition approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed
in note 35(b) to the financial statements, at 31 December
2017, the Group had future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately
RMB22,305,000. Upon adoption of IFRS 16, certain amounts
included therein may need to be recognised as new right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis, however,
will be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use
assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but
not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value
assets and short term leases, other practical expedients and
reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before the date
of adoption.
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STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 28 issued in October 2017 clarify that
the scope exclusion of IFRS 9 only includes interests in
an associate or joint venture to which the equity method
is applied and does not include long-term interests that in
substance form part of the net investment in the associate
or joint venture, to which the equity method has not been
applied. Therefore, an entity applies IFRS 9, rather than IAS
28, including the impairment requirements under IFRS 9, in
accounting for such long-term interests. IAS 28 is then applied
to the net investment, which includes the long-term interests,
only in the context of recognising losses of an associate or joint
venture and impairment of the net investment in the associate
or joint venture. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
on 1 January 2019 and will assess its business model for such
long-term interests based on the facts and circumstances that
exist on 1 January 2019 using the transitional requirements in
the amendments. The Group also intends to apply the relief
from restating comparative information for prior periods upon
adoption of the amendments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 40, issued in December 2016, clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including property
under construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of
investment property and there is evidence of the change in
use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of
a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. The
amendments should be applied prospectively to the changes in
use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendments. An
entity should reassess the classification of property held at
the date that it first applies the amendments and, if applicable,
reclassify property to reflect the conditions that exist at that
date. Retrospective application is only permitted if it is possible
without the use of hindsight. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2018. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

IFRIC Interpretation 22, issued in December 2016, provides
guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction
when applying IAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives
or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency and
recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation
clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the
date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary
asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such
as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity
must determine the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration. Entities may apply the
interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective
basis, either from the beginning of the reporting period in which
the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of the
prior reporting period presented as comparative information in
the financial statements of the reporting period in which the
entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects to
adopt the interpretation prospectively from 1 January 2018.
The interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

IFRIC Interpretation 23, issued in June 2017, addresses the
accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of
IAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax
treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether
an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how
an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. Under the acquisition method, the consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued) EBEHREE ()

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the MEBFEHFIBEERET  RAIFEH
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition AR ERZENKE RN ARER
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in B E  FTEANEAKRESERE
profit or loss. fEi8am P iR o

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer Wb 77 6 B A (E (] sk B B (B IR A
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent BN ARBEERR Bom I AW
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial PHEAEENAGEAEBRBEER 5%
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at AIZE39sREmE A sk B BB AR E
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit BitE  EAnBEEZHNIERAL
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. EREMEEKENEEER - H1E
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not AESNNBHENEN=E - H#
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for BEBETERPAR -

within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of BEYFZKAGE BB EEY
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount B JEEREmNERSERAEE
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of SRR A B4 W 5 IR AR R 25 O (E (]
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over AREEEE  GKENENFE
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If ERFEAEERCHNERE - HE
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than EEMIEEMARERNMKEFEE
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, MAREE  ZERBREFTHES
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on RERAERAZEREB W -

bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less RN FERE - BB IRK AR R
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for FTREEERE c mEATSERE
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes Al BEESHBEEXBERRERR
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be FREEAR R ER - A& E E% i
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of ETAH c AEBEM12A318 £ 17
goodwill as at December 31. For the purpose of impairment EENFEERENR - BETRENR
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from - BEBEMEANEEG KE
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash- HERHHEETEHIRE FEED
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are HBRMGHFEZNAEEZREEL
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, BluskBReESECAR - &R
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group EEEMEENEERAEDREZ
are assigned to those units or groups of units. FEA S EMAER
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units)
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets
and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties 22}y
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: W—HE AT EG - AR ABEAE
E 5
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (a) (WZITBUIATALTSHZATHER
family and that person: FETERCE + BRZAT
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; iy AEFIsERIESIAEE
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAKBHEAZE : =X
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AAEEIAEEE QTN
the Group or of a parent of the Group; FEFEEKE ;
or B9
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) W#Z75 BFE TIERNGRENE
applies: i
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEBHEASEBR 5B
group; :0)p4=WNCIE
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy BEBAS EBENEZEQA
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary HEERTF (RS —HE
of the other entity); HEAAE -~ fEBARSER
HEBAR)
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBHEASEEH AR —F
same third party; ZHMAERNT
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the ivy ERBARE=-ZFEBHNEER
other entity is an associate of the third entity; A ME—BBARZE=S
Fole0) NG
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the v) ERAAEEFEAEES
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity A E RS EB &SR
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers HBERL R AR 8 N X BER:
of the post-employment benefit plan; BRI Sz EBEE

260 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
HERMREIERDERAHE



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)

262

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

ME - BERRBURFTE (&

ME BEMRRBRERERELN
HERREFHAX  —BRRELHRE
FAABRER RS ERRENER
T RERBIRAX ABEREE -
EREERAL - W% - BER&RE
CERRDAEHES - RINEERE
R FMy /AT EERFH 2 @5
BEWHERRITE

o7 8 T3 DA ELARORAE 1 5 F R0 6
SME - BE RR A E HR A
EAMGEE UM SEANES
ERMT -

Buildings 2.72% to 3.8% BT 2.72%%=3.8%
Office and other equipment 9.5% to 19.0% MAZEREMEHE  9.56%%F19.0%
Motor vehicles 11.88% B 11.88%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured at cost including
transaction costs both at initial recognition and subsequent
to initial recognition.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2.11% - 4.75%
The carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the cost method are reviewed for impairment when events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) B EE (BRI

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial BRISNEREERVIREREIZ
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired BRANGET = o BBEBE HFIE A EF
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of BENKNARBKERBHNALEE -
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed mREEMTAERAFTHTEARERH
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives ERHE - RN ETL EEREZR
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and A RAEBFHENE  REDRETR
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that | EEN s IR R ERTERE -
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period BRAGAFEHNELEENEHES
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a NEEFTEAZEVORESVUBERE&EER
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end. Rl — IR e

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 1R & FE F HARY BT & 7 S 5 AR (E Bl b
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating SENBSEAEBMEmMETRENR
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful Ao REEFEETETHE - £E
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed EFHNETLEERATFIHEE
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment R EY - DATEE & B E F B a1 (8 =2
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful BEARIT « B A - Al A F BIAYRY
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a HREEEFHEE AEEESH
prospective basis. SERARRBRZETSRE -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)

266

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Operating leases (continued)
Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are

initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

KeEHE (F)

RECEREXMNBANLIWASHE
ME AR A B - H AR B A B 4%
EHETTHERR ©

Investments and other financial assets RERHEMEMEE
Initial recognition and measurement L ERR G E

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except
in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with positive net
changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and
negative net changes in fair value presented as finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do
not include any dividends or interest earned on these financial
assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued) BREREMCERMEE (&

Loans and receivables BEREWEIE

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets EH R EWSIE 25 B E kA T
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in NEHZemErTELT—@ATRTE R
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are EBHENESREE - RSS2
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective % EBREHBUERFZERE
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. O S M AR AN (IR R B4 ) =+

hi B} ) A

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any B o U A A5 I B AT (7] Uk B B A

discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the statement of profit or loss.

s EE  BRBRERAEX
TR E BN ERBIAA - BERF
REHBIRERERANMBEEAT -

JHRHEEZHRE

Available-for-sale financial investments

AHEESRRET EHMIEEMK
BRENRBEHRBHFZIFTEEZRE

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and

debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for E- DRRAHEEZREREEYR
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading ADBRBEERETRBEREZ AR
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt BEFAB@SZEE - ZERIFHE
securities in this category are those which are intended to be BRsEAEERPIFEZES B
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in ZEELFAEERERBDESHFRAL
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in FEE TR Z e e o

market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments RURERE AL ESREEH
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised BLARNALBEZTE X MAERIKZE
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in BREANIHEEREEHHEEAR
changes in fair value of available-for-sale investment revaluation EBESEHFHIEIZLEHMEASNKE B
reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the TR MR LR (B 23Uk
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit HEENIERS R B ARNEDR) 5
or loss in other income, or until the investment is determined WETHERESL - I 2
to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified SRR EES
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the AN EIERE M EIR A -
statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and PR ATt S B 10 A B B BN
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial 8 B3 5.5 BB VEF 8 Uk AR B &

investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

WA - AR T XX TURARER ] FER
RNBERRERSEMBEA -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity
is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the

asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or
not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) SREERE (&

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued) BEBEE AR L HEE ()

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use ZEEMREE S @ IB AR
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the L MEBERIBERER ° FERA
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be R DEREETRFEES - BHEAG
accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of EREBEBEFANTRARRESRE
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose FFEZ5 - MBERKERTER X
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables FrEREREERIEEETLAE
together with any associated allowance are written off when + BIMOE B 51 K HE Ui 5k T8 52 B {E fa]
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral TEEER A -

has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated i fE 12 HiE s BB S B AR
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an T SRR (B 2 18 3 A /Y 5 18 38 0 ok
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the A R 8 AR B A BRI N skoOR A ok
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced AIEREREREE - MR EEKEE
by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later AR - I E K ET AR R R AR
recovered, the recovery is credited to other operating income/ Hp IR FS FEE ©

expenses, net in the statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost BT AR B E

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been WERBPREE —HERERAT
incurred on an unguoted equity instrument that is not carried B (ZBIEHRAABEEEAS
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, STEmIEE AR EETR) iz
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled ERERANTAGEME B VNAEANR
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount NZERERATREETRIEN—IE
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s MEEEEZEREERE  A|BE:
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future BIREEZETEBEMMGRRIEB LR
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for BEZREMEENZE  WREUSH
a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets BEMIRE MG EREETIIR - %
are not reversed. FEEZREBESTEE -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the
statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which
the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHERUE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities TREE

Initial recognition and measurement L BRR G E

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as TRERE  cRHEeEeRIBEA
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or loans T “ftf Bt \BEmemBERE
and borrowings. HEEE -

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in FrEEmMBEREA R EERR
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable MBEFRREE  AHBREEEGER
transaction costs. S ©

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other AEENCHAERREE S REME
payables, bills payable, derivative financial instruments and NHEIE - BREE - TESmITAIR
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. Rt RRITREMEE -

Subsequent measurement #EE

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends CTHABENREFERN T EE
on their classification as follows: 17 ¢

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss R BEGABZN LA E
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include RAnBEFABENEHEEERE
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities RIEEENS BB E RN VB ERE
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through EEREARBETFAERNESRE
profit or loss. & -

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are MREREHMEENENERTER
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This HBEAEE  AZzemaErEasi
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into EEESRBE HESHEERRE
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments REBET 2 RIEEREHEERP Y
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated LA (B R BB 2ERIZE395%)
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading HITESR T E - ﬁ?@mﬁ\milﬂ
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. MOBERBEEBESREAE  BRIEM
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in MEEERBRNEHRTEA - HEE
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss EoRBENKREEBEREREKT
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include R RERRERN AR ERBFE
any interest charged on these financial liabilities. = TEEEASHEENHEETE o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)

276

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Derivative financial instruments FTESRITHE
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement HIEERR EEE

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Derivative financial instruments (continued)
Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or
separated into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows).

e Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-current
(or separated into current and non-current portions)
consistently with the classification of the underlying item.

° Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The
derivative instruments are separated into current portions
and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can
be made.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the specific identification of
cost and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents HERBEESEEY

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, REHBRERERMS BEkBRS
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and ZEYEREFEEAS REHEFR - A
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that FEHAERSERSNIEE  ZEE
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject BrlEREBAE ANEENE S HE
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short BEEERRITTIEKR  WREBAZ=
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less B A AZE - AR BAREETE
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an MAEEESEE —HBoMIRITES °

integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial REHMBRREMNS BERBRS
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand EFEVEERAEIZRENFERE
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in EROTEXR (BEEHER R EE &
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use. REeBEUNEE) -

Provisions BiE

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or WEABTEHFBRBES OXE X
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is HE) KBRAEFEERERKD A
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to EEEY - AEREE  EMEED
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be FEFTABAERESRE -

made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount WITHENFEEKN - IERNEES
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of HREHEAEEEEBH AR H
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be PR EHIRAIR(E o AR mE
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted ERPTIRIBEILEE - PR A A ET
present value amount arising from the passage of time is AB#=E °

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax g%

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax FriS®i 25 BBl RIRIEFL 1A - B RA1E
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised z INEFRIE B R FT S B PN 48 5 A
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income R IwmeltRNEMigs kakHZE
or directly in equity. RiEz AR ©
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LN+

Revenue recognition

282

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

from construction contracts, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Construction contracts” below;

from the rendering of services, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Contracts for services” below;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and
incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct
materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is recognised
using the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the
estimated total cost of the relevant contract.

Revenue from cost plus construction contracts is recognised
using the percentage of completion method, by reference
to the recoverable costs incurred during the period plus the
related fee earned, measured by the proportion of costs
incurred to date to the estimated total cost of the relevant
contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from
contract customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.

Contracts for services

Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services comprise
labour and other costs of personnel directly engaged in
providing the services and attributable overheads.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Contracts for services (continued)

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based
on the percentage of completion of the transaction, provided
that the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs
to completion can be measured reliably. The percentage of
completion is established by reference to the costs incurred
to date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under
the transaction. Where the outcome of a contract cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that
the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus
is treated as an amount due from contract customers. Where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC. The
municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefits payable to all existing and future
retired employees under these plans and the Group has no
further obligations for post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made. The contributions to the schemes are
recognised as and when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The Group implements a pension annuity plan, pursuant to
which the Group pays contributions to the plan regularly
and the Group has no further obligation thereto once the
required contributions have been made. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expenses when incurred.

In addition, the Group also pays supplemental pension
subsidies to employees who retired before January 1, 2010.
Such supplemental pension subsidies mainly comprised
monthly cash payments to the retirees for life as determined
by the Group upon their respective retirement and subject to
cost of living adjustments. The supplemental pension subsidies
scheme is an unfunded scheme. As detailed in note 27 below,
these defined benefit obligations recognised were assessed
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method; the
cost of providing such subsidies is charged to the statement
of profit or loss so as to spread the service cost over the
average lives of such former employees, in accordance with
the actuarial reports which contained full valuations of the
plans for each of the relevant accounting periods.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of government securities which have
maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension
liability.

Re-measurements arising from experience adjustments and
changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately
in the consolidated statement of financial position with a
corresponding debit or credit to other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
finance expenses and allocated by function as part of “cost

of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses” or‘administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

e service costs comprising current service costs, past-
service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-
routine settlements

e net interest expense or income
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PEIEHMRE T RRBERA

BEEF (&)

EZLHEF (&)

MBREBDEBTRERERERENL
BEFRETHRGE - AKEBES
PRz R MR XA TR AL HER A
TREEHFENEDLREDR
R TIHERA] - [HERDHEFRX ] %
[T ] -

o RBEA - BREEHRBEKA
BERBRA - R K EHE
Belss Mg E

o FERXEWAFER

BEKAE

BE BRAERLECEREE (A1
E-BRERBHBERALRERZ
HHENEE) MERELNBEK
K- BENMeRZEEEXARHN — B
7o BRFEEABMLEAERERZ
HHER - ARIEBZEEERANE
e - BEBERNBESEREEN
XHATRERERE AR E K
A RERENBERARNER - Ff
BEMEERAOREELERRISG
X BEXRASREBREBEME
R B REAMRA

’RE

AREARR B0 BORFE R A & it/ B

RBAE - BIKRRBREWERTE
AR ©



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Dividends (continued)

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge
of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits
attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items
are also recorded in other comprehensive income.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

EXRSHERMETHE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Judgements (continued) FIEr (&)
Percentage of completion of construction work BERIETIBESLE

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of
completion of individual contracts for construction work, which
requires estimation to be made by management. The stage
of completion is estimated by reference to the actual costs
incurred over the total budgeted costs, and the corresponding
contract revenue is also estimated by management. Due to the
nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the
date at which the activity is entered into and the date at which
the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting
periods. Hence, the Group reviews and revises the estimates
of both contract revenue and contract costs in the budget
prepared for each contract as the contract progresses. Where
the actual contract revenue is less than estimated or actual
contract costs are more than estimated, a foreseeable loss
may arise.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised as management considers it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The realisation of the deferred tax assets mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected, a
material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise which will
be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which such a
reversal takes place.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets as at December
31, 2017 was RMB320,357,000 (December 31, 2016:
RMB411,536,000). More details are given in note 26.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss
arising from the inability of its customers to make the required
payments. The Group makes its estimates based on the
ageing of its trade and other receivable balances, customers’
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of its customers will deteriorate such that
the actual impairment loss might be higher than expected, the
Group would be required to revise the basis for making the
allowance and its future results would be affected.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued)

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables as at
December 31, 2017 was RMB10,940,776,000 (December 31,
2016: RMB8,675,038,000). More details are given in note 22.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) Construction contracts: this segment mainly undertakes
engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”)
contracting business of overseas infrastructure-related
construction projects (including hydropower, thermal
power or other engineering projects) in various countries.

(b) Trading business: this segment mainly engages in the
business of importing and/or exporting various machinery,
electrical and instrumental products for domestic and
overseas customers.

(c) Services business: this segment mainly engages
in providing export-import agency services, design
consulting services, tendering agency services, logistics
services and other services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit before tax except that share of profits less
losses of associates and joint ventures, gain on disposal of a
subsidiary, interest income from bank deposits, finance costs
related to defined benefit plans, dividend income, fair value
gains/losses from the Group’s financial instruments, other
income/expenses, unallocated income/expenses as well as
head office and corporate income/expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates and joint
ventures, prepaid land lease payments, intangible assets,
deferred tax assets, time deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
other non-current assets and other unallocated head office
and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude defined benefit obligations, tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFHER (HF)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) DEWA - £EBE - EEREE

HZ2017%12A318  Construction Trading Services
Year ended December 31, 2017 LEE contracts business business Total
BERE BR%EK PR35 At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRETL ARETT ARETT ARETZT

Segment revenue: k-1 ONE
Sales to external customers HETINEER 13,554,645 8,034,705 2,092,827 23,682,177
Intersegment sales NEEHEE 488,841 143,181 586,338 1,218,360
Reportable segment revenue R EDBEA 14,043,486 8,177,886 2,679,165 24,900,537
Reportable segment profit AHEN PR 1,663,196 67,559 625,218 2,355,973
Finance income on receivables from YR P RENHTBRA

customers 60,792 43,913 - 104,705
Finance costs MR 29,697 19,016 14,898 63,611
Depreciation and amortisation e REH 10,179 5,857 10,630 26,666
Provision for impairment losses REBBERE
- Trade and other receivables B REmEKZE 369,133 (1,583) 24,913 392,463
- Amounts due from contract customers — WA R F A (1,985) - - (1,985)
- Inventories ~-FE - 3,562 = 3,562
Reportable segment assets AHRENDEE 14,737,206 5,647,796 2,074,973 22,459,975
Reportable segment liabilities MRESBER 23,479,709 7,895,755 4,749,276 36,124,740
Capital expenditure for the year is unallocated to FRNERAZRED TEDH
segments as such expenditure is managed on a group TEHREERYREERERE
basis. H e
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFIER (F)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) 2EBWA > £ - BEEREE
(continued) (#&)
BZE2016F12A31H Construction Trading Services
Year ended December 31, 2016 HEE contracts business business Total
BEEAH BHEK RS 75 A&t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ANERTE _ ARETT ARETT  ARETT

Segment revenue: 2EUA

Sales to external customers HETINBRP 12,385,082 7,308,786 1,323,368 21,017,236
Intersegment sales HEEEE 77,302 79,433 648,717 805,452
Reportable segment revenue AHEFBBA 12,462,384 7,388,219 1,972,085 21,822,688
Reportable segment profit AHREDHEA 1,834,015 47,239 181,239 2,062,493

Finance income on receivables from

customers FEYE P SR IB R BT AU 109,406 32,086 - 141,492
Finance costs TR 161 13,011 11,085 24,257
Depreciation and amortisation WE R 4,377 2,525 3,563 10,465
Provision for impairment losses REBERERE
- Trade and other receivables - B 5 REMERFE 110,166 26,868 22,539 159,573
— Amounts due from contract customers — YA REF A 2,485 - - 2,485
Reportable segment assets ARESDEE 14,523,170 4,190,692 1,499,928 20,213,790
Reportable segment liabilities AHREHHAE 24,277,521 6,014,039 5,118,037 35,409,597
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue,

profit/loss, assets and liabilities

£«< AN

RETHER (&)

(b) THEDIBWA - BRI B
B -EEREBNYER

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF AREFT
Revenue: WA
Reportable segment revenue A RE D WA 24,900,537 21,822,688
Elimination of intersegment revenue 2 b A 88 (1,218,360) (805,452)
23,682,177 21,017,236
Profit: A
Reportable segment profit AR S #im Al 2,355,973 2,062,493
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures ~ FE{5 & & A Bl% A & 518 23,507 13,401
Share of profits and losses of associates JEIEEBEE AR R 37,093 1,637
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BEEMBA AR 58,861 -
Dividend income from available-for-sale AEHERERSKA
investments 186,321 10,969
Other income, net Hip g AFHR 15,816 14,290
Other operating expenses H &> (710) (600)
Interest income from bank deposits R ERITERRF S HﬁU\ 216,816 385,346
Interest cost recognised in respect of defined 7R E X s Rt EIHERE
benefit retirement plans SN #N (11,130) (12,170)
Unallocated foreign exchange (losses)/ APMHER (B1B),/
gains, net Wz 55 (510,747) 437,226
Depreciation and amortisation e KBS (118,909) (128,662)
Profit before tax BRA A A 2,252,891 2,783,930
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(CONTINUED)

REDWER (&)

(b) THEDIWA - BRI B

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue,

profit/loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

B BEEREBNER (F)

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR¥Fr

Assets: BE
Reportable segment assets AREDLHBEE 22,459,975 20,213,790
Elimination of intersegment receivables 530 Fe P U SR TE 4 85 (5,446,028) (4,371,002)
17,013,947 15,842,788
Restricted deposits PR HIF 1,178,951 554,588

Time deposits with original maturity over RIAZ|HAEAB=10 A

three months ek iVES 5,032,483 5,942,003
Cash and cash equivalents e kF2EFED 18,466,327 19,541,868
Property, plant and equipment ME - RE KRS 1,617,352 1,605,717
Prepaid land lease payments T i EFRIB 1,793,684 1,797,297
Intangible assets B EE 17,511 9,587
Investments in joint ventures HELENTNKE 346,423 297,916
Investments in associates HEHENRIHNEE 505,416 265,836
Deferred tax assets ELEHBEE 320,357 411,536
Other non-current assets Hip3Ems&EE 597,358 593,076
Other unallocated assets HARDREE 649,552 590,067
47,539,361 47,452,279

Liabilities: afE:
Reportable segment liabilities AREDHEE 36,124,740 35,409,597
Elimination of intersegment payables 2 B 6 e 15 SR IE 5 (5,319,671) (4,266,965)
30,805,069 31,142,632
Defined benefit obligations BEXmETH 387,006 386,173
Tax payable FERHIE 97,643 501,728
Deferred tax liabilities BLERIBEEE 44,175 46,193
31,333,893 32,076,726
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REDIER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Geographical information (c) HEEFHER
Revenue from external customers KEMBEFEHEA
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFRT ARET T

Mainland China CalETp N 8,191,549 7,699,881
The Republic of Angola LR A 3,520,043 2,010,419
Pakistan B EHTA 3,161,574 1,940,818
Argentina B4R FE 1,317,761 1,113,519
Lao People’s Democratic Republic EZIARRF £ 1,185,088 867,113
United States e 958,950 543,302
Venezuela Z NI AL 705,856 892,534
Hong Kong B8 530,323 687,203
Serbia ER#ED 517,358 772,356
Singapore N 488,344 376,772
Others HAth 3,105,331 4,113,319

23,682,177 21,017,236

The revenue information above is based on the locations LA B A B BT %R R i i &

of the customers. D e
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RESER (1)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Geographical information (continued) (c) HEEFHER (&)
Non-current assets ERBEE
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFRT ANRET T

Mainland China B A BE 4,141,867 3,624,257
Others Hith 448,012 363,269
4,589,879 3,987,526
The non-current asset information above is based on A ESERE EEE R TR B ER
the locations of the assets and excludes investments in TG E S - TEEBEHEE QA
joint ventures and associates, financial instruments and MEFERAINIKRE @RI AR
deferred tax assets. IRIEFL IR B EE o
(d) Information about major customers (d) EERFXEXZFEHNER
No revenue was generated from sales to a single B £2017F12A31H Ik F F -
customer which amounted to more than 10% of the HE-—RPHEEMELENBRAL
Group’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 REBKRAIO%INA FHELEE A A
(2016: Nil). REZC (2016%F : &) ©
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND 5. IRA > Ht AR BIX
EXPENSES
Revenue principally represents an appropriate proportion of WAXZRZEESREEEREA
contract revenue of construction contracts; the net invoiced FANBREERBEZTHNEEEm
value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade BEFREARMEHRBES -

discounts; and the value of services rendered during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other revenue and other expenses, AREE R YA - E A YA R EH M
net is as follows: R -

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ANEETT

Revenue LON
Construction contracts BEAR 13,554,645 12,385,082
Trading business EEESL 8,034,705 7,308,786
Services business R 7% 2,092,827 1,323,368
23,682,177 21,017,236
Other revenue Htg e A
Dividend income from available-for-sale A HERERSKA
investments 186,321 10,969
Government grants T e B 14,730 18,093
201,051 29,062
Other expenses, net Hithp 58
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of items of BEWE  BEKEHEEEHN
property, plant and equipment Wi/ (E518) F58 1,086 (3,803)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BEEMNBA AR 58,861 -
Net gains/(losses) on foreign currency REINEA DU (B1E)
forward exchange contracts R 57,424 (69,943)
Others HA 66,488 59,576
183,859 (14,170)
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BR¥ADZER
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEEZBRF AR S 0BG
(crediting): A)
(a) Finance income and finance expenses (a) BAEWARE KL
2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiit ARETFT ARETT

Finance income on receivables JE UL 2 P SR TE A B A U

from customers 104,705 141,492
Foreign exchange gains b 5 g - 721,844
Interest income FE A 216,816 385,346
Finance income BRI 321,521 1,248,682
Interest cost recognised in PR E X 2 5= IS HE R

respect of defined benefit RSN PN

obligations 27 11,130 12,170
Interest expenses on borrowings  EEF| BRIz 7 63,611 24,257
Foreign exchange losses i H 182k 893,427 =
Bank charges and others RITEAKHA 8,953 10,478
Finance expenses 5= 977,121 46,905

Net finance income recognised RIBRTER B AFRE

in profit or loss (655,600) 1,201,777
(b) Staff costs (b) EIRRA
2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

HiiE AREFT ARETT

Salaries, wages and other benefits #& + T& M E &7 1,314,791 1,399,330
Contributions to defined 2R FGRARET B A AR

contribution retirement plans 127,538 134,426
Expenses/(income) recognised in ~ BLERTE X s R RGH &I HER

respect of defined benefit R (Wa)

retirement plans 27 17,690 (5,890)

1,460,019 1,527,866
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December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

6. FRBiARR (&)

(c) Other items (c) HftbigB
2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi ARB¥Fr AREFT
Amortisation 5
- Prepaid land lease payments —TEft LA EFRIE 16 45,871 46,523
- Intangible assets —EREE 17 4,790 5,667
- Long-term assets —RHEE 18,116 7,617
68,777 59,807
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - HE KR 14 68,525 76,804
— Investment properties —IREME 15 8,273 2,516
76,798 79,320
Impairment losses on FEEE
- Trade and other receivables — B RhHEMEYNE 22 392,463 159,573
— Inventories —FE 3,562 =
— Amounts due from contract — KA REFKIE
customers 21 (1,985) 12,673
Foreseeable contract losses A e & REE 21 - (10,188)
Amount included in other operating BETEMEERINeRE
expenses 394,040 162,058
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6. BRBIANER (&)
(c) Other items (continued) (c) HAEH (&)
2017 2016
20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT

Operating lease charges KEHEE A

— Lease of properties —HEWMHE 36,253 30,138

— Lease of other assets —HEEMmEE 167 9

36,420 30,147

Auditors’ remuneration, include tax ZERENE B - S AN

and disbursements e=E-3= 8,980 10,340
Rental income from investment REREDENHEERA

properties

- Gross rental —EHe 92,025 14,809

— Direct outgoings —EHEIT (32,458) (2,261)

— Net rental —FH& 59,567 12,548
Cost of construction contracts EEA RIKA 10,231,091 9,573,656
Cost of goods sold SHEKA 7,561,057 6,955,770
Cost of services provided FiTHE (i AR 75 B9 Ak AR 1,175,034 943,619

18,967,182 17,473,045
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

7. INTEREST EXPENSES ON BORROWINGS 7. BEFBAX
An analysis of interest expenses on borrowings is as follows: BEMNFERZ ST
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ANEET T

Interest expenses on borrowings BEFERAX 63,611 24,257

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 8. BEE - THAIRESHM
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear, RiE EHARE] - FB A AMEHIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), @ (o) kO AR (HREEE
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part Pz ERL) B0 FoHBEENFRNE
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits ERITHAEENFBAT

of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AT T

Fees ik 1,120 1,120
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4 - 2B R EWAIER 2,256 2,094
Performance related bonuses EA SR IR MG TEAT 2,370 2,244
Pension scheme contributions RIS BB 153 144

5,899 5,602
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DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

Executive directors, non-executive directors, the

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

8. EE THARKRESHMH
(&)

BT

TES - FUTES - THAR

chief executive and supervisors REXE
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e 2R EREHY Bhe
e REWAG WA SHEIR FMa
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETFL AREFrn AREFT AREFT ARETZ
2017 20175
Executive directors; B
Mr. Sun Bai BinkE - 711 1,185 51 1,947
Mr. Zhang Chun (note (1)) REEE (M) - 11 1,185 51 1,947
- 1,422 2,370 102 3,894
Non-executive directors: FaES:
Mr. Wang Zhian Ryt 80 33 - - 113
Mr. Zhang Fusheng REELE 80 25 - - 105
Mr. Yu Benli RAREE 80 24 - - 104
240 82 - - 322
Independent non-executive drectors: BV IFH{TEE :
Mr. Liu Li AnkE 220 - - - 220
Ms. Liu Hongyu sat 220 - - - 220
Mr. Fang Yongzhong TkBEE 220 - - - 220
Mr. Wu Tak Lung REELE 220 - - - 220
880 - - - 880
Supervisors: EE
Mr. Quan Huagiang PERLE - - - - -
Mr. Qian Xiangdong BRREE - - - - -
Mr. Bai Ming AA%E - 752 - 51 803
- 752 - 51 803
1,120 2,256 2,370 153 5,899
Note: Hiat -

(1)  Mr. Zhang Chun is the chief executive of the Company.

(1)

RIFRERNRRITHRAEE
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December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

Executive directors, non-executive directors, the
chief executive and supervisors (continued)

8. EE THARKRESHMH
(&)

BITES FUTES THAR
REE (&)

Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
\ Ho Rl ARREAY Eihe
we  RENIE MTEAL HENES FMaE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFT  AREFT  ARETT  ARETr  AREFrx
2016 20164
Executive directors: BIES:
Mr. Sun Bai b - 634 1122 48 1,804
Mr. Zhang Chun (note (1)) RERE (WeH1) = 634 1122 48 1,804
- 1,268 2,244 96 3,608
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Wang Zhian By e 80 34 - - 114
Mr. Zhang Fusheng REELE 80 27 - - 107
Mr. Yu Benli ARERE 80 28 - - 108
240 89 - - 329
Independent non-executive directors:  BIFFRTEES :
Mr. Liu Li 2h%rHE 220 - - - 220
Ms. Liu Hongyu Fat 220 - = - 220
Mr. Fang Yongzhong TKBEE 220 - - - 220
Mr. Wu Tak Lung i i 220 - - - 220
880 - - - 880
Supenvisors: B
Mr. Quan Huagiang REREL - - - - -
Mr. Qian Xiangdong BRREE - - - - -
Mr. Bai Ming %L - 787 - 48 785
- 737 - 48 785
1,120 2,094 2,244 144 5,602
Note: Hfat -

(1)  Mr. Zhang Chun is the chief executive of the Company.
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AUBEHMES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two FA AUGEaTHNEEBREREE
directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 = BENFHFIBEN L EES
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining FREIEARQNFES  IETHAE I
three (2016: three) highest paid employees who are neither a IFEENH T =4 (2016F : =F&)

director, chief executive nor supervisor of the Company are ReHEENHBFFIBOT

as follows:

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥& -~ 285 R EWFIzE 1,812 1,617
Performance related bonuses BRI BN AR IEAT 3,021 2,860
Pension scheme contributions RIRS T BB 152 143
4,985 4,620
The number of non-director, non-chief executive and non- SMEATHENIEES - FETTHE
supervisor highest paid employees whose remuneration fell HEIEEEESFMMES AZWT -

within the following band is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAE
2017 2016
20175 20164
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L & 2,000,000/ 7T 3 3
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

10. INCOME TAX 10. FTB %

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the statutory enterprise income tax rate of 25% is applied to
the Group’s mainland China subsidiaries for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, except for two mainland China
subsidiaries of the Group which were entitled to the preferential
tax rate of 15% (2016: 15%) because they are recognised as
high and new technology enterprises by the local governments
in the PRC.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2016: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing
in the countries (or jurisdictions) in which the Group operates.

BIEFPERBEERRER  AEEK
B A B A R RE E2017F K&
2016F12A31R IEF E#HA N ETE
EMEHMER25% @ ERAEEH
M 2R A B A 2 B B B A R B b
BNRERARNENECEMEEZS
15% (20164 : 15%) HBRFH = -

ERFNGH IR FEFRNEETBELEN
fth 51 FE 2R 7 % 1) #216.5% (20164 :
16.5%) RIF R IZH - R E A i [E &Y
ERBABNIEANEEEBNENR
R(KAVEER) NERREFER
IE o

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Current income tax — Mainland China  BIERFT/S 1 — A B K B 443,301 693,689

Current income tax — Hong Kong BVERFTIS T — B8 1,368 10,756

Current income tax — Others BIEAFTIS il — B D 4,323 2,982

Deferred income tax EIEFTIS 89,404 (33,287)
Total tax charge for the year from REFELEEBNEERIER

continuing operations X 4aEE 538,396 674,140

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

10. FRSH (&)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before BARRNRREKXZHN B QA P

tax at the statutory rates for the countries (or jurisdictions) in BIR (skRERR) fEERETE 2

which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are B 56 AT e ) 3 A 2 B TR X B iR B R
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as BEAE2HIBERSOEROT

follows:

2017 2016

20174 2016%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Profit before tax from

KB FHEE S TSR RR AT

continuing operations 2,252,891 2,783,930
Tax at the statutory tax rate HEEREFTENIA 563,223 695,983
Lower tax rate(s) for specific provinces — ¥FE& (0 ekt 75 & B EHY

or enacted by local authority BIRHE =X (10,798) (10,696)
Share of profits of joint ventures BHRATHNELE & A RME S

and associates not subject to tax NGIbpl (15,150) (3,760)
Income not subject to tax B35 i F U s (53,347) (12,311)
Adjustments in respect of current tax BT HAMEN AP IS BRI &Y

of previous periods FHE 725 (5,594)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 32,284 15,137
Tax losses utilised from previous periods {# /i@ 1 B K FE B &5 18 (4,520) (3,204)
Others HAh 25,979 (1,415)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate R EFELLEFNIZAEE TR

from continuing operations MEFTENBIESZ L 538,396 674,140
The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures B E A REERABIED A
amounting to RMB9,273,000 (2016: RMB410,000) and A R #9,273,0007T (20164 : A &
RMB5,877,000 (2016: RMB3,350,000), respectively, is #410,00070) & A R ¥5,877,0007C
included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and (20164 : A R %3,350,0007T) ' B2
associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. FSFAGHIERRK [ELHEE QR M

BARUFREIA A -
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 1. BERS QA THEE ANER

PARENT
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent HE2017F12A31B L FEREER
for the year ended December 31, 2017 includes a profit of BAAHEANEGHENB2EERN
RMB1,199,959,000 (2016: RMB1,772,370,000) which has AR E B BT AR &N AR
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company. 1,199,959,0007T (20164 : A K #

1,772,370,0007T) °
12. DIVIDENDS 12. K&

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Proposed final dividend of RMB0.1659  ##k & Hii% B &A% I @ I
(2016: RMBO0.2042) per ordinary share ~ AR#¥0.16597T

(20164 : AR¥0.20427T) 684,454 842,468
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the ¥R M AN FE R B BEAR R AR
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming R EEBRREF KRS FHE -

annual general meeting.

31 O China Machinery Engineering Corporation
HERMREIERDERAHE



Notes to the Financial Statements

12. DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the State Administration of Taxation Circular
Guoshuihan [2008] No. 897, the Company is required to
withhold a 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes
dividends to its non-resident enterprise shareholders out
of the profit earned in 2008 and beyond. In respect of all
shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register
of members who are not individuals, which are considered
as non-resident enterprise shareholders, the Company will
distribute the dividends after deducting enterprise income tax
at the rate of 10%.

Due to the repeal of Guoshuifa [1993] No. 45 Circular on the
Questions Concerning Tax on the Profits Earned by Enterprises
with Foreign Investment, Foreign Enterprises and Individual
Foreigners from the Transfer of Stocks (Stock Rights) and on
Dividend Income (BARIMNEIRE (BE - SN EFIIMNEE & A ER
FIRE (BafE) EEBENREFAETKEREN @A (B
[1993]4557% ) ), the Company is required from 4 January 2011
under the Individual Income Tax Law of the PRC (72 A FR Al
B @ A FT{5#i5%) and its implementation rules and regulations
to withhold and pay individual income tax at rates ranging
from 10% to 20% when it distributes dividends to its non-
PRC resident individual shareholders out of the profit earned
in 2010 and beyond.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

12. RE (&)

RRERRHERBRMAEIN (B
BH[2008]%8975%) * A A &) B2008F
K IAR B PR 1S AB R 3E /B R & 2 AR
IR S - FERI10%M D XA
BB - BB H AR B IR &M AT
BIFREARR (ARERIFEREE
MR - AR RBAEER10%H) FF
&R RS, ©

BRBERINGIRE R - INEBZEA
SNEEE ARG IRE (BR#E) EElas
AR B T 15 B W sl RE A 3 40 (B 7 3%
[1993]455%) B & BF IF - 5201141
R4BRAR B ERE (R EARLM
BB A FTS B E) R H B 55828
TE + B2010F R AZ TS FE R IEF
Bl fE R A BRR IR 2R B - AR
RE10%ZE20% BB AFTEEL ©
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. FENBAREBEEREEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE NEREF
PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is BREXRBNTIRENEBENRERQF]
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity LB A AR R &I A% A
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of 115 804,125,700,0000% (20164F :
4,125,700,000 (2016: 4,125,700,000) ordinary shares. 4,125,700,0000%) 7T &
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: ERERZFOFAELOT -
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AEET T

Earnings 3
Profit attributable to ordinary equity STEGRERB AT AR BN
holders of the parent used in the B RAEREERSE AN R
basic earnings per share calculation 1,711,203 2,106,521
Number of shares
BB
2017 2016
20175 20164
Thousand Thousand
shares shares
K TR
Shares i)
Weighted average number of ordinary SFEERERAENAAKNERA
shares in issue during the year used in B 347 AR 6 I T35 21
the basic earnings per share calculation 4,125,700 4,125,700
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue #H £20174F K2016F12H318 1k F
during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. B AEEVEBTHEESEETLMA

L o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

14. Y% - RERRZRE

Office
Motor  and other Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment in progress Total
N
BT HE AR EEIR Bar
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT
Cost: B
At January 1, 2016 (Restated) R2016%F1 A18 (Eit) 559,171 134,656 122,486 667,351 1,483,664
Additions NE - 311,267 13,111 73,795 170,583 568,756
Transfer to investment propertiess ~ BAREMZE (25,339) - - = (25,339)
Disposals RE (6,319 (6,390  (8,494) - (21,209)
At December 31, 2016 #®2016F12A31H 838,780 141,377 187,787 837,934 2,005,878
At January 1, 2017 ®2017%1 818 838,780 141,377 187,787 837,934 2,005,878
Additions NE - 470,869 8,190 42,842 157,234 679,135
Transfer to investment propertiess ~ BAREMZE (149,554) = - (428,404) (577,958)
Disposal of a subsidiary RE—RHBAR = (1,746) (624) - (2,370)
Disposals RE (25,230) (8,418) (5,846) - (39,494)
At December 31, 2017 R2017%12A31H 1,134,865 139,403 224,159 566,764 2,065,191
Accumulated depreciation: 2EE
At January 1, 2016 (Restated) #2016%1 818 (&it) (214,796)  (83,624)  (65,437) - (363,857)
Charge for the year %mm \ (33,872)  (17,913)  (25,019) - (76,804)
Transfer to investment properties ~ BAREYE 23,707 = = = 23,707
Written back on disposals BB 4,753 4,476 7,564 = 16,793
At December 31, 2016 R20165128318 (220,208)  (97,061)  (82,892) - (400,161)
At January 1, 2017 Ro017E181A (220,208)  (97,061)  (82,892) - (400,161)
Charge for the year imﬁzﬁj \ (33,048)  (14,433)  (21,044) - (68,525)
Transfer to investment properties BAREMZ 8,399 - - = 8,399
Disposal of a subsidiary RE-FHEAR - 1,038 378 - 1,416
Written back on disposals RERER 704 6,602 3,726 - 11,032
At December 31, 2017 R2017F12A31H (244,153)  (103,854) (99,832) - (447,839)
Net book value: BREHE :
At December 31, 2016 #®2016F12A31H 618,672 44,316 104,895 837,934 1,605,717
At December 31, 2017 R2017F12A31H 890,712 35,549 124,327 566,764 1,617,352
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BMERSHE (£)
(CONTINUED)
(a) The analysis of net book value of buildings is as follows: (a) EFMEREFEIWTOT :
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AEET T

Outside Hong Kong EBLAGN
— Long-term leases —RHHEE
— Medium-term leases —FHEE
— Freehold —IKAERE
(b) As at December 31, 2017, certain of the Group’s (b)

borrowings of RMB77,940,000 (December 31, 2016:
RMB20,000,000) were secured by certain of the
Group’s buildings with an aggregate net book value of
RMB63,928,000 (2016: RMBS,603,000).

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PEIEHMRE T RRBERA

52,483 43,681
824,685 563,429
13,544 11,462
890,712 618,572

R2017F128318 - "&E E A
R #77,940,0007T (2016512 A
318 : A R#¥20,000,0007t) &9
ETEERASEREELFER
A R #63,928,0007T (20164 :
AR#3,603,0007T) K& TEF
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWHE
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T
Cost: RN :
At the beginning of the year NE ] 61,788 38,899
Disposals BE - (2,450)
Transfer from property, plant and BRAE - BENE
equipment 577,958 25,339
At the end of the year NEXKR 639,746 61,788
Accumulated depreciation: ZEIE
At the beginning of the year NE] (40,800) (16,864)
Charge for the year FERZH (8,273) (2,516)
Written back on disposals BB BREE - 2,287
Transfer from property, plant and BEE - BENE
equipment (8,399) (28,707)
At the end of the year NEKR (57,472) (40,800)
Net book value: ERESEE : 582,274 20,988

The Group’s investment properties consist of seven

AEENKREMEBEEBUIILE

commercial properties outside Hong Kong. The directors of
the Company have determined that the investment properties
are commercial assets, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group’s investment properties
were revalued on 31 December 2017 based on valuations
performed by Savills Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
a firm of independent qualified valuers in Hong Kong, at
RMB1,971,062,000.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 35(a) to the financial statements.

HEME - ARAREFERESTIEY
(¥2ME - BEERER BEEBEE
BEMNKRENE AEENKREYE
72017F12 431 BAEE — K F &4 HT
HERBEZERERAR (HENE
VEBERMGEBEMEBRE) EFXEER
AR #¥1,971,062,0007T °

REMENREHETABETE=
EF o HE-SIHEFBARMBERSE
Ft7E35(a) °
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

N

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

B —

I

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: [E 4%
Fair value as at
December 31, 2017
Significant
unobservable
inputs (Level 3)
R2017F12A318 1

AREEER

15. REVE (#)

RIRAEBREME LA BER

Fair value as at
December 31, 2016
Significant
unobservable

inputs (Level 3)
7201612 A31HAY

AREE AREE

BEXTAEHE BRNAER

AT (£34%) WABE (£3R)

Recurring fair value measurement for: &KEM4H AL EEFTE - RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#F T AREFT

Commercial properties [HEXYUES 1,971,062 150,047

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2016: Nil).

FERN - BIREFER I EWEALE
Bt 28 - JREE A S EH E34%
(20164 : &)

REYEMBEETER T BHER
AEEBEAM AT ¢

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Range or weighted average

EENMETY

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs 2017 2016

fHER % EXTUBRRARE 20175 20165

Commercial properties  Term and reversion Estimated rental value (per s.g.m. and per month) 5.2 to 200 2810 213
BENE FHIRIEE A EESEE (BFHKkEH) 5.22200 285213
Rent growth (p.a.) 0% 0%

HeERE (§F) 0% 0%

Long term vacancy rate 0% 0%

REZEEXR 0% 0%

Yield 4% to 7% 4% 10 6.5%

EIEE 4%ZE7% 4%%£6.5%

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

316 PEIEHMRE T RRBERA



Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREEER (&)

Under the income approach, the term and reversion approach BRIk LEEFHRERE
in particular, the rental income derived from the existing REBHANBES WA ERZYMFEE
tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary potential BEINEZEFHERERNMEETINE
of the property is capitalised at the capitalisation rate. The b o EETHSFREBRIRIEES
estimated total net leased income is capitalised over the B RIBA Y X TE B/ E E T 5 B 3R
remaining term of land use rights of the property at an ERYEB T FEREFEHANT
appropriate market yield expected by investors for the type LAB AR °

of properties.

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. At LA E 1B
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Cost: R :

At the beginning of the year REF] 2,038,128 1,986,665
Addition RNE 42,258 51,463
At the end of the year RER 2,080,386 2,038,128
Accumulated amortisation: RET#

At the beginning of the year REH] (240,831) (194,308)
Charge for the year FRLZH (45,871) (46,523)
At the end of the year RER (286,702) (240,831)
Net book value: BRMEFE - 1,793,684 1,797,297
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. At L EERKIE (&)

(CONTINUED)

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is held TAE AL P R B R RE - WAR IR = HA
under a long term lease. HAFEE -

As at December 31, 2017, none of the Group’s prepaid land R2017F12A31 8 » AEBB &AL
lease payments were secured. As at December 31, 20186, T ERIBE L R o 72016412
certain of the Group’s borrowings of RMB191,600,000 were AB1H - K& & A K %191,600,000
secured by certain of the Group’s prepaid land lease payments THE TEERASERERTFES
with an aggregate net book value of RMB56,198,000. AR #56,198,0007T #) & T T84T +- b

HEFREER -

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Cost: AN :

At the beginning of the year RER] 15,923 13,308
Additions NE 12,714 5,756
Disposals RE (3,769) (3,141)
At the end of the year RER 24,868 15,923
Accumulated amortisation: REt#e

At the beginning of the year REY] (6,336) (3,810)
Charge for the year FREH (4,790) (5,667)
Disposals BE 3,769 3,141
At the end of the year RER (7,357) (6,336)
Net book value: BREFEE : 17,511 9,587

31 8 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. HEE N AIWIKRE
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ABRMF T
Share of net assets G B EF R 346,423 297,916

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows:

BERBNFMAEHIDT

Percentage of
ownership interest,

Particulars of Place and date of voting power and
Name issued shares held registration profit sharing Principal activities
figER:  REER
£ FEEERTRNOFE SRUERES BHNAREAL  IEEE
China National Guo Lian Development Registered capital of The PRC 50% Engineering design
New Energy (Wuxi) Co., Ltd. RMB400,000,000 November 4, 2014
hREBESHERERERLA HMERR Gl 50%  IEHE
AR%400,000,0007 2014511 A4R
CMIPC Huajin Casting Co., Ltd. Registered capital of The PRC 34% Metal casting production
RMB251,390,000 March 31, 2015
WEPREEBEERAT HMERR G U% EEFEEE
ARE251,390,000  201563A31A
China Machinery Metal Jiangsu Co., Ltd.  Registered capital of The PRC 25% Metal manufacturing

BB IHARAA

RMB100,000,000
HMERE
AE%100,000,0007

August 31,2016
hE
201658A31A

2%  tBEE
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. HEE RRINRE (#)
(CONTINUED)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRITHEREEESTERERE
information of China National Guo Lian Development New RAFKMEERE
Energy (Wuxi) Co., Ltd.:
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR FT
Current assets MENEE 195,069 213,681
Non-current assets EREEE 1,573,517 1,019,468
Current liabilities mEafE (611,804) (325,603)
Non-current liabilities EmEBE (624,108) (450,251)
532,674 457,295
Non-controlling interests IR (62,417) (31,885)
Total equity attributable to owners of MR RES ANEGESBRE
the parent 470,257 425,410
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEEEE L) 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of REERGEEERRINEEFHE
the joint venture 235,129 212,705
Revenue A 149,355 82,495
Cost of sales SHER A (64,611) (34,767)
Expenses 53 (34,522) (21,724)
Profit before tax B A5 B4 A 50,222 26,004
Tax 18 (188) (16)
Profit after tax BR B 1% )4 A 50,034 25,988
Other comprehensive income HAtbsr & Wz - -
Total comprehensive income e W AARE 50,034 25,988
Total comprehensive income attributable & A F7EH AFEIL4RE Wk %8
to owners of the parent 44,848 25,988
Proportion of the Group’s ownership INER [E Yk A R L 51 50% 50%
Group’s share of profit after tax REERGE E R RIMBRFLE =
of the joint venture 22,424 12,994
Share of total comprehensive income FE(E4RE W e a5 22,424 12,994

320 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. HEE NFMNRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRITILARZRESEEGRAAF
information of CMIPC Huajin Casting Co., Ltd.: BT TS E R -
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Current assets MENEE 271,226 251,935
Non-current assets EREEE 212,901 220,364
Current liabilities mEBaE (233,366) (220,192)
Non-current liabilities EMBEE - =
Net assets BEFH 250,761 252,107
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AN B A R L A 34% 34%
Group’s share of net assets REEREEERRINEEFHE

of the joint venture 85,259 85,716
Revenue A 373,186 300,589
Cost of sales SHE A (333,793) (265,961)
Expenses R (39,252) (33,431)
Profit before tax BR 5 A e A 141 1,197
Tax 18 - -
Profit after tax BRA 12 % A1 141 1,197
Other comprehensive income E AR & W - -
Total comprehensive income REWEREE 141 1,197
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ANES B A L 34% 34%
Group’s share of profit after tax AEBEEEE R RHBRTZ & A

of the joint venture 48 407
Share of total comprehensive income B4R & = 2R 48 407
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information
of the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material:

18. ¥

BERANRE (#)

TRIRAEBEABAT (ERHS
WIHEE) WEBETER -

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T
Share of the joint ventures’ profit FRNEEEERRET
for the year 1,035 -
Share of the joint ventures’ total ElE A& R RERE W BE
comprehensive income 1,035 -
Aggregate carrying amount of the REEREGERARIKENRERAE
Group’s investments in the
joint ventures 26,035 -
19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 190. HEZ N T HNIRE
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT
Share of net assets FER A EFRE 505,416 265,836

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances with the
associates are disclosed in notes 22 and 24 to the financial
statements, respectively.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

(CONTINUED)

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

Particulars of

19. HBE QA RNRE (&)

Place and date of

BEAFANEEDT

Percentage of
ownership interest,
voting power and

Name issued shares held registration profit sharing Principal activities
FrEERR -
fisE SEREF
8 BRTRGFE dfitER A H PEESE  FEEE
Engro Powergen Thar (Private) PKR12,455,120,000 Pakistan September 23, 2014 35% Power station construction
Limited and operation
ZREERENAA 12,455,120,000 BEiE 3%  BUREREE
EEHAEL, 2014%9A23H
Ningguo Investment Co., Ltd. RMB5,000,000 The PRC March 27,2014 40% Investment in infrastructure
ERPRBREERAA AR #5,000,0007C G 40%  EERERE
2014%3A27H
China National Machinery RMB381,971,000 The PRC May 21, 1988 19.29% Commercial exhibition
Industry International Co., Ltd. and international trade
hEEHER A ERHERAA AR#381,971,0007C t 1929% BXeREERES
1988%F5A21H
Zhuzhou South Electromechanical RMB9,500,000 The PRC August 31, 2004 21.06% Accessories manufacturing
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
N RERERRAR AE#9,500,0007C t 21.08%  EHEEE
200448H31H
AL 1 Pte. Ltd. SGD4,000,000 Singapore November 3, 2016 20.1% Investment Holding
AIL 1 Pte. Ltd. 4,000,000% 7 Y 201%  REHER
2016%11A3R
AIL 1 (FPI) Pte. Ltd. SGD4,400,000 Singapore March 29, 2017 20.1% Investment Holding
AIL 1 (FPI) Pte. Ltd. 4,400,000% 7T Y 201%  REER
201743H29R
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

10. HBE QA RNRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINTLRELERE N RN
information of Engro Powergen Thar (Private) Limited: BRHE -
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFoT
Current assets MENEBE 228,438 88,475
Non-current assets FRBEAE 3,511,995 2,124,713
Current liabilities mER A (68,573) (143,366)
Non-current liabilities FRBEIME (2,669,463) (1,313,876)
Net assets BEFE 1,002,397 755,946
Proportion of the Group’s ownership R EEARELL B 35% 35%
Group’s share of net assets AEERIGHERRNEEFR
of the associate 350,839 264,581
Finance income RSN 85,879 7,875
Expenses F 32 (1,597) (2,573)
Profit before tax BR A% AT A 84,282 5,302
Tax ] (18) (35)
Profit after tax BREL 1 A 84,264 5,267
Other comprehensive income H AR & Wk - =
Total comprehensive income AR B WS ER 84,264 5,267
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEEEEARELL B 35% 35%
Group’s share of income $%%fﬁﬂ§ﬁ%ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%%ﬁ?§;ﬁ*”
after tax of the associate 29,492 1,843
Share of total comprehensive income FEEER & W B HR 29,492 1,843

324 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. B E N RNRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRINRAEE B SR 7 (ERME
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually WHEE) WEBMFER :
material:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARET T

Share of the associates’ profit/(loss) FARMGBEABEN, (BE)

for the year 7,601 (206)
Share of the associates’ total FEARHE & A RlAR G R A ER

comprehensive income 7,601 (206)

Aggregate carrying amount of the AEERBE A RIRENREAE
Group’s investments in the associates 154,577 1,255

20. INVENTORIES 20. B

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFTT ARETTT

Goods in transit & 7 i 95,201 73,547
Entrusted processing materials ZEMIYE 141,560 158,277
Finished goods B oh 406,564 220,256
Completed properties held for sale REFEERIME 14,934 50,562

658,259 497,642
Provision for impairment RERE (5,468) (1,906)

652,791 495,736
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CONTRACT

21. ENERIEFRE

CUSTOMERS
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFoT
Gross amounts due from contract FEM & R & PR B R
customers
— Current portion —MENEBD 3,563,860 4,693,622
— Non-current portion —IERENE D 1,923,798 2,547,471
5,487,658 7,241,093
Contract costs incurred plus 25 BEER RIS RS A
recognised profits less recognised REHERER
losses to date 106,655,123 93,105,326
Less: Progress billings L R RIA 101,167,465 85,864,233
5,487,658 7,241,093

The movements in provision for recognised losses of amounts
due from contract customers are as follows:

Al AREFFRENCEAMERR

BEZBMT -
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR F T ABRE T
At January 1 ®1A1H 22,347 57,931
Impairment losses recognised B R A B E 18 = 117,997
Foreseeable contract losses recognised MK Al A& & [R5 - -

Transfer out to trade and WHER S LAMEKKIE

other receivables - (88,069)
Impairment losses reversed ERE M REEER (1,985) (105,324)
Foreseeable contract losses reversed EREmATE A FER - (10,188)
At December 31 M12A31H 20,362 22,347

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22, B REMEWRIE
2017 2016
20175 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt AREFT ARETT

Bills receivables FEW =% 112,859 68,184
Trade receivables =) &R 7,344,137 5,619,071
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W REREE (b) (1,228,801) (840,205)
Trade and bills receivables B Sl soE K e E ik (a) 6,228,195 4,847,050
Advances to suppliers A £ JE P FELAS R0 2,124,189 2,024,858
Other receivables =R Q] 2,658,696 1,873,834
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W REREEE (b) (70,304) (70,704)

2,588,392 1,803,130

Total st 10,940,776 8,675,038
Portion classified as non-current assets 238 &IERENEEN D (847,058) (553,937)
Current portion ENEB 10,093,718 8,121,101
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. ESREMEWFIE (&)

(CONTINUED)

AR 2 AT

(a) Ageing analysis (a)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice

RIFZHZEH RBEHRNE
5 FE MU IR B B M 3R B AR B

date and net of provisions, is as follows: HERRER ST -
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR For
Within 3 months 31E A LAR 3,578,734 2,819,832
3 months to 6 months 31& A =61E A 160,899 199,330
6 months to 1 year 61E A E=1F 1,360,771 610,301
Over 1 year 1A E 1,127,791 1,217,587
6,228,195 4,847,050

There are no unified standard credit terms granted to
customers of the international engineering constructing
business and trading business. The credit terms granted
to customers of the international engineering constructing
business are negotiated individually on a case-by-case
basis and set forth in the relevant contracts. The credit
terms granted to customers of the trading business are
normally about three to six months. The bills are generally
due within 180 days from the date of issuance. The
Group’s credit policy is set out in note 39(a).

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. ESRHMEWRIE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables (b) E 5 & HfthfEWFIERE
The movements in provision for impairment of trade B 5 FE WK IR K F b 8 IR TE R
receivables and other receivables are as follows: ERENZEHIT
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AT T

At January 1 MW1A1H 910,909 716,504
Impairment losses recognised B R AR EE R 414,693 220,577
Transfer in from amounts due from & # 5 EW A RE P IE
contract customers - 38,069
Impairment losses reversed [=EAEE0bERI=Y ! (22,230) (61,004)
Amount written off as uncollectible  #fi#4~ A] e Bl H) & 58 (4,267) (3,237)
1,299,105 910,909
Included in the above provision for impairment of trade FH A LA 5 18 WK IR B Rk (8
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade BREBRATHE S EBKE
receivables of RMB1,051,531,000 (December 31, 2016: 1B 7 5 A R #1,051,531,000
RMB693,457,000) with an aggregate carrying amount 7t (20165F12A31H : AR ¥
before provision of RMB2,148,452,000 (December 31, 693,457,0007T) * # & Bl &9 BR
2016: RMB1,613,328,000). M4 E A& A R #2148,452,000

7t (20165F12H31H : A R ¥
1,613,328,0007T) ©

Annual Report 2017
20175 F 3 329



Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of trade and other receivables
(continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of other
receivables is a provision for individually impaired other
receivables of RMB60,139,000 (December 31, 2016:
RMB62,005,000) with an aggregate carrying amount
before provision of RMB1,336,048,000 (December 31,
2016: RMB1,022,095,000).

The individually impaired trade and other receivables
relate to customers that were in financial difficulties or
were in default in interest and/or principal payments
and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be
recovered.

Trade and bills receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables

that are not individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

22. B REMEWRIE (&)

(b) BEZRHMEWKERE (&)

(c)

FT A £l E fth FE U SR IE AR B
B R B B R E 8 E b E R
1B R B B B A R #60,139,000
7T (2016512 A31H : A R #
62,005,0007T) - # & Al &Y AR
M 4 8 & A K #1,336,048,000
7T (2016512 A31H : A R #
1,022,095,0007C) °

BRRENE S M E MR
IR I 17 7 W 75 IR 2 s R R
BE/FARENKOES AR
HE R W El #B > FE U -

SR 1 B 53 P S0 B
i

MAEBNAEERAERENE
55 JFE MR 5k 78 K e R 2= AR M BR R
War -

hii

D

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AREFT

Neither past due nor impaired BE AR 8 B IR AR B 1,951,958 1,507,269
Less than 3 months past due B HEASE A LA 98,643 79,081
3 months to 6 months past due # EA3E A =618 A 51,653 50,238
6 months to 1 year past due wEAGE A =14 154,958 150,714
More than 1 year past due BEF LA | 60,549 271,541
2,317,761 2,058,843

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Trade and bills receivables that are not impaired
(continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The amounts due from related parties of the Group
included in the trade and other receivables are analysed

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

22. B RHEHMEWRIE (&)

(c) RBENESEUKARER

(d)

RiE (&)

BE 2R 780 H 7 AR R (B A 8 i R0 £
AT HR I B R RR 8k H) 2 2 0 BUEY
EFHREA -

BB RRENEERIALES
HBIUEFARM WEELEE
EBRIFNEBRH - RIBBEE
L B F BRI BAR B P BB
B RERBHREHANZSSE
BRIERE R -

e A S B R B 5 R0A (FEFAE
SR EMEYGRIR) DT

as follows:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR F T ARMEF T
SINOMACH 3 584,544 10,155
Fellow subsidiaries GEIEING 84,471 55,461
669,015 65,616

These balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the
major customers of the Group.

As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, none
of the Group’s borrowings were secured by the Group’s
trade receivables.

(e)

RER/BREER TR ELR
HORARBEREPERHEHN
EEHERE -

R20179F12A31H K&2016%12
A3 AEERBERAASE
e E 5 IR o
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23. BeRAEEEYRZRHF
RESTRICTED DEPOSITS EXY
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREF T
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTH 24,677,761 26,038,459
Less: Restricted deposits W SR BT AR (1,178,951) (554,588)
Less: Non-pledged time deposits B WIERFRBHAR R =1EH XK
with original maturity of over B B 4 E BATE R
three months when acquired (5,032,483) (5,942,008)
Cash and cash equivalents in the RUBMRRAERREHRESRERD
statement of financial position and ReFREFEY
in the consolidated statement of
cash flows 18,466,327 19,541,868

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances BERSHR  AEEUARE (TA
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) amounted to RE ] HENREMRITERBAR
RMB12,970,682,000 (2016: RMB16,201,473,000).The RMB #12,970,682,0007T (2016%F : A K
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under #16,201,473,0007T) = AR ® £ 7]
BHELBEKEMER - A - BEP
B AR CHNEE B ER (R A1) R K4S BE - &
ERANEBERRE) - NEBE A BRE
RS INEZEBRRITH AR A
BB E % -

Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RITIRESRE A RITERNEEES
MK B - 5 BE B K75/ E T
F—HE=EA BIFAEENEE
BeFRME - WIREERHTEREF
RANEER - ITHEBRRZREITFR
R mE R A EER TR
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. RAT °

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and restricted deposits are deposited

332 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

24. BEZ RHMENRE

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TF T AREFT

Bills payable R 127,646 115,623
Trade payables B e RIE 12,446,249 13,012,654
12,573,895 13,128,277

Accrued salaries, wages and benefits EErE S - TEKREFR 841,335 1,022,817
Other taxes payable H fth FEAI RIS 181,522 80,356
Other payables o Ath fE A FRIE 2,658,525 3,180,134
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTAE 11,426 120,151
Dividends payable FERTAR B 1,213 3,782
Interest payable FERTFILE 1,116 5,736
Others Hth 739,066 81,206
17,008,098 17,622,459

Less: Portion classified as current
liabilities

Non-current portion

B DERREBRERNED

(16,541,389)

(17,541,253)

466,709

81,206
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24, EZREMENTIE (A)
(CONTINUED)
An ageing analysis of the bills payable and trade payables as BIEZZAH RREARNENE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, BREZENFRENRRTEOT
is as follows:
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Within 3 months 3fE A AR 3,384,169 4,789,865
3 months to 6 months 31 A =616 A 647,041 517,075
6 months to 1 year 618 A =14 2,190,376 921,771
Over 1 year 1A E 6,352,309 6,899,566

12,573,895 13,128,277

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are usually ZZRNRIEAREE - BERHEDH

paid within the agreed period, usually due within 180 days. AL B@EEN180H NEIH] - f&

The bills payable are generally due within 180 days from the NEBASNREITAHEF180B A

date of issuance. EHf -

The amounts due to related parties of the Group included in FERALE @SB (GTABSE

trade payables, which are unsecured, interest-free and have NRIE) 2T ZERBREE
no fixed terms of repayment, are analysed as follows: R~ BN EEFE R

2017 2016

20175 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

SINOMACH [ 963 2,029
Fellow subsidiaries EESNIENE 705,797 722,559
706,760 724,588

334 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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25. BORROWINGS 25. 8 &
2017 2016
2017% 2016%
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate(%) Maturity RMB’000 rate(%) Maturity RMB’000
BRAZ(%) E) ARBFL  BENE©%) 3R AREFT
Current ik}
Short term bank loans:  EHIRITER :
- Unsecured - BER 2.54-5.70 2018 505,348 0.28-6.76 2017 281,645
2018% 2017%
- Secured - BER 3.27-5.44 2018 195,150 3.60-4.79 2017 193,213
20185 20178
Current portion of long ~ REIR{TE A
term bank loans: mENH -
- Unsecured - BER 1.25-4.99 2018 54,349 1.25-1.55 2017 1,252
2018% 2017%
- Secured - BER - 2.35 2017 100,585
2017%
754,847 576,695
Non-current E k)
Long term bank loans: ~ REFTER :
- Unsecured — BER 1.25-4.99 2019-2022 118,582 0.05-4.99 2018-2022 278,128
2019%-2022% 2018420225
- Secured - BER 5.13 2019-2025 42,940 5.45 2018-2025 191,600
20195-20255 20185F-2025%F
161,522 469,728

916,369

1,046,423

Annual Report 2017
20175 F 3

335




336

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

25. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

25. 58 (&)

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREF T
Analysed into: DA

Bank loans repayable FEEERTTER
Within one year —FE PR 754,847 576,695
In the second year FE_F 30,949 208,852
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FZFNF (BEEEMFE) 122,033 154,852
Above five years HFELAE 8,540 106,024
916,369 1,046,423

Notes:

(@ As at December 31, 2017, certain borrowings of RMB77,940,000 (a)
(December 31, 2016: RMB20,000,000) were secured by the
Group’s property, plant and equipment (note 14).

(b) Asat December 31, 2017, certain borrowings of RMB158,418,000 (o)
(December 31, 2016: RMB269,436,000) were guaranteed by the

Company.

(c) As at December 31, 2017, certain borrowings of RMB1,731,000 (c)
(December 31, 2016: RMB4,362,000) were secured by the

Group'’s bills receivables.

(d) As at December 31, 2017, borrowings of nil (December 31, (d)
2016: RMB191,600,000) were secured by certain of the Group’s

leasehold land (note 16).

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PEIEHMRE T RRBERA

M2017F12A31H - EFEBEEAR
#77,940,0007T (20164124318 :
AR#20,000,0007T) BHAEEND
¥ - R REEERER (E14)

MR2017F12A31H - EFEHEEAR
#158,418,0007T (2016412 A 31
H: AR#269,436,0007T) B AR
BIYERELR o

MR2017F12A31H - EFEHEEAR
#:1,731,0007T (2016412 A318 :
A R #4,362,0007T) A £ E fE IR
ZRIEREH -

R20175612A31H 18 B A R &
= ¢ (20165128318 : A R ¥
191,600,0007T) HASEE THE
T tEREE (FIzE16) °
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26. DEFERRED TAX 26. ELEHIE
Defered tax assets EERIBEE

Changesin  Surplus on
fair value of revaluation of

Provision for derivative  non-current
impairment  Construction  Provisions financial  assets and
of assets contracts and accruals instruments others Others Total

BRR fEeMIA  FRBEE
KERERR  RBEGR  ERRR QARERD ERGANM it it
RMBO00  AMBOOO  AMBOOO  RMBOO0  AMBOOO  AMB0OO  AMBI000
ARRTT  ABRTTL  ARRTL  ARRTT  ARETT  ARETL  ARRTT

At January 1, 2017 2017451718 221,765 95,692 196,050 29,935 (132,317) 41 411,536
Deferred tax crecited!(debited)  MEZFREA /(H1R) B

to profit or loss BREsE 62,891 (73,851) (32,789) (27,176) (21,222) 968 (91,179)
At December 31, 2017 R2017512A31A 284,656 21,841 163,261 2,759 (153,539) 1,379 320,357
At January 1, 2016 (Resteted)  #2016% 1718 (£il) 184,186 105,990 179,685 20,088 (132,317) 1,066 368,698
Deferred tax credited/(debited)  #MBEAEA /(H1B) £

to profit or loss EEHE 37,579 (10,298) 16,365 9,847 = (655) 52,338
At December 31, 2016 #2016612A31A 221,765 96,692 196,050 29,935 (132,317) 41 411,536
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of H AR T 5B B RRLERIBEE

the following items:

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Tax losses TIEE1R 13,732 6,373
Other deductible temporary differences  Hth A[ 1 E i =58 376,102 238,278
389,834 244 651
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26. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 26. ELEHIE (&)
Defered tax liabilities: EZEBEEME

Withholding
taxes Others Total
BEHHE Hith st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFr AREFr AREFT

At January 1, 2017 201751 18 44,542 1,651 46,193
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss Bz 5 ARELER B (1,729) (46) (1,775)
Deferred tax credited to RE LR E Was T 5T AR

other comprehensive income JRIEFLIA _ (243) (243)
At December 31, 2017 R2017%F12H31H 42,813 1,362 44,175
At January 1, 2016 (Restated) 201651 418 (Fit) 24,901 1,538 26,439
Deferred tax debited/(credited) to KRBz MR (GTA)

profit or loss B3 AE 5 18 19,641 (90) 19,551
Deferred tax debited to R E 4R A Was 7R HIBR &Y

other comprehensive income RIER IR _ 203 203
At December 31, 2016 7R2016F12H31H 44,542 1,651 46,193

338 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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27. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 27. REZ R
The Group’s obligations in respect of defined benefit retirement REE R RS HRD ui—gruxmx%ﬁ?&
plans at the end of the reporting period were computed by a RErBIZERENE THB I E R
firm of independent actuaries, Towers Watson Management B2 ES E‘Tﬁ’ ) CFY) BRAFIER
Consulting (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch (“Towers AaaEl ([EEBRRERAAR]) RAE
Watson”), using the projected unit credit method. ﬁﬁ{iguﬂiﬁﬁ °
The provisions for defined benefit obligations recognised (@ RUBRARAERHRE X =
in the statement of financial position are shown as follows: EEEBEIIRAT ¢
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Retirement and other supplemental RINREMETE X =25
benefit obligations 387,006 386,173
Less: Portion classified as current B DEAERBAENH S
liabilities 25,585 26,850
Non-current portion JEREN IS 361,421 359,323

The movements in present value of defined benefit

obligations are as follows:

(b) REZHERHEZHMT -

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARKETFT ARETFT

At the beginning of year REA) 386,173 419,186

Interest costs on benefit obligations X F ISR A B AR 11,130 12,170

Past service costs/(revenue) AERF A, (WA 17,690 (5,890)

Benefits paid during the year FRHWEHEF (28,047) (29,303)
Re-measurement losses/(gains) REAMERE BE A
recognised in other comprehensive HRNEME

income B8 (fak) 60 (9,990)

At the end of the year RER 387,006 386,173
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27. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 27. REZmHRT (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) The net expenses recognised in profit or loss in respect of () AEBERBEZARITEX=ER
the provisions for defined benefit obligations of the Group BEmEROFOFEAT

are as follows:

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Interest cost on defined benefit T 75 [ 2 N FERR B 2% °E
obligations recognised in BB EKA
finance expense 11,130 12,170
Past service cost recognised/(reversed) RTTEF X ATER,
in administrative expenses (8E) HAERBERA 17,690 (5,890)
28,820 6,280
(d) The principal actuarial assumptions used in valuing the (d) 1 E 20174 Kk20165F K A &
provisions for defined benefit obligations as at the end of EXmBRGEEMEANEZER
2017 and 2016 are as follows: RN
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
Discount rates PR = 4.00% 3.00%
Cost of living adjustment for civil BERIKA B AR AT B
retirees and retirees 3.00% 3.00%
Cost of living adjustment for BB AEER AR
beneficiaries 0.00% 0.00%
Medical cost increase rate BEEKAERE 8.00% 8.00%
Cost of living adjustment and IRATRIRA B AEIERAR
allowance for early retirees R A 4.50% 4.50%
Cost of social insurance contribution RARINA B2 REHE
and housing fund contribution REFEARERAFE
adjustment for early retirees 10.00% 10.00%

340 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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27. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 27. REZmR (&)

(CONTINUED)

(e) A one percentage point change in the assumed rate of (e) MRERBERINA BEIERK AN
increase in cost of living adjustment for civil retirees and RXEH —HaoHTEN
retirees would have the following effects: T -

Increase/ 2017 2016
(decrease) in rate 20175 20164F
BR= RMB’000 RMB’000
EH CFE) AR®F AREFT
Increase in effect on the HEREXmBRBEH
defined benefit obligations A 1% 21,630 21,1283
Decrease in effect on the HEREXmEBH
defined benefit obligations 2B D (1%) (18,980) (18,600)
A one percentage point change in other assumptions EHRBREZAZEY—EF 22K
would not have any significant impact on net defined THREXHEFFHRAEANEKN

benefit obligations.

=488
72—

Expected distributions of benefit payments in the future H AREFEARZEZmESTTE
years out of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: HZ @A T -

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARMF T

Within the next 12 months RE12[E AR 31,660 32,162

Between 1 and 2 years 12246 31,122 31,509

Between 2 and 5 years 2FE54F 88,915 87,634

Between 5 and 10 years 52104 131,414 123,328

Over 10 years 105 A £ 331,130 246,705

Total expected payments BN SRR 614,241 521,338

The average duration of the defined benefit obligations at
the end of the reporting period is 9 years (2016: 9 years).

RBEHRRETHEFHNFES
AHAA9E (20164 : 94F) o
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28. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 28. HihEREBEE
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT AEET T

Available-for-sale investments AHEERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value LEHRERE - RAREE
Hong Kong B 2,955 2,565
Shanghai & 7,066 8,038
10,021 10,603
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FEETRRAERE - LA 587,337 582,473
597,358 593,076
The above investments consist of investments in equity L EREEEATHEESHE
securities which were designated as available-for-sale financial EMRAZAFIEE - BIEEE 2 5
assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. ARZEEmAE -
29. ISSUED CAPITAL 29. ERITRAE
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid BET R TR
Domestic shares of RMB1.00 each BRARE1.00THAE R 3,217,430 3,217,430
H shares of RMB1.00 each FIARE1.007CHIHMK 908,270 908,270

4,125,700 4,125,700
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30. RESERVES

31.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in these financial
statements.

Capital reserve includes:

the contributions or distributions to shareholders;

— share premium as the difference between the total amount
of the par value of shares issued and the amount of the
net proceeds received from the initial public offering;

—  the revaluation surplus resulting from the restructuring of
state-owned enterprises; and

— the revaluation reserve resulting from available-for-sale
financial assets.

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON
CONTROL

As set out in note 37(b), on May 31, 2016, the Group
acquired the 100% equity interest in China National Complete
Engineering Corporation at a total cash consideration of
RMB532,678,100. The Company and China National Complete
Engineering Corporation were under the common control of
SINOMACH both before and after the acquisition, and such
control was not transitory. The acquisition date is May 31,
2016, which is determined by the date of equity transfer. Thus,
the acquisition was considered to be a business combination
under common control.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

30. f#&

31.

AEERAFERBEFENRES
BLESEHRZENBRERPOA G
REEFHRRNET -

BEARNREERE
- FBRRELHOHERDIK

— BEE IEZETRHEER
SREFRLABEMERRF
B HEER

- BACXSEAMGEMLAR K

- AU ESREEMSEMLR
o

B —2H TS

a0 B 5237 (0)FT E 0 2016458
1A AEEURSBLREARE
532,678,100 NEHBIKETLRA
R A FI100%/% # - A UEE 2 AT & 2
% ARRHEFPBEEKETIEFRAA
HZBME—E - BB RBEEHIIE
e B o Uk g B HA 220165 H31 1 -
TR EEEESAEE - Bt - %
WEEEIEWHR AR —EH THEZKE
B o
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 31. A — 24| THXEKRSH (&)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the consolidated assets and liabilities FEKNETIRERARRENB AR
of China National Complete Engineering Corporation and its U EE B HI 20156 12 A31 B4R &
subsidiaries as at the acquisition date and December 31, 2015 BERBEER@ERT :

were as follows:

As at As at
May 31, December 31,
2016 2015
720164 20154
5H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETTT ARET T

Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB k& 30,192 31,276
Intangible assets B EE 2 2
Investment in an associate REFE R BRI E 1,462 1,462
Non-current trade and other receivables JERBIE 5 K& H b fE W IE 2,351 2,353
Deferred tax assets RIEFIHE B 2,180 2,403
Inventories "E 376,882 194,415
Current trade and other receivables BNV E 5 [k H R R IB 668,978 548,002
Restricted deposits PR 17 3K 281,084 252,130
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEY 602,986 688,285
Borrowings BE (77,599) (114,880)
Receipts in advance TEM R IA (997,647) (718,228)
Current trade and other payables MENE 5 & E M e 5RIE (375,973) (436,734)
Current defined benefit obligations BRI X 2 P 15 = (2,970)
Tax payable JEBAR IR (58,874) (53,312)
Non-current defined benefit obligations  FERERE T S EIE (24,170) (24,170)
Deferred tax liabilities BEIEEE (25,694) (25,009)

Total identifiable net assets at carrying  ZEEEEZ 5K A %5 FEELE

amounts 406,160 345,025
Non-controlling interests e I i (10,977) (10,972)
395,183 334,053
Surplus of consideration over net REREEREDFENZL
asset carrying value 137,495
Consideration: RIE :
Satisfied by cash LATR & 2 1+t 532,678
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 1. A —EHITHEKSH (&)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the cash flows of cash and cash equivalents RWEFEKETIEFRARMNIES
in respect of the acquisition of China National Complete EReEBYNREREDTAT :
Engineering Corporation is as follows:
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Cash consideration paid BENBEESNRE 532,678
Cash and bank balances acquired Frik s IR & RIR1T 45 R =
Net outflow of cash and cash AARERBAMGHSRENRS KESEEMR
equivalents included in cash flows HFER
from investing activities 532,678
32. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 32. REMERF
As set out in note 37(b), on January 1, 2017, the Group o0 Ky sS7T)ET R A K E B
transferred its entire equity interest in CMEC International R2017F1A1H # HE RN /A &£ =
Exhibition Co., Ltd. (“CMEC Expo”) to China National BEREEZEAREMTADA(AE
Machinery Industry International Co., Ltd. (“SINOMACHINT”) RRE]) N2 R AEZ &2
as capital contribution amounting to RMB133,729,200 THREEBBEBEESERSD BR
into SINOMACHINT. Upon completion, the Company A @l ([SINOMACHINTI) © 1 & #8
held approximately 19.29% of the entire equity interest in %= 7 HSINOMACHINT 17 A B #
SINOMACHINT, and CMEC Expo ceased to be a subsidiary of 183,729,2007T B f& A~ % A o FE &K
the Company. The disposal date was January 1, 2017, which % ANRDAHEFE ﬁSINOMACHINTi
is determined by the date of equity transfer. EBRR A HEZR AV 4919.29% © A 7 /&

ETHARNRRNKEAR - EEH
B A2017E1 A18 » ThiRE IR EE 2

HEAEE -
2017
201745
RMB’000
AR¥FT
Net assets disposed of: BEEESHE :

Property, plant and equipment e Y 954
Cash and bank balances B RIBITA 73,316
Prepayments and other receivables SELNE IE&,H\T@FEJ%Z 19,266
Accruals and other payables fEEtIEE &Eﬁﬂﬂ’?ﬁm (16,101)
Tax payable FE TR IR (2,567)
74,868

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BENBARMSENE (M), 5)
(note 4(b), 5) 58,861
133,729
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32. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

2. GEMEAT (&)

2017
20174
RMB’000
AR#FT

Satisfied by:

Cash e

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

SEHFR

REMNBARMERNAERREFE
WREFRATT

2017
201745
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Cash consideration RERE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of BB RIRITER (73,316)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect EEMB A FHEEANES &
of the disposal of a subsidiary ReEZEEYRLFHE (73,316)
33. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. R ERERMWE
OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing METEMEENEEER
activities
Other
Bank and long-term Dividends Interest
other loans payable payable payable
RORHMER HORHESK EfRE ERFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEMTT AEETT AEETT ABEFT
At 1 January 2017 201741 A1 R 1,046,423 - 3,782 5,736
Changes from financing cash flows REHLRES (130,054) 90,000 (846,896) (68,231)
Interest expenses on borrowings EEHB5EE = = = 63,611
Declaration of dividends BIRRE - = 842,468 =
Declaration of dividends to BEZAGEIEN &
non-controlling shareholders - - 1,859 -
At 31 December 2017 M2017612H31R 916,369 90,000 1,213 1,116

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 4. ZHEE
Legal contingencies EESEEN
The Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group are EEEXBBEF  AAARAEE
defendants in certain lawsuits as well as the named parties in A THEBRAR AR LFNFAHE
other proceedings arising in the normal course of business. REHEMERZEFNEBEET o A
While the outcomes of such contingencies, lawsuits or other BRAIRBEEEZSKASZMN - Fldk
proceedings cannot be determined at present, the directors of HEMEEBEFNER AR alEEMH
the Company believe that any resulting liabilities will not have EEMALIIBNEETSHASE
a material adverse impact on the financial position, liquidity, MR - RBESRECEEEE
or operating results of the Group. HEFBARTNHTE -
35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35. KREHELH
(a) As lessor (a) FEAHEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15 to the AEBREBEEEHELZHHER
financial statements) under operating lease arrangements, W E Y = (B 5% H & M 5E15)
with leases negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 8 HEMRBNF—ZENF - HEK
years. The terms of the leases generally also require the R—BMEXRBELPZNREE R
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic BT AR E R i€ B ME
rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market & o
conditions.
At December 31, 2017, the Group had total future M2017412A318 - X & B 1R
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable BEEPFT AT A EEL =
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: ERHEKNRREERS B
R
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Within one year —F LA 77,324 12,282
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_FEFERF

(BEEERT) 161,583 4,509

Over five years RAEE 21,842 =

260,749 16,791
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 5. REHMERH (F)
(CONTINUED)
(b) As lessee (b) fEAEEA
The Group leases certain of its office properties and office REEBRBELCEHERARS
equipment under operating lease arrangements. Leases TMAEMERR AT - %ZF
for properties and office equipment are negotiated for VIR ARERE RN T
terms ranging from 1 to 3 years. —FE=Fo
At December 31, 2017, the Group had total future M2017412H31H - A& E 1R
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating BB = S B B Y
leases falling due as follows: RARGEESBEELOT
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Within one year —F A 12,681 3,372
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EFRERF

(BEBEMSF) 9,624 825
22,305 4,197

36. COMMITMENTS 36. H&IE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note Br b BT FES5 (o) ¥ il H) AT & 7 & A
35(b) above, the Group had the following capital commitments Gh REERFERREFGUTER

at the end of the reporting period: ZS g
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARET T

Contracted, but not provided for: EHENEESLE
Land and buildings T REF 1,090,100 466,312
Capital contributions in respect of HE SN E KA &
associates and available-for-sale KREHERNZA
investments 300,764 521,593

1,390,864 987,905
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. B AR S

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) BZFEYIERREMIL D Ful /Y
these financial statements, the Group had the following RZHN - AEBERF N LG
transactions with related parties during the year which ETUATRS (RTEKES
also constituted a connected transaction under Hong EMRAFBENBERS) °
Kong Listing Rules. The transactions below were THNR S TR AN B — R X B
conducted in the ordinary course of business of the EHREBEASEEE @RS EE
Group and are in accordance with the terms agreed B R SRAETT ¢

between the Group and its related parties:

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Receipt of engineering services and BEZRERTIETH
products from TR I E i
~ Fellow subsidiaries* — R RKERE 248,227 193,035
Receipt of integrated services from BEXRER TS H 8
RE RS
- Fellow subsidiaries* — AR ERE" - 574
Provision of engineering services to M T3 & iRt TI2R%
— SINOMACH* — EH 838,977 682,358
— Associates i /N 1,722,041 594,851
— Fellow subsidiaries* — AR B AT 18,632 =
Provision of integrated services to [ To& H iR AR S RS
— Fellow subsidiaries™® — BREWBAR 112,613 75,598
Net deposit placed with NIy = 0k E R/ OF- |
— A fellow subsidiary* - —RRARWMBAF" (825,486) 197,817
Interest income received from [N %1 77 HER Y ) 2 A
— A fellow subsidiary* — —XRARKMBAR" 43,646 58,682
*  These related party transactions also constitute connected * REBMARSHMIEKBER
transactions or continuing connected transactions as FEAFEAERS (ERR LT
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. HRAIZE14AE) -
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37.BHERS (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) FAEETT AOAE R ERTE ¢
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Cash deposits placed with RTHEFHIRE TR

— A fellow subsidiary - —RARMBAF 1,764,539 2,590,025
Trade and other receivables due from BT HSEHHNE SR

H b FE YR IE

— SINOMACH — EH 584,544 10,155

— Fellow subsidiaries — BERMBAR 84,471 55,461
Receipts in advance from B 5118 77 WX e TR Y k|

— SINOMACH — B 368,285 351,240

— Fellow subsidiaries — REKEAF 6,882 12,943

— Associates — BN A 487,256 493,611
Trade and other payables due to RS THERES K

H fth fE A 5RIE

— SINOMACH — Bt 963 2,029

- Fellow subsidiaries —RRWNEBAF] 705,797 722,559
Advances to SATRIE 7 TR RRIB

— Fellow subsidiaries — AR BRE 3,258 27,229
Note: BeE
Except for the balances of cash deposits placed with a fellow BRI — R [F) R I 8 A A KO 3R B 17 504
subsidiary which accrue interest at relevant market rates, the BRIZAERAT S A RETRIN - AR
balances due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free TRESRBEER - RS EWEEE
and have no fixed terms of repayment. R -
As disclosed in note 31, the Group acquired the 100% equity A B FES1AT IR T & - 20164 &
interest in China National Complete Engineering Corporation SEMERKETERETRARA
from SINOMACH in 2016. This acquisition also constituted a A 100% % A HE 2 o 1L I8 7T 48 B
connected transaction under Hong Kong Listing Rules. B LMRAMRENRERS
As disclosed in note 32, the Group transferred its entire equity 0 Bt SES2FT R B & - M2017& K
interest in CMEC Expo to SINOMACHINT as capital contribution ARABHREERERMN 2 HBRA
into SINOMACHINT in 2017. This transaction also constituted a 1Bz #8  TSINOMACHINT » fERR
connected transaction under Hong Kong Listing Rules. SINOMACHINTE)E & © £33 5 Ih i

KER LMRAMRENBER S °
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BB I RZ (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) AEEXZEEEASNTEDH
Group:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

Short term employee benefits R E B R A 18,371 15,588
Post-employment benefits BB 12127 572 523
Total compensation paid to key MEEEBAEZMNH
management personnel 2 b 18,943 16,111
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EZERTHABE M E— P
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial BRI IS RER M FES o
statements.
(d) Commitments with related parties (d) FAEER A
As at December 31, 2017, the Group entered into several R2017F12A831H » 7N & & =
sale and purchase agreements with related parties. The BRI G TEEHZ - B
commitments and backlogs are as follows: EHBRARTHRERENAT :
2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Receipt of engineering services and BEXREN IS IR
products from PR 7% K = o
— Fellow subsidiaries — REKEBAF 5,146,307 3,455,073
Provision of engineering services to AT H & Rt TRRS
— SINOMACH — B 4,498,398 5,300,343
— Joint ventures — 5= 1,971,416 3,098,605
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. REHESTHNEMIEA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEeRTARNRSHRNREEBER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as S &
follows:
Available-for-sale Loans and
financial assets receivables Total
AtHESHMER ERREKFHE @t
December 31, 2017 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2017%12831A ARBFT ABETFT AREFT
Other non-current assets HiEnedeE 597,358 - 597,358
Amounts due from contract customers  fEURA IR F 58 - 5,487,658 5,487,658
Financial assets included in trade and 5t AZ 5 R I FIEH)
other receivables THEE - 7,969,529 7,969,529
Restricted deposits DR ER - 1,178,951 1,178,951
Time deposits with original maturity RIS R RA=EANTEBER
over three months - 5,032,483 5,032,483
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBALEEY - 18,466,327 18,466,327
597,358 38,134,948 38,732,306
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit Financial
or loss - held liabilities at
for trading amortised cost Total
RARBETA RE s
BENemas BRI
-BFEE Hemas @t
December 31, 2017 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2017412A31H ARBF ARBF ARBFr
Financial liabilities included in trade and 5t A8 5 & E i fE I 2B H)
other payables HEE - 15,954,463 15,954,463
Derivative financial instruments, FTAE S RAMENTIER
included in trade and other payables fTESRIA 11,426 - 11,426
Interest-bearing bank and other STERRTRAMEE
borrowings - 916,369 916,369
11,426 16,870,832 16,882,258
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The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
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38. ZERBETNEMT R (&)

FEeRTARRS PR EEEN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows T (#) :
(continued):
Available-for-sale Loans and
financial assets receivables Total
REESHEE ERREWIER @t
December 31, 2016 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2016F12/31H AREFL AREFIL ANEETT
Other non-current assets HipJenaEE 593,076 - 593,076
Amounts due from contract customers EWAREPZE = 7,241,093 7,241,093
Financial assets included in trade and STAE S LA MER
other receivables FENCREE - 6,096,243 6,096,243
Restricted deposits R EHER = 554,588 554,588
Time deposits with original maturity RinBIE AR
over three months =EANESRER - 5,942,003 5,942,003
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEY - 19,541,868 19,541,868
593,076 39,375,795 39,968,871
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit Financial
or loss - held liabilities at
for trading amortised cost Total
BARBEFA g §icl
koY= ARSI
-HEEE NERBE ait
December 31, 2016 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2016F12A31H AEEFT AREFT ANEETT
Financial liabilities included in trade STAB S RAMER
and other payables TENERER - 16,314,147 16,314,147
Derivative financial instruments, SAE S REMESR
included in trade and other AT
payables SETA 120,151 - 120,151
Interest-bearing bank and AHRRITREMEE
other borrowings = 1,046,423 1,046,423
120,151 17,360,570 17,480,721
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. iIEREER AAEE

VALUES

AEEHHEEBBEDHEERESHAR
B RBETER  FEREARREEE
[\ o 7N 52 [ T R ) % S L B DA B A
SERNEEZERRNMBERARE
BRRREEHEDT -

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices adopted by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk (a) EARB

354

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables and amounts due from contract
customers. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to this credit risk are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group primarily evaluates customers’ credit status
and their ability to guarantee payment through its
establishment of an appropriate business evaluation
system. The Group generally requires customers to settle
progress billings in accordance with contracted terms
and other debts in accordance with agreements. Credit
terms may be granted to customers, depending on credit
assessment carried out by management on an individual
basis. Also, in order to properly manage the credit risk
on trade and other receivables, the Group has issued
policies on the purchase of export credit insurance. To
protect against credit risk in its trading business, the
Group usually buys unified export credit insurance from
China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation if needed.

The Group’s significant concentration of credit risk stems
from its significant trade and other receivables due from
individual customers.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

As at December 31, 2017, 5% of the total trade and
other receivables were due from the Group’s largest
customer (2016: 9%) and 19% of the total trade and other
receivables were due from the five largest customers
(2016: 21%).

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Liquidity risk

The funding needs of the Company and its subsidiaries
are raised and allocated by the Group. Fund raising from
external sources by subsidiaries is subject to approval
by the Company. The Company and its subsidiaries
manage cash flows according to their own business
approval processes. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with loan covenants, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirement in the short and longer
term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date that the Group can be required to pay:

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

39. A EER A AEE (F)

(a)

(b)

=RER (&)

MR2017F12A31H E S R H
i JE R IR 4B %8 R 5% (2016
F:9%) ERAEBEARFK
B B S RE AR GRIE R
F B519% (20164F : 21%) JE [A)
AREFUE o

ERASEERNE S MEMBE
WHRENERRRNE - EE
WEE N M HmRMTE22

RBESRR

AREAREKBARNEEZF R
MARBEEERSE - HEAR
ASMNBRBRERECRBEIARA
AR /E « ARBREKE A A
BREBINEHERLREERE
REeng - AEENBRIEH
ERBRMRAHNRBHESER
REBERAONEHRIBTR - #E
HigR e HnReRERRGE
ELRMEBNTEENEDAER
B AmREEHERERNR
BESEKX -

TRADRHRERRAEEN S
BAEBEORGRERBR - EKE
MERARRFTRASRE (B
& R XK ERE R RNE
TMER(METE) TENHNE
RIR) AR RS B 2B R E &
FEH:
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (CONTINUED)

39. A EER A AEE (F)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RBESR (&)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRRFRERERE
Within
1 year or 1t02 2t05 Over 5
on demand years years years Total
155 R
FEEREN 1328 235% 5&5E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
December 31, 2017 2017%12831A
Borrowings fEE 754,847 38,856 135,264 8,928 937,895
Trade and bills payables, included in STAB S REMENTIERN
trade and other payables BOENTIBRERER 12,573,895 - - - 12,573,895
Derivative financial instruments, included 5t \& 5 % E- A FE T 20REY
in trade and other payables fTEERTIA 11,426 - - - 11,426
Other payables, included in trade and STAE S R EM R TR
other payables HiEMHE 2,658,525 - - - 2,658,525
Long-term payables included in trade and 5t A B 5 R E e FIEM
other payables REEATUR 212,357 220,333 234,239 2519 749,448
16,271,050 259,189 369,503 31,447 16,931,189
Derivatives settled gross: BEAENTETE
Foreign currency forward exchange EHNESH :
contracts:
- Outflow = i 392,052 - - - 392,052
- Inflow —RA (384,283) - - - (384,283)

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
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39. A EER A AREE (F)

(b) REBEEEE (&)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRRAFRBR SR
Within
1 year or 1t02 2105 Over 5
on demand years years years Total
1EUR
RRERER 1325 2555 5L E @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT
December 31, 2016 2016%12A31A
Borrowings 5 576,695 229,209 188,876 118,330 1,113,110
Trade and bills payables, included in FTAB S REMENTIERN
trade and other payables 2 RN TIERENER 13,128,277 - - - 13,128,277
Derivative financial instruments, included 5t A& 5 [ E- A fE T 20EKY
in trade and other payables fTEEmTE 83,508 36,643 - - 120,151
Other payables, included in trade and AR S REMENTIERN
other payables EiofEfsE 3,180,134 - - - 3,180,134
16,968,614 265,852 188,876 118,330 17,541,672
Derivatives settled gross: BESTETETR
Foreign currency forward exchange EHNERH :
contracts:
- Outflow i 582,064 416,220 - - 998,284
- Inflow mA (533,890) (384,283 - - (918,173)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from amounts
due from contract customers, bank deposits and interest
bearing borrowings. Deposits and borrowings issued at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively. The Group regularly reviews and monitors the
mix of fixed and variable rate borrowings either through
the contractual terms of the interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities or through the use of interest rate

BRREBEERQAEE (H)

(c) FIEmB

AEENNERERFERENIE
WaREFFRIE - RITHER LG
BEE  HBIZEHF X R EFE F =
BERNEAKEBEESREASE
H IR m =5 X R R i\\/‘t{ﬁ
B ERR AKERBTES
MEENRBENSRGERSER
MERHANGEATHES REE
& 7E A & K O¥ B A R g 5 B L

swaps in order to manage its interest rate risks. Bl - A IR AR K @ g

(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEER
TR FF A E R A R B &2
2 KREBRREHRNF
THGrESREERE
A E) FER

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s net instruments (interest-bearing financial
assets less interest-bearing financial liabilities) at the
end of the reporting period, after taking into account
the effect of interest rate swaps:

2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETF T

Net fixed rate instruments: FEEFEIA :
Amounts due from contract customers EWA REF I 1,923,798 2 547,471
Bank deposits RITIER 6,697,166 9,399,385
Less: Borrowings B EE 647,950 854,903
7,973,014 11,091,953

Net variable rate instruments: FEHFERIA
Bank deposits RITIFK 17,980,595 16,639,074
Less: Borrowings o EE 268,419 191,520
17,712,176 16,447,554
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (CONTINUED)

39. A EER A AEE (F)

(c) FEmbx (&)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

BBt DT

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (ii)

At December 31, 2017, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in
interest rates of net variable rate instruments, with
all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retained
profits by approximately RMB132,841,000 (2016:
RMB123,357,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in
existence at the end of the reporting period.

The estimated 100 basis points increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over
the period until the end of the next annual reporting
period. The sensitivity analysis is performed on the
same basis as 2016.

MR2017F128318 » F #
BHNETENFNEEE
%/ TF100EE 28 M FrE
HmESRFIE - 58
BN E B /)BT 180 T &
R 8B  F 3G A0 R A B A
R #132,841,0007T (2016
F: AN R #123,357,000
TT) °

ARG B 17T B R R
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December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk

(i)

(ii)

Forecast transactions

The Group uses foreign currency forward exchange
contracts to hedge some of its currency risk in
respect of committed future sales transactions. At
December 31, 2017, the Group had foreign currency
forward exchange contracts hedged against forecast
transactions with a net fair value of RMB11,426,000
(2016: RMB75,062,000), recognised as derivative
financial instruments recorded in “trade and other
payables”.

Recognised assets and liabilities

Changes in the fair value of foreign currency
forward exchange contracts on monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss (see note 5). The fair
value of foreign currency forward exchange contracts
used by the Group on monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at December
31, 2017 and recognised as derivative financial
instruments recorded in “trade and other payables”
was nil (December 31, 2016: RMB45,089,000
recorded in “trade and other payables”).

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level
by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 390. IKEKREER AAEE (&)
VALUES (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥REpS (&)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (iii) SRS HT
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRETWEANEERRE
change in the Group’s profit after tax and retained HAZRA KRR O Y FMNE [ 2
profits that would arise if foreign exchange rates to REZEFAHHAES - BE
which the Group has significant exposure at the end FiEHEMEREZ=SRET
of the reporting period had changed at those dates, B AEBERTIERT R
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. REBEFAIEEENERE
I
2017 2016
20175 20164

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease) in (decrease) (decrease) in

in foreign  profit after tax in foreign  profit after tax

exchange and retained exchange and retained

rate profits rate profits

MRBE &% F PR 7518 1 A

SNERE = KRB F HINEE B 3 RARER = A

#whn o GEd) i CEd) s Cd) & CRd)

% RMB’000 % RMB’000

% AR¥TFT % ARETFor

Ush ETT 5 500,724 5 408,789
uUsD ETT (5) (500,724) (5) (403,789)
XAF FIEESRMEIEER 5 17,545 5 16,577
XAF RIES S AR (5) (17,545) (5) (16,577)
EUR BT 10 33,291 10 12,947
EUR BT (10) (33,291) (10) (12,947)
CAD It 5 7,673 5 11
CAD i1z (5) (7,673) (5) (11)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. iIKREREERAAEE (&)
VALUES (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥REBS (&)

(iii) SEM G KT (&)

(iiij) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

362

Results of the analysis presented in the above table
represent an aggregate of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and
retained profits measured in the respective foreign
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of each reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
intercompany payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the lenders or the
borrowers. The analysis excludes differences that
would result from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency. The analysis is performed on
the same basis as 2016.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR O0. KEREERANEE (&)

VALUES (CONTINUED)

DREE

(e) Fair values

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the

(i) URAREBEIRYLHETEA

TREJNUAABEFED
TR TARREMRERR

end of the reporting period across the two levels of B EERETRES AT
the fair value hierarchy defined in IFRS 7 Financial A FHERAARENAREE
Instruments: Disclosures with the fair value of each 2 RA P EE RAEBREE -

financial instrument categorised in its entirety based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. The levels are defined as
follows:

The Group'’s financial instruments carried at fair value
as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are measured
under Level 1 or Level 2.

2017

0175
Fair value measurement using

RRNTHENOAEETE

EEMTANAABEESR
WEBEHZ AR BEFEMNS
BEENZEERBAZH
B BRGERWT :

A & B R2017F K20164F
12A31 BRAABETIRY
TRIT AR EIRKFE2R
HE -
2016
20165
Fair value measurement using

RRUTERAL L EETE

Quoted prices  Significant Quoted prices Significant
inactive  observable in active observable
markets inputs markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) Total
WEBTS EATREg NERME EATERg
HEE AGE RE(E A&
(E14) (%248) @3t (F18) (F28p) &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABEFR  ARETT  AREFZ  AREFr  AREFT AREFT
Assets EE
Available-for-sale investments, TAEMEREEE
included in other non-current assets AT ERE 10,021 - 10,021 10,603 - 10,603
Liabilities L
Derivative financial instruments, STABSREMER
included in trade and other payables  FUBHIFTA
g
- Foreign currency forward - EENERH
exchange contracts - 11,426 11,426 - 120,151 120,151
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December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. iIKEREERAAEE (&)
VALUES (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair values (continued) (e) AREME (&)
(i) Fair values of financial instruments carried at (ii) HFEZEAREEIRYEHBT
other than fair value AW RAREE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial 20164 K%2017F12A318 -
instruments which were stated at cost or amortised INES BlHRRK AN Sk Rk 2N T BR
cost are not materially different from their fair values WE R T AMREEEEAR
as at December 31, 2016 and 2017 except the BEITESEREZE  LTH
following: Gh
2017 2016
2017 2016%
Book value Fair value* Book value Fair value*
REE NBE* REfE N EE

RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ARBFR  ARETT  ARETT

Non-current portion of amounts due el A AR P HIEN
from contract customers FndEn 1,923,798 1,843,353 2,547,471 2,726,876
* The fair value of amounts due from contract * 120174 K20165E12 A31

customers as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are AmEKREREFERER
measured under Level 2. REBERF2HFE -

364 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair values (continued)

(iii) Estimation of fair values

(1)

@)

Receivables and borrowings

The fair value is estimated as the present value
of the future cash flows discounted at the
market interest rate at the end of the reporting
period.

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments, including
forward currency contracts and interest rate
swaps, are measured using valuation techniques
similar to forward pricing and swap models,
using present value calculations. The models
incorporate various market observable inputs
including the credit quality of counterparties,
foreign exchange spot and forward rates and
interest rate curves. The carrying amounts of
forward currency contracts and interest rate
swaps are the same as their fair values.

(f) Capital management

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

The gearing ratio is derived by dividing total borrowings
by total assets multiplied by 100%. In 2017, the Group’s
gearing ratio (total borrowings of RMB916,369,000
divided by total assets of RMB47,539,361,000) was
1.9%, representing a decrease of 0.3% as compared to
2.2% (total borrowings of RMB1,046,423,000 divided by
total assets of RMB47,452,279,000) as recorded in 2016,
mainly due to the decrease in long-term borrowings.

(e)

(f)

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

9. KEBREERAAEE (&)

AREE (&)
(iii) A2 EEEET
(1) BRFEREE

RABEMFTARER
> mEBERHREHRAH
iﬁf‘ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ’\]iﬁﬁ 2

2) 1PTETA

FeeBIA (BiEE
B A R R
&) RE\LESRT
8 R B B fh A
i - RBREHR - 2%
BRSBTS T
= ALIE - MRS Y
FEEEE  HNED
5 - BRI R FOFIR
8 o EEEM A BF
REEA NI R E B
H A A BB -

EXEE

AREEUERLELEXEEEERE
N BIREERTHEELBER
LA & FE 425 B 3R BA100% 13 H ©
2017 - AE B ER KX
(& BE# 5 A R #916,369,000
fcﬁééuﬁfz%@%’ﬁ}\ﬁ%%
47,539,361,0007T) £A1.9% + £
2016FHI2.2% ((EEBFEARKE
1,046,423,0007T b LA & EE 2 58
A R #47,452,279,0007T) #H £t
WA0.83% - TEZHNRKAERK
B o
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December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

40. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 40. BiE&=1E

366

On March 26, 2018, the board of directors of the Company
resolved that a final dividend of RMB0.1659 per share is to
be distributed to the shareholders, subject to approval of
the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Such final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

On 24 November 2017, the Company and SINOMACH
entered into an acquisition agreement, pursuant to which
the Company has agreed to acquire, and SINOMACH has
agreed to dispose of, the entire equity interest in China
National Electric Engineering Co., Ltd. (“CNEEC”) for an
aggregate consideration of RMB1,980,031,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,349,766,807), subject to the terms and
conditions of the acquisition agreement (the “Acquisition”).
On January 12, 2018, the first extraordinary general meeting
of the Company has approved the Acquisition, however, the
Acquisition has not yet been completed as at the date of
approval of these financial statements.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

THE COMPANY

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

41. KR TR BARR R

AR AR EE BARN IR
MERIT

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT ARBFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKK 669,018 461,600
Investment properties "EYZE 11,742 12,721
Prepaid land lease payments FET AR E FRIE 1,396,189 1,431,032
Intangible assets A E 4,136 5,207
Investments in subsidiaries BB A RHIEE 3,334,039 3,229,870
Investment in a joint venture HELNRIMIRE 200,000 200,000
Investment in an associate g E N AR E 133,729 -
Amounts due from contract customers JEWA RIEFEXIE 1,923,798 2,540,917
Deferred tax assets T IEE B 235,603 304,075
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE 847,663 562,007
Total non-current assets FERBEERR 8,755,917 8,747,429
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 5,510 8,304
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H Atb e Y IR 9,278,454 7,957,615
Amounts due from contract customers  JEUE B & F 218 1,829,466 2,964,413
Restricted deposits =R S 17K 308,824 307,766
Time deposits with original maturity R BH A BB =EANEHER
over three months 4,552,654 5,510,940
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS FEEBY 12,709,821 13,269,614
Total current assets mB)E AR 28,684,729 30,018,652
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

4. RATWNMBARRER (&)

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ANERET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBERE
Receipts in advance U R IA 9,345,594 9,015,959
Trade and other payables 5 N E b ER RIE 12,320,512 14,017,677
Defined benefit obligations T ETE 19,845 21,000
Tax payable FEEF A 30,000 389,733
Total current liabilities T EHEER 21,715,951 23,444,269
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 6,968,778 6,574,383
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERADAE
LIABILITIES 15,724,695 15,321,812
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A FERFIR 90,000 -
Defined benefit obligations BER =B 214,850 221,540
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B ERT 304,850 221,540
Net assets BEE 15,419,845 15,100,272
EQUITY R
Issued capital B TR 4,125,700 4,125,700
Reserves 1 11,294,145 10,974,572
Total equity B 15,419,845 15,100,272

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2017 e 201712 A31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 4. KRN BERRK (&)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KNG BESEENT
Statutory
Capital surplus Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
R EEBHARS REEF st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETFT ANEETTT AEETTT

At January 1, 2016 2016%1A1H 3,879,173 892,246 5,248,485 10,019,904
Profit for the year ERRF] - - 1,772,370 1,772,370
Re-measurement losses on defined REX maT S BT EEE

benefit plans, net of tax Mk - - 2,900 2,900
Total comprehensive income for FRGANGLEE

the year - - 1,775,270 1,775,270
Dividends paid to shareholders of RAFRARRENRS

the Company - - (820,602) (820,602)
Profit appropriation to reserves R R R - 178,508 (178,508) -
At December 31, 2016 and 2016512 A31 B K201741 A

January 1, 2017 1H 3,879,173 1,070,754 6,024,645 10,974,572
Profit for the year FREF - - 1,168,221 1,168,221
Re-measurement gains on defined RER & EEHTMEWE

benefit plans, net of tax MNHi% - - (6,180) (6,180)
Total comprehensive income for FRGENBAE

the year - - 1,162,041 1,162,041
Dividends paid to shareholders of FFEARARRORE

the Company - - (842,468) (842,468)
Profit appropriation to reserves BT FEENER - 127,933 (127,933) -
At December 31, 2017 R2017E12A318 3,879,173 1,198,687 6,216,285 11,294,145

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42, #LEMBRK

The financial statements were approved and authorised for B %3k Rk E R20184F3 26 H EE =
issue by the board of directors on March 26, 2018. 2HE KRBT o
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Glossary of Terms

A SR

“AGM”

“Articles of
Association”

“Audit Committee”

“Board”

“CG Code”

“China Machinery
R&D”

“China United”

“close associate(s)”

“CMEC Tendering”

the annual general meeting of the Company

the articles of association of the Company,
adopted on February 14, 2011 and as
amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

the audit committee of the Board
the board of Directors

the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

China Machinery International Design and
Research Institute Co., Ltd. (FFH#EFR T2
Rt AR ETAF), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company established in
the PRC on October 5, 1993 with limited
liability

China United Engineering Corporation®
(F BBt & T2 B R 2 F), an enterprise
established in the PRC on January 21,
1984 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
SINOMACH, our connected person and our
Promoter

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

China Machinery and Equipment
International Tendering Co., Ltd.* (FE&EIEHA
ZAREEAF), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of our Company established in the PRC on
April 29, 1996 with limited liability

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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“CNCEC”

“CNEEC”

“Company”, “Our
Company” or
“CMEC”

“Companies Law’

“controlling
shareholder”

China National Complete Engineering*
(FBEKEITEARAR), a corporation
established in the PRC on September 5,
1985 and wholly-owned by the Company
on May 23, 2016

China National Electric Engineering Co.,
Ltd. (PEEHITREERLQA), a limited
liability company established in the PRC
in October 1979 and wholly-owned by
SINOMACH

China Machinery Engineering Corporation*
PR EZELIEROBRRQA, a
joint stock company with limited liability
incorporated in the PRC on January 18,
2011, and except where the context
indicates otherwise, includes (i) our
predecessors and (ii) with respect to the
period before our Company became the
holding company of its present subsidiaries,
the business operated by it and its present
subsidiaries or (as the case may be) its
predecessors

Company Law in the PRC (Ff #E A R #
M B A 7] )%), adopted by the Standing
Committee of the National People’s
Congress on October 27, 2005 and which
became effective on January 1, 2006, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

Glossary of Terms
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Glossary of Terms

A SR

“Core Sectors”

“Director(s)”

“Domestic Shares”

“ENR”

“EPC” or “design,
procurement and
construction” or
“turnkey”

“Ey”

“G‘DP”

the core sectors of our International
Engineering Contracting Business which are
the power sector, transportation sector and
telecommunications sector

the director(s) of the Company

ordinary shares in our capital, with a
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are
subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi

Engineering News-Record magazine, a
publication that provides news, analyses,
commentary and data about the global
construction industry and an independent
third party

a common form of contracting arrangement
whereby the contractor is commissioned by
the project owner to carry out such project
work as design, procurement, construction
and trial operations, or any combination of
the above, either through the contractor’s
own labor or by subcontracting part or all
of the project work, and be responsible for
the quality, safety, timely delivery and cost
of the project

European Union

gross domestic product

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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uGEu

“Global Offering”

“Group”, “Our
Group”, “we”
or “us”

“H Share(s)”

MHK$”

“IFRS”

“independent
third party(ies)”

“INED(s)”

U.S. General Electric Company, a company
incorporated in the United States, whose
principal activities include, among others,
engineering and power generation services

The offering by the Company of
825,700,000 H Shares for subscription
by the public in Hong Kong and placing
with professional and institutional investors
outside the United Stated in December
2012

the Company and, except where the
context otherwise requires, all its
subsidiaries

overseas listed foreign shares in our
ordinary share capital with a nominal value
of RMB1.00 each, which are listed on the
Stock Exchange and subscribed for and
traded in HK$

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency
of the Hong Kong Special Administration
Region

International Financial Reporting Standards

person(s) or company(ies) which is (are)
independent of the directors, supervisors,
controlling shareholder, substantial
shareholder and the chief executive (such
terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company and its subsidiaries or an
associate of any of them

the independent non-executive Director(s)

Glossary of Terms
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Glossary of Terms

A SR

“International
Engineering
Contracting
Business”

“|Pp”

ulSAn

“JiKan Research

Institute”

“ KV”

“ Kwn

“Listing”

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

the International Engineering Contracting
Business conducted by our Group with a
primary focus on EPC projects

independent power producer

the United States Iran Sanctions Act, as
amended (P.L. 104-172, August 5, 1996)
(formerly the Iran and Libya Sanctions Act
of 1996)

China JiKan Research Institute of
Engineering Investigations and Design Co.,
Ltd.* (W TX BRI HAREFR R AF),
a company incorporated in the PRC and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

unit of electric potential, kilovolt. 1kV =
1,000 volts

unit of energy, kilowatt. 1 kW = 1,000 watts

listing of our H Shares on the Stock
Exchange

December 21, 2012

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented
or otherwise modified from time to time

the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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“MW?

“Nomination
Committee”

“Non-Core

Sectors”

“OFAC”

“Operation and
Risk Management
Committee”

“ppp”

“PRC” or “China”

“Prospectus”

“Remuneration

Committee”

“RMB” or
“Renminbi”

“Services Business”

Unit of energy, megawatt. 1 MW = 1,000
kW. The installed capacity of power plants
is generally expressed in MW

the nomination committee of the Board

any sectors that do not fall within the Core
Sectors of our International Engineering
Contracting Business

the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the
US Department of the Treasury

the operation and risk management
committee of the Board

Public-Private Partnership

The People’s Republic of China excluding,
for the purpose of this report only, Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region of the
PRC, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan

the prospectus of the Company dated
December 11, 2012

the remuneration committee of the Board

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the
PRC

The design consulting services, logistics
services, exhibition services, tendering
agency services, export-import agency
services and other services conducted by
the Group
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Glossary of Terms

A SR

“SFO”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“SINOMACH”

“SINOMACH Group”

“Sinosure”

“SSF”

»

“Stock Exchange

“Strategy and
Development
Committee”

“Supervisor(s)”

“Supervisory Board”

the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

share(s) in the share capital of our
Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each, including our Domestic Shares and H
Shares

holder(s) of our Share(s)

China National Machinery Industry
Corporation* (FF Bk T £ B HR A 7)),
a state-owned enterprise established in
the PRC on May 21, 1988, our controlling
shareholder

SINOMACH and its subsidiaries, which
excludes our Group

China Export & Credit Insurance
Corporation (F & 1} B 15 B R & & 7)),
a policy-oriented insurance company
specializing in export credit insurance in the
PRC and an independent third party

National Council for Social Security Fund of
the PRC (REARAEMBEZBIMt EREES
BEY)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

the strategy and development committee of
the Board

one (or all) of our Company’s supervisors

the supervisory board of our Company

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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“the Belt and Road”

“Towers Watson”

“Trading Business”

“UN?

“United States” or

“U.S.” or “US”

“US dollars” or

HUS$H or “USD”

u%u

the Silk Road Economic Belt and the 21st-
Century Maritime Silk Road

Towers Watson Management Consulting
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd Beijing Branch

the international and domestic trading
business conducted by our Group

the United Nations
the United States of America, its territories,
its possessions and all areas subject to its

jurisdiction

United States dollars, the lawful currency of
the United States

percent or percentage

* Denotes English translation of the name of a Chinese company or
entity or vice versa and is provided for identification purposes only.
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Corporate Information

NAEH

LEGAL NAME OF THE COMPANY
MRS T2 AR AR

ENGLISH NAME OF THE COMPANY
China Machinery Engineering Corporation*
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman)
Mr. HAN Xiaojun (Vice-chairman)
Mr. ZHOU Yamin (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YU Benli
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Li

Ms. LIU Hongyu

Mr. FANG Yongzhong
Mr. WU Tak Lung

SUPERVISORS

Mr. QUAN Huagiang (Chairman)

(Shareholder representative supervisor)
Mr. QIAN Xiangdong (Shareholder representative supervisor)
Ms. LIU Ting (Staff representative supervisor)

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. WANG Weiling
Mr. KWOK Siu Man

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. ZHANG Chun
Ms. WANG Weiling

*  For Identification Purposes Only

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LIU Li (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng
Ms. LIU Hongyu

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman)
Ms. LIU Hongyu
Mr. FANG Yongzhong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. FANG Yongzhong (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng
Mr. LIU Li

STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman)
Mr. Han Xiaojun

Mr. YU Benli

Mr. LIU Li

OPERATION AND RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

Mr. Yu Benli (Chairman)
Mr. ZUOU Yamin

Mr. FANG Yongzhong
Mr. WU Tak Lung

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

International Auditors
Ernst & Young

PRC Audlitors
Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General Partnership)

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Development Bank

The Export-lImport Bank of China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

CITIC Bank

China Merchants Bank (Beijing Branch)

Bank of Communications (Beijing Dongdan Sub-branch)

Corporate Information
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Corporate Information

NAEH

REGISTERED OFFICE AND HEAD OFFICE
IN THE PRC

No. 178 Guang’anmenwai Street
Beijing, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Room 804, 8/F, Tower 1
South Sea Centre

75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East
Kowloon, Hong Kong

HONG KONG H SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Laws
Shearman & Sterling

As to PRC Laws
Tian Yuan Law Firm

STOCK CODE
01829
INVESTOR INQUIRIES

Investor Hotline: 86 10 6331 2262
Fax No: 86 10 6332 1086

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.cmec.com

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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